
Senate Graduate and Research Council
Open Session

September 16, 2024

Needles Hall

NH 3318 / Zoom

200 University Avenue West

Waterloo, ON, N2L 3G1



 Governance Resources  

10:30 am 1. Conflict of Interest  

 2. Minutes of June 16, 2024 Meeting  

 3. Research Ethics  

 4.1 Graduate Awards [Marianne Simm]  10
 4.1.1 Dean of Engineering Master’s Excellence Award (DEMEA)

[operating]
Decision (SGRC)

 4.1.2 Haitham Kamil Graduate Award [trust] Decision (SGRC)

 4.1.3 Professor Sofyan Taya Memorial Graduate Scholarship
[trust]

Decision (SGRC)

 4.1.4 Faculty of Engineering Discretionary Graduate Award
[operating]

Decision (SGRC)

 4.1.5 Maks Wulkan Graduate Scholarship [trust] Information

 4.1.6 Perimeter Scholars International Award [trust] Information

 4. Graduate Awards  

 5. Curricular Submissions  

 6. RCR Integrity Administrative Guidelines  

 Link to Governance Resources
 

 

 Open Session  

 1.1 Conflict of Interest Declaration 4
10:35 am Consent Agenda

Motion: To approve or receive for information the items on the consent
agenda, listed as items 2-6 below.

 

 2.1 2024-06-17 SGRC Minutes Decision (SGRC) 5

 3.1 CREB & HREB Membership Update [Julie Joza] Decision (SGRC) 8

 4.1.7 Women in Mathematics Directed Reading Program
Mentorship Award [operating]

Information

 5.1 ENV Curricular Report [Phil Bigelow] Decision (SGRC) 13

 6.1 Research Integrity Guidelines Memo [Ian Milligan] Information 21
 Regular Agenda  

2024 09 16 SGRC Meeting Book
2024 09 16 SGRC Meeting Book

Page 2 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/secretariat/governing-bodies/senate/graduate-research-council


 7. Business Arising from the Minutes Oral/Input

11:00 am 9. New Programs  

 10.1.1 WCA Progress Report 2024  124

 10.1 Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics (WCA) Renewal [Will
Percival]

Decision (SGRC)

11:05 am 10. Research Centres and Institutes  

11:10 am 11. 2025 THE Digital Health Conference  

11:25 am 12. Waterloo Values [Melanie Will] Oral/Information

 7.1 Results of the June 25-28, 2024 E-Vote Information 22
10:40 am 8. Co-Chairs Remarks Oral/Information

 9.1 MASc and PhD in Biomedical Engineering [Siva Sivoththaman] Decision (SEN-R) 24

 10.1.2 WCA Renewal Presentation 2024  257

 11.1 THE Health Summit Presentation [Catherine Burns] Information 264

 12.1 Link to Waterloo Values
 

 

 13. Other Business Oral/Input

 14. Adjournment Oral/Input

Page 3 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/values/


Excerpt from Senate Bylaw 1 
 
8. Declarations of conflict of interest 

 

  8.01 At the beginning of each meeting of Senate or any of Senate’s committees or councils, 
the chair will call for members to declare any conflicts of interest with regard to any 
agenda item. For agenda items to be discussed in closed session, the chair will call for 
declarations of conflict of interest at the beginning of the closed portion of the meeting. 
Members may nonetheless declare conflicts at any time during a meeting. 

  8.02 A member shall be considered to have an actual, perceived or potential conflict of 
interest, when the opportunity exists for the member to use confidential information 
gained as a member of Senate, or any of Senate’s committees or councils, for the 
personal profit or advantage of any person, or use the authority, knowledge or influence 
of the Senate, or a committee or council thereof, to further her/his personal, familial or 
corporate interests or the interests of an employee of the university with whom the 
member has a marital, familial or sexual relationship. 

  8.03 Members who declare conflicts of interest shall not enter into debate nor vote upon the 
specified item upon which they have declared a conflict of interest. The chair will 
determine whether it is appropriate for said member to remove themselves from the 
meeting for the duration of debate on the specified item(s). 

  8.04 Where Senate or a committee or council of Senate is of the opinion that a conflict of 
interest exists that has not been declared, the body may declare by a resolution carried 
by two-thirds of its members present at the meeting that a conflict of interest exists 
and a member thus found to be in conflict shall not enter into debate on the specified 
item upon which they have declared a conflict of interest. The chair will determine 
whether it is appropriate for said member to remove themselves from the meeting for 
the duration of debate on the specified item(s). 

 

Page 4 of 274



University of Waterloo 
SENATE GRADUATE & RESEARCH COUNCIL 

Minutes of the June 17, 2024 Meeting 
[in agenda order] 

 
Present: Sue Ann Campbell, Jeff Casello (co-chair), David Clausi, Robert de Loe, Peter Deadman, Charmaine Dean (co-chair), 
Mrittika Dreesha, Bernard Duncker, Anna Esselment, Ana Ferrer, Bertrand Guenin, Abhishesh Homagain, Julie Joza, Joseph 
Meleshko, Marina Mourtzakis, Nicholas Pellegrino, Martin Ross, Marianne Simm, Siva Sivoththaman, Mike Szarka, Tim Weber-
Kraljevski (secretary), Kevin White. 
 
Resources/Guests: Elliot Biro, Catherine Burn, Gen Gauthier-Chalifour, Ameen Hussain-Aamir, Maryam Latifpoor-Keparoutis, 
Alex Lovi, Carrie MacKinnon, Ryan McGuinness, Kate Mercer, Justin Wan, Richard Wikkerink. 
 
Absent: Steven Bednarski, Phil Bigelow *, Alison Hitchens*, Neela Hassan, Ian Milligan* Shirley Tang, Clarence Woudsma. 
*regrets 
 
Organization of Meeting:  Jeff Casello took the chair, and Tim Weber-Kraljevski acted as secretary. The secretary advised 
that a quorum was present. The agenda was approved without formal motion. 
 
The chair informed members that Council received requests by members of the community under Bylaw 1, section 9.01 to 
give representations.  
 
Representations  
Ameen Hussain-Aamir addressed Council, speaking to sentiments raised by the Muslim community on campus regarding 
concerns with the University's research partnerships, particularly the partnership with Technion. 
 
Alex Lovi and Elliot Biro addressed Council, speaking to their experience on campus as members of the Jewish community, 
and to concerns with the recent calls for the University to sever ties with Israeli institutions, specifically with Technion.  
 
The chair thanked those who provided representations.  
 
1. CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

No conflicts of interest were declared.   
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
The proposed new courses SYDE 620 and SYDE 640 under item 5a. were removed from the consent agenda for discussion, 
and following concerns raised of possible overlap of courses within the Faculty of Mathematics, Sivoththaman agreed to 
revise the report from the Faculty of Engineering to remove the approval of the proposed new courses SYDE 620 and SYDE 
640. 
 
Council heard a motion to approve or receive for information the items of the consent agenda. Ferrer and Guenin. Carried 
with one abstention.  
 

2. MINUTES OF THE MAY 6, 2024 MEETING 
Council approved the minutes of the meeting as distributed. 
 

Page 5 of 274



 
Senate Graduate and Research Council   
June 17 2024 Minutes  page 2 of 3 
 

3. RESEARCH ETHICS 
Council approved the membership update for the Human Research Ethics Board (HREB), as distributed. 

4. GRADUATE AWARDS’ 
Council approved item a. and received items b.-e. for information. 

 
5. CURRICULAR SUBMISSIONS 

Council approved item a.-d. on behalf of Senate, as revised. 
 
REGULAR AGENDA 
 
6. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 

The chair informed members that the new Academic Quality Enhancement (AQuE) Committee of Senate was approved by 
Senate at the May 6, 2024 meeting, and encouraged members interested in being a member of the AQuE Committee to 
reach out to himself or the secretary.  
 

7. CO-CHAIR'S REMARKS 
Dean spoke to the following: protests taken place on campus, Senate’s support a taskforce to look at institution 
agreements, and encouraging members who are interested to participate in the taskforce; and the Bouchard Report 
from the Advisory Panel on the Federal Research Support System, the plan being developed to restructure the Tri-
Agencies, and the efforts within the University to provide feedback within the short timeline that has been allotted to do 
so, thanking those tasked with undertaking those efforts. 
 
Casello spoke to the following: the increase of the annual support for the Provost’s Programs for Black and Indigenous 
Postdoctoral Scholars and for Interdisciplinary Postdoctoral Scholars from $60,000 to $70,000 in response to recent 
increases in scholarships by the Tri-Agency; convocation, changes made to address concerns with protests, and 
thanking those who participated; and thanking Guenin and Bigelow for their service on Council, as their terms as 
Associate Deans were ending. 
 

8. SGRC AGENDA SUBCOMMITTEE AND SGRC CURRICULUM SUBCOMMITTEE PROPOSAL 
Casello spoke to the history of Council restructuring, the concerns of the Associate Deans, Research, and presented the 
proposal to create two subcommittees of Council.  Members discussed: continued concerns of the Associate Deans, 
Research which they felt the proposal did not address, particularly to have more research focused strategic discussions 
and to not be involved in approving curricular items; and how large research items are approved by Dean’s Council and 
creating pathways leading to Dean’s Council that includes the Research Operations Committee (ROC). Discussion on ROC 
and the restructuring of Council will be continued at a future meeting.  

 
9. HEALTH FUTURES AND CARE NEXT COALITION 

Burns presented on Health Futures, speaking to the vison, core strategy, the community and its focus and 
collaborations, the connections with the Global Futures Office, and development pathway. Burns also presented on 
CareNext, speaking to its propose, how it is organized, its three phases, Waterloo’s current engagement, and the 
expected benefits. 
 
Members divided into breakout groups and discussed the following: What health initiatives are members are working on 
that might advance goals in their Faculty strategic plans, and if they can be tied to the Health Futures vision; how can 
the CareNext collaboration be a vehicle to advance initiatives in education, research or innovation; and what CoPs are 
important to develop. 

Page 6 of 274



 
Senate Graduate and Research Council   
June 17 2024 Minutes  page 3 of 3 
 
 
10. OTHER BUSINESS 

Dean spoke to Casello’s accomplishments as Associate Vice President, Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs; and 
thanked him for his service in the role and to Council.  

 
With no further business in the open session, Council moved into confidential session. The only item was the approval of the 
confidential minutes of the May 6, 2024 meeting, which were approved. There was no other business. 
 
13. ADJOURNMENT  
With no further business, the meeting adjourned. The next meeting will be held on Monday, September 16, 2024, 10:00 a.m. to 
11:30 a.m. in NH 3318 
 

  
 
June 27, 2024 

 
Tim Weber-Kraljevski 
Associate University Secretary 

 
 

Page 7 of 274



Memorandum 

To:   Members, Senate Graduate and Research Council (SGRC) 
 
From:   Julie Joza, Director, Research Ethics 

 
Date:   August 26, 2024 
 
Subject:  Membership on Waterloo’s Research Ethics Boards 
 

This memo outlines membership updates that will be taking place on Waterloo’s Research Ethics Boards. 
This update is for consideration and approval by the Senate Graduate and Research Council.  

 
 
Clinical Research Ethics Board (CREB) 
 
Membership Renewal 

Ashraf Sefin, MD, MSc, PhD, CCFP, is renewing for a second term as a clinical physician knowledgeable 
about clinical trials research. Ashraf’s term will continue through to September 30, 2027.   
 
 
Human Research Ethics Board (HREB) 
 
New Members 
 
David Moscovitch, PhD, Professor, Department of Psychology, provides expertise in clinical psychology. 
This position on HREB was previously held by Jonathan Oakman whose term is ending. David’s term will 
begin on September 1, 2024, and continue through to August 31, 2025.  

Annika Hillebrandt, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Psychology will provide expertise in 
organizational psychology. Annika’s position from the Department is currently held by Jonathan 
Fugelsang who will begin serving as HREB Chair on September 1, 2024. Annika’s term will begin on 
September 1, 2024, and continue through to August 31, 2027.  

Clara Colombatto, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Psychology will provide expertise in cognitive 
and social psychology. Clara’s term will begin on September 1, 2024, and continue through to August 31, 
2027.  

Membership Renewal 

Douglas Brown, PhD, Professor, Department of Psychology is renewing his term. Douglas’s term will 
continue to August 31, 2027.  

Sean Peterson, PhD, Professor, Department of Mechanical and Mechatronics Engineering is renewing his 
term as a member with expertise in the methods or processes used in engineering/technology research. 
Sean was a member from October 1, 2020, to September 30, 2023, and had expressed interest in 
returning following his sabbatical. Shi Cao served in this role for one year. Sean’s second term will begin 
on September 1, 2024, and continue through to August 31, 2027.  

Page 8 of 274

https://experts.mcmaster.ca/display/sefina
https://uwaterloo.ca/psychology/profiles/david-moscovitch
https://uwaterloo.ca/psychology/profiles/annika-hillebrandt
https://uwaterloo.ca/psychology/profiles/clara-colombatto
https://uwaterloo.ca/psychology/profiles/douglas-brown
https://uwaterloo.ca/mechanical-mechatronics-engineering/profile/peterson


Reminder: SGRC members who wish to learn more about the qualifications or academic background and 
interests of the individual being nominated to the REB are encouraged to contact Julie Joza, Director, 
Research Ethics at jajoza@uwaterloo.ca. Julie will be pleased to discuss with SGRC members in advance 
of the meeting the information they may need to help support their decision to recommend the 
nomination of the individual in becoming a member of the REB. On behalf of the SGRC, the research 
ethics office retains a copy of each member’s CV and expression of interest in being a REB member.  

Page 9 of 274

mailto:jajoza@uwaterloo.ca


    
August 26, 2024 
 
TO: Tim Weber-Kraljevski, Governance Officer 
 
FROM:  Heidi Mussar, Associate Director, Graduate Financial Aid & Awards 
 
RE:  Agenda items for Senate Graduate & Research Council – September 2024 
 
Items for Approval 
a) Dean of Engineering Master’s Excellence Award (DEMEA) – operating  

The Dean of Engineering Master’s Excellence Award, valued at up to $10,000, is available to 
domestic students who will be registered full time in a master’s (MASc) program in the Faculty 
of Engineering at the University of Waterloo in Fall 2024 or later. A specific award application is 
not required. Recipients will be selected automatically based on their application for admission 
to the program, taking into consideration the evaluation criteria of the award. The Faculty of 
Engineering will select recipients in collaboration with departments as offers of admission are 
made throughout the year. 
The scholarship will be paid in equal instalments across the standard duration of the program, 
providing they continue to meet the eligibility criteria. In order to continue receiving future 
instalments, the student must maintain an overall average of 90% in their program. 
 

b) Haitham Kamil Graduate Award – trust 
An award valued at $2,000, will be provided annually to a full-time graduate student enrolled in 
any year of a master's or doctoral program at the University of Waterloo. Selection is based on 
academic achievement (minimum 70% cumulative average in their current program) combined 
with involvement in cultural extracurricular activities and contributions to the Iraqi community 
as determined via their application. Interested students should apply by February 15 using the 
application found on the Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs website. This fund is made 
possible by a donation from Haitham Kamil, a proud alum (MASc’84). 
The period of this defined term award will be from 2025 to 2026. The first selection will be 
made in February 2025 and the last in February 2026. If there are no eligible applicants in a 
year, the funds may be awarded to an undergraduate student. 

 
c) Professor Sofyan Taya Memorial Graduate Scholarship – trust 

A scholarship, valued at $3,000, will be awarded annually to a full-time graduate student 
enrolled in any research-based master’s or doctoral program at the University of Waterloo. 
Selection is based on academic excellence (80% cumulative average) in their current program 
combined with demonstrations of leadership and contributions to humanitarian efforts. 
Interested students should submit an application by October 1 to Graduate Studies and 
Postdoctoral Affairs. This scholarship is made possible by donations from friends and family of 
Professor Sofyan Taya, a dedicated researcher, teacher, father and friend taken far too soon. 

 
d) Faculty of Engineering Discretionary Graduate Award – operating 

An award created and awarded at the discretion of the Dean of the Faculty of Engineering to 
support a graduate student for financial assistance for various reasons. Some examples may 
include: 
 
  

Page 10 of 274



- Paying for student’s tuition as part of a hiring negotiation  
- Students who are near to degree completion but for whom other sources of 

funding are not available, and who are not eligible for bursaries  
- Gaps in funding support which may arise from change in supervisor(s)  
- Administrative errors/issues  
- Funding support offered to facilitate resolutions to complex student cases, 

particularly in situations where the Faculty/University may have risk exposure  
This award will NOT be published in the graduate awards database.  

 
Items for Information 
e) Maks Wulkan Graduate Scholarship – trust 

This scholarship was originally created in 2020 with a gift of $50,000. 
This scholarship is being renewed with a gift of $50,000 with scholarship selection being made 
in winter 2025. The updated award description is as follows: 
 
A scholarship, valued at up to $50,000, will be provided to one graduate student registered full-
time in a doctoral program in the Faculty of Engineering. The scholarship will be paid to the 
student in equal instalments over the standard program length, as long as they remain 
registered full time. Selection is based on academic excellence (minimum cumulative average of 
80% or equivalent in their current or most recently completed graduate program) combined 
with an interest in human-factors engineering.  
The scholarship will be paid in equal instalments each term for as long as the student is 
registered full time within time limits of the program (12 terms) and in good academic standing. 
In the event that a recipient fails to meet the renewal criteria, or completes their degree early, 
residual funds may be used to offer additional entrance scholarships.  
 
This fund is made possible by a donation from Maks Wulkan, a proud engineering alum (BASc’ 
97 Electrical) who wants to support graduate students in their research. 
 

f) Perimeter Scholars International Award – trust 
Originally established in 2009 to provide students, accepted into the Perimeter Scholars 
International (PSI) Program, with full financial support for their program. UW would provide 
tuition scholarships and Perimeter Institute (PI) would provide funding intended to cover 
expenses related to travel, housing, food, textbooks and reference material, student services 
fees, and incidental stipends as assessed by PI. Normally, the funding was offered to students 
for only one year of their program. 
 
The award program is being amended to enhance it by offering a one-year extension. This one-
year extension will allow students to complete their course requirements and have two terms 
to do research in academia and/or internships with partners outside academia under the 
(co)supervision of an academic supervisor. PSI will have an enrolment target of 35 students. 
Steady state target will include up to 10 eligible students per year of the 1-year scholarship 
extension, including the tuition scholarship funded by UW.  
 

g) Women in Mathematics Directed Reading Program Mentorship Award – operating 
Originally established in 2022 and amended several times, the Faculty of Mathematics is 
amending the award effective Fall 2024 with the following changes: 
 

• Division of the Directed Reading Program (DRP) into two distinct tiers:  
o DRP-Reading  
o DRP-Research  

 

Page 11 of 274



The new DRP-Research tier will focus on original research aimed at senior undergraduate 
mentees. The award value remains the same regardless of which tier the recipient is mentoring 
under.  

• Shortening of the award name to “Women in Mathematics Mentorship Award”  
 
The rest of the criteria remain the same. 

Page 12 of 274



FACULTY OF ENVIRONMENT - GRADUATE STUDIES 

REPORT TO SENATE GRADUATE & RESEARCH COUNCIL

September 16, 2024

1. Course revisions for approval
a. GEOG

i. GEMCC 622 – Updating the course description to add a note about possible
field trip fees.

ii. GEOG 656 – Adding GEOG 403 as an anti-requisite as several of the course
components are similar.

iii. GEOG 677 – Updating the course description to add a note about possible
field trip fees.

Page 13 of 274



Page 1 of 2 

  Senate Graduate & Research Council 
Graduate Studies Course/Milestone Form

Prior to form submission, review the content revision instructions. For questions about the form submission, 
contact Trevor Clews, Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs (GSPA).  

Faculty: Environment  
Effective date:    Term: Fall Year: 2025 

Milestone 
Note: milestone changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program Revision Template. 

☐ New: Choose an item.

☐ Inactivate: Choose an item.

☐ Revise: from Choose an item. to Choose an item.

Course 
Note: some course changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program Revision Template. 

☐ New: Complete all course elements below

☐ Inactivate:    Complete the following course elements:
Course subject code, Course number, Course ID, Course title 

☒ Revise: Complete all course elements below to reflect the proposed change(s) and identify the course
elements being revised (e.g. Course description, Course title): 

Updating the course description to add a note about possible field trip fees. 

Course elements (complete as indicated above. Review the glossary of terms for details on course elements) 

Course subject code: GEMCC 

Course number: 622 

Course ID: 014509 

Course title (max. 100 characters including spaces): Climate Change, Natural Hazards and Disaster Risk 
Reduction 

Course short title (max. 30 characters including spaces): Climate Change, Natural Hazard 

Grading basis: Numerical 

Course credit weight: 0.50 

Course consent required: Not required 

Course description: This course explores the complex links between climate change and natural hazards, and 
related disasters, including disaster risk reduction as an adaptation strategy. Emphasis is placed on examining 
these concepts in a developing country context. *eligible for MES (Note: This course may include additional fees 

Page 14 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies/about/people/tclews
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/quest/graduate-students/glossary-of-terms


Page 2 of 2 

for field trip participation.) 

Meet type(s): Seminar    Choose an item.    Choose an item.    Choose an item. 

Primary meet type: Seminar 

Delivery mode: On-campus 

Requisites: N/A 

Special topics course:  Yes    ☐ No    ☒ 

Cross-listed course:       Yes    ☒ No     ☐ 

Course subject code(s) and number(s) to be cross-listed with and approval status: GEOG 677 (course revision 
request also submitted by GEOG) 

Sections combined/held with: 

Rationale for request:  

This course contains a field trip component that includes additional fees and instructor plans to continue this in 
future offerings. The update to the description will provide this information to students so that they take this into 
consideration during course selection. 

Form completed by: Teresa Wilson 
Department/School approval date (mm/dd/yy): 04/26/24 
Reviewed by GSPA (for GSPA use only) ☒  date (mm/dd/yy): 05/01/24 
Faculty approval date (mm/dd/yy):  07/10/24
Senate Graduate & Research Council (SGRC) approval date (mm/dd/yy): 

Page 15 of 274



Senate Graduate & Research Council 
Graduate Studies Course/Milestone Form 

Prior to form submission, review the content revision instructions. For questions about the form 
submission, contact Trevor Clews, Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs (GSPA). 

Faculty: Environment 

Effective date: Term: Fall Year: 2025 

Milestone 
Note: milestone changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program 
Revision Template. 

☐ New: Choose an item.

☐ Inactivate: Choose an item.

☐ Revise: from Choose an item. to Choose an item.

Course 
Note: some course changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program 
Revision Template. 

☐ New: Complete all course elements below

☐ Inactivate: Complete the following course elements:
Course subject code, Course number, Course ID, Course title 

☒ Revise: Complete all course elements below to reflect the proposed change(s) and
identify the course elements being revised (e.g. Course description, Course 
title): 

  Adding GEOG 403 as an anti-requisite as several of the course components are similar. 

Course elements (complete as indicated above. Review the glossary of terms for details on 
course elements) 

Course subject code: GEOG 

Course number: 656 

Course ID: 016420 

Course title (max. 100 characters including spaces): Eutrophication: From Process to Water 

Page 16 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies/about/people/tclews
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/quest/graduate-students/glossary-of-terms


Quality Management 

Course short title (max. 30 characters including spaces): Eutrophication- Water Quality 

Grading basis: Numerical 

Course credit weight: 0.50 

Course consent required: Not required 

Course description: Eutrophication, caused by excess nutrients (phosphorus and nitrogen) 
entering water bodies, results in nuisance and harmful algal blooms, and is a major global threat 
to water quality and water security. This course explores eutrophication drivers, pressures and 
impacts on the quality of freshwater systems, from watershed to global scales. Students will learn 
about the sources and biogeochemical cycling of nutrients along the aquatic (stream-river-lake) 
continuum, and ecological responses in receiving water bodies. Environmental thresholds for 
setting water-quality standards and nutrient criteria will be discussed. Students will learn about 
agricultural beneficial management practices and wastewater management to reduce nutrient 
inputs to freshwaters. Students will examine the benefits and challenges of sustainable nutrient 
stewardship in combatting eutrophication, and learn about how this knowledge is used in water-
quality management, through international examples. 

Meet type(s): Lecture Lab Seminar Choose an item. 

Primary meet type: Lecture 

Delivery mode: On-campus 

Requisites: Antireq: GEOG 403 

Special topics course: Yes ☐ No ☒

Cross-listed course: Yes ☐ No ☒

Course subject code(s) and number(s) to be cross-listed with and approval status: 

Sections combined/held with: 

Rationale for request: 

Several of the course components have overlap with GEOG 403, so the instructor thinks it is 
appropriate to add an anti-requisite to that course. 

Form completed by: Maria Strack 
Department/School approval date (mm/dd/yy): 04/26/24 

Page 17 of 274



Reviewed by GSPA (for GSPA use only) ☐ date (mm/dd/yy): 05/01/24 
Faculty approval date (mm/dd/yy): 07/10/24
Senate Graduate & Research Council (SGRC) approval date (mm/dd/yy): 

Page 7 of 11 

Page 18 of 274



Page 1 of 2 

  Senate Graduate & Research Council 
Graduate Studies Course/Milestone Form

Prior to form submission, review the content revision instructions. For questions about the form submission, 
contact Trevor Clews, Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs (GSPA).  

Faculty: Environment  
Effective date:    Term: Fall Year: 2025 

Milestone 
Note: milestone changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program Revision Template. 

☐ New: Choose an item.

☐ Inactivate: Choose an item.

☐ Revise: from Choose an item. to Choose an item.

Course 
Note: some course changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program Revision Template. 

☐ New: Complete all course elements below

☐ Inactivate:    Complete the following course elements:
Course subject code, Course number, Course ID, Course title 

☒ Revise:  Complete all course elements below to reflect the proposed change(s) and identify the course
elements being revised (e.g. Course description, Course title): 

Updating the course description to add a note about possible field trip fees. 

Course elements (complete as indicated above. Review the glossary of terms for details on course elements) 

Course subject code: GEOG 

Course number: 677 

Course ID: 014509 

Course title (max. 100 characters including spaces): Climate Change, Natural Hazards and Disaster Risk 
Reduction 

Course short title (max. 30 characters including spaces): Climate Change, Natural Hazard 

Grading basis: Numerical 

Course credit weight: 0.50 

Course consent required: Not required 

Course description: This course explores the complex links between climate change and natural hazards, and 
related disasters, including disaster risk reduction as an adaptation strategy. Emphasis is placed on examining 
these concepts in a developing country context. *eligible for MES. (Note: This course may include additional fees 
for field trip participation.) 

Page 19 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies/about/people/tclews
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/quest/graduate-students/glossary-of-terms


Page 2 of 2 

Meet type(s): Seminar  Choose an item.    Choose an item.    Choose an item. 

Primary meet type: Seminar 

Delivery mode: On-campus 

Requisites: N/A 

Special topics course:  Yes    ☐ No    ☒ 

Cross-listed course:       Yes    ☒ No     ☐ 

Course subject code(s) and number(s) to be cross-listed with and approval status: GEMCC 622 (course revision 
request also submitted by GEMCC) 

Sections combined/held with: 

Rationale for request: 

This course contains a field trip component that includes additional fees and the instructor plans to continue this in 
future offerings. The update to the description will provide this information to students so that they take this into 
consideration during course selection. 

Form completed by: Maria Strack 
Department/School approval date (mm/dd/yy): 04/26/24 
Reviewed by GSPA (for GSPA use only) ☒  date (mm/dd/yy): 05/01/24 
Faculty approval date (mm/dd/yy):  07/10/24
Senate Graduate & Research Council (SGRC) approval date (mm/dd/yy): 

Page 20 of 274



 
 

MEMORANDUM 
To: Senate Graduate and Research Council 

From: Ian Milligan, Associate Vice-President, Research Oversight and Analysis 

Date:        September 16, 2024 

Subject:      Updating the Integrity in Research Administrative Guidelines 
 

- For Information - 
 
 

The University of Waterloo’s “Integrity in Research Administrative Guidelines” (hereafter 
“Guidelines”) have been updated in July 2024 to reflect changes made to the Tri-Agency 
Framework on the Responsible Conduct of Research.  

These Guidelines apply to University of Waterloo staff members, graduate and undergraduate 
students, post-doctoral fellows, and to anyone else not covered by the Memorandum of 
Agreement (MOA) between the Faculty Association of the University of Waterloo (FAUW) and 
the University of Waterloo, and who is doing research under the auspices of the university. 

It is a requirement to update university guidelines into compliance with this Framework as a 
condition of receiving Tri-Agency funds. This brings the Guidelines into harmony with the 
UW/FAUW MOA Article 14 on Research Integrity. 

In addition to housekeeping changes, more significant changes include: 

• Updating the definition of “falsification” (2.2.2) and “destruction of research data (2.2.3) 
or records” to reflect new federal language. 

• Clarifying the process by which allegations that involve conduct that involved at another 
university will be addressed (4.1) 

• Explicitly allowing for anonymous allegations, noting that such “allegations will be 
considered if accompanied by sufficient information to enable the assessment of the 
allegation and the credibility of the facts and evidence on which the allegation is based, 
without the need for further information from the complainant.”  

The guidelines are available on the website at https://uwaterloo.ca/research/integrity-research-
administrative-guidelines.  

 

Page 21 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/research/integrity-research-administrative-guidelines
https://uwaterloo.ca/research/integrity-research-administrative-guidelines


From: UW Secretariat Senate
Cc: Tim Weber-Kraljevski
Subject: RE: SGRC E-Vote June 2024 -
Date: Friday, June 28, 2024 4:15:20 PM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png

Members of the Senate Graduate & Research Council,
 
Voting has now closed on the e-vote and quorum was achieved. The motion to approve the new
courses SYDE 620 and SYDE 640 on behalf of Senate, as presented, carried. Sivoththaman and
Dreesha.
 
Thank you to all who voted,
Tim
 
Tim Weber-Kraljevski
Associate University Secretary
Secretariat

The University of Waterloo acknowledges that much of our work takes place on the traditional territory of the
Neutral, Anishinaabeg and Haudenosaunee peoples. Our main campus is situated on the Haldimand Tract, the
land granted to the Six Nations that includes six miles on each side of the Grand River. Our active work toward
reconciliation takes place across our campuses through research, learning, teaching, and community building, and
is centralized within the Office of Indigenous Relations.

 
 
From: UW Secretariat Senate <senate@uwaterloo.ca> 
Sent: Tuesday, June 25, 2024 3:29 PM
Cc: Tim Weber-Kraljevski <tweber@uwaterloo.ca>
Subject: SGRC E-Vote June 2024 -

 
Members of the Senate Graduate & Research Council,
At the June 17, 2024 SGRC meeting, the approval of the new courses SYDE 620 and SYDE 640 were
removed from the Engineering report that was part of the consent agenda due to concerns raised
from the Faculty of Mathematics. The Faculties of Mathematics and Engineering have now connected
offline to discuss the concerns and have agreed to put these items forward for approval again as they
were presented at the June meeting. They are being brought forward for approval via e-vote to ensure
that they can be added to the Fall 2024 calendar.
The material is available at the following link:  Engineering June 2024 SGRC E-Vote - SYDE 620 and
640.pdf
MOTION: To approve the new courses SYDE 620 and SYDE 640 on behalf of Senate, as presented.
REQUEST: Please respond to this email indicating your support, or your vote against, or abstention.
The first person to respond in support of the motion will be considered the mover, and the second

Page 22 of 274

mailto:senate@uwaterloo.ca
mailto:tweber@uwaterloo.ca
https://uofwaterloo.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/sec/cmt/SGRC/Shared%20Documents/2024-06-17/Engineering%20June%202024%20SGRC%20E-Vote%20-%20SYDE%20620%20and%20640.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=ffgwew
https://uofwaterloo.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/sec/cmt/SGRC/Shared%20Documents/2024-06-17/Engineering%20June%202024%20SGRC%20E-Vote%20-%20SYDE%20620%20and%20640.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=ffgwew




person to respond will be considered as the seconder.
Kindly reply with your vote before 12:00 noon on Friday, June 28, 2024.
For any questions, please contact me directly.
Thank you,
Tim
 
Tim Weber-Kraljevski
Associate University Secretary
Secretariat
University of Waterloo
3060 Needles Hall – 200 University Ave. West
Waterloo ON N2L 3G1

The University of Waterloo acknowledges that much of our work takes place on the traditional territory of the
Neutral, Anishinaabeg and Haudenosaunee peoples. Our main campus is situated on the Haldimand Tract, the
land granted to the Six Nations that includes six miles on each side of the Grand River. Our active work toward
reconciliation takes place across our campuses through research, learning, teaching, and community building, and
is centralized within the Office of Indigenous Relations.

 

Page 23 of 274



 
 

 
  
 

NEW GRADUATE PROGRAM PROPOSAL* 
OF 

MASC AND PhD 
IN  

BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING 
Submitted to the 

Ontario Universities Council on Quality Assurance 
 

VOLUME I - PROPOSED BRIEF 

NOVEMBER 2023 
 

Page 24 of 274



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
1. INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Brief Listing of the Program .................................................................................................. 1 
1.2 Method Used for Preparation of the Brief ........................................................................... 1 
1.3 Objectives of the Program (QAF 2.1.2.1) .............................................................................. 2 
1.4 Admission Requirements (QAF 2.1.2.5) ................................................................................ 3 
1.5 Structure ............................................................................................................................... 5 
1.6 Program Content ................................................................................................................... 6 
1.7 Mode of Delivery .................................................................................................................. 7 
1.8 Assessment of Teaching and Learning (QAF 2.1.2.4)............................................................ 7 
1.9 Fields in a Graduate Program ............................................................................................. 10 

2. HUMAN RESOURCES ............................................................................................................. 10 
2.1 List of Faculty by Field ......................................................................................................... 11 
2.2 External Operating Research Funding ................................................................................ 14 
2.3 Graduate Supervision ......................................................................................................... 14 
2.4 Commitment of Faculty from Other Graduate Programs/Other Institutions .................... 16 
2.5 Quality of Faculty ................................................................................................................ 17 

3. PHYSICAL AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES ................................................................................ 17 
3.1 Library Resources ................................................................................................................ 18 
3.2 Laboratory Resources ......................................................................................................... 19 
3.3 Computer Facilities ............................................................................................................. 19 
3.4 Space ................................................................................................................................... 19 
3.5 Financial Support ................................................................................................................ 20 

4. CURRICULUM ........................................................................................................................ 20 
4.1 The Intellectual Development and the Educational Experience of the Student ................ 20 
4.2 Program Regulations ........................................................................................................... 21 
4.3 Part-time Studies ................................................................................................................ 24 
4.4 Curriculum ........................................................................................................................... 24 
4.5 Collateral and Supporting Departments and Schools ......................................................... 27 
4.6 Organizational Structure ..................................................................................................... 28 

5. PROJECTED ENROLLMENT .................................................................................................... 30 
6. FINANCIAL PLAN.................................................................................................................... 31 
Appendix A NSERC CREATE Programs ........................................................................................... 32 
Appendix B Master of Applied Science (MASc) in Biomedical Engineering ................................. 33 
Appendix C Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Biomedical Engineering ............................................ 39 
Appendix D New program report on library support for the proposed graduate program ........ 48 
Appendix E Learning Outcomes Summary Mapped to Courses and Assessment Mthds (MASc) 50 
Appendix F Learning Outcomes Summary Mapped to Courses and Assessment Mthds (PhD) .. 53 
Appendix G Faculty Members beyond Core Partnering Departments ......................................... 56 
Appendix H Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program Electives ............................................... 58 
Appendix I Senate Graduate & Research Council – Graduate Course/Milestone Forms ............. 61 
 

Page 25 of 274



 

1 
 

1. INTRODUCTION  

 
1.1 Brief Listing of the Program  

The Departments of Systems Design Engineering (SYDE), Electrical and Computer Engineering 
(ECE) and Mechanical and Mechatronics Engineering (MME) seek to establish Doctor of 
Philosophy (PhD) and research-based Master of Applied Science (MASc) degrees in Biomedical 
Engineering (BME).  

The PhD and MASc programs, which will be four and two years in duration, respectively, include 
new and existing courses that will engage students in the acquisition of high-level technical 
knowledge and methods. The program is research-focused on biomedical engineering, with 
complementary emphases on professional engineering and explicit design practice. In addition 
to an independent thesis, students will develop professional and transferable skills in modules 
for milestone-based activities in the proposed Professional Attributes and Competence 
Enhancement (PACE) Module. The program will include a strong model of engaged thesis 
advisers forming active interdisciplinary advisory and examination committees.  

The initiative builds on several existing research training programs such as, NSERC-CREATE 
(Global Biomedical Technology Research and Innovation, led by Prof. Catherine Burns), N-
GENIUS (Next-Generation Innovations in Ultrasonics, led by Prof Alfred Yu) etc. The graduate 
education programs will be delivered on campus in Waterloo, Ontario, using online technology 
and field-based locations, as needed, for optimal student experience. The tuition fees for the 
programs will be consistent with the fees of the existing graduate programs in the Faculty of 
Engineering as outlined in the UW Finance fee schedule. 

 

1.2 Method Used for Preparation of the Brief 

While the intention to create BME graduate programs stems back to the initiation of the BME 
undergraduate program more than a decade ago, this version of the proposal was initiated in 
Winter 2021 after the Dean of the Faculty of Engineering and the Chair of Systems Design 
Engineering department engaged with the departments of Electrical and Computer Engineering 
and Mechanical and Mechatronics Engineering. 
 

The intent of those meetings was to present the rationale for a new approach to a graduate 
program and to seek partnership from the three departments. Following the consultations, the 
three departments recommended two faculty members each to serve on an interdisciplinary 
task force. Upon request, department chairs from the Department of Kinesiology and Health 
Sciences in the Faculty of Health and the School of Optometry and Vision Science in the Faculty 
of Science also appointed one representative each to the task force. The composition of the 
task force was based on consultations with students and alumni that showed a preference for a 
program that is engineering-based and strongly interdisciplinary. 

 

The work of the BME Graduate Program Task Force built on prior analysis of national, graduate-
level BME curricula undertaken by SYDE faculty in fall 2020. During the latter half of 2021, a 

Page 26 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/finance/student-financial-services/tuition-fee-schedules
https://uwaterloo.ca/finance/student-financial-services/tuition-fee-schedules


 

2 
 

subset of the Task Force worked on defining curriculum and admissions requirements, with 
careful consideration of how to engage students with prior degrees that may provide disparate 
preparation for the graduate program. The Task Force also consulted industry stakeholders, 
who communicated the importance of transferable skills and motivated the vision for the 
Professional Attributes and Competence Enhancement (PACE) modules.   

 

To establish the financial model of the program, the SYDE chair worked with staff from the 
Dean of Engineering office to conceptualize a program involving three departments in an 
administrative partnership and managed by BME but consist of students training in faculty labs 
across departments, schools, and faculties. Teaching duties will be shared amongst the partners 
and costs reimbursed to participating departments.   

 

1.3 Objectives of the Program (QAF 2.1.2.1) 

The primary objective of the proposed BME Graduate Program is to produce comprehensively 
trained and technically outstanding master’s and doctoral graduates in biomedical engineering 
who are prepared to excel and lead in all sectors of society—postsecondary education, 
industry, not-for-profit, government and more. Our objective is to align the University of 
Waterloo’s research strengths and output with important global challenges in the biomedical 
sector.  
 

The program aligns with the University of Waterloo Strategic Plan and Strategic Mandate 
Agreement, as well as these three Signature Commitments described in the Strategic Plan 
which are: 1. Align our research strengths deliberately with important global challenges, 2. Lead 
globally and nationally at the interface of society, health and technology, and 3. Be a global 
powerhouse for commercializing research, developing new enterprises, and supporting 
business growth. 
 
1) The proposed program strengthens the University’s commitment to align research 

strengths with important global challenges, specifically in the area of health technologies. 

Developing talent for a complex future and advancing research for global impact are also 

key to Waterloo’s strategic plan themes. Health is an area that is enormously complex, with 

great need for global education and research; this program’s contributions will be at the 

forefront of biomedical engineering where technology and design contribute to the 

solution to increasingly complex, real-world challenges. Examples include rehabilitation 

robotics, tissue engineering, leading edge imaging technologies, and multifaceted systems 

approach to deal with pandemics (e.g., COVID-19). 

 

2) Leading globally and nationally at the interface of society, health, and technology is 

something we already do at Waterloo. The program will provide a focal point by 

contributing directly to this goal. By leveraging Waterloo’s research strengths in technology 

and the social, economic, biological and environmental determinants of health, Waterloo 

Page 27 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/strategic-plan
https://uwaterloo.ca/institutional-analysis-planning/reports/strategic-mandate-agreement
https://uwaterloo.ca/institutional-analysis-planning/reports/strategic-mandate-agreement
https://uwaterloo.ca/strategic-plan/


 

3 
 

will lead in securing healthy futures for local and global communities. It is salient to this 

goal that the proposed BME graduate program will be administratively led by SYDE which is 

known for its extensive interdisciplinary endeavors. The program will establish a structure 

within which interdisciplinary learning objectives can be achieved for students seeking the 

BME credential. Although based in Engineering, the program’s proposed partnership 

structure and interdisciplinary nature exploits existing cross-faculty, interdisciplinary 

research teams that apply their disciplinary strengths to problems of societal importance. 

By strengthening existing partnerships, Waterloo can attract more talent at all levels – 

faculty, researchers, postdoctoral scholars, and graduate students. In this way, the program 

provides a venue for attracting, developing, and retaining tomorrow’s research and 

industry leaders, including outstanding scholars from around the world. 

 

3) The University of Waterloo has a globally recognized entrepreneurial ecosystem, with 

many notable alumni founders coming from the Faculty of Engineering. The BME graduate 

programs have tremendous potential to combine Waterloo’s entrepreneurial resources 

with groundbreaking healthcare technologies that improve quality of life. Several Waterloo 

faculty members with research interest in biomedical engineering have commercialized 

their research, are working with an industry partner, and/or started a business venture 

alongside their research work. There are graduate students currently enrolled in the 

partner programs developing their own ventures in the biomedical engineering field. For 

example, a graduate of the first BME undergraduate class and current SYDE PhD student, 

developed an app to improve the workflow of vaccine clinics. Interest in commercializing 

research is demonstrated among students in the BME undergraduate program. Capstone 

design teams often continue to work on their projects beyond the program requirements. 

In 2022, team Petalos developed a prototype for a novel gastrointestinal modular 

endoscope that reduces contamination for better clinical outcomes. The team has entered 

and won several pitch competitions to obtain funding to keep the project going. Advancing 

to BME graduate program would give interested students the opportunity to continue 

developing their research training while working towards commercializing their project.  

 
1.4 Admission Requirements (QAF 2.1.2.5) 

Admission to the BME graduate program is through direct application, managed by the BME 
program. While the successful applicant will be registered in the BME program, students will 
have connection(s) to their advisor’s (or advisors’) home department(s), where they will 
conduct their research and be allocated lab and space resources. The admitting advisor must be 
a BME faculty member. Due to the extensive interdisciplinary nature of BME, students with 
diverse academic backgrounds are expected to apply, and the admission requirements will take 

Page 28 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/news/running-vaccine-clinic-theres-app


 

4 
 

this into account. The curriculum, guided by the BME Graduate Program Committee, ensures 
the intended learning outcomes are achieved. 
Below is a summary of the admission requirements: 

• MASc applicants must have completed a bachelor’s degree (or equivalent) in any 

field of engineering or a related science discipline at a recognized institution with a 

minimum 80% overall average.  

• PhD (regular entry) applicants will have completed a research thesis-based master’s 

degree (or equivalent) in engineering, applied science, or science from a recognized 

institution with at least an overall 80% average and documented evidence of 

potential to excel in PhD studies and research.  

• For both MASc and PhD applicants, English Language Proficiency (ELP) requirements 

of the Faculty of Engineering must be met. (Appendix B and C). 

• Both MASc and PhD applicants who are deemed by the graduate coordinator, BME 

graduate program director, Admissions Committee or intended advisor to have an 

inadequate depth of technical BME background may be directed to take additional 

foundational courses, to be specified at the time of admission.  

• PhD (direct from Honours BME undergraduate entry) applicants require a minimum 

overall average of 80% in a BME program at the undergraduate level and clear 

evidence of excellent potential to excel in PhD studies and research. Substantial 

research experience is expected.   

The full description of the admission requirements is in Appendix B for MASc and Appendix C 
for PhD.  
 
Transfer students from other Waterloo graduate research programs applying to enter the BME 
graduate program by completing a Change of Program form will be considered on a case-by-
case basis by the BME Admissions committee, and must meet the following additional 
requirements:  

• be in good academic standing with their current program; 

• have met the BME minimum academic admission requirements above; 

• have a research focus on BME, as determined by the BME graduate program 

director; 

• ensure the comprehensive exams and the curriculum requirements will be met; 

(core, field, two electives, and PACE Modules) by taking additional courses, if 

required. Exceptions may be granted as described below.  

If a student enters the program with substantial BME experience, they may seek recognition for 
that work in lieu of completing some of the program requirements. Recognition is granted 
following approval, first by the student’s supervisor then by the BME graduate program director 
who makes the final decision. This exception to waive course requirements will not lower the 

Page 29 of 274



 

5 
 

total number of courses required. 
 
1.5 Structure 

To achieve an MASc or PhD degree in the BME program, students will have successfully 
completed relevant courses, participated in modules designed to train and enhance 
professional competencies, attended, and presented at a regular seminar series, and completed 
a research thesis. These activities ensure the Graduate Level Expectations (GDLE) for both MASc 
and PhD are met.  
  
For both the MASc and PhD programs, students must successfully complete at least one of the 
three core courses (BME 601, BME 602, or BME 603) that take a quantitative approach to broad 
aspects related to human physiology and BME, at least one field-specific course relevant to 
their research, and at least two electives (Appendix H). Further details on the course 
requirements, including how they vary between degrees and based on the educational 
background of the student, can be found in section 4. 
 
Students who have completed the MASc program in BME at Waterloo may apply and continue 
to the doctoral program. In this situation, students will have already completed the core course 
requirements (one of BME 601, BME 602, or BME 603), a field-specific course and two electives 
as part of their master’s degree requirements. To satisfy the PhD program requirements, these 
students must complete a total of four courses including a) one core course requirement (one 
of BME 601, BME 602 or BME 603 that was not completed as part of the MASc in BME 
program); b) two additional electives; c) an additional field-specific course if they have switched 
fields between MASc and PhD. PhD candidates who qualify to enter directly from an Honours 
undergraduate program must take two core courses, one field-specific course, and four 
electives to establish an equivalent level of depth. 
 
The program courses are supplemented by the milestone-based1 PACE Module. In these 
modules, both MASc and PhD students will receive training in the areas of research design and 
planning, academic integrity, professional presentation, and scientific writing. PhD students will 
receive additional training in developing research plans and in writing grant and business 
proposals. 
  
The program requirements include deadlines for completing milestones (e.g., coursework, 
research presentation at the regular seminar series, dissertation, and defense) to aid in keeping 
students on track to complete degrees within the University’s expected timeframe. The 
standard degree lengths are two and four years for MASc and PhD, respectively. 
 
A summary is provided below for different student groups admitted to the program: 
  

 
1 Milestones are defined as "non-course degree requirements (e.g., thesis, comprehensives, master's research 

paper) that a student must complete toward degree progress in order to graduate.”  

Page 30 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes


 

6 
 

 

Student admitted from outside of UW 
 MASC admission PhD admission 

Courses: 1 of BME 601, 602, 603 1 of BME 601, 602, 603 

1 Field related course 1 Field related course 

2 Electives 2 Electives 

Milestones: PACE PACE 

 Comprehensive Exam 

Seminar attendance and 
presentation 

Seminar attendance and presentation 

Thesis Defense Thesis Defense 

Student admitted to PhD program having completed UW Masters in BME 
Courses:  1 Additional course from BME 601, 602 or 603 (not 

taken in Master’s program) 

 1 Field related course if PhD field differs from Master’s 

 2 Electives with additional field course; or 
3 Electives 

Milestones:  As above 

Student admitted to PhD program from Honours BME undergraduate program 
Courses:  2 of BME 601, 602, 603 

 1 Field related course 

 4 electives 

Milestones:  As above 

 
The administrative structure and curricular oversight of the BME Graduate programs are 
described in Section 4.6. The structure includes an administrative department home for 
program staff, a representative curriculum program committee, an oversight policy committee 
of core department chairs, and a process for faculty membership in the program from across 
multiple departments and Faculties.  
 
1.6 Program Content  

Biomedical engineering is the application of engineering principles and design concepts to 
medicine and biology for healthcare purposes. The field seeks to close the gap between 
engineering and medicine, combining the design and problem-solving skills of engineering with 
medical and biological sciences to advance healthcare treatment, including diagnosis, 
monitoring, and therapy.2 
 
With the interdisciplinary strengths of faculty from the largest engineering school in Canada, 
the Waterloo BME graduate program will be at the leading edge of the discipline. Waterloo has 
deep expertise in five defined research fields (described in section 1.9) that cover the span of 
BME and represent Waterloo’s strengths and societal needs. The proposed curriculum provides 

 
2 Enderle and Bronzino, Introduction to Biomedical Engineering 

Page 31 of 274

https://www.sciencedirect.com/book/9780123749796/introduction-to-biomedical-engineering


 

7 
 

for training and instruction in the discipline’s state-of-the-art by leaders in said research fields 
using a combination of the following: 

• one core course providing a quantitative engineering approach to human physiology; 

• one field-specific course; and 

• two electives providing greater depth related to the student’s research topic.  

A series of experiences described as the Professional Attributes and Competence Enhancement 
(PACE) Module is a particularly important component to provide professional and transferable 
skill development that prepares students for careers outside and inside academia. This learning 
opportunity builds on the University of Waterloo’s strong history of partnering with industry to 
establish relevance and translate research to real-world contexts and potential 
commercialization.   
 
Consistent with most, if not all, graduate training programs in engineering in Canada, the major 
research requirement for degree completion is a research thesis examined and approved by an 
examination committee. The examination will also require an oral defense at both the master’s 
and PhD levels. The thesis research, writing, and overall progress is overseen throughout the 
program by an advisor and a committee of faculty. 
 
1.7 Mode of Delivery  

All graduate courses will be designed and developed by Waterloo faculty, delivered in person 
on campus, and supported by Waterloo’s learning management system (LMS). 

 
Activities related to the PACE Module milestones, such as the regular seminar series and 

research days, will be conducted in person on campus. The PACE Module milestones will be 

directed by the BME graduate program director with the support of a new staff member.  

 

Given our recent experiences with the COVID-19 pandemic, we are prepared to deliver training 

using online teaching tools. In addition to online learning during emergencies and for flipped 

classroom-style activities, certain components of the program will be enhanced by global 

advances in online communications that allow us to connect students to research leaders and 

clinicians globally. For example, virtual site visits to and from distant locations, presentations 

from higher-profile guest speakers and more extensive interactions with stakeholders and 

clinicians are all possible with digital technology. 

 
1.8 Assessment of Teaching and Learning (QAF 2.1.2.4) 

Assessment of teaching and learning will be conducted at the student and program levels. The 
BME graduate program will be assessed at the program level by the BME Graduate Program 
Committee and BME graduate program director. As part of this assessment, the Program 
Committee will review statistics, such as program performance versus learning objectives, 
student success rates and teaching evaluations – as provided through both student perception 
surveys and peer-assessment of teaching. It will identify opportunities to improve performance, 

Page 32 of 274



 

8 
 

such as enriching course content or teaching. In addition to the information noted above, thesis 
supervisors, course faculty and the BME Program Committee will note any other student 
achievements and successes that are relevant to the program. 
 
Performance indicators that will be considered by the BME Program Committee will include: 

• Applications to and enrollment within the BME graduate program; 

• Student evaluations of PACE Module milestones, core and field courses; 

• NSERC and CIHR Scholarships and Graduate Student Awards won by students. 

• BME student graduation rates; 

• Surveys of alumni; 

• Surveys of employers/industry partners; and  

• Publications and conference presentations of BME students.  

At the student level, there will be the following eight types of activities with assessments: 
a) Required core courses, field-specific elective courses, and elective courses: Students 

will be assigned a grade based on typical assessment methods used in other 

graduate courses, such as papers, reports, tests, projects, and presentations. 

b) Comprehensive background exam (Comprehensive Exam I (Background); PhD 

students only) at the end of year one.  

c) Thesis proposal defense: Typically completed after year two for PhD students 

(Comprehensive Exam II (Proposal)) and at approximately year one for master’s 

students. 

d) End-of-term reports: For both MASc and PhD students, reports include their self-

reflection on their own research and professional development, as well as 

supervisors’ evaluation of progress and individual development. Reports are 

completed online. 

e) Annual committee assessment: Completed by the advisory committee outlined 

below, the assessment evaluates research progress and quality based on an oral 

presentation.  For full-time master’s students, the annual assessment is a one-time 

proposal defense but for part-time master’s students, assessments may be 

conducted annually. 

f) Written thesis or dissertation: Explicitly presents the student’s individual 

contribution(s) to the field. For PhD students, the originality of the contribution is 

also assessed. 

g) Oral thesis defense: Evaluated by the committee outlined below. 

h) PACE Module milestones completion: See section 4.4 for details.  

 
Refer to Appendix E and Appendix F for the list of methods for assessing student achievement 
of the intended program learning outcomes and GDLEs. 

Page 33 of 274



 

9 
 

For the PACE Module milestones, students will be assigned credit/no credit based on whether 
they complete each component. The components of the module include presenting research 
proposals and results, drafting research plans, writing mock grants or business proposals, and 
more. Participation in these activities can also include providing critical, constructive feedback 
to other students on their work and performance. 
  
For each student, research will be mentored and assessed by an Advisory Committee that is 
appointed at the end of year 1 for PhD students and during year 1 for Master’s students. The 
Advisory Committee will consist of the members of the Examining Committee except for the 
PhD external examiner. The Advisory Committee will conduct the comprehensive examinations 
(if applicable), consider the thesis proposal, evaluate annual research progress and results, and 
ultimately conduct the thesis defense. At the defense, the written thesis and the performance 
of the student during the oral defense will be considered.   
 
Annual advisory committee meetings will be required and documented. The first annual 
committee meeting may include the Comprehensive Exam I (Background) for PhD students. For 
master’s students, the first annual meeting will be the proposal defense.  
 
At the master’s level, the composition of the Advisory Committee will consider the required 
expertise needed to support and evaluate the thesis research. Co-supervision is an option. The 
Advisory Committee shall be comprised of at least: one tenured or tenure track faculty member 
from the BME graduate program who will be the student’s supervisor(s); an additional tenured 
or tenure track BME graduate faculty member; and at least one additional examiner who is not 
a BME faculty member (but may be from a department with BME faculty members) and whose 
expertise can support the evaluation of the Master’s thesis... Consistent with the Faculty of 
Engineering requirements, a maximum of one committee member with an adjunct 
appointment or emeritus status is permitted. The University is currently considering changes to 
the membership of advisory committees, potentially allowing non-voting committee members 
to provide advice to students as they research. As such changes come into effect they will be 
adopted as appropriate. 
 

For PhD students, the Examining Committee consists of a minimum of five voting members 
including the external examiner, with internal members representing at least two different 
departments or schools. The PhD Examining Committee must follow the Faculty of Engineering 
requirements and include the following members: 

• External examiner (not included in annual meetings, only for the final defense) 

• Supervisor or co-supervisors (at least one must be a BME faculty member) 

• Internal members (2 BME program faculty members) 

• Internal-external member (not a BME faculty member but may be from a 

department with BME faculty) 

Optionally, additional BME program faculty member(s) can be on the committee. 
  

Page 34 of 274



 

10 
 

1.9 Fields in a Graduate Program 

 

Both the Master’s and PhD programs are composed of the following research fields:  
 

A. Biomaterials, tissue engineering and drug delivery 
▪  includes regenerative medicine. 

B. Biomechanics and rehabilitation 
▪  includes both solid and fluid biomechanics. 

C. Biomedical signals and devices  
▪ includes EEG, EMG, brain-computer interfaces and neuroscience 

applications, micro and nano devices. 
D. Biomedical imaging technology 

▪  includes ultrasound, X-ray, MRI, optics, microwave. 
E. Biomedical informatics 

▪  includes AI, big data, population, and health system studies. 
 

This scope has been established by the BME Task Force in consultation with stakeholders. It 
reflects traditional or typical fields of BME while incorporating Waterloo’s globally recognized 
strengths in biomechanics, medical imaging, and artificial intelligence, as well as addressing 
growth areas needed to serve societal needs now and into the future.  
 

2. HUMAN RESOURCES  

The following sections provide significant evidence that the BME-associated faculty have the 
established research programs and technical expertise that will sustain the innovation and 
intellectual activities of a dedicated BME graduate program. Eighty-two percent (82%) of faculty 
have Approved Doctoral Dissertation Supervisor Status (ADDS) to sole-supervise PhD students. 
On average, the BME-related faculty have supervised 27 students at the master’s, PhD, and PDF 
levels over their career. To become a faculty member associated with the BME graduate 
program, an application process will be implemented as described in section 2.1.  
 
The investment in faculty to focus on BME is long-standing across multiple departments, within 
and beyond engineering, where multiple faculty members in each traditional discipline have 
focused on biomedical applications. For example, dating back to 1988, graduate students have 
completed graduate theses with a biomedical focus. BME topics have long been the focus of 
faculty and graduate student research interest in Engineering. Rapid advances in health and 
engineering have created significant research interest in the BME field. The quality of faculty 
and their research output is described in section 2.6.  
 

The investment in biomedical faculty significantly accelerated in 2011 with the creation of 
Waterloo’s interdisciplinary Centre for Bioengineering and Biotechnology (CBB). In 2014, 
Waterloo established Canada’s second BME undergraduate degree program and hired two 
tenure-track and one lecturer position in that year. Significant investments in BME-focused 
faculty have continued in the Faculty of Engineering. In SYDE, two BME faculty positions were 

Page 35 of 274



 

11 
 

filled in 2022 and two remained to be filled and are budgeted for hire in 2024. As the 
administrative home for both the BME undergraduate and graduate programs, SYDE is 
financially responsible for these hires and direct costs to the MASc and PhD programs only 
occur for service teaching. Additionally, other departments at the University of Waterloo have 
recently hired or are recruiting faculty with BME-related research interests (Appendix G). 

 
Staff human resources are a critical element of the planned program success. Staffing levels are 
based on existing Engineering graduate programs and leveraging shared human resources with 
SYDE. A Graduate Program Manager will be hired to jointly support the BME and SYDE 
Graduate Offices. Their duties will include content and delivery of the PACE Module milestones 
in partnership with the Director. The BME Graduate Program Coordinator will be hired to 
support the coordination of the administrative program work including recruiting, admissions, 
advising, and approvals related courses, theses, defenses, and milestones. As the number of 
students increases additional staff for these duties will be added. For management, financial 
assistance, communication, and reception roles, existing SYDE staff will be used for efficiency. 
 
2.1 List of Faculty by Field 

Table 1 demonstrates the strength and the significant degree of involvement of the faculty 
complement participating in each BME field of the graduate program(s). The  list includes the 
faculty from the three administrative partner departments and those who are expected to be 
involved in thesis supervision. A subset of CVs is provided in Volume II.  
 

• There are 42 full-time associated faculty members, with one lecturer, 9 at the assistant 
professor level, 9at the associate professor level and   23 at the professor level.  

• Currently, there are two vacant positions that are expected to be filled in 2024.  

• Membership as a faculty member for the BME graduate program will be for five years 
automatically renewed for an additional five years. The BME Program Committee will 
consider faculty applications based on recent research activity, publications, and graduate 
advising. Eligibility relies on engagement in BME related research.  

• Only faculty with Approved Doctoral Dissertation Supervisors (ADDS) can sole-supervise 
PhD students. Applications will be considered from any department on campus regardless 
of whether that department is an administrative member of the program. There are several 
lecturers with directly applicable expertise that might serve as master’s advisers or on PhD 
committees. 

• Faculty members in administrative partner departments are not automatically members of 
the BME Program Committee. BME research is a requirement for membership in the 
program’s advising faculty but licensure as a practicing engineer is not. 

• Faculty members can participate in the BME graduate program and committees even if their 
home faculty or department is not formally participating.  

• While cross-appointed professors from outside of Engineering are expected to play a 
substantial role as co-supervisors, adjunct professors, clinical professors, or emeritus 
professors are not expected to play a substantial role in student supervision while they may 
participate by supporting research. 

Page 36 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/about/organization-graduate-studies#ADDS


 

12 
 

• No faculty members cross-appointed from other universities have been identified at this 
time, however, we are open to the inclusion of faculty in the future whose contributions 
would have an impact on the quality of the program through substantive involvement, 
including clinical faculty. 

TABLE 1: Faculty Members from the Core Supporting Departments (ECE, MME, SYDE)4 

    Research Fields3 

Faculty Name Rank2 Dept 1 
Supervisory 
privilege 

A B C D E 

Eihab Abdel-Rahman Professor SYDE PhD, MASc    x X     

Arash Arami Asst. Professor  MME PhD, MASc   x  X    x 

Catherine Burns Professor  SYDE PhD, MASc         X 

Naveen Chandrashekar Assoc. Professor  MME PhD, MASc   X        

David Clausi Professor SYDE PhD, MASc    X  

Duane Cronin Professor  MME PhD, MASc x X        

Kerstin Dautenhahn Professor  ECE PhD, MASc         X 

Chris Eliasmith Professor  SYDE PhD, MASc   x X    x 

Paul Fieguth Professor SYDE PhD, MASc    X  

Baris Fidan Professor  MME PhD, MASc   x  X    x 

Maud Gorbet Professor  SYDE PhD, MASc X x       

Parsin Haji Reza Assoc. Professor  SYDE PhD, MASc     x  X   

Jennifer Howcroft Lecturer  SYDE MASc only   X x    x 

Karim Karim Professor  ECE PhD, MASc       X   

Behrad Khamesee Professor  MME PhD, MASc     X    x 

HJ Kwon Assoc. Professor  MME PhD, MASc       x X 

Fue-Sang Lien Professor  MME PhD, MASc   X      x 

Ewen MacDonald Assoc. Professor  SYDE MASc only     X      

Nima Maftoon Asst. Professor  SYDE MASc only   x X      

Veronika Magdanz Asst. Professor SYDE MASc only X   x     

Stewart McLachlin Asst. Professor  MME PhD, MASc   X  x      

John McPhee Professor  SYDE  PhD, MASc   X x      

Sushanta Mitra Professor  MME  PhD, MASc x   X      

Kevin Musselman Assoc. Professor  MME  PhD, MASc x   X      

Chrystopher Nehaniv Professor  SYDE  PhD, MASc     x    X 

Richard Nuckols Asst. Professor SYDE MASc only   X x     

Zhao Pan Asst. Professor  MME  PhD, MASc   X  x    x 

Sean Peterson Professor  MME  PhD, MASc   X        

Page 37 of 274



 

13 
 

    Research Fields3 

Faculty Name Rank2 Dept 1 
Supervisory 
privilege 

A B C D E 

Mahla Poudineh Asst. Professor  ECE  MASc only     X      

Carolyn Ren Professor  MME  PhD, MASc x X  x      

Bryan Tripp Assoc. Professor  SYDE  PhD, MASc   x X    x 

James Tung Assoc. Professor  SYDE MASc only   X x    x 

Mihaela Vlasea Asst. Professor  MME  PhD, MASc     X      

Thomas Willett Assoc. Professor  SYDE  PhD, MASc X X       

Alexander Wong Professor  SYDE  PhD, MASc       x X 

Yimin Wu Asst. Professor  MME  PhD, MASc x   X    x 

Liang-Liang Xie Professor  ECE  PhD, MASc     x   X 

Serhiy Yarusevych Professor  MME  PhD, MASc   X        

Mustafa Yavuz Professor  MME  PhD, MASc   X        

John Yeow Professor  SYDE  PhD, MASc x   X    x 

Alfred Yu Professor  ECE  PhD, MASc       X   

John Zelek Assoc. Professor  SYDE  PhD, MASc   x X      

Totals 9 12 4 7 18 

 
1.  This is the home department of the faculty member associated with the program under review.   
2.  Only those faculty members who are on the Approved Doctoral Dissertation Supervisor (ADDS) list can 

supervise PhD students. 
3. Quality council approved BME fields of study as listed in Section 1.9. (A: Biomaterials, tissue engineering and 

drug delivery, B: Biomechanics and rehabilitation, C: Biomedical signals and devices, D: Biomedical imaging 
technology, E: Biomedical informatics), (X: primary research field, x: secondary research field). 

4.     The faculty member information was collected in Winter 2022 
  

Page 38 of 274



 

14 
 

2.2 External Operating Research Funding 
 

Table 2 presents the external and internal research funding by source received by the core 
faculty, who are listed in Table 1, for the past seven years. Table 2 illustrates that the level of 
funding is substantial from both public and private sources. The support for graduate students 
is already established. The level of funding has increased over time from all sources, 
demonstrating growth and excellence.  

TABLE 2 

Operating Research Funding1 ($) by Source and Fiscal Year 
 

Fiscal Year² Tri-Agencya 

Public 
Sector and 
Non-Profit 
Fundinga 

Private 
Sector 
Fundinga 

Internal 
Awardsa,b 

Equipment 
Awards Total  

2015/16 $2,845,040 $1,193,756 $1,257,251 $8,000 $261,580 $5,565,627  
2016/17 $2,784,518 $1,187,682 $1,402,864 $16,000 $754,801 $6,145,865  
2017/18 $2,949,103 $1,818,308 $1,495,681 $40,000 $835,133 $7,138,226  
2018/19 $4,026,755 $4,897,713 $1,419,377 $50,000 $575,194 $10,969,039  
2019/20 $6,164,613 $5,435,799 $2,374,895 $35,000 $917,999 $14,928,306  
2020/21 $7,440,206 $4,339,408 $2,524,125 $0 $1,165,232 $15,468,971  
2021/22 $7,399,306 $3,792,069 $2,885,241 $0 $488,399 $14,565,015  
Totals $33,609,541 $22,664,736 $13,359,434 $149,000 $4,998,338 $74,781,049  
        
Notes on Table 2:  

This report is composed of 7 fiscal years of data running from 2015/16 to 2021/22 

1. Research funding data is reported on the primary investigators identified in Table 1. 

2. The fiscal year used when reporting research awards is the fiscal year used by the government. The government fiscal 
year runs from April 1 until March 31, thus the 2021/22 fiscal year runs from April 1, 2021 until March 31, 2022. 

 
Inclusions and Exclusions 
a excludes equipment grants. 
b includes UW-RIF and UW-SSHRC 
 

2.3 Graduate Supervision 

Table 3 presents the master’s, doctoral, and postdoctoral supervision numbers (current and 
career-total) by the faculty members that were listed in Table 1, from the three partner 
departments.  The table documents the significant experience of the large faculty group in 
graduate supervision. Those listed as having only master’s privileges are early career professors 
who are without exception seeking approval to serve as PhD advisers. The lecturer listed may 
supervise graduate students in the future but is an active teaching champion. One should note 
that a significant number of current (and past) graduate students are specializing in BME topics 
within traditional disciplines. Formalization of the new BME program will increase the depth 
and interdisciplinary endeavors across the members of the program while leading to a healthy 
growth of the graduate program.  

Page 39 of 274



 

15 
 

TABLE 3 

Completed and Current Numbers1 of Thesis Supervisions by Faculty Member2 

Faculty Name and Rank 
Total Completed Over Career3 Current4 

Master's PhD PDF Master's PhD PDF 

Eihab Abdel-Rahman - Professor 5 2 0 3 0 1 

Arash Arami - Assistant Professor 2 0 0 3 6 2 

Catherine Burns - Professor 27 8 5 3 7 0 

Naveen Chandrashekar - Associate 
Professor 12 1 0 2 2 0 

David Clausi - Professor 50 24 12 10 5 1 

Duane Cronin - Professor 46 10 7 8 8 2 

Kerstin Dautenhahn - Professor 5 23 23 4 7 5 

Chris Eliasmith - Professor 23 11 3 0 3 1 

Paul Fieguth - Professor 21 30 9 2 4 4 

Baris Fidan - Professor 4 0 0 1 0 0 

Maud Gorbet - Professor 10 3 4 2 4 0 

Parsin Haji Reza - Associate 
Professor 3 1 1 7 4 1 

Jennifer Howcroft - Lecturer 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Karim Karim - Professor 18 18 5 2 2 0 

Behrad Khamesee - Professor 2 0 0 1 0 0 

HJ Kwon - Associate Professor 11 6 2 2 2 2 

Fue-Sang Lien - Professor 19 16 9 2 6 0 

Ewen MacDonald - Associate 
Professor 29 10 1 1 1 0 

Nima Maftoon - Assistant Professor 1 0 1 0 4 0 

Veronika Magdanz5 0 0 0 0 1 0 

Stewart McLachlin - Assistant 
Professor 3 0 0 4 3 0 

John McPhee - Professor 8 2 7 6 7 0 

Sushanta Mitra - Professor 0 3 2 0 2 0 

Kevin Musselman - Associate 
Professor 9 4 4 2 6 1 

Chrystopher Nehaniv - Professor 2 1 5 0 2 1 

Richard Nuckols5 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Zhao Pan - Assistant Professor 2 0 0 0 0 0 

Sean Peterson - Professor 5 1 2 2 2 1 

Mahla Poudineh - Assistant 
Professor 0 0 0 3 2 1 

Carolyn Ren - Professor 18 18 8 6 4 4 

Bryan Tripp - Associate Professor 5 2 1 4 6 1 

Page 40 of 274



 

16 
 

Completed and Current Numbers1 of Thesis Supervisions by Faculty Member2 

Faculty Name and Rank 
Total Completed Over Career3 Current4 

Master's PhD PDF Master's PhD PDF 

James Tung - Associate Professor 5 2 1 3 0 0 

Mihaela Vlasea - Assistant 
Professor 3 2 3 4 4 1 

Thomas Willett - Associate 
Professor 11 1 1 3 4 1 

Alex Wong - Professor 23 14 13 10 10 4 

Yimin Wu - Assistant Professor 5 2 1 7 5 3 

Liang-Liang Xie - Professor 9 3   1  1 9 3  

Serhiy Yarusevych - Professor 20 4 3 1 8 0 

Mustafa Yavuz - Professor 32 16 10 2 6 4 

John Yeow - Professor 4 20 4 2 4 2 

Alfred Yu - Professor 9 8 10 6 10 3 

John Zelek - Associate Professor 5 2 0 2 0 0 

Total 376 217 136 105 132 38 

Notes: 

1. Numbers self-reported by each faculty member.  
2. Faculty members and ranks as specified in Table 1 (from the core supporting departments ECE, MME, and SYDE). 
3. Number of thesis supervisions completed thus far over the faculty member’s career.   

4. Number of current thesis supervisions underway for each faculty member. 
5. New faculty members (less than one year on faculty) 

 
2.4 Commitment of Faculty from Other Graduate Programs/Other Institutions 

Faculty members from the three Faculties (Engineering, Health, and Science) have participated 
in the creation of this proposal. In Fall 2022, the proposal was endorsed by faculty vote in the 
following departments: ECE, MME, and SYDE. There is strong support as well from individual 
faculty who perform work in BME but whose department may not be formally involved in the 
administration of the program. Faculty from other programs may apply to be members of the 
BME program, even if their department is not administratively part of the BME programs.  

 

Within healthcare-related undergraduate and graduate programs across the university, there is 
an important strategic goal to pursue clinical experiences for students. The University of 
Waterloo and individual BME faculty members have cultivated relationships and engaged in 
research collaborations with external organizations in the Kitchener-Waterloo community and 
beyond so that students may gain access to research facilities as appropriate. Examples within 
the local area are the Schlegel Research Institute for Aging and Grand River and Saint Mary’s 
Hospitals. Multiple individual faculty members have long-standing research partnerships with 
McMaster University, University of Toronto, and Western University, that may allow students 
to gain access to additional resources and facilities.  

Page 41 of 274



 

17 
 

2.5 Quality of Faculty 

The University of Waterloo is consistently ranked among the top universities in the world, 
thanks in part to the breadth of high-quality research conducted by faculty members. The BME 
graduate program benefits from incorporating teaching staff from three faculties, whose CVs 
are compiled in Volume II. To demonstrate the research excellence of the overall BME faculty 
(those involved with CREATE and those beyond the CREATE programs), a bibliometric overview 
of the group was performed by the Faculty of Engineering Research Office. BME faculty were 
sorted into their field of study and their Scopus IDs were used to collect data on their research 
output. The same metrics and time parameters were applied for each group in the bibliometric 
database SciVal. Figure 1 shows scholarly output by each of the 5 BME fields listed in Section 
1.9 for all publication types. In general, the publication count corresponds to the number of 
faculty focused on that field. One can observe a slight slowdown in output around 2020 due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, followed by a small spike in 2021 as facilities began to reopen and 
stabilized in 2022. 

 
Figure 1. Scholarly Output – All publication types (2011 – 2022) by Research Field 

 

3. PHYSICAL AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES  

Due to the long-standing existence of biomedical engineering teaching and research within the 
traditional engineering departments and their partnerships with cross-campus partners, the 
new resources needed for this program are not typical. Most of the required faculty resources 
are already in place, including teaching resources. Additional faculty positions are already 
approved and will soon be filled.   
 
Support for some of the space and labs used by graduate students will be reallocated within 
existing groups and compensated using a normalization of new pooled revenue based on the 
home department of the graduate students’ advisers. Operating expenses include student 
support, staff salaries, faculty salaries/service teaching, program director stipend, student 
travel and other direct expenses. Financial support to update power and HVAC infrastructure in 
lab and office facilities is described in section 3.2.  
 

Page 42 of 274



 

18 
 

3.1 Library Resources  

The University of Waterloo Library purchases and subscribes to numerous resources relevant to 
BME. Library subscriptions enable access to significant electronic book collections, including 
Taylor & Francis, Knovel and Springer, and offer access to article indices, such as Scopus and 
Web of Science. Full text access to many journals is also provided. Given the multidisciplinary 
nature of BME, resources purchased or licensed to support other faculties and departments at 
the University expand the breadth of resources available for BME graduate students. These 
include access to PubMed, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM) Digital Library and 
publications, Business Source Elite, EconLit, IEEE Xplore Digital Library and publications, and 
SpringerMaterials. The library’s full-text resources are also linked through Google Scholar, 
which directly connects students to our subscriptions via the search engine. 

  
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic that extended into 2022, the library pivoted to 
purchasing more electronic content to meet the needs of students while off campus. While 
electronic procurement was not possible with every title, the library supplemented this by 
expanding access to print resources through the HathiTrust Digital Library’s Emergency 
Temporary Access Service (ETAS), which permitted special online access for member libraries 
experiencing unexpected, involuntary or temporary disruptions to normal operations due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Using an ongoing service, students are able to request digitized 
chapters or articles from a print book in our collection or have print books mailed to their 
homes or residences provided they are living or staying in Canada.  

  
In addition to the local collection, the University of Waterloo Library partners with other 
Ontario and Canadian universities to further expand access to information on engineering 
topics through consortia purchasing at the national and provincial level and through our 
consortia academic search tool OMNI, which allows users to discover materials from 16 Ontario 
universities through one search interface.  

  
Should new subject areas emerge within the scope of BME, the library is committed to 
engaging in discussions to articulate collection needs and assess funding implications. The 
Liaison Librarian will provide resources during the PACE Module milestones of the proposed 
program, in particular, to guide students in determining their need for information, locating and 
evaluating appropriate sources, and properly citing information. The Liaison Librarian is 
available to answer reference questions via email, telephone, or virtual consultations to 
support students with their assignments and information needs. Consultations can be booked 
over email or through the online subject guides for BME at the student’s convenience. All are 
encouraged to make use of the learning, teaching, research support services and expertise the 
library offers. The Liaison Librarian will interact with the faculty library representatives from the 
BME graduate program to ensure they are aware of new services.  
 
Representatives from the University of Waterloo Library have prepared a report in Appendix D 
describing enthusiastic support for the BME graduate programs. Current Library resources and 
capacity are sufficient to support the programs and there is interest in re-assessing needs 
should new research areas emerge.  

Page 43 of 274



 

19 
 

3.2 Laboratory Resources 

There are BME-related research spaces and infrastructure spread across ten buildings on the 

main UW campus, including teaching & individual labs, shared labs, and major research 

facilities. There are 26 BME research labs in the Faculty of Engineering itself. In addition 

students will also have access to the 18 Faculty of Health labs that relate to biomechanics, 

neuroscience and physiology, as well as to resources within the School of Anatomy.  The BME 

researchers and students have access to the analytical facilities in the Faculty of Science such 

as, the Waterloo Advanced Technology Labs (WATLab); Electron and Confocal Microscopy; 

Molecular Biology Core Facility; Fusion fluorescence-activated cell sorter (FACS); Mass 

Spectrometry; Nuclear Magnetic Resonance; X-Ray Diffractometry etc. 

 
In addition, there are several University-administered Research Institutes and Centres that 
support BME-related research. Examples include:  

• Centre of Research Expertise for the Prevention of Musculoskeletal Disorders (CRE-MSD) 

• Centre for Theoretical Neuroscience 

• Centre for Bioengineering and Biotechnology  

• Waterloo Centre for Microbial Research 

• Waterloo Institute for Nanotechnology (WIN) 

• Giga-to-Nanoelectronics (G2N) Centre 

• Central Animal Facility (CAF)  

• UW RoboHub 

Furthermore, BME faculty at Waterloo have laboratory facilities at external partner locations at 
the Grand River Hospital, Saint Mary’s Hospital, and the Schlegel Research Institute for Aging. 
 
3.3 Computer Facilities 

All faculty and graduate students are provided with an account on the university computing 
system. This account provides access to email, internet, and Microsoft Office 365 applications. 
Students have access to 3D printing and laser cutting resources through the SYDE.  
 
Research groups can apply for advanced research computing (ARC) resources with the Digital 
Research Alliance of Canada (formerly Compute Canada).  
 
3.4 Space 

Faculty will remain in their current faculty and lab offices in their home departments.  
Administrative staff will be located in SYDE in the Engineering 5 Building (E5). The Faculty of 
Engineering at Waterloo is already co-located across departments in approximately 10 
buildings. This co-location is intended to promote interdisciplinary interactions such as those 
intended for the BME graduate program.  
 

Page 44 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering-research/labs-and-centres
https://uwaterloo.ca/kinesiology-health-sciences/research/research-laboratories
https://uwaterloo.ca/kinesiology-health-sciences/resources-services/school-anatomy


 

20 
 

Faculty have private offices while post-doctoral fellows and graduate students have shared 
offices. In many engineering departments, graduate students are co-located based on cluster 
areas.   
 
Due to the distribution of space across many campus buildings, space allocated to the BME 
graduate program is estimated by the proportion of BME faculty in Engineering by department 
in approximate Net Assignable Square Meters (NASM).  
 
Table A: BME Associated Engineering Space Allocations (in NASMs) 

 Classrooms (m2) Research Labs (m2) Offices (m2) Study Space 
(m2) 

ECE 64 228 254 26 

MME 300 1654 1391 31 

SYDE 420 1296 1503 44 

 

3.5 Financial Support 

Financial support will be provided to all admitted BME graduate students. Typical support is 
two years for master’s students and four years for PhD students. A fifth year of support may be 
provided for PhD students pursuing significant lab or field data collection. Sources of support 
are the following:  

1. Graduate Research Studentships (GRS) from faculty supervisors (minimum $26k for PhD, 

$18k for MASc, per year); 

2. Teaching Assistantships (TA) in support of the core BME graduate courses (typically 

$5850/course if selected, paid on top of the GRS); 

3. scholarships are expected in a new Faculty and Department funding modeling for PhD 

students with faculty GRS support.  The current estimate of the Faculty and Department 

funding is $5,000 per PhD student per year.  This will impact student minimum funding 

from the advisor and TA allocation and duties; 

4. international doctoral student award (IDSA) for all eligible students ($15k/year, paid for 

by the University); 

5. international masters award of excellence (IMAE) for select MASc students ($7.5k/year, 

paid for by the University). 

 

4. CURRICULUM 

4.1 The Intellectual Development and the Educational Experience of the Student 

 
We envision positioning and equipping our graduates to innovate and succeed at the 
intersecting frontiers of engineering and medicine. To achieve this, we have developed a 
structure that combines a classical thesis-based research degree with courses and innovative 
professional development modules that ensure graduates have a solid foundation and 

Page 45 of 274



 

21 
 

expertise for the pursuit of both academic and non-academic careers in biomedical 
engineering. Supporting this structure is the very large cohort of faculty establishing the 
program who have significant experience in interdisciplinary research and pedagogy. 
 
The curriculum program is permeated with interdisciplinarity in both experiential and didactic 
learning and associated assessment methods. The PACE Module milestones, described in detail 
in section 4.4 includes sessions to orient the students to the program curriculum and build 
community. The remaining PACE seminars and workshops build professional skills, leading up to 
the showcase event and their research thesis. To provide hands-on learning opportunities and 
technical skill development, most courses will include lab experiences. The internal milestones 
will be tracked by the BME graduate program office and end-of-term reports will be used for 
assessment. Self-reflection and tracking of activities will be reported by students to their 
Advisory Committee on a minimum annual basis. Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs 
(GSPA) provides travel awards for students to attend external workshops and conferences. 
Students will be encouraged to take advantage of existing on-campus resources through the 
Centre for Career Action, Writing and Communications Centre, and the Centre for Teaching 
Excellence, among others.  
 
4.2 Program Regulations 

The admission requirements have been discussed in detail in section 1.4. The program 
requirements, including course requirements, are listed below. The comprehensive 
examination and thesis evaluation procedures and annual student assessments are described in 
section 1.8.  
 
To maintain good standing during coursework, students must maintain a minimum average of 
75%. The regulations meet or require a higher standard than the University of Waterloo and the 
Faculty of Engineering minimum requirements for graduate programs.  
 
Students in both the master’s and PhD programs are required to take one course offered by a 
faculty outside of Engineering. It must be a graduate level course that directly complements the 
student’s research focus.  
 
An Advisory Committee will be formed to evaluate each student’s progress throughout the 
course of the degree. Each student’s Advisory Committee must have a minimum of three 
Waterloo faculty. At least one supervisor and at least one committee member must be on the 
list of BME faculty members (see section 2.2). For PhD students, at least one supervisor must 
have Approved Doctoral Dissertation Supervisor (ADDS) status.  
 
The BME graduate program is supportive of the strategic priority to build work-integrated 
learning (WIL) experiences into curriculum at the graduate level and is open to exploring 
opportunities in the future. Note, that the PACE modules (Section 4.4) provide opportunity for 
this type of training, even though there are no co-operative education work terms or field 
placements integrated into the BME graduate program, at this time. 

Page 46 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/career-action/
https://uwaterloo.ca/writing-and-communication-centre/
https://uwaterloo.ca/centre-for-teaching-excellence/
https://uwaterloo.ca/centre-for-teaching-excellence/


 

22 
 

 

4.2.1 MASc (thesis-based master’s degree) 

• Graduate courses: 4 courses (with 0.5 credits each), including 1 core BME course (BME 
601, BME 602, BME 603), 1 field-specific course, and 2 elective courses (Appendix H) 

o The field specific course must be selected from the list in Appendix H. 
o The field specific course and the chosen electives must be approved by the 

supervisor(s). 
o One course shall be taken from outside the Faculty of Engineering. 
o All courses are ideally completed by the end of term 4. 

• PACE Module milestones:  
o Seminar series participation, including the student’s research seminar 

presentation, which must be completed by the end of term 5. 
o PACE days participation 
o Annual BME research day participation 

• Thesis research milestones: 2 milestones, plus annual committee progress meetings and 
term reports 

o Proposal defense: Complete by end of term 3 
o Written dissertation and oral thesis defense: Complete by end of term 6 

 

4.2.2 PhD (regular, with master’s degree in BME) 

• Graduate courses: 4 courses (with 0.5 credits each), including 1 core BME course (BME 
601, BME 602, BME 603), 1 field-specific course, and 2 elective courses. 

o The field specific course must be selected from the list in Appendix H. 
o The field specific course and the chosen electives must be approved by the 

supervisor(s). 
o One course shall be taken from outside the Faculty of Engineering  
o All courses must be completed by the end of term 4. 
o Students who have completed the MASc program in BME at Waterloo may apply 

and continue to the doctoral program. In this situation, students will have 
already completed the core course requirements (one of BME 601, BME 602, or 
BME 603), a field-specific course and two electives as part of their master’s 
degree requirements. To satisfy the PhD program requirements, these students 
must complete a total of four courses including a) one core course requirement 
(one of BME 601, BME 602 or BME 603 that was not completed as part of the 
MASc in BME program); b) two additional electives; c) an additional field-specific 
course if they have switched fields between MASc and PhD. 

• PACE Module milestones: 
o Seminar series participation, including the student’s research seminar 

presentation, which must be completed by end of term 9. 
o PACE days participation 
o Annual BME research day participation 

Page 47 of 274



 

23 
 

• Thesis research milestones: 3 milestones, plus annual committee progress meetings and 
term reports 

o PhD Comprehensive Exam I (Background): Complete by end of term 3 
o PhD Comprehensive Exam II (Proposal): Complete by end of term 6 

o Written dissertation (thesis) and oral thesis defense: Complete by end of term 12 

4.2.3 PhD (direct entry, with BME Honors undergraduate degree) 

• Graduate courses: 7 courses (with 0.5 credits each), including 2 core BME courses (BME 
601, BME 602, BME 603), 1 field-specific course, and 4 elective courses. 

o The field specific course must be selected from the list in Appendix H. 
o The field specific course and the chosen electives must be approved by the 

supervisor(s). 
o One course shall be taken from outside the Faculty of Engineering  
o All courses must be completed by the end of term 5. 

• PACE Module milestones: 
o Seminar series participation, including the student’s research seminar 

presentation, must be completed by the end of term 12. 
o PACE days participation 
o Annual BME research day participation 

• Thesis research: 3 milestones, plus annual committee progress meetings and term 
reports 

o PhD Comprehensive Exam I (Background): Complete by end of term 6 
o PhD Comprehensive Exam II (Proposal): Complete by end of term 9 
o Written dissertation (thesis) and oral thesis defense: Complete by end of term 15 

4.2.4 PhD (with non-BME equivalent master’s degree) 

• Graduate courses: 6 courses (with 0.5 credits each), including 1 core BME course (BME 
601, BME 602, BME 603), 1 field-specific course, and 4 elective courses. 

o The field specific course must be selected from the list in Appendix H. 
o The field specific course and the chosen electives must be approved by the 

supervisor(s). 
o One course shall be taken from outside the Faculty of Engineering.  
o All courses must be completed by end of term 5 

• PACE Module milestones: 
o Seminar series participation, including the student’s research seminar 

presentation, which must be completed by end of term 12. 
o PACE days participation 
o Annual BME research day participation 

• Thesis research: 3 milestones, plus annual committee progress meetings and term 
reports 

o PhD Comprehensive Exam I (Background): Complete by end of term 4 
o PhD Comprehensive Exam II (Proposal): Complete by end of term 7 
o Written dissertation (thesis) and oral thesis defense: Complete by end of term 15 

Page 48 of 274



 

24 
 

4.3 Part-time Studies 

Full-time study is required for enrolment into BME Graduate programs. At the discretion of the 
supervisor and program director, and subject to University’s regulations, a switch to part-time 
may be considered for individual cases. 

 
4.4 Curriculum 

All incoming graduate students will complete a set of graduate courses to build their 
intellectual foundations and to prepare them for the effective undertaking of BME research. To 
satisfy the program’s graduate course preparation requirement, each student must complete 
the following:  

• One core BME course with strong emphasis on engineering analysis or design. 
• One field-specific course to be chosen based on the student’s research field. 
• Elective courses (two for MASc and regular PhD, four for direct-entry and non-

BME/equivalent master’s degree PhD students) to be chosen by the student in 
consultation with their supervisor. Core and field-specific courses may be taken as 
electives. 

• One course must be taken outside the Faculty of Engineering. 
 
Core BME Course 
All incoming students to the BME program, regardless of previous training, will be required to 
take one of three approved core courses for the BME graduate program. Each course provides 
an engineering perspective to human biology at the physiological or cellular level and includes a 
laboratory experience. Students may choose to take the one that best complements the 
training they already have in order to build out their BME knowledge and skills. Core courses 
are as follows: 

 

• BME 601 - Physiological Systems and Biomedical Design: Integrates biomedical design 
with concepts in human biology and physiology from a quantitative, systems 
perspective. (Taught by SYDE)  
 

• BME 602 – Foundations in Biomechanical Engineering: Provides foundational knowledge 
in the biomechanics of human physiology, pathology and treatment. (Taught by MME) 

 

• BME 603 - Engineering Analysis of Living Cells: Teaches cell and molecular biology with a 
focus on mathematical and engineering modeling. (Taught by ECE) 

 
Students may choose to take the other core courses as electives to broaden their foundational 
knowledge in quantitative human biology. Core courses will not assume that students have an 
undergraduate background in BME, biomedical science, life physics or variants thereof. Other 
common BME background knowledge will be covered as part of the PACE Module milestones 
(e.g., as part of PACE Day events). It is recommended that students with an undergraduate BME 
background take BME 603.  
 

Page 49 of 274



 

25 
 

The context, vision, and general content for the core courses are described below.  
 
BME 601: Physiological Systems and Biomedical Design 
This course surveys the anatomy and physiology of the human body at the cellular, organ and 
whole-body scale, from a systems biology/physiology perspective. Cell biology and some of the 
physiological systems (e.g., musculoskeletal, cardiovascular, pulmonary, digestive, renal, 
nervous and sensory, and immune) and their integration/interactions will be introduced from a 
quantitative systems perspective. Where applicable, common sources of impairments of each 
system (e.g., pathologies, aging, etc.) will be presented along with implications for diagnostic, 
therapeutic and rehabilitative technologies (and universal design). Students will be required to 
perform engineering design that applies their knowledge in biology and physiology that they 
have gained throughout the course. 
 
BME 602: Foundations in Biomechanical Engineering 
This course focuses on equipping students with foundational knowledge in the biomechanics of 
human physiology, pathology, and treatment. The overarching aim of this course is to develop 
students’ literacy in applying biomechanics principles and modern tools towards understanding 
the human body. The course will build on existing knowledge in mathematics and physics to 
develop new expertise and hands-on experience in the biomechanical modeling and analysis of 
physiological systems.  
 
BME 603: Engineering Analysis of Living Cells 
Cell biology has reached a stage where it is in dire need of quantitative understanding. The vast 
amount of data gathered with the advance of experimental technologies, in the search for a 
general understanding of the complex cell mechanism at the molecular level, have often made 
the traditional way of direct interpretation impossible. Therefore, recent years have seen 
significant efforts made to understand these data with more sophisticated mathematical 
models, using fundamental physical laws and engineering analytic techniques. This course is an 
introduction to some of the successful achievements of these approaches, and the exciting 
potential outcomes of this line of research. 
 
Please see Appendix I for the Senate Graduate & Research Council - Graduate Studies 
Course/Milestone Forms for these three courses. 
 

Professional Attributes and Competence Enhancement (PACE) Module milestones 
All BME MASc and PhD students will be required to complete the PACE Module milestones that 
focus on professional skills development. See Table B for MASc and Table C for PhD students 
found below. This module will consist of: 
 

1) Active participation in a bi-weekly seminar series, including giving their own research 

seminar by the end of their final term (as described in 4.2.1 to 4.2.4); 

2) a set of professional education day events known as PACE days; and  

3) an annual BME research day event. 

Page 50 of 274



 

26 
 

Students will be required to complete all three components to meet the PACE Module 
milestones requirement. 
 
Seminar Series 

• Biweekly seminar series with students and internal and external BME speakers (1.5-hour 
duration). 

• Each student must attend a minimum of five seminars per term, except for their final term. 

• Each student will be required to present a research seminar by the end of their final term. 

• Guest speakers will also be invited to speak at this seminar series. 

• Seminar topics may be related to BME research or professional development. 
 
PACE Days for both MASc and PhD students 

• Two days at the start of every term (~10 hours of instructional time split over both days) will 
be dedicated to students’ professional development. 

• MASc students shall participate in PACE Day events at the start of terms 1, 2 and 3. 
o Total contact time around 30 hours (spread over the first year of study). 
o PACE Day activity topics vary for MASc students (Table B). 

 

Table B: PACE Days Activities for MASc Students 

Term Topic Remarks 

1 Research 
Design and 
Planning 

• Orientation event 
• Learn how to draft research project plans with need-oriented 

problem statements, testable hypotheses, feasible designs, 
technical solutions etc. 

• Professionalism in following ethics guidelines and regulatory 
protocols 

2 Professional 
Presentations 

• Learn how to give oral presentations to a range of audiences – 
laypersons, subject experts, professionals in complementary 
disciplines. 

3 Scientific 
Writing 

• Learn how to effectively communicate in technical English to 
biomedical professionals and engineers 

 

• PhD students shall participate in PACE Days events at the start of every term, from terms #1 
to #5. 

o Total contact time around 50 hours (spread over the first two years of the student’s 
study). 

o PACE Days activity topics for PhD students vary from MASc (Table C). 
 

  

Page 51 of 274



 

27 
 

Table C: PACE Days Activities for PhD Students 

Term Topic Remarks 

1 Research 
Design and 
Planning 

• For non-holders of the MASC-BME degree from Waterloo 

2 Professional 
Presentations 

• For non-holders of the MASC-BME degree from Waterloo 

3 Scientific 
Writing 

• For non-holders of the MASC-BME degree from Waterloo 

4 Vision 
Development 

• Specific to PhD students 
• Develop a vision for their career (research & professional goals) 

and the impact it will make, leading to short- and long-term plans. 
• Learn how to design hypothesis-driven research programs at the 

frontiers of BME. 
• Learn about the importance of including sex and gender as 

variables in BME research (guided by Tri-Council) 
• Learn about the importance of equity, diversity and inclusivity 

considerations and the impact they have on research design and 
outcomes (guided by Tri-Council) 

5 Proposal 
writing and 
peer review 

• Learn how to write grant proposals and business proposals. 
• Gain experience in conducting peer reviews and mitigating 

unconscious bias. 

 
BME Research Day 

• An annual event that gives students an opportunity to showcase their progress and 
research findings while building community among BME graduate students. 

• The format of the event will model a research conference or symposium, with higher 
formality than the biweekly seminar series. 

• Students will be expected to submit an abstract and give either an oral or poster 
presentation. 

• The BME Research Day may also include keynote speakers from outside the University.  
 
Administrative note:  
The PACE Module Milestones will be developed and managed by the BME Graduate Program 
Coordinator under the direction of the BME Graduate Program Director.  
 
4.5 Collateral and Supporting Departments and Schools  

This engineering program is an administrative partnership of three departments in the Faculty 
of Engineering 

• Department of Systems Design Engineering (administrative lead) 

• Department of Electrical and Computing Engineering 

• Department of Mechanical and Mechatronics Engineering 

Page 52 of 274



 

28 
 

All individual faculty members, even those in these departments, must apply to the program 
committees to be associated faculty members that can supervise graduate students in the BME 
graduate program and supervise graduate students in the program where the coursework and 
research of graduate students are engineering-based.  Other valuable health and science 
programs exist on campus and complement the work of the BME program faculty and graduate 
students, while the proposed BME degrees are engineering degrees. 

 
4.6 Organizational Structure 

 

 
1. Department chairs of partner departments (ECE, MME and SYDE) will serve on the BME Graduate Executive Policy 

Committee with oversight on policy and resources. 

2. Can be a full-time BME faculty member from any partner engineering department. 

3. The Director and Associate Director should represent two partner engineering departments. 

4. Comprised of 10 faculty members chaired by the Director with oversight of curriculum. 

5. Faculty members that wish to supervise graduate students in the BME program will apply to the BME program for 

membership. 

Figure 2: Program Organizational Chart 
 
The organizational arrangements and reporting structures involved in the interdisciplinary, 
shared program are illustrated in Figure 2. Partner departments in the Faculty of Engineering 
will be involved in the BME Program Committee, advising, and course instruction. The program 
will be led by the BME Graduate Program Director who will be a faculty member from any of 
the partner engineering departments, will report to the chair of SYDE department.  The 
responsibility of the director is to provide strategic direction, including on the curriculum, with 
the support of the Program Committee. SYDE will function as the administrative home for the 
program, as it manages the undergraduate program.  The arrangement will help minimize costs 
by sharing some support staff with SYDE.  The director or associate director will represent the 
BME Graduate programs in the Engineering Graduate Studies Committee (EGSC). 
 

Page 53 of 274



 

29 
 

The director provides functional supervision to the BME graduate program manager. The 
director establishes and oversees the components of the PACE Module milestones, while the 
graduate program manager implements it.   
 
As is the case for all Engineering faculty, partner faculty may apply to the BME Program 
Membership to serve as graduate advisers. Faculty regardless of home unit are expected to 
apply for and be approved as faculty advisers in the BME graduate program (see section 4.2). In 
order to ensure advising faculty members have biomedical engineering expertise, applications 
to serve as advisers in the programs will be reviewed by the Graduate Program Committee.  
While this is an engineering program it involves important partnerships with non-engineering 
units especially in Science and Health. Units with program faculty members may have 
representations on both the Executive Policy and Program Committees. 

 

The process of BME Graduate Program curricular changes is illustrated in Figure 3.  

 

 
 
BME Program Committee: Comprised of 10 faculty members chaired by the Director. 

BME Faculty: Approved BME faculty members from any department. 

Engineering Graduate Studies Committee: Comprised of graduate associate chairs from the 8 departments/schools in 
Engineering, 1 faculty member each from the 8 units, BME program director, chaired by the Associate Dean Graduate Studies. 

Engineering Faculty Council: Elected legislative body of the Faculty of Engineering 

 

Figure 3: Path of a BME Graduate program curricular change 

 

Page 54 of 274



 

30 
 

The first step is that the change will be addressed by the BME Program Committee. This 
committee will consist of ten members who are appointed for three-year terms by their 
chairs/directors and will meet monthly. Membership terms will have staggered start and end 
dates and have an alternate for meeting attendance. Faculty conducting research in all the five 
research fields must be represented on the committee. There must be at least two members 
from each of SYDE, MME, and ECE and no partner department may hold a majority on the BME 
Program Committee. The BME Program Committee will submit approved motions to the 
collective of BME faculty for vote before motions are submitted to the Engineering Graduate 
Studies Committee. The BME Graduate Program Director and the BME Undergraduate Program 
Director will call for a joint BME faculty meeting once per term. 

Department Chairs of partner departments (ECE, MME, and SYDE) will serve on the BME 
Graduate Executive Policy Committee. This committee is called to meet once per term by the 
SYDE Chair. Meetings are attended by the BME Program Director and Associate Director. The 
Executive Policy Committee is responsible for budget-related oversight, infrastructure and 
selection of the program Director and Associate Director. 

 

5. PROJECTED ENROLLMENT 

The first intake of new students is planned for 2024 and is expected to be approximately half of 
the steady-state intake. A modest estimate of the projected enrollment for the master’s and 
PhD programs is given in Table 4a and Table 4b, respectively. The estimates are based on 
current graduate enrollment in the core supporting departments, the department-based ratios 
for the current ratio of master’s to PhD students, and the ratio of domestic and international 
students. In steady-state operation the program will attract an increasing number of graduate 
applicants to BME, contributing to the overall growth of the graduate program. 
 
Table 4a Master’s Intake and Enrolment 

Projected Student Intake and Enrolment 

Academic Year 
FULL-TIME 

Annual Intake1 Total FT Enrolment* 

Domestic International* Domestic International** 

2024/25 10 5 10 5 

2025/26 10 5 20 10 

2026/27 10 5 20 10 

2027/28 10 5 20 10 

2028/29 10 5 20 10 

Assuming 100% retention for illustrative purposes 
** International fee-paying students   
1. Year one intake includes students transferring into a BME graduate program from another Waterloo 
graduate programs and will be treated on a case-by-case basis.   
  

Page 55 of 274



 

31 
 

Table 4b PhD Intake and Enrolment 

Projected Student Intake and Enrolment  

Academic Year 
FULL-TIME 

Annual Intake1 Total FT Enrolment* 

Domestic International* Domestic International** 

2024/25 10 8 10 8 

2025/26 10 8 20 16 

2026/27 10 8 30 24 

2027/28 10 8 40 32 

2028/29 10 8 40 32 

* Assuming 100% retention for illustrative purposes 
** International fee-paying students 

1. Year one intake includes students transferring into a BME graduate program from another Waterloo 
graduate programs and will be treated on a case-by-case basis. 
 

 

It can be anticipated that the first intake may include some current graduate students who are 
in traditional MASc/PhD discipline programs but would prefer to obtain the BME credential 
based on their research, course foci, and career goals. Any such student will need to follow the 
formal Change of Program process and are expected to complete their program on schedule. 
They will be expected to enroll in the PACE Module milestones and start annual committee 
meeting requirements upon admission. Course equivalence will be assessed on a case-by-case 
basis by the BME Graduate Program Director. 
 

6. FINANCIAL PLAN  

A financial viability analysis (FVA) investigating the financial parameters and assumptions of the 
proposed programs was conducted by Institutional Analysis and Planning (IAP) and discussed in 
detail with the Faculty of Engineering. IAP has not identified significant financial challenges to 
this proposal moving forward with the proposed enrolment, tuition rate, and costs outlined in 
the FVA.  The financial viability analysis was approved by the Provost on November 23, 2023. 
 
 

Page 56 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/engineering/graduate-students/current-students/program-guidelines/program-changes


 

32 
 

 

Appendix A NSERC CREATE Programs  
 
This section describes, as examples, two extra-curricular programs developed by Waterloo 
faculty with the NSERC Collaborative Research and Training Experience (CREATE) program. 
Both programs provide students with opportunities for skill development in the field of 
biomedical engineering.  
 
The Global Biomedical Technology Research and Innovation program is completing year four 
of a seven-year training that was designed for 44 graduate students and 48 undergraduate 
students. The students conduct research in three areas: in-vitro and ex-vivo diagnostics 
(40%), medical instrumentation (30%), and prosthetics and rehabilitation (30%). To date, the 
program has included almost equal numbers of doctoral and master’s students (19 and 21 
respectively). There are four core faculty from SYDE, two from the Department of Electrical 
and Computer Engineering, one from the Department of Chemical Engineering, two from the 
Department of Kinesiology and Health Sciences, and one from the School of Optometry and 
Vision Science.  
 
This program’s cross-campus, transdisciplinary partnership mirrors that proposed for the 
BME graduate program. External partners include hospitals, research institutes, private 
industry, and universities in other countries. Training sessions for students focused on design 
(minimum of 21 hours), commercialization (minimum of 14 hours for master’s and 28 hours 
for PhD) and professional soft skills (minimum of seven hours) have informed the PACE 
Module milestones described in this proposal for the graduate program. Trainees must 
submit reflection forms after each training session and faculty and students conduct an end-
of-term review. Graduates of the CREATE program are also required to have published 
research papers. The output from the first three years of the program includes 41 articles 
published in or accepted by refereed journals and 37 conference presentations. The 
participation in the CREATE program demonstrates that there is strong demand. The new 
BME graduate program will integrate lessons learned from the first CREATE. The program 
will be needs first, design focused, which provides for differentiation. The BME Grad Program 
may utilize the CREATE library of asynchronous video content (>35 hrs and counting) and 
leverage strong existing partnerships.  
 
Waterloo’s second BME NSERC CREATE is complementary to the first. The CREATE Next-
Generation Innovations in Ultrasonics (N-GENIUS) program, led by Alfred Yu, includes 12 core 
faculty working across six theme areas: a) Imaging Innovations; b) Diagnostic Application 
Development; c) AI-Centric Ultrasound Imaging; d) Drug Delivery and Theranostics; e) 
Simulation and Modeling; and f) Cellular Biophysics of Ultrasound. This work forms the basis 
of a unique sub-field at Waterloo which will distinguish our BME graduate program. Similar 
to the first CREATE program, the group spans departments and faculties at Waterloo and 
boasts external partners, including international partners. Innovative activities for graduate 
students include orientation, a career training and development session, skill training, 
entrepreneurship and a “special topics” summer school. By August 2021, the program had 
35 trainees: 11 postdoctoral, 11 doctoral, seven master’s and six bachelor’s. A total of 11 
trainees had graduated with approximately half employed and half pursuing further studies.   

Page 57 of 274



 

33 
 

Appendix B Master of Applied Science (MASc) in Biomedical Engineering 
 

Graduate research fields 

• Biomaterials, Tissue Engineering, and Drug Delivery  

• Biomechanics and Rehabilitation   

• Biomedical Signals and Devices  

• Biomedical Imaging Technology   

• Biomedical Informatics 
Program Information 

• Admit term(s)  
o Fall  
o Winter  
o Spring  

• Delivery mode  
o On-campus  

• Length of program  
o Students are required to complete the program in accordance with the 

University program time limits. 
• Program type  

o Master’s  
o Research  

• Registration option(s)  
o Full-time  

• Study option(s)  
o Thesis 

Admission requirements 
• Minimum requirements  

o MASc applicants must have completed a bachelor’s degree (or equivalent) in 

any field of engineering or a related science discipline at a recognized 

institution with a minimum 80% overall average. 
o Applicants who are deemed by the graduate coordinator, BME graduate 

program director, Admissions Committee or intended advisor to have an 

inadequate depth of technical BME background may be directed to take 

additional foundational courses, to be specified at the time of admission.  

• Application materials  
o Résumé 
o Supplementary information form 
o Transcript(s) 

• References  
o Number of references: two (2)  
o Type of references:  Academic. Applicants who completed their degree five or 

more years before the application date may submit one (1) academic and one 
(1) professional reference. 

• English language proficiency (ELP) (if applicable) 

Page 58 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-information-and-regulations/english-language-proficiency


 

34 
 

o Minimum Internet-based TOEFL (iBT): 90; writing 25; speaking 25; or 
o Minimum IELTS (Academic): 7.0; writing 6.5; speaking 6.5 
o See https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-

information-and-regulations/english-language-proficiency 
 

Degree requirements 
Thesis option: 

• Course Requirements 
o Students must complete the following 4 graduate level courses (0.50 unit 

weight per course) counting towards degree credit from the University of 
Waterloo:  

▪ 1 of the following Biomedical Engineering core courses  
• BME 601 
• BME 602 
• BME 603 

▪ 1 of the following field-specific courses 

• Biomaterials, tissue engineering and drug delivery 
o BME 684 (recoded from SYDE 684): Materials 

Biocompatibility 

o CHE 601: Theory and Application of Transport Phenomena  

o CHE 602: Chemical Reactor Analysis 

o CHE 612: Interfacial Phenomena 

o CHE 620: Applied Engineering Mathematics 

o CHE 640: Principles of Polymer Science 

o CHE 660: Principles of Biochemical Engineering 

o CHE 663: Bioseparations 

o CHE 760: Special Topics in Biochemical Engineering 

o ECE 601: Foundations of Biology in Engineering 

o BIOL 636: Advanced Immunology 

o KIN 657: Human Neuroanatomy 

o PHARM 609: Advanced Pharmacokinetics 

o PHARM 610: Topics in Drug Development 

o PHARM 617: Formulations 

• Biomechanics and rehabilitation 

o BME 550: Sports Engineering 

o BME 551: Biomechanics of Human Movement 

o BME 588, Topic 1: Mechanics of Biomaterials and Tissues 

o ME 662: Advanced Fluid Mechanics 

o ME 663: Computational Fluid Dynamics 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 5: Impact 

Biomechanics 

Page 59 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-information-and-regulations/english-language-proficiency
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-information-and-regulations/english-language-proficiency


 

35 
 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 4: 

Mechanics of Medical Devices 

o ME 621: Applied Finite Element Methods 

o ME 780: Special Topics in Mechatronics Topic 37: Human 

Movement Neuromechanics 

o SYDE 644: Human Factors Testing 

o AMATH 663: Fluid Mechanics 

o PHYS 752: Molecular Biophysics 

o KIN 601: Skeletal Muscle Physiology: Structure & Function 

o KIN 602: Respiratory and Cardiovascular Physiology 

o KIN 603: Cardiac and Vascular Smooth Muscle Physiology 

o KIN 611: Biomechanics of Human Motion 

o KIN 613: Modern Methods in Biomechanical Modeling, 

Kinematics, and Kinetics 

o KIN 620: Ergonomic Aspects of Occupational 

Musculoskeletal Injuries 

• Biomedical signals and devices  

o ECE 730: Special Topics in Solid State DevicesTopic 34: 

Biosensing – Fundamentals and Applications 

o ECE 770: Special Topics in Antenna and Microwave Theory 

Topic 4: Computational Methods for Engineering 

Electromagnetics 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 4: 

Mechanics of Medical Devices 

o ME 739: Manufacturing Processes Topics Topic 3: Materials 

for Nano & Microelectromechanical Systems 

o ME 739: Manufacturing Processes Topics Topic 15: Additive 

Manufacturing Design 

o ME 765: Special Topics in Fluid Mechanics Topic 22: 

Microfluidic and MEMS Systems and Applications 

o ME 780: Special Topics in Mechatronics Topic 32: Neural 

and Rehabilitation Engineering 

o NANO 604: Nanomechanics and Molecular Dynamics 

Simulations 

o SYDE 750: Topics in Systems Modelling Topic 38: Social 

Robotics 

o KIN 653: Human Neuroscience Theory 

• Biomedical imaging technology 

o BME 677 (recoded from SYDE 677): Medical Imaging 

o BME 780 (recoded from SYDE 780): Biomedical Optics 

Page 60 of 274



 

36 
 

o ECE 607: Fundamentals of Ultrasonics 

o ECE 613: Image Processing and Visual Communication 

o ECE 675: Radiation & Propagation of Electromagnetic Fields 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 20: 

Acoustics 

o SYDE 671: Advanced Image Processing 

o SYDE 672: Statistical Image Processing 

o SYDE 675: Pattern Recognition 

o PHYS 751: Clinical Applications of Physics in Medicine 

• Biomedical informatics 

o AMATH 882: Mathematical Cell Biology 

o BIOL 614: Applied Bioinformatics and Genomics 

o HLTH 612: Data Structures and Standards in Health 

Informatics 

o HLTH 615: Requirements Specification and Analysis in 

Health Systems 

o HLTH 616: Decision Making and Systems Thinking in Health 

Informatics 

o HLTH 719: Advanced Research Methods in Health 

Informatics 

o KIN 613: Modern Methods in Biomechanical Modeling, 

Kinematics, and Kinetics 

• BME and health electives (general electives that include topics in 

more than one research fields) 

o ECE 603: Statistical Signal Processing 

o ECE 608: Quantitative Analysis in Biomedical Engineering  

o SYDE 642: Cognitive Engineering Methods 

o SYDE/ECE 750: Topics in Systems Modelling/Special Topics 

in Computer Software Topic 37/32: Biology and 

Computation 

o SYDE/ECE 750: Topics in Systems Modelling/Special Topics 

in Computer Software Topic 39/33: Embodied Intelligence 

o KIN 601: Skeletal Muscle Physiology: Structure & Function 

o KIN 606: Molecular Basis of Disease 

o KIN 607: Integrative Energy Metabolism in Health and 

Disease 

o KIN 608: Introduction to Genetics for the Biosciences 

o KIN 612: Instrumentation and Signal Processing in 

Biophysical Research 

Page 61 of 274



 

37 
 

o KIN 646: Physiological and Biochemical Analysis of Nutrition 

and Health 

o KIN 653: Human Neuroscience Theory 

o KIN 654: Instrumentation in Neuroscience Research 

▪ 2 elective courses. 
o One of the four courses shall be taken from outside the Faculty of 

Engineering.  
o All courses must be completed by the end of Term 4. 
o All course selections are arranged by the supervisor(s) in consultation with the 

student and are subject to the approval of the Director or Associate Director, 
BME graduate program. Students pursuing one the program’s Graduate 
Research Fields, should inform their supervisor(s) of their chosen field(s) to 
ensure appropriate course selection. 

o Note: these requirements are in addition to satisfactory completion of any 
transitional courses that may be specified at the time of admission. 

o Note: The Faculty of Engineering requires that no more than one-half of the 
courses used for credit toward a graduate degree may be taught by a 
candidate’s supervisor(s). In the case of co-supervision in small research 
groups, it may be necessary to relax this rule; however, the student’s file must 
contain a statement of formal approval from the BME graduate program 
director and endorsement from the Associate Dean for Graduate Studies and 
Postdoctoral Affairs in the Faculty of Engineering. 

• Professional Attributes and Competence Enhancement (PACE) Module  
o The PACE module milestone includes the following three components: a 

Seminar series, PACE days, and Annual BME research day. The requirements 
for the three components are outlined below:  

o Seminar series including presenting a research seminar: 
⦁ Biweekly seminar series with students and internal and external BME 

speakers (1.5-hour duration). Guest speakers will also be invited to 

speak at the seminar series. The topics may be related to BME 

research, academic integrity, or professional development. 

⦁ Each student must attend a minimum of five seminars per term, except 

for their final term. It is the student’s responsibility to submit their 

“Seminar Attendance Certificates” attached to their term activity 

report. BME records should show that the number of seminars a 

student has attended is at least four times the number of terms the 

student has been enrolled as a full-time student in the program. 

⦁ Each student will be required to present a research seminar by the end 

of their final term and as part of the PACE module milestones. BME will 

contact seminar candidates with scheduling information after they 

have passed their proposal. 

o PACE Days: 

Page 62 of 274



 

38 
 

▪ Students are required to attend and participate in 2 PACE days at the 
beginning of terms 1, 2, and 3. PACE days are dedicated to students’ 
professional development and the topics vary each term. 

o Annual BME Research Day – once per year 
▪ Students are required to attend and present at the Annual BME 

Research Day. The annual event gives students an opportunity to 
showcase their progress and research findings while building 
community among BME graduate students. Students are required to 
submit an abstract and give either an oral or poster presentation. 

• Master’s Thesis Proposal 
o Students must develop and defend a thesis proposal that will be examined 

and approved by their supervisor and committee. The thesis proposal must be 
completed by the end of term 3. 

o  
• Master’s Thesis 

o Students may choose to pursue one (1) of the following Graduate Research 

Fields: 

▪ Biomaterials, Tissue Engineering, and Drug Delivery 

▪ Biomechanics and Rehabilitation  

▪ Biomedical Signals and Devices  

▪ Biomedical Imaging Technology   

▪ Biomedical Informatics 

o A Graduate Research Field is a university credential that is recognized on the 

student’s transcript and is intended to reflect that a student has successfully 

completed research concentrated in the area of the Graduate Research Field. 

The BME graduate program, represented by the student’s supervisor and 

examining committee, must assess whether a student’s completed research 

warrants the field designation at the time of degree completion. 

o Upon approval of the thesis proposal, students will proceed to the research 

and writing of the thesis. Students must complete and orally defend the thesis 

by the end of term 6. The thesis and defence will be evaluated by the 

student’s Advisory Committee. The Advisory Committee shall be comprised 

of: at least one tenured or tenure track faculty member from the BME 

graduate program who will normally be the student’s supervisor(s); an 

additional tenured or tenure track BME graduate faculty member; and at least 

one additional examiner who is not a BME faculty member (but may be from 

a department with BME faculty members) and whose expertise can support 

the evaluation of the Master’s thesis. Consistent with the Faculty of 

Engineering requirements, a maximum of one committee member with an 

adjunct appointment or emeritus status is permitted. 

  

Page 63 of 274



 

39 
 

Appendix C Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Biomedical Engineering 
 

Graduate research fields 

• Biomaterials, Tissue Engineering, and Drug Delivery  

• Biomechanics and Rehabilitation   

• Biomedical Signals and Devices  

• Biomedical Imaging Technology   

• Biomedical Informatics 
Program information 

• Admit term(s)  
o Fall  
o Winter  
o Spring  

• Delivery mode  
o On-campus  

• Length of program  
o Students are required to complete the program in accordance with the 

University program time limits. 
• Program type  

o Doctoral  
o Research  

• Registration option(s)  
o Full-time  

• Study option(s)  
o Thesis 

Admission requirements 
• Minimum requirements  

o PhD (regular entry) applicants who completed a research thesis-based 

master’s degree (or equivalent) in engineering, applied science, or science 

from a recognized institution with at least an overall 80% average and 

documented evidence of potential to excel in PhD studies and research.  

• PhD (direct from Honours BME undergraduate entry) applicants require a 

minimum overall average of 80% in a BME program at the undergraduate level 

and clear evidence of excellent potential to excel in PhD studies and research. 

Substantial research experience is expected.   

o Applicants who are deemed by the graduate coordinator, BME graduate 

program director, Admissions Committee or intended advisor to have an 

inadequate depth of technical BME background may be directed to take 

additional foundational courses, to be specified at the time of admission.  

• Application materials  
o Résumé 
o Supplementary information form 
o Transcript(s) 

Page 64 of 274



 

40 
 

• References  
o Number of references: three (3) 
o Type of references: two (2) from academic sources that are able to comment 

upon academic preparation and research ability. 
• English language proficiency (ELP) (if applicable) 

o Minimum Internet-based TOEFL (iBT): 90; writing 25; speaking 25; or 
o Minimum IELTS (Academic): 7.0; writing 6.5; speaking 6.5 
o See https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-

information-and-regulations/english-language-proficiency 
o  

 
Degree requirements 

Thesis option:  

•  Courses   
o Students possessing a recent master’s degree in biomedical engineering are 

required to successfully complete 4 graduate-level courses (with unit weights 
of 0.50 each), including 1 core biomedical engineering course (BME 601, BME 
602, or BME 603), 1 field-specific course from the list below, and 2 elective 
courses. 

▪ The field specific course and the chosen electives must be approved by 
the supervisor(s). 

▪ One course shall be taken from outside the Faculty of Engineering  

▪ All courses must be completed by the end of term 4. 

▪ Students who have completed the MASc program in BME at Waterloo 
may apply and continue to the doctoral program. In this situation, 
students will have already completed the core course requirements 
(one of BME 601, BME 602, or BME 603), a field-specific course and 
two electives as part of their master’s degree requirements. To satisfy 
the PhD program requirements, these students must complete a total 
of four courses including a) one core course requirement (one of BME 
601, BME 602 or BME 603 that was not completed as part of the MASc 
in BME program); b) two additional electives; c) an additional field-
specific course if they have switched fields between MASc and PhD. 

 
o Students admitted to the PhD program who possess a master’s degree in a 

discipline outside of biomedical engineering (or equivalent) are required to 
successfully complete a minimum of 6 graduate-level courses (with a credit 
weight of 0.50 each) including 1 core biomedical engineering course (BME 
601, BME 602, or BME 603), 1 field-specific course from the list below, and 4 
elective courses. 

▪ The field specific course and the chosen electives must be approved by 
the supervisor(s). 

Page 65 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-information-and-regulations/english-language-proficiency
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-information-and-regulations/english-language-proficiency
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-information-and-regulations/english-language-proficiency


 

41 
 

▪ One course shall be taken from outside the Faculty of Engineering.  
▪ All courses must be completed by end of term 5 

 
o Students admitted directly to the PhD program who posses an honour’s 

undergraduate degree in biomedical engineering are required to complete a 
minimum of 7 courses (with 0.5 credits each), including 2 core BME courses 
(BME 601, BME 602, BME 603), 1 field-specific course from the list below, and 
4 elective courses. 

▪ The field specific course and the chosen electives must be approved by 
the supervisor(s). 

▪ One course shall be taken from outside the Faculty of Engineering  
▪ All courses must be completed by the end of term 5. 

o Student must select their field-specific course(s) from the following list: 

• Biomaterials, tissue engineering and drug delivery 
o BME 684 (recoded from SYDE 684): Materials 

Biocompatibility 

o CHE 601: Theory and Application of Transport Phenomena  

o CHE 602: Chemical Reactor Analysis 

o CHE 612: Interfacial Phenomena 

o CHE 620: Applied Engineering Mathematics 

o CHE 640: Principles of Polymer Science 

o CHE 660: Principles of Biochemical Engineering 

o CHE 663: Bioseparations 

o CHE 760: Special Topics in Biochemical Engineering 

o ECE 601: Foundations of Biology in Engineering 

o BIOL 636: Advanced Immunology 

o KIN 657: Human Neuroanatomy 

o PHARM 609: Advanced Pharmacokinetics 

o PHARM 610: Topics in Drug Development 

o PHARM 617: Formulations 

• Biomechanics and rehabilitation 

o BME 550: Sports Engineering 

o BME 551: Biomechanics of Human Movement 

o BME 588, Topic 1: Mechanics of Biomaterials and Tissues 

o ME 662: Advanced Fluid Mechanics 

o ME 663: Computational Fluid Dynamics 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 5: Impact 

Biomechanics 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 4: 

Mechanics of Medical Devices 

Page 66 of 274



 

42 
 

o ME 621: Applied Finite Element Methods 

o ME 780: Special Topics in Mechatronics Topic 37: Human 

Movement Neuromechanics 

o SYDE 644: Human Factors Testing 

o AMATH 663: Fluid Mechanics 

o PHYS 752: Molecular Biophysics 

o KIN 601: Skeletal Muscle Physiology: Structure & Function 

o KIN 602: Respiratory and Cardiovascular Physiology 

o KIN 603: Cardiac and Vascular Smooth Muscle Physiology 

o KIN 611: Biomechanics of Human Motion 

o KIN 613: Modern Methods in Biomechanical Modeling, 

Kinematics, and Kinetics 

o KIN 620: Ergonomic Aspects of Occupational 

Musculoskeletal Injuries 

• Biomedical signals and devices  

o ECE 730: Special Topics in Solid State Devices Topic 34: 

Biosensing – Fundamentals and Applications 

o ECE 770: Special Topics in Antenna and Microwave Theory 

Topic 4: Computational Methods for Engineering 

Electromagnetics 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 4: 

Mechanics of Medical Devices 

o ME 739: Manufacturing Processes Topics Topic 3: Materials 

for Nano & Microelectromechanical Systems 

o ME 739: Manufacturing Processes Topics Topic 15: Additive 

Manufacturing Design 

o ME 765: Special Topics in Fluid Mechanics Topic 22: 

Microfluidic and MEMS Systems and Applications 

o ME 780: Special Topics in Mechatronics Topic 32: Neural 

and Rehabilitation Engineering 

o NANO 604: Nanomechanics and Molecular Dynamics 

Simulations 

o SYDE 750: Topics in Systems Modelling Topic 38: Social 

Robotics 

o KIN 653: Human Neuroscience Theory 

• Biomedical imaging technology 

o BME 677 (recoded from SYDE 677): Medical Imaging 

o BME 780 (recoded from SYDE 780): Biomedical Optics 

o ECE 607: Fundamentals of Ultrasonics 

o ECE 613: Image Processing and Visual Communication 

Page 67 of 274



 

43 
 

o ECE 675: Radiation & Propagation of Electromagnetic Fields 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 20: 

Acoustics 

o SYDE 671: Advanced Image Processing 

o SYDE 672: Statistical Image Processing 

o SYDE 675: Pattern Recognition 

o PHYS 751: Clinical Applications of Physics in Medicine 

• Biomedical informatics 

o AMATH 882: Mathematical Cell Biology 

o BIOL 614: Applied Bioinformatics and Genomics 

o HLTH 612: Data Structures and Standards in Health 

Informatics 

o HLTH 615: Requirements Specification and Analysis in 

Health Systems 

o HLTH 616: Decision Making and Systems Thinking in Health 

Informatics 

o HLTH 719: Advanced Research Methods in Health 

Informatics 

o KIN 613: Modern Methods in Biomechanical Modeling, 

Kinematics, and Kinetics 

• BME and health electives (general electives that include topics in 

more than one research fields) 

o ECE 603: Statistical Signal Processing 

o ECE 608: Quantitative Analysis in Biomedical Engineering  

o SYDE 642: Cognitive Engineering Methods 

o SYDE/ECE 750: Topics in Systems Modelling/Special Topics 

in Computer Software Topic 37/32: Biology and 

Computation 

o SYDE/ECE 750: Topics in Systems Modelling/Special Topics 

in Computer Software Topic 39/33: Embodied Intelligence 

o KIN 601: Skeletal Muscle Physiology: Structure & Function 

o KIN 606: Molecular Basis of Disease 

o KIN 607: Integrative Energy Metabolism in Health and 

Disease 

o KIN 608: Introduction to Genetics for the Biosciences 

o KIN 612: Instrumentation and Signal Processing in 

Biophysical Research 

o KIN 646: Physiological and Biochemical Analysis of Nutrition 

and Health 

o KIN 653: Human Neuroscience Theory 

Page 68 of 274



 

44 
 

o KIN 654: Instrumentation in Neuroscience Research 

o In every case, a graduate course program is established by the supervisor(s) in 
consultation with the student and is subject to the approval of the Director of 
the BME Graduate Program. Candidates may also be required to take 
additional courses as a result of a comprehensive examination. Students 
pursuing one of the program’s Graduate Research Fields should inform their 
supervisor(s) of their chosen field(s) to ensure appropriate course selection.  

o The Faculty of Engineering requires that no more than one-half of the courses 
used for credit towards a graduate degree may be taught by the candidate’s 
supervisor(s). In the case of co-supervision in small research groups, it may be 
necessary to relax this rule, but the student’s file must contain a statement of 
formal approval from the BME graduate program director and endorsement 
from the Associate Dean for Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs in the 
Faculty of Engineering. 
 

• Professional Attributes and Competence Enhancement (PACE) Module  
o The PACE module milestone includes the following three components: a 

Seminar series, PACE days, and Annual BME research day. The requirements 
for the three components are outlined below:  

o Seminar series including presenting a research seminar: 
⦁ Biweekly seminar series with students and internal and external BME 

speakers (1.5-hour duration). Guest speakers will also be invited to 

speak at the seminar series. The topics may be related to BME 

research, academic integrity, or professional development. 

⦁ Each student must attend a minimum of five seminars per term, except 

for their final term. It is the student’s responsibility to submit their 

“Seminar Attendance Certificates” attached to their term activity 

report. BME records should show that the number of seminars a 

student has attended is at least four times the number of terms the 

student has been enrolled as a full-time student in the program. 

⦁ Each student will be required to present a research seminar by the end 

of their final term and as part of the PACE module milestones. BME will 

contact seminar candidates with scheduling information after they 

have passed their comprehensive exam (Parts I and II). 

o PACE days: 
▪ Students are required to attend and participate in 2 PACE days at the 

beginning of terms 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5. PACE days are dedicated to 
students’ professional development and the topics vary each term. 

o Annual BME Research Day – once per year 
▪ Students are required to attend and present at the Annual BME 

Research Day. The annual event gives students an opportunity to 
showcase their progress and research findings while building 

Page 69 of 274



 

45 
 

community among BME graduate students. Students are required to 
submit an abstract and give either an oral or poster presentation. 

 
• PhD Comprehensive Examination I (Background) and II (Proposal)  

o Students are required to meet the University-level PhD Comprehensive 
Examination minimum requirements outlined in the “Minimum requirements 
for the PhD degree” section of the Graduate Studies Academic Calendar 
(GSAC), with certain noted differences that are specific to the Faculty of 
Engineering Comprehensive Examination minimum requirements: 

▪ Comprehensive examination purpose: Consistent with University-level 
minimum requirements. 

▪ Timing: Students must follow the Faculty of Engineering completion 
timelines.  

▪ Committee: Students must follow the Faculty of Engineering 
committee composition guidelines which differ from the University-
level minimum requirements in both number of committee members 
and committee makeup. 

▪ Who Chairs an examination: Students must follow the Faculty of 
Engineering Chair guidelines whereby the Chair is normally selected 
from outside of the student’s home department. 

▪ Format / Content: Consistent with University-level minimum 
requirements but with additional information provided in the Faculty 
of Engineering Comprehensive Examination minimum requirements. 

▪ Academic integrity: Consistent with University-level minimum 
requirements. 

o In addition to the University-level and Faculty-level PhD Comprehensive 
Examination minimum requirements, PhD students in the Biomedical 
Engineering graduate program are also required to meet the following 
requirements: 

▪ Students must successfully complete (pass) the Comprehensive 
Background Examination (Comprehensive Exam I (Background)) and 
the Comprehensive Proposal Examination (Comprehensive Exam II 
(Proposal) which are conducted by the Department for each 
candidate. 

▪ The first exam, the Comprehensive Background Examination, will be 
held before the end of the third term (fourth term if transferring from 
an incomplete MASc). The main objective of this examination is to 
satisfy the Department that the candidate has a broad knowledge of 
their field and a thorough technical background to pursue their 
research; the candidate will be questioned on their background 
preparation. 

▪ The second exam, the Comprehensive Proposal Examination, will be 
held no later than the student’s sixth term and only after the 
Background Comprehensive Examination has been successfully 
completed. The main objective of this examination is to examine and 
approve the written thesis proposal. 

Page 70 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-information-and-regulations/minimum-requirements-phd-degree#Comprehensive%20examination
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/general-information-and-regulations/minimum-requirements-phd-degree#Comprehensive%20examination
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/engineering/faculty-engineering-minimum-requirements
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-academic-calendar/engineering/faculty-engineering-minimum-requirements


 

46 
 

▪ The result of these examinations is the identification of an Advisory 
Committee which has examined and approved the candidate's 
background and thesis proposal and is willing to assist the supervisor 
with the subsequent research program. 

▪ Students who do not complete either Comprehensive Examination by 
the stated deadline, or fail either exam on their second attempt, will 
be required to withdraw from the program. 

▪ It is the supervisor’s responsibility to assemble the advisory 
committee. 

• PhD Thesis and Oral Defence 
o Students may choose to pursue one (1) of the following Graduate Research 

Fields:  
▪ Biomaterials, Tissue Engineering, and Drug Delivery  
▪ Biomechanics and Rehabilitation   
▪ Biomedical Signals and Devices  
▪ Biomedical Imaging Technology   
▪ Biomedical Informatics 

o Candidates are expected to attend annual meetings with their Advisory 
Committee and complete term reports to provide updates on their progress.  

o A Graduate Research Field is a university credential that is recognized on the 
student’s transcript and is intended to reflect that a student has successfully 
completed research concentrated in the area of the Graduate Research Field. 
The BME graduate program, represented by the student’s supervisor and 
examining committee, must assess whether a student’s completed research 
warrants the field designation at the time of degree completion. 

o Candidates are expected to maintain continuous registration until the thesis is 
submitted to Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs. Under exceptional 
circumstances, inactive terms or a leave of absence may be requested for a 
prior specified period with program approval. The role of a supervisor is to 
assist a candidate in establishing a research problem with an appropriate 
scope, to suggest alternative general approaches to the solution of a problem 
and to provide general advice on the structure and content of a thesis. It is 
imperative that the engineering code of ethics be strictly observed in the 
supervisor-candidate relationship. 

o The PhD degree in the Faculty of Engineering is awarded to a candidate who 
has successfully completed a program of advanced study and conducted 
original research. The program of research and its findings must be presented 
in the form of a thesis and submitted to the University for public examination 
prior to its oral defense. 

o The writer of a thesis must demonstrate a critical awareness and 
understanding of the literature in the research field, exhibit a capability of 
defining original and useful research problems and a capability of 
independent thought in solving a research problem. An ability to 
communicate research results verbally and in writing must be shown. The 
University of Waterloo allows students to submit theses in English or in 
French, the latter being governed by certain important constraints. The 

Page 71 of 274



 

47 
 

principles governing the submission of theses in French are specified in the 
Graduate Studies Academic Calendar. The oral examination of a thesis will 
assess the ability of a candidate to communicate orally the results of the 
research and to defend the contents of the thesis. 

o Originality in a thesis may be reflected in a number of ways. A candidate may 
have posed and solved an important new problem or have formulated an 
existing problem in a novel and useful way. A candidate may offer new and 
significant insights into problems examined previously by other researchers. 
Replications of previous investigations may be acceptable if, and only if, they 
incorporate [significantly new] elements in the design or execution of an 
experiment. 

o Objective criteria describing what is meant by a significant contribution to 
knowledge are difficult to specify. One way of gauging a candidate's 
contribution is to consider the extent to which parts of the thesis might be 
published in peer-reviewed technical journals with an international stature or 
as a monograph by an acceptable publisher. The ultimate test of the 
acceptability of a thesis is the ability of a candidate to satisfy, through an oral 
examination, to a university-appointed committee of research specialists in 
the general field of study, that a significant research contribution has been 
made and communicated adequately. 

 

 
 
  

Page 72 of 274



 

48 
 

Appendix D New program report on library support for the proposed graduate (MASc and 
PhD) program in Biomedical Engineering (August 2022) 
 
1. Level of support summary: 

The library provides a high level of support for the undergraduate Biomedical Engineering 
program and curates a collection to meet the research-intensive needs of existing graduate 
programs in engineering and science. The library selectively collects clinical information to 
support research and teaching in the School of Pharmacy, the School of Optometry and Vision 
Science, and the Faculty of Health that may be of interest to those conducting research in more 
specialized clinical areas. Access to clinical information not available through library subscriptions 
is provided through Inter-Library loan services. A liaison librarian works closely with faculty 
members, researchers, and students in Biomedical Engineering and has a high level of expertise 
developing creative programming and supporting multidisciplinary research and teaching. 
 
2. Strengths of support provided and recommended opportunities for improvement: 

Collections 

The library purchases and subscribes to resources relevant to Biomedical Engineering such as 
Biomaterials, Acta Biomaterialia, Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering, and Nature 
Biomedical Engineering. Given the multidisciplinary nature of the Biomedical Engineering 
program, resources purchased or licensed to support other Faculties and departments at the 
University of Waterloo expand the breadth of resources available to Biomedical Engineering 
faculty members, researchers, and graduate students. This includes access to the IEEE Xplore 
Digital Library, SpringerMaterials, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM) Digital Library 
and publications, Scopus, Web of Science, PubMed, Embase, SPIE, Business Source Elite, and 
EconLit. The library’s full-text resources are linked through Google Scholar, which directly 
connects students to our subscriptions via the search engine. Library subscriptions provide 
access to significant electronic book collections including Taylor & Francis, Knovel, and 
Springer. Current subscriptions provide online access to ASTM, ASME and IEEE standards.  
Online access to Canadian Standards and Codes is provided through a subscription to the 
Canadian Standards Association (CSA).  Other standards, including ISO standards, are 
acquired selectively and as budgets permit.   
 
The University of Waterloo Library partners with other Ontario and Canadian universities to 
further expand access to information through consortial purchasing at the national and 
provincial level and through our consortial academic search tool OMNI, which allows users to 
discover materials from 16 Ontario universities through one search interface.  
 
In an ongoing service, faculty members and students can request digitized chapters or 
articles from a print book in our collection or have print books mailed to their homes or 
residences provided they are living or staying in Canada.  
 
Should new research areas emerge within the scope of the Biomedical Engineering graduate 
program, the library is committed to engaging in discussions to articulate collection needs 
and assess funding implications. 
 

Page 73 of 274



 

49 
 

Instruction and Research Support 

The Liaison Librarian provides extensive course-based instruction at the undergraduate level 
in Biomedical Engineering and at the undergraduate and graduate levels in Systems Design 
Engineering to guide students in determining their need for information, locating, and 
evaluating appropriate sources, and properly citing information.   
 
The Liaison Librarian is available for 1:1 research consultations and meetings with Lab groups 
to discuss various types of literature reviews, best resources, research methods, and 
publishing support, such as identifying predatory journals. All are encouraged to make use of 
the learning, teaching, research support services, and expertise the library offers. 
 
The Liaison Librarian interacts with the Biomedical Engineering program director to ensure 
awareness of new services and resources and to provide a line of communication for any 
issues or recommendations. 
 
3. More information  

The library would be happy to meet with the program reviewers to discuss this report and 
answer their questions. For additional information about University of Waterloo Library and 
the support it provides for programs, please visit 
https://uwaterloo.ca/library/about/policies-and-guidelines/support-academic-programs. 
 
4. Report provenance  

Report written by Kate Mercer, Liaison Librarian for Systems Design Engineering and Biomedical 
Engineering, kmercer@uwaterloo.ca  
Report reviewed by Jennifer Haas, Head of Davis Library Information Services and 
Resources, j2haas@uwaterloo.ca  
Report approved by Victoria Chu, Associate University Librarian, Learning, Research, and User 
Services, victoria.chu@uwaterloo.ca    

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/library/about/policies-and-guidelines/support-academic-programs
mailto:kmercer@uwaterloo.ca
mailto:j2haas@uwaterloo.ca
mailto:victoria.chu@uwaterloo.ca


 

50 
 

Appendix E - Summary of Learning Outcomes Mapped to Courses and Assessment Methods – MASc Degree  

Specific GDLEs and Associated Learning Outcomes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B
M

E 
6

0
1

^ 
/ 

B
M

E 
6

0
2

^ / 
B

M
E 

6
0

3
^  

Fi
e

ld
-s

p
e

ci
fi

c 
C

o
u

rs
e

* 
(1

) 

El
e

ct
iv

e
 C

o
u

rs
e

s+
 (

2
) 

W
ri

tt
e

n
 D

is
se

rt
at

io
n

 

O
ra

l T
h

e
si

s 
D

e
fe

n
se

 

Se
m

in
ar

 S
e

ri
e

s∎
 

R
e

se
ar

ch
 D

e
si

gn
 a

n
d

 P
la

n
n

in
g∎

 

P
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 P

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
s∎

 

Sc
ie

n
ti

fi
c 

W
ri

ti
n

g∎
 

B
M

E 
R

es
e

ar
ch

 D
ay

∎
 

1. Depth and Breadth of Knowledge            

Interpret, understand, and critically assess state-of-the-art 
methods, theories, and advances in biomedical engineering A A A A A C NA NA NA C 

2. Research & Scholarship           

Conduct rigorous scientific research to answer questions, 
while making reasoned judgements and accounting for 
technical limitations and uncertainties 

C C C A A NA C NA NA C 

Integrate complex engineering concepts related to the 
breadth of biomedical engineering, and the underlying and 
associated sciences 

A A A A A C NA C C C 

Produce original research related to the design, 
development, analysis and validation of biomedical 
solutions/innovations 

NA NA NA A A C NA NA NA A 

3. Level of Application of Knowledge           

Interpret, critically assess and apply state-of-the-art 
methods, theories, and advances in biomedical engineering 

A A A A A A C NA NA NA 

4. Professional Capacity/Autonomy           

Page 75 of 274



 

51 
 

Specific GDLEs and Associated Learning Outcomes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B
M

E 
6

0
1

^ 
/ 

B
M

E 
6

0
2

^ / 
B

M
E 

6
0

3
^  

Fi
e

ld
-s

p
e

ci
fi

c 
C

o
u

rs
e

* 
(1

) 

El
e

ct
iv

e
 C

o
u

rs
e

s+
 (

2
) 

W
ri

tt
e

n
 D

is
se

rt
at

io
n

 

O
ra

l T
h

e
si

s 
D

e
fe

n
se

 

Se
m

in
ar

 S
e

ri
e

s∎
 

R
e

se
ar

ch
 D

e
si

gn
 a

n
d

 P
la

n
n

in
g∎

 

P
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 P

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
s∎

 

Sc
ie

n
ti

fi
c 

W
ri

ti
n

g∎
 

B
M

E 
R

es
e

ar
ch

 D
ay

∎
 

Independently recognize, define and solve complex real-
world biomedical needs and associated challenges 

C C C A A NA NA NA NA NA 

Engage in self-directed professional development and life-
long learning 

NA NA NA NA NA NA A NA NA C 

Ability to recognize, appreciate, consider and apply 
appropriate ethics, law, regulations, and accountability to 
biomedical engineering field 

C NA NA NA NA NA A NA NA C 

Understanding the value of engaging in inter-disciplinary 
research in biomedical engineering as well as the 
complexity of knowledge and limitations of different fields 

C NA NA C C C A C NA A 

5. Level of Communication Skills           

Effectively communicate complex concepts in biomedical 
engineering to a wide audience ranging from general public 
to experts in the field biomedical needs and associated 
challenges (includes GDLE 6 Awareness of Limits of 
Knowledge) 

C NA NA A A A A A A A 

6. Awareness of Limits of Knowledge            

Page 76 of 274



 

52 
 

Specific GDLEs and Associated Learning Outcomes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B
M

E 
6

0
1

^ 
/ 

B
M

E 
6

0
2

^ / 
B

M
E 

6
0

3
^  

Fi
e

ld
-s

p
e

ci
fi

c 
C

o
u

rs
e

* 
(1

) 

El
e

ct
iv

e
 C

o
u

rs
e

s+
 (

2
) 

W
ri

tt
e

n
 D

is
se

rt
at

io
n

 

O
ra

l T
h

e
si

s 
D

e
fe

n
se

 

Se
m

in
ar

 S
e

ri
e

s∎
 

R
e

se
ar

ch
 D

e
si

gn
 a

n
d

 P
la

n
n

in
g∎

 

P
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 P

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
s∎

 

Sc
ie

n
ti

fi
c 

W
ri

ti
n

g∎
 

B
M

E 
R

es
e

ar
ch

 D
ay

∎
 

Cognizance of the complexity of knowledge and of the 
potential contributions of other interpretations, methods, 
and disciplines. 

C C C A A C NA NA NA NA 

 
Notes 

• Assessed (A) = The outcome is addressed and is formally assessed 

• Covered (C) = The outcome is addressed but not assessed 

• Not addressed (NA) = The outcome is not addressed 

• ^ Required core courses  

• * One of 20 courses available 

• + Two of 50 courses available 

• ∎ Professional Attributes and Competence Enhancement (PACE) Module

Page 77 of 274



 

53 
 

Appendix F - Summary of Learning Outcomes Mapped to Courses and Assessment Methods – PhD Degree  

Specific GDLEs and Associated Learning Outcomes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B
M

E 
6

0
1

^ 
/ 

B
M

E 
6

0
2

^ / 
B

M
E 

6
0

3
^  

Fi
e

ld
-s

p
e

ci
fi

c 
C

o
u

rs
e

* 
(1

) 

El
e

ct
iv

e
 C

o
u

rs
e

s+
 (

2
) 

P
h

D
 C

o
m

p
re

h
en

si
ve

 E
xa

m
 I 

(B
ac

kg
ro

u
n

d
) 

P
h

D
 C

o
m

p
re

h
e

n
si

ve
 E

xa
m

 II
 

(P
ro

p
o

sa
l)

  

W
ri

tt
e

n
 D

is
se

rt
at

io
n

 

O
ra

l T
h

e
si

s 
D

e
fe

n
se

 

Se
m

in
ar

 S
e

ri
e

s∎
 

R
e

se
ar

ch
 D

e
si

gn
 a

n
d

 P
la

n
n

in
g∎

 

P
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 P

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
s∎

 

Sc
ie

n
ti

fi
c 

W
ri

ti
n

g∎
 

V
is

io
n

 D
ev

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t∎
 

P
ro

p
o

sa
l W

ri
ti

n
g∎

 

B
M

E 
R

es
e

ar
ch

 D
ay

∎
 

1. Depth and Breadth of Knowledge                

Interpret, understand, and critically assess state-
of-the-art methods, theories, and advances in 
biomedical engineering 

A A A A A A A A C NA NA NA NA NA 

2. Research & Scholarship               

Conduct rigorous scientific research to answer 
questions, while making reasoned judgements and 
accounting for technical limitations and 
uncertainties 

C C C C C C A A NA C NA NA C C 

Integrate complex engineering concepts related to 
the breadth of biomedical engineering, and the 
underlying and associated sciences 

A A A A NA A A A C NA C C C C 

Produce original research related to the design, 
development, analysis and validation of biomedical 
solutions/innovations 

NA 
N
A 

NA NA NA A A A C NA NA NA NA NA 

3. Level of Application of Knowledge               

Page 78 of 274



 

54 
 

Apply basic research and development principles 
and practices relevant to their biomedical 
engineering specialty 

A A C C NA A A A NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Interpret, critically assess and apply state-of-the-art 
methods, theories, and advances in biomedical 
engineering 

A A A A A A A A A C NA NA C NA 

4. Professional Capacity/Autonomy               

Independently recognize, define and solve complex 
real-world biomedical needs and associated 
challenges 

C C C C A A A A NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Engage in self-directed professional development 
and life-long learning 

NA 
N
A 

NA NA NA 
N
A 

NA NA NA A NA NA A NA 

Ability to recognize, appreciate, consider and apply 
appropriate ethics, law, regulations, and 
accountability to biomedical engineering field 

C C NA NA NA 
N
A 

NA NA NA A NA NA A C 

Understanding the value of engaging in inter-
disciplinary research in biomedical engineering as 
well as the complexity of knowledge and limitations 
of different fields 
(includes GDLE 6 Awareness of Limits of Knowledge) 

C C NA NA C C C C C A C NA C C 

5. Level of Communication Skills               

Effectively communicate complex concepts in 
biomedical engineering to a wide audience ranging 
from general public to experts in the field 
biomedical needs and associated challenges 

C C NA NA A A A A A A A A A A 

6. Awareness of Limits of Knowledge                

An appreciation of the limitations of their own work 
and discipline, of the complexity of knowledge, and 
of the potential contributions of other 
interpretations, methods, and disciplines. 

C C C A A A A C C NA NA NA C C 

 
Notes 

• Assessed (A) = The outcome is addressed and is formally assessed 

Page 79 of 274



 

55 
 

• Covered (C) = The outcome is addressed but not assessed 

• Not addressed (NA) = The outcome is not addressed 

• ^ Required core courses  

• * One of 20 courses available 

• + Two of 50 courses available 

• ∎ Professional Attributes and Competence Enhancement (PACE) Modules 

  

Page 80 of 274



 

56 
 

Appendix G: Faculty Members beyond the core partnering departments.  
 
In addition to the faculty members in the core supporting departments identified in Table 1, there are faculty members across campus who 
are conducting research in at least one of the five research fields of the BME Graduate programs. Unless otherwise noted, all faculty 
members have ADDS status.  
 

Faculty Name Rank Home Unit 

Stacey Acker Associate Professor Kinesiology and Health Sciences 

Marc Aucoin  Professor  Chemical Engineering 

Hector Budman  Professor  Chemical Engineering 

Jack Callaghan Professor  Kinesiology and Health Sciences 

Melanie Campbell Professor  Physics and Astronomy  

Pu Chen  Professor  Chemical Engineering 

Perry Chou  Professor  Chemical Engineering 

Kristine Dalton Associate Professor  Optometry and Vision Science  

Clark Dickerson Professor  Kinesiology and Health Sciences 

Adil El-Mayah Professor Civil and Environmental Engineering 

Christian Euler  Assistant Professor Chemical Engineering 

Steve Fischer Associate Professor  Kinesiology and Health Sciences 

Emmanuel Ho Associate Professor  School of Pharmacy 

Chris Hudson Professor  Optometry and Vision Science  

Lyndon Jones Professor  Optometry and Vision Science  

Andrew Laing Associate Professor  Kinesiology and Health Sciences 

Yilan Liu  Assistant Professor Chemical Engineering 

Monica Maly Associate Professor  Kinesiology and Health Sciences 

Christine Moresoli Professor  Chemical Engineering 

Plinio Morita Associate Professor  School of Public Health Sciences  

Elisabeth Prince Assistant Professor Chemical Engineering 

Hamed Shahsavan Assistant Professor Chemical Engineering 

Roderick Slavcev Associate Professor  School of Pharmacy 

Page 81 of 274



 

57 
 

Michael Tam  Professor  Chemical Engineering 

Ting Tsui  Associate Professor Chemical Engineering 

Valerie Ward  Assistant Professor Chemical Engineering 

Stan Woo* Clinical Professor  Optometry and Vision Science  

Evelyn Yim  Associate Professor Chemical Engineering 

Boxin Zhao  Professor  Chemical Engineering 

 
* No supervisory status 

Page 82 of 274



 

58 
 

Appendix H: Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program Electives  
 
Biomedical Engineering graduate students can meet their elective requirements by taking 
courses from the Faculties of Engineering, Health, and Science. This list contains eligible 
elective courses for the 2021/22 academic year in each research field.  
 

• Biomaterials, tissue engineering and drug delivery (including regenerative 
medicine) 

o BME 684 (recoded from SYDE 684): Materials Biocompatibility 

o CHE 601: Theory and Application of Transport Phenomena  

o CHE 602: Chemical Reactor Analysis 

o CHE 612: Interfacial Phenomena 

o CHE 620: Applied Engineering Mathematics 

o CHE 640: Principles of Polymer Science 

o CHE 660: Principles of Biochemical Engineering 

o CHE 663: Bioseparations 

o CHE 760: Special Topics in Biochemical Engineering 

o ECE 601: Foundations of Biology in Engineering 

o BIOL 636: Advanced Immunology 

o KIN 657: Human Neuroanatomy 

o PHARM 609: Advanced Pharmacokinetics 

o PHARM 610: Topics in Drug Development 

o PHARM 617: Formulations 

• Biomechanics and rehabilitation (including both solid and fluid mechanics) 
o BME 550: Sports Engineering 

o BME 551: Biomechanics of Human Movement 

o BME 588, Topic 1: Mechanics of Biomaterials and Tissues 

o ME 662: Advanced Fluid Mechanics 

o ME 663: Computational Fluid Dynamics 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 5: Impact Biomechanics 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 4: Mechanics of Medical 

Devices 

o ME 621: Applied Finite Element Methods 

o ME 780: Special Topics in Mechatronics Topic 37: Human Movement 

Neuromechanics 

o SYDE 644: Human Factors Testing 

o AMATH 663: Fluid Mechanics 

o PHYS 752: Molecular Biophysics 

o KIN 601: Skeletal Muscle Physiology: Structure & Function 

o KIN 602: Respiratory and Cardiovascular Physiology 

Page 83 of 274



 

59 
 

o KIN 603: Cardiac and Vascular Smooth Muscle Physiology 

o KIN 611: Biomechanics of Human Motion 

o KIN 613: Modern Methods in Biomechanical Modeling, Kinematics, and 

Kinetics 

o KIN 620: Ergonomic Aspects of Occupational Musculoskeletal Injuries 

 

• Biomedical signals and devices (including EEG, EMG, brain-computer interfaces and 
neuroscience applications, micro and nano devices)  

o ECE 730: Special Topics in Solid State Devices Topic 34: Biosensing – 

Fundamentals and Applications 

o ECE 770: Special Topics in Antenna and Microwave Theory Topic 4: 

Computational Methods for Engineering Electromagnetics 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 4: Mechanics of Medical 

Devices 

o ME 739: Manufacturing Processes Topics Topic 3: Materials for Nano & 

Microelectromechanical Systems 

o ME 739: Manufacturing Processes Topics Topic 15: Additive Manufacturing 

Design 

o ME 765: Special Topics in Fluid Mechanics Topic 22: Microfluidic and MEMS 

Systems and Applications 

o ME 780: Special Topics in Mechatronics Topic 32: Neural and Rehabilitation 

Engineering 

o NANO 604: Nanomechanics and Molecular Dynamics Simulations 

o SYDE 750: Topics in Systems Modelling Topic 38: Social Robotics 

o KIN 653: Human Neuroscience Theory 

• Biomedical imaging technology (including ultrasound, X-ray, MRI, optics, 
microwave) 

o BME 677 (recoded from SYDE 677): Medical Imaging 

o BME 780 (recoded from SYDE 780): Biomedical Optics 

o ECE 607: Fundamentals of Ultrasonics 

o ECE 613: Image Processing and Visual Communication 

o ECE 675: Radiation & Propagation of Electromagnetic Fields 

o ME 720: Special Topics in Solid Mechanics Topic 20: Acoustics 

o SYDE 671: Advanced Image Processing 

o SYDE 672: Statistical Image Processing 

o SYDE 675: Pattern Recognition 

o PHYS 751: Clinical Applications of Physics in Medicine 

• Biomedical informatics (including AI, big data, population and health system 
studies) 

Page 84 of 274



 

60 
 

o AMATH 882: Mathematical Cell Biology 

o BIOL 614: Applied Bioinformatics and Genomics 

o HLTH 612: Data Structures and Standards in Health Informatics 

o HLTH 615: Requirements Specification and Analysis in Health Systems 

o HLTH 616: Decision Making and Systems Thinking in Health Informatics 

o HLTH 719: Advanced Research Methods in Health Informatics 

o KIN 613: Modern Methods in Biomechanical Modeling, Kinematics, and 

Kinetics 

 

• BME and health electives (general electives that include topics in more than one 

research fields) 

o ECE 603: Statistical Signal Processing 

o ECE 608: Quantitative Analysis in Biomedical Engineering  

o SYDE 642: Cognitive Engineering Methods 

o SYDE/ECE 750: Topics in Systems Modelling/Special Topics in Computer 

Software Topic 37/32: Biology and Computation 

o SYDE/ECE 750: Topics in Systems Modelling/Special Topics in Computer 

Software Topic 39/33: Embodied Intelligence 

o KIN 601: Skeletal Muscle Physiology: Structure & Function 

o KIN 606: Molecular Basis of Disease 

o KIN 607: Integrative Energy Metabolism in Health and Disease 

o KIN 608: Introduction to Genetics for the Biosciences 

o KIN 612: Instrumentation and Signal Processing in Biophysical Research 

o KIN 646: Physiological and Biochemical Analysis of Nutrition and Health 

o KIN 653: Human Neuroscience Theory 

o KIN 654: Instrumentation in Neuroscience Research 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 85 of 274



 

61 
 

Appendix I: Senate Graduate & Research Council - Graduate Studies Course/Milestone 
Forms 
 
The forms to establish BME 601, 602 and 603 are found on the following six pages. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86 of 274



 

62 
 

 
 
Prior to form submission, review the content revision instructions. For questions about the 
form submission, contact Trevor Clews, Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs (GSPA).  
 

Faculty: Engineering     

Effective date:    Term: Winter Year: 2025 

 
Milestone 
Note: milestone changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program 

Revision Template. 

☐ New: Choose an item. 

☐ Inactivate: Choose an item.  

☐ Revise: from Choose an item. to Choose an item. 

 
Course 
Note: some course changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program 

Revision Template. 

☒ New: Complete all course elements below  

 

☐ Inactivate:    Complete the following course elements:  

  Course subject code, Course number, Course ID, Course title 
 

 ☐ Revise:  Complete all course elements below to reflect the proposed change(s) and 

identify the course elements being revised (e.g. Course description, Course 
title):  

 

  

Course elements (complete as indicated above. Review the glossary of terms for details on 
course elements)  
 
Course subject code: Choose an item. BME 
 
Course number: 601 
 
Course ID:  
 
Course title (max. 100 characters including spaces): Physiological Systems and Biomedical 
Design 
 
Course short title (max. 30 characters including spaces): Physiol Systms & Biomed Design 
 
Grading basis: Numerical  
 
Course credit weight: 0.50  
 
Course consent required: Not required  
 

Page 87 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies/about/people/tclews
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/quest/graduate-students/glossary-of-terms


 

63 
 

Course description:  
This course surveys the anatomy and physiology of the human body at the cellular, organ and whole-
body scale, from a systems biology/physiology perspective. Cell biology and some of the physiological 
systems (e.g., musculoskeletal, cardiovascular, pulmonary, digestive, renal, nervous and sensory, and 
immune) and their integration/interactions will be introduced from a quantitative systems perspective. 
Where applicable, common sources of impairments of each system (e.g., pathologies, aging, etc.) will 
be presented along with implications for diagnostic, therapeutic and rehabilitative technologies (and 
universal design). Students will be required to perform engineering design that applies their knowledge 
in biology and physiology that they have gained throughout the course. 

 
Meet type(s): Lecture    Choose an item.    Choose an item.    Choose an item.  
 
Primary meet type: Lecture  
 
Delivery mode: On-campus  
 
Requisites:  
 

Special topics course:  Yes    ☐ No    ☒  

 

Cross-listed course:       Yes    ☐ No     ☒  

 
Course subject code(s) and number(s) to be cross-listed with and approval status: None 
 
Sections combined/held with: None 

 
Rationale for request: Core course in the Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program. 
 
 
 
Form completed by:  

Department/School approval date (mm/dd/yy):  

Reviewed by GSPA (for GSPA use only) ☐  date (mm/dd/yy):  

Faculty approval date (mm/dd/yy):  

Senate Graduate & Research Council (SGRC) approval date (mm/dd/yy):  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

01/16/24
12/06/23

12/04/23

Page 88 of 274



 

64 
 

 
 
Prior to form submission, review the content revision instructions. For questions about the 
form submission, contact Trevor Clews, Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs (GSPA).  
 

Faculty: Engineering     

Effective date:    Term: Winter Year: 2025 

 
Milestone 
Note: milestone changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program 

Revision Template. 

☐ New: Choose an item. 

☐ Inactivate: Choose an item.  

☐ Revise: from Choose an item. to Choose an item. 

 
Course 
Note: some course changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program 

Revision Template. 

☒ New: Complete all course elements below  

 

☐ Inactivate:    Complete the following course elements:  

  Course subject code, Course number, Course ID, Course title 
 

 ☐ Revise:  Complete all course elements below to reflect the proposed change(s) and 

identify the course elements being revised (e.g. Course description, Course 
title):  

 

  

Course elements (complete as indicated above. Review the glossary of terms for details on 
course elements)  
 
Course subject code: Choose an item. BME 
 
Course number: 602 
 
Course ID:  
 
Course title (max. 100 characters including spaces): Foundations in Biomechanical 
Engineering 
 
Course short title (max. 30 characters including spaces): Foundations Biomechanical Eng 
 
Grading basis: Numerical  
 
Course credit weight: 0.50  
 
Course consent required: Not required  

Page 89 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies/about/people/tclews
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/quest/graduate-students/glossary-of-terms


 

65 
 

 
Course description:  
This course focuses on equipping students with foundational knowledge in the biomechanics of human 
physiology, pathology, and treatment. The overarching aim of this course is to develop students’ 
literacy in applying biomechanics principles and modern tools towards understanding the human body. 
The course will build on existing knowledge in mathematics and physics to develop new expertise and 
hands-on experience in the biomechanical modeling and analysis of physiological systems.  
 

 
Meet type(s): Lecture    Choose an item.    Choose an item.    Choose an item.  
 
Primary meet type: Lecture  
 
Delivery mode: On-campus  
 
Requisites:  
 

Special topics course:  Yes    ☐ No    ☒  

 

Cross-listed course:       Yes    ☐ No     ☒  

 
Course subject code(s) and number(s) to be cross-listed with and approval status: None 
 
Sections combined/held with: None 

 
Rationale for request: Core course in the new Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program. 
 
 
 
Form completed by:  

Department/School approval date (mm/dd/yy):  

Reviewed by GSPA (for GSPA use only) ☐  date (mm/dd/yy):  

Faculty approval date (mm/dd/yy):  

Senate Graduate & Research Council (SGRC) approval date (mm/dd/yy):  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12/06/23
12/04/23

01/16/24

Page 90 of 274



 

66 
 

 
 
Prior to form submission, review the content revision instructions. For questions about the 
form submission, contact Trevor Clews, Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs (GSPA).  
 

Faculty: Engineering     

Effective date:    Term: Winter Year: 2025 

 
Milestone 
Note: milestone changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program 

Revision Template. 

☐ New: Choose an item. 

☐ Inactivate: Choose an item.  

☐ Revise: from Choose an item. to Choose an item. 

 
Course 
Note: some course changes also require the completion/submission of the Graduate Studies Program 

Revision Template. 

☒ New: Complete all course elements below  

 

☐ Inactivate:    Complete the following course elements:  

  Course subject code, Course number, Course ID, Course title 
 

 ☐ Revise:  Complete all course elements below to reflect the proposed change(s) and 

identify the course elements being revised (e.g. Course description, Course 
title):  

 

  

Course elements (complete as indicated above. Review the glossary of terms for details on 
course elements)  
 
Course subject code: Choose an item. BME 
 
Course number: 603 
 
Course ID:  
 
Course title (max. 100 characters including spaces): Engineering Analysis of Living Cells 
 
Course short title (max. 30 characters including spaces): Eng Analysis of Living Cells 
 
Grading basis: Numerical  
 
Course credit weight: 0.50  
 
Course consent required: Not required  
 

Page 91 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies/about/people/tclews
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/graduate-studies-postdoctoral-affairs/faculty-and-staff/graduate-program-and-coursemilestone-changes
https://uwaterloo.ca/quest/graduate-students/glossary-of-terms


 

67 
 

Course description:  
Cell biology has reached a stage where it is in dire need of quantitative understanding. The vast 
amount of data gathered with the advance of experimental technologies, in the search for a general 
understanding of the complex cell mechanism at the molecular level, have often made the traditional 
way of direct interpretation impossible. Therefore, recent years have seen significant efforts made to 
understand these data with more sophisticated mathematical models, using fundamental physical laws 
and engineering analytic techniques. This course is an introduction to some of the successful 
achievements of these approaches, and the exciting potential outcomes of this line of research. 
 
Meet type(s): Lecture    Choose an item.    Choose an item.    Choose an item.  
 
Primary meet type: Lecture  
 
Delivery mode: On-campus  
 
Requisites:  
 

Special topics course:  Yes    ☐ No    ☒  

 

Cross-listed course:       Yes    ☐ No     ☒  

 
Course subject code(s) and number(s) to be cross-listed with and approval status:  
 
Sections combined/held with: ECE609 
 
Rationale for request: Core course in the new Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program. 
 
 
 
Form completed by:  

Department/School approval date (mm/dd/yy):  

Reviewed by GSPA (for GSPA use only) ☐  date (mm/dd/yy):  

Faculty approval date (mm/dd/yy):  

Senate Graduate & Research Council (SGRC) approval date (mm/dd/yy):  

 
 
 
 

12/06/24

12/04/24
01/16/24

Page 92 of 274



 
NEW PROGRAM PROPOSAL* 

MASC AND PHD 
IN 

BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING 
 

Submitted to the 
Ontario Universities Council on Quality Assurance 

VOLUME II – FACULTY CURRICULA VITAE  

JANUARY 2024 
  

Page 93 of 274



Curricula Vitae – MASc and PhD in Biomedical Engineering 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Contents 
Summary of Faculty Qualifications ................................................................................................ 3 

Curricula Vitae ................................................................................................................................ 4 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94 of 274



Curricula Vitae – MASc and PhD in Biomedical Engineering 

Summary of Faculty Qualifications 
 
This compilation of CVs is provided as evidence of the breadth and depth of biomedical 
engineering expertise, graduate level training and research being conducted at the University of 
Waterloo amongst the faculty members of the three partner departments of the proposed 
programs (Electrical and Computer Engineering, Mechanical and Mechatronics Engineering and 
Systems Design Engineering). Many faculty members from other departments in the Faculty of 
Engineering and from other faculties such as the Faculty of Health and Faculty of Science will 
also contribute to the proposed program at Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program faculty 
members. 
 
The list includes faculty members of all ranks (lecturers, assistant, associate, and full professors) 
with expertise spanning the five proposed research areas: Biomaterials, tissue engineering and 
drug delivery; Biomechanics and rehabilitation; Biomedical signals and devices; Biomedical 
imaging technology; Biomedical informatics. While many of the faculty members hold PhDs in 
traditional engineering disciplines, many of these conducted biomedical engineering research 
during their graduate studies. Five of the listed faculty members hold PhDs in biomedical 
engineering specifically. Furthermore, several faculty members hold PhDs in associated medical 
sciences, nanoscience, mathematics, and more. 
 
A survey of the CVs reveals outstanding scholarly records, exemplary pedagogical practices, 
depth and breadth of expertise in the field of biomedical engineering, and extensive 
supervisory experience complemented by relevant collaborations, leadership, service, industry 
experience and entrepreneurship. Furthermore, many of the faculty members receive research 
funding for their biomedical engineering research from major sources like NSERC, CIHR and 
many other relevant sources including MITACS, industry, and disease specific and patient 
advocacy groups. 
 
 
  

Page 95 of 274



Curricula Vitae – MASc and PhD in Biomedical Engineering 

Curricula Vitae 
 

Abdel-Rahman, Eihab 

Arami, Arash  

Burns, Catherine 

Chandrashekar, Naveen 

Clausi, David 

Cronin, Duane 

Dautenhahn, Kerstin 

Eliasmith, Chris 

Fieguth, Paul 

Fidan, Baris 

Gorbet, Maud 

Haji Reza, Parsin 

Jennifer Howcroft 

Karim, Karim S. 

Khamesee, Behrad 

Kwon, HJ 

Lien, Fue-Sang 

MacDonald, Ewen 

Maftoon, Nima 

Magdanz, Veronika 

McLachlin, Stewart 

McPhee, John 

Mitra, Sushanta 

Musselman, Kevin 

Nehaniv, Chrystopher 

Nuckols, Richard 

Pan, Zhao 

Peterson, Sean 

Poudineh, Mahla 

Page 96 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/abdel-rahman-eihab-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/arash-arami-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/burns-catherine-cv-volume-ll.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/chandrashekar-naveen-cv-volume-ii.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/david-clausi-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/duane-cronin-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/kerstin-dautenhahn-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/chris-eliasmith-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/paul-fieguth-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/baris-fidan-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/maud-gorbet-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/parsin-haji-reza-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/jenny-howcroft-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/karim-karim-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/behrad-khamesee-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/hj-kwon-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/fue-sang-lien-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/ewen-macdonald-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/maftoon-nima-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/veronika-magdanz-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/stewart-mclachlin-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/john-mcphee-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/sushanta-mitra-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/kevin-musselman-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/chrystopher-nehaniv-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/richard-nuckols-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/zhao-pan-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/sean-peterson-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/mahla-poudlineh-cv-ws.pdf


Curricula Vitae – MASc and PhD in Biomedical Engineering 

Ren, Carolyn 

Tripp, Bryan 

Tung, James 

Vlasea, Mihaela  

Willett, Thomas 

Wong, Alexander 

Wu, Yimin 

Xie, Liang-Liang 

Yarusevych, Serhiy  

Yavuz, Mustafa 

Yeow, John  

Yu, Alfred 

Zelek, John 

 

Page 97 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/carolyn-ren-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/bryan-tripp-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/james-tung-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/mihaela-vlasea-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/willett-thomas-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/alexander-wong-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/yimin-wu-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/liang-liang-xie-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/serhiy-yarusevych-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/mustafa-yavuz-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/yeow-john-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/alfred-yu-cv-24.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/biomedical-engineering/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/john-zelek-cv-24.pdf


EXTERNAL REVIEWERS’ REPORT FOR

NEW PROGRAMS

Reviewers’ Report on the MASc and PhD Program in Biomedical Engineering at the University of
Waterloo.

Sarah Wells Adrian Chan
School of Biomedical Engineering Dept of Systems and Computer Engineering
Dalhousie University Carleton University
Dentistry Building
Room 5197 - 5981 University Avenue
PO BOX 15000
Halifax, NS B3H 4R2

1125 Colonel By Drive
Ottawa, ON K1S 5B6

sarah.wells@dal.ca adrianchan@cunet.carleton.ca

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The proposed thesis-based graduate program (MASc and PhD) in Biomedical Engineering (BME)
is a culmination of over 15 years of careful planning, leveraging existing resources and expertise
from the institution's undergraduate BME program. The program will be delivered via a collegial
partnership among three core engineering programs, supported by a funding agreement and
plans for future expansion of faculty and staff. Addressing an urgent need, it aims to attract and
retain high-quality students, projecting an enrollment of over 100 students. This innovative
program is a logical addition to the University of Waterloo, offering an "engineering-focused"
curriculum with potential ties to commercialization and experiential learning opportunities
beyond the thesis area.

The Master’s and PhD curricula map closely to well-defined program level learning outcomes
that are appropriate for a biomedical engineering graduate degree. The program is designed to
give students exposure to the breadth of biomedical engineering through the core courses and
seminar series and depth within a field through a rich suite of field-specific courses and thesis
research. The innovative PACE module curriculum emphasizes scientific communication,
research skills, and professionalism, ensuring adaptability year-to-year. Graduate student
support and formative feedback are ensured through regular, structured advisory committee
feedback. The reviewers agree with the Provost’s description of the program as a “great
investment in curricular evolution”, and we commend the team for their forward-thinking
approach.

External Reviewers’ Report for Cyclical Program Reviews

Page 1 of 11

Page 98 of 274



1. DETAILS OF THE SITE VISIT

Was the site visit: In person: ☒ Virtual site visit:☐ Desk Review: ☐

If the review was conducted either virtually or via desk review, was this format agreed to by

both external reviewers?

n/a

Was sufficient rationale provided by the Provost/Provost’s delegate for an off-site visit?

n/a

1.1 Outline of the Visit

● With whom did you meet?
● What facilities were seen?
● Discuss any other activities relevant to the appraisal.
● Attach or insert site visit schedule

We met with:
1) administrative leadership (e.g., Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program Director;

Chairs of the three administrative departments; Associate Deans; Dean of Engineering;
Associate Vice-President, Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs; Vice-President
(Academic) and Provost)

2) biomedical engineering faculty
3) library staff
4) professional staff (e.g., Administrative Officer; Academic Services Coordinators; Lab

Director)
5) graduate students

We visited various laboratories, including faculty laboratories in engineering (e.g., Tung, Karim,
McLachlin, Arami, Willett, Maftoon, Gorbet, Magdanz, Samara), Kinesiology, and Optometry.
We also had a tour of the IDEATION Lab and Anatomy Lab.

A copy of the Site Visit Schedule is attached to this report.

1.2 Effectiveness

In order to continuously improve the effectiveness and efficiency of site visits, please comment

on the following:

● How effective was the self-study in preparing you for the visit?
● How could the logistics of the visit be improved?

The self-study adequately prepared us for the program visit.

The logistics of the visit were good. We did note that our host experienced some minor
challenges with short-term parking while shuttling us across campus; however, this did not

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 2 of 11

Page 99 of 274

https://oucqa.ca/framework/definitions/


impact our visit.

2. EVALUATION CRITERIA (QAF 5.1.3.1)

2.1 Objectives

For the following Yes/No questions, if ‘No’, please explain.

● Are the program’s objectives clearly described? YES

● Is the degree nomenclature appropriate, given the program’s objectives? YES

● Is the program consistent with the University of Waterloo’s mission and relevant
academic strategic plans? YES

2.2 Program Requirements (QAF 5.1.3.1.2)

NOTE: The Quality Assurance Framework requires a clear distinction between program objectives,

program-level learning outcomes, and Degree Level Expectations. Please see the Guidance on

Program Objectives and Program-level Learning Outcomes for details on the distinction.

For the following Yes/No questions, if ‘No’, please explain.

● Are the program’s structure and the requirements to meet program objectives and
program-level learning outcomes appropriate? YES

● Are the program’s structure, requirements and program-level learning outcomes
o in alignment with the University of Waterloo’s Undergraduate or Graduate

Degree Level Expectations? YES
o clear and appropriately communicated? YES

● Is the mode of delivery appropriate in facilitating students’ successful completion of the
program-level learning outcomes? YES

● What are the ways in which the curriculum addresses the current state of the discipline
or area of study? Please explain.

Biomedical engineering is still a relatively young discipline, compared to the more traditional
engineering areas (e.g., civil, mechanical, electrical, etc.). Biomedical engineering is the
application of scientific and engineering principles to medicine and biology; it is broad and is
inherently interdisciplinary.

The proposed program is organized with five research fields:

1. Biomaterials, Tissue Engineering, and Drug Delivery
2. Biomechanics and Rehabilitation
3. Biomedical Signals and Devices
4. Biomedical Imaging Technology

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 3 of 11

Page 100 of 274

https://oucqa.ca/framework/5-1-3-1-evaluation-criteria/
https://oucqa.ca/guide/program-objectives-and-program-level-learning-outcomes/
https://uwaterloo.ca/strategic-plan/
https://oucqa.ca/framework/5-1-3-1-evaluation-criteria/
https://oucqa.ca/framework/definitions/
https://oucqa.ca/guide/program-objectives-and-program-level-learning-outcomes/
https://uwaterloo.ca/academic-program-reviews/program-information/undergraduate-degree-level-expectations
https://uwaterloo.ca/academic-program-reviews/degree-level-expectations/graduate-degree-level-expectations


5. Biomedical Informatics

The proposed program provides students exposure to the breadth of biomedical engineering
through the core courses and seminar series and depth within a field through the field-specific
course and thesis research. Allowing for 2 elective courses permits flexibility for students to
individualize their course selection appropriate for their research needs and interests. The PACE
Modules provide students an excellent opportunity to further develop professional, technical,
and research skills. The collaborations with the School of Pharmacy, the School of Optometry
and Vision Science, and the Department of Kinesiology and Health Sciences, as well as existing
research collaborations with hospitals and medical doctors, including locally (e.g., Grand River
Hospital, Saint Mary’s Hospital), provide opportunities for interaction with clinical researchers
and practitioners. The outstanding Anatomy lab teaching facility provides students with
valuable training in human anatomy. There also appears to be good existing collaborations with
industry, and support for commercialization efforts.

● Do the program name and credential earned (e.g., BA, MSc, PhD, etc.)
o reflect the content of the program? YES
o advance the program’s objectives? YES

2.3 Program requirements for graduate programs only (QAF 5.1.3.1.3):

For the following Yes/No questions, if ‘No’, please explain.

● Is there a clear rationale for the program length that ensures that program requirements
can be reasonably completed within the proposed time period? YES

● Is there evidence that graduate students required to take a minimum of two-thirds of
the course requirements from among graduate-level courses? YES

● Is there a clear indication of the nature and suitability of the major research
requirements for degree completion? YES

2.4 Assessment of teaching and learning (QAF 5.1.3.1.4)

NOTE: Programs should ensure that the plans for monitoring and assessing student achievement

provide an assessment of students currently enrolled as well as post-graduation metrics. Please see

Guidance on Assessment of Teaching and Learning for further details and examples of measures for

assessing teaching and learning that meet the requirements of the Quality Assurance Framework.

For the following Yes/No questions, if ‘No’, please explain.

● Are the methods used to assess student achievement of the program-level learning
outcomes and Degree Level Expectations appropriate and effective? Yes

Please comment on the appropriateness and effectiveness of the plans in place to monitor
and assess:

The overall quality of the program;

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 4 of 11

Page 101 of 274

https://oucqa.ca/framework/5-1-3-1-evaluation-criteria/
https://oucqa.ca/framework/5-1-3-1-evaluation-criteria/
https://oucqa.ca/guide/assessment-of-teaching-and-learning-2-1-4-1-and-5-1-3-1-4/


i. Whether the program is achieving in practice its proposed objectives;
ii. Whether its students are achieving the program-level learning outcomes; and
iii. How the resulting information will be documented and subsequently used to inform

continuous program improvement.

The self-study notes, “The primary objective of the proposed BME Graduate Program is to
produce comprehensively trained and technically outstanding master’s and doctoral graduates
in biomedical engineering who are prepared to excel and lead in all sectors of
society—postsecondary education, industry, not-for-profit, government and more.” The
program design appears to meet this objective, with program-level learning outcomes
appropriate for a biomedical engineering graduate degree and a mapping of how the program
activities intend to achieve these learning outcomes, and where they will be assessed.

Program assessment is the responsibility of the BME Graduate Program Committee and BME
Graduate Program Director. Assessment of student learning will be derived from a variety of
program activities, including courses, comprehensive exams, proposal defenses, end-of-term
reports, annual committee assessments, dissertations, oral defenses, and PACE module
milestones. Program-level assessment will occur through analysis of key performance indicators
including student, stakeholder, and alumni surveys and student evaluations of courses and
instruction. The BME Graduate Program Committee intends to meet monthly, which enables
good oversight of the program implementation, program assessment, and the ability to enact
curricular changes.

It is noted that this program appears to be quite unique to the University of Waterloo, being
perhaps the first program to be an administrative partnership across three departments (i.e.,
Department of Systems Design Engineering, Department of Electrical and Computing
Engineering, and Department of Mechanical and Mechatronics Engineering). Programs that
span and are jointly administered can result in additional complexities and challenges; however,
the three administrative departments all appear supportive of the proposed program, with a
good commitment toward delivering a quality program.

2.5 Admission requirements (QAF 5.1.3.1.5)

For the following Yes/No questions, if ‘No’, please explain.

● Are admission requirements appropriate, given the program’s objectives and
program-level learning outcomes? Yes

● Are there any applicable alternative admission requirements, including how the program
recognizes prior work or learning experience, and if so, are they appropriate? Yes

● For undergraduate programs, if applicable, is there a meaningful path for entry outside
of standard 1st year entry (e.g., 2+2 programs or programs that require prior study)? Yes

2.6 Resources (QAF 5.1.3.1.6)

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 5 of 11

Page 102 of 274

https://oucqa.ca/framework/5-1-3-1-evaluation-criteria/
https://oucqa.ca/framework/5-1-3-1-evaluation-criteria/


NOTE: Recommendations on issues such as faculty complement, space requirements
and/or other elements that are within the purview of the university’s internal budgetary
decision-making process must be tied directly to issue of program quality or sustainability.

For the following Yes/No questions, if ‘No’, please explain.

Given the program’s class sizes and cohorts as well as its program-level learning outcomes:

a) Is there a sufficient number and quality of core faculty who are competent to teach
and/or supervise sufficient to achieve the goals of the program and foster the
appropriate academic environment? Yes

b) When adjunct/sessional faculty play a large role in the delivery of the program, is their
role suitable? Are plans in place to ensure the sustainability of the program and the
quality of student experience and if so, are these suitable? Yes. We note that there does
not appear to be any plans for adjunct/sessional faculty to play a large role in the
delivery of the program.

c) Is the provision of supervision of experiential learning opportunities adequate? Yes.

d) Comment on the administrative unit’s planned use of existing human, physical and
financial resources, including implications for other existing programs at the university.

The Department of Systems Design Engineering is serving as the administrative home for the

program, as it currently manages the undergraduate BME program. The self-study notes the

hiring of BME Graduate Program Coordinator (100% FTE) to support the coordination of the

administrative program work including recruiting, admissions, advising, and approvals related

courses, theses, defenses, and milestones. This hiring should be completed as soon as the

program is launched and taking on new students, as the current staff in the Department of

Systems Design Engineering appear to be at their capacity already. We believe that even the

additional load, resulting from transfers of existing students from other departments, may pose

challenges if this new hire is not yet in place. Contingency plans, including potential

administrative support from other departments, should be considered.

The self-study notes the hiring of a Graduate Program Manager (50% FTE) to jointly support the

BME and SYDE Graduate Offices, with duties including the content and delivery of the PACE

modules. We believe that the program should consider a 100% FTE to appropriately attend to

the content and delivery of the PACE modules. The program should also consider this position

to be an instructor or contract instructor position.

e) Are there adequate resources available to sustain the quality of scholarship and research
activities produced by students, including library support, information technology
support, and laboratory access?

Yes, the resources appear adequate. There are plans for additional hires related to the BME

graduate program. It is important that such new hires have access to laboratory space and are

supported to build up their laboratories.

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 6 of 11

Page 103 of 274



There are a number of Biomedical Engineering Graduate Program Electives that are not coded

as BME graduate courses. The program should ensure that BME students have some level of

guaranteed access to these electives; otherwise, graduate electives that are popular may reach

capacity, and if they prioritize students in other programs could effectively exclude BME

students from these electives.

2.7 Resources for Graduate Programs Only (QAF 5.1.3.1.7):

For the following Yes/No questions, if ‘No’, please explain.

Given the program’s class sizes and cohorts as well as its program-level learning outcomes:

● Does the faculty have the recent research or professional/clinical expertise needed to
sustain the program, promote innovation and foster an appropriate intellectual climate?

● Where appropriate, is financial assistance to students sufficient to ensure adequate
quality and numbers of students?

Yes, the faculty has the recent research or professional/clinical expertise needed, and financial

assistance to students is sufficient.

The program should ensure the internal funding mechanisms do not result in BME students

“falling through the cracks”. For example, some graduate scholarships (e.g., OGS) are allocated

to the departments, and there will be some BME students from the Department of Systems

Design Engineering, which is the department that is the administrative home, but there will also

be BME students from other departments (e.g., Department of Electrical & Computer

Engineering and Department Mechanical and Mechatronics Engineering); perhaps BME should

be providing a separate allocation, similar to a department allocation.

International master’s students face a high differential tuition fee, and unlike international PhD

students, these differential fees are not offset; this is not specific to the BME program and is the

practice across the university. There is the International Master's Award of Excellence (IMAE),

which offsets the differential tuition fee for some international master’s students. The Faculty of

Engineering has also established fellowships to financially support its graduate students. The

BME program should be provided equitable access to such funding support opportunities.

Similarly, the program should ensure that TA allocations are appropriately available and

distributed for the BME students.

● Are supervisory loads adequately distributed, given the qualifications and appointment
status of the faculty?

Yes, the supervisory loads are adequately distributed. It is noted that the BME program includes
faculty members outside of the Faculty of Engineering, who do not have “Engineering Status”,
which makes them ineligible to sole-supervise BME graduate students; this includes faculty who
may have an engineering background including graduate-level training in biomedical
engineering. While such faculty are able to co-supervise students (including having a “nominal”

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 7 of 11

Page 104 of 274

https://oucqa.ca/framework/5-1-3-1-evaluation-criteria/


co-supervisor within the Faculty of Engineering), the program should consider a pathway to
enable sole-supervision by such faculty members when appropriate.

2.8 Quality and other indicators (QAF 5.1.3.1.8)

Please comment on:

● Quality of the faculty (e.g., qualifications, funding, honours, awards, research, innovation
and scholarly record, appropriateness of collective faculty expertise to contribute
substantively to the program and commitment to student mentoring).

NOTE: Please avoid using references to individuals. Instead, aim to assess the ability of

the faculty as a whole to deliver the program and focus on the areas of the program(s)

that the university has chosen to emphasize, in view of the expertise and scholarly

productivity of the faculty.

● Any other evidence that the program and faculty ensure the intellectual quality of the
student experience.

The program aligns well with the University’s research strength and strategic directions,
including a focus on health technologies. While the BME program will be a new program, there
is a strong history of BME research already established, including funding, research
infrastructure, honours, awards, and publications. There is also a good record of graduate
students engaged in BME research; such students have been enrolled in other degree programs
(e.g., Systems Design Engineering, Electrical & Computer Engineering, Mechanical &
Mechatronics Engineering), which at times can be an awkward fit and the BME program would
improve the student experience.

3. ADDITIONAL INSIGHTS
Please comment on:

● Include any additional assessment of the New Program Proposal as a whole, as appropriate.

● Acknowledge any clearly innovative aspects of the proposed program together with
recommendations on any essential or otherwise desirable modifications to it.

We believe that the PACE longitudinal curriculum provides an innovative aspect of the program,
which can greatly enrich student learning. PACE provides opportunities for experiential learning
outside of thesis research, and opportunities to develop professional and leadership skills in a
structured manner. There is potential to leverage existing expertise, such as those of the
librarians who have delivered guest lectures in graduate courses; integrating this into the PACE
curriculum can help ensure all students have such learning opportunities. The self-study
indicated a 50% FTE hire for PACE but we believe a 100% FTE hire is required, and consideration
should be made to consider an instructor hire (or contractor instructor).

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 8 of 11

Page 105 of 274

https://oucqa.ca/framework/5-1-3-1-evaluation-criteria/


● Any other issues/comments, as applicable.

We believe that building a strong graduate community for BME students is important. This
includes the formation of a new BME graduate student association, which engages students as
partners in shaping the new program and provides opportunities for “cohort building”. This
appears to be aligned with the program’s intent, and we encourage efforts to ensure that this
happens immediately, so that it is a part of the program from the start.

With respect to Tri-Council funding, the Faculty of Engineering is naturally focused on NSERC
funding; however, CIHR funding should expand with the BME program. As the University does
not have a medical school, the University, and the Faculty of Engineering in particular may have
difficulties with CIHR funding without focused support from the research offices (e.g., seed and
bridge funding for pilot data that can help CIHR applications, research support staff with CIHR
expertise). CIHR funding can have an indirect impact on BME students.

4. SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Provide a brief summary of the review. Please include commentary on any clearly innovative aspects of

the proposed program together with recommendations on any essential or otherwise desirable

modifications to it, as applicable.

Recommendations that are clear, concise, and actionable are the most helpful. Please include specific

steps to be taken on any essential or otherwise desirable modifications to the proposed program.

Please list your recommendations in order of priority:

Based on the self-study and site visit, we believe the proposed program is a well-thought out
program that is able to meet its objectives and deliver a quality learning experience for
students. The BME graduate program is a natural addition to the existing BME undergraduate
program. It builds upon a strong history of BME research activities. The program has the
necessary faculty and research infrastructure, as well as a good plan to provide the appropriate
professional staff to support the program. It wisely has collaborations outside of the Faculty of
Engineering, including the Department of Kinesiology and Health Sciences and the School of
Optometry and Vision Science. While the University does not have a medical school, the
program plans to leverage existing collaborations with local hospitals, as well as other nearby
hospitals (e.g., Toronto and London).

We have 12 recommendations, which we have ordered from highest to lowest priority:

1. Ensure the new BME Graduate Program Coordinator is hired before new students are
recruited. The program intends to hire a new BME Graduate Program Coordinator, which
is necessary as the Graduate Program Coordinators within the Department of Systems
Design Engineering are already at capacity. There is also a concern with workload if the
number of transfers of existing students into the BME graduate program is large. If the

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 9 of 11

Page 106 of 274



new BME Graduate Program Coordinator is not in place to handle these transfers, the
program should have a contingency plan (e.g., administrative assistance from the other
two administrative departments.

2. Hire a 100% FTE Graduate Program Manager who implements the PACE Modules. The
program proposed to hire a 50% FTE Graduate Program Manager; however, we believe

that this should be a 100% FTE given the importance and scope of work for the PACE

Modules. In addition, the program should consider hiring an instructor (or contract

instructor) for this position.

3. Increase the term duration for the inaugural BME Program Director. The Program

Director position is proposed to be a 3-year term. While this is reasonable once the

program has reached steady-state, we believe that the inaugural BME Program Director

should have a long-term (at a minimum, long enough to see the first cohort of students

through) given the dynamics when starting up a new program.

4. Establish a BME graduate student society with the launch of the program. A BME

graduate student society will help engage students in contributing to shaping the

program and building the community of BME students. Active encouragement by the

program to establish the society, and appropriate supports (e.g., financial support,

space), can help ensure the society is present for the launch of the program.

5. Embed EDIA, information literacy, and team building into the PACE modules. The PACE

modules are described as providing “training in the areas of research design and

planning, academic integrity, professional presentation, and scientific writing. PhD

students will receive additional training in developing research plans and in writing grant

and business proposals.” We believe that it is important for the program to include

aspects of EDIA, information literacy, and team building in the program. The program

could leverage existing programs and expertise at the University, such as librarians who

have experience in graduate-level training for information literacy.

6. Ensure funding allocations for BME students. Within the Faculty of Engineering, various

funding and scholarships are allocated by department (e.g., OGS, IMAE). As BME

students will be associated with various departments, there is a danger that they may

face inequitable access to funding and scholarships. The program should ensure an

equitable allocation process (e.g., a separate allocation to the BME program, similar to a

departmental allocation).

7. Provide BME graduate fellowships. The Faculty of Engineering has fellowships that help

financially support its graduate students. Similar graduate fellowships should be made

available for BME graduate students.

8. Ensure sufficient field-specific courses are offered annually for each of the 5 fields. The
field-specific courses are comprised of courses from multiple departments. Without

appropriate coordination, this may result in an academic year with insufficient

field-specific courses available in one or more fields. Coordination by the Program

Director and Program Committee could avoid this. The program may also consider

establishing an introductory graduate course for each field that is delivered annually;

this introductory field-specific course may be an existing, modified, or new course.

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 10 of 11

Page 107 of 274



9. Establish a plan and process for TA assignments for BME students. Historically, there
has been an alignment between a graduate student’s academic program and an

undergraduate program within the same department, which simplifies TA assignments;

however, the graduate BME students will be associated with multiple departments,

while the undergraduate BME program only resides with the Department of Systems

Design Engineering. A plan and process should be established to help ensure effective

and equitable TA assignments.

10. Enhance CIHR research support. The BME program provides greater opportunity for

CIHR funding; however, acquiring CIHR funding is challenging without appropriate

support (e.g., CIHR knowledge and expertise within the research offices, funding for

pilot data).

11. Consider an exception for “Engineering Status” to allow BME faculty outside of the
Faculty of Engineering to sole-supervise graduate students. The Faculty of Engineering

requires “Engineering Status” to sole-supervise graduate students within its programs,

which precludes BME faculty, outside of the Faculty of Engineering, who may have an

engineering background, including graduate-level training in biomedical engineering.

While such faculty are able to co-supervise students (including having a “nominal”

co-supervisor within the Faculty of Engineering), the program should consider a pathway

to enable sole supervision by such faculty members when appropriate.

12. Create a plan for DWE Wet Lab Hub infrastructure upgrades. The DWE Wet Lab Hub is

located in the Douglas Wright Engineering Building, which is the oldest building on the

University campus. As a result, there are some concerns with the laboratory

environment (e.g., temperature control, humidity control, backup power). A plan should

be established to upgrade the DWE Wet Lab Hub infrastructure so that it is in line with

other BME research laboratories; this may include moving the laboratories into a newer

building.

Signature:

Signature:

Date: May 8, 2024

External Reviewers’ Report for New Programs

Page 11 of 11

Page 108 of 274



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

Biomedical Engineering (MASc and PhD) 
Departments of Systems Design Engineering (SYDE), 
Electrical and Computer Engineering (ECE), and 
Mechatronics Engineering (MME) 
Faculty of Engineering 
 
 

NEW Academic Program - Site Visit 
April 24-25, 2024 

Site Visit Team 
Dr. Sarah Wells, Dalhousie University, Nova Scotia 
Dr. Adrian Chan, Carleton University, Ontario 
Dr. Steven Young, associate professor, School of Environment, University of Waterloo 
 
 
Date (04/24/24) 

8:30 – 8:45 a.m. Transportation from hotel to UW Tom Willett pickup 
8:45 – 9:45 a.m. Breakfast Meeting with Site Visit Team: Jeff Casello, 

Associate Vice-President, Graduate Studies and 
Postdoctoral Affairs; Mary Wells, Dean, Faculty of 
Engineering; Tom Willett, Director, BME Grad Program; 
Lisa Aultman-Hall, Chair, Systems Design Engineering; 
Kankar Bhattacharya, Chair, Electrical & Computer 
Engineering; Michael Collins, Chair, Mechanical and 
Mechatronics Engineering. 

NH 3043 
 

9:45 – 10:15 a.m. Travel to E5/E7 with Tom Willett, situate in 6111 E5-6111 
10:15 – 11:15 a.m. E6/E7/E3 Labs Tour: Parsin Haji Reza (Ben), James Tung 

(Alyson), Karim Karim, Stewart McLachlin, Arash Arami, 
RoboHub 

Tom Willett will give 
the tour, descending 
from the 6th floor. 

11:15 – 11:30 a.m. Break E5-6111 
11:30 – 12:00 p.m. Meeting with Associate Deans: David Clausi, Associate 

Dean - Research & External Partnerships; Siva 
Sivoththaman, Associate Dean Graduate Studies and 
Postdoctoral Affairs 

E5-6111 

12:00– 1:30 p.m. Lunch with Mary Wells, Dean of Engineering E5-6111 
1:30 – 2:45 p.m. Meeting with Library: Jennifer Haas, Head, Information 

Services and Resources, Davis; Kate Mercer, Liaison 
Librarian 

E5-6111 

2:45 – 3:15 p.m. Meeting with BME Grad faculty members: Bryan Tripp, 
SYDE; Stewart McLachlin, MME; Veronika Magdanz, 
SYDE; John McPhee, SYDE; Nima Maftoon, SYDE 

E5-6111 

Page 109 of 274



 

3:15 – 3:30 p.m. Break E5-6111 
3:30 – 4:00 p.m. Meeting with partner department chairs and director: 

Tom Willett, Director, BME Grad Program; 
Lisa Aultman-Hall, Chair, Systems Design Engineering; 
Kankar Bhattacharya, Chair, Electrical & Computer 
Engineering; Michael Collins, Chair, Mechanical and 
Mechatronics Engineering. 

E5-6111 

4:00 – 4:30 p.m. Meeting with BME Grad faculty members: Chris Nielsen, 
ECE; Maud Gorbet, SYDE; Ewen MacDonald, SYDE; Clark 
Dickerson, KIN (tentative) 

E5-6111 

4:30 p.m. Transportation from UW to hotel Tom Willett drops off 
at hotel 

 
Date (04/25/24) 

8:30 – 8:45 a.m. Transportation from hotel to UW Tom Willett picks up 
8:45 – 9:00 a.m. Coffee at Starbuck’s (Tom Willett) BMH/Health 
9:00 – 9:30 a.m. Kinesiology & Anatomy Lab Tour: Tamara Maciel, 

Program Director, School of Anatomy; Clark Dickerson, 
Professor & Canada Research Chair in Shoulder 
Mechanics; Tom Willett 

BMH/Health 

9:40 – 10:10 a.m. Tour of Optometry labs/research (Stan Woo, Kelsey 
Gagnon; still developing); Tom Willett 

Optometry/CORE 

10:20 – 10:50 a.m. DWE BME space and labs tour: Tom Willett, Nima 
Maftoon, Maud Gorbet, Veronika Magdanz, Bisan 
Samara 

DWE 3rd and 2nd floor 

10:55 – 11:15 a.m. IDEATION Lab Tour: Mahla Poudineh (ECE), Assistant 
Professor & Director of IDEATION Lab. Tour will be given 
by graduate students (Elham, Hesam & Sid); Tom Willett 

QNC 3622 & 3508 

11:15 – 11:30 a.m. Break and walk over to Needles Hall  
11:30 – 12:00 p.m. Meeting with James W.E. Rush, Vice-President, Academic 

and Provost 
NH 3001 

12 – 12:15 p.m. Walk over to E5-6111  
12:15 – 1:00 p.m. Lunch with graduate students  E5-6111 
1:00 - 1:30 p.m. Time for guests to eat their own catered lunch E5-6111 
1:30 – 2:00 p.m. Meeting with Academic Services Coordinators: Shannel 

Noseworthy, Masters students; Anna Cunningham, PhD 
students 

E5-6111 

2:00 – 2:30 p.m. Meeting with senior department staff: Sarah Landy, 
Administrative Office; Eric Kubica, Lab Director 

E5-6111 

2:30 – 2:45 p.m.  Break E5-6111 
2:45 – 3:15 p.m. Wrap up with Tom Willett, Director, BME Grad Program E5-6111 

Page 110 of 274



 

3:15 – 4:00 p.m. Site Visit Team review time and walk to Needles Hall E5-6111 and Tom 
Willett drive to NH 

4:00 – 4:30 p.m. Exit Meeting with Jeff Casello, Associate Vice-President, 
Graduate Studies and Postdoctoral Affairs  

NH 2219 Jeff’s Office 

4:30 p.m. Transportation from UW to hotel/airport Tom Willett drop off at 
hotel 

 

Page 111 of 274



   

May 2024 Program Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 1 of 6 
June 2015     Page 1 of 6 
 

Program Response to  
External Reviewers’ Report  
Biomedical Engineering (MASc/PhD) 
May 2024 

 
 
General Commentary 
The recommendations fit the program and our plans/aspirations very well. It is impossible 
currently to fully implement recommendation 3 and 12.  
 
Program Response to External Reviewers’ Recommendations  
 

1. Ensure the new BME Graduate Program Coordinator is hired before new students 
are recruited. The program intends to hire a new BME Graduate Program 
Coordinator, which is necessary as the Graduate Program Coordinators within the 
Department of Systems Design Engineering are already at capacity. There is also a 
concern with workload if the number of transfers of existing students into the BME 
graduate program is large. If the new BME Graduate Program Coordinator is not in place 
to handle these transfers, the program should have a contingency plan (e.g., administrative 
assistance from the other two administrative departments. 
 
Response 
We currently aspire to hire a new BME Graduate Program Coordinator before new students 
are recruited to the program. The current average number of graduate students per 
coordinator in the Faculty of Engineering is 100 students. Therefore, hiring this coordinator 
before the program starts will be consistent with Faculty of Engineering norms based on the 
estimated steady state enrollment. 

 
2. Hire a 100% FTE Graduate Program Manager who implements the PACE Modules. The 

program proposed to hire a 50% FTE Graduate Program Manager; however, we believe that 
this should be a 100% FTE given the importance and scope of work for the PACE Modules. In 
addition, the program should consider hiring an instructor (or contract instructor) for this 
position 

 

Page 112 of 274



   

May 2024 Program Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 2 of 6 
June 2015     Page 2 of 6 
 

Response 
The BME Grad Program agrees with this recommendation. The current plan is to hire a 
program manager with instructor qualifications/experience on a 100% FTE contract. 

 
4. Establish a BME graduate student society with the launch of the program. A BME graduate 

student society will help engage students in contributing to shaping the program and 
building the community of BME students. Active encouragement by the program to establish 
the society, and appropriate supports (e.g., financial support, space), can help ensure the 
society is present for the launch of the program. 
 
Response 
This is our intention. Indeed, we have included financial support for this society in our 2024-
2025 budget. Once a student body is established, the director and graduate coordinator will 
work with student representatives to establish the BME Graduate Student Society. 

 
5. Embed EDIA, information literacy, and team building into the PACE modules. The 

PACE modules are described as providing “training in the areas of research design 
and planning, academic integrity, professional presentation, and scientific writing. 
PhD students will receive additional training in developing research plans and in 
writing grant and business proposals.” We believe that it is important for the 
program to include aspects of EDIA, information literacy, and team building in the 
program. The program could leverage existing programs and expertise at the 
University, such as librarians who have experience in graduate-level training for 
information literacy. 
 
Response 
The BME Grad Program agrees and notes that the resources do indeed already exist on 
campus. The PACE Graduate Program Manager will be tasked with incorporating these and 
other subjects into the PACE module as it is developed.  

 
6. Ensure funding allocations for BME students. Within the Faculty of Engineering, various 

funding and scholarships are allocated by department (e.g., OGS, IMAE). As BME students 
will be associated with various departments, there is a danger that they may face 
inequitable access to funding and scholarships. The program should ensure an equitable 
allocation process (e.g., a separate allocation to the BME program, similar to a departmental 
allocation). 

 
 

Page 113 of 274



   

May 2024 Program Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 3 of 6 
June 2015     Page 3 of 6 
 

Response 
The interim BME director agrees with this recommendation and the inaugural director will 
ensure that BME graduate students will not be considered ‘second class students’ within 
the Faculty of Engineering nor within their home departments, which are determined by the 
home department of their supervisor.  
 
Note that all thesis/research graduate students at the University of Waterloo receive at 
least a minimum stipend dictated by their Faculty. In the Faculty of Engineering, the new 
minimum stipend requirement as of Spring 2024 is $30,000 per year. This does not include 
what the student may make as a teaching assistant (approximately $7,500 per term). 
 
Nominations for the various provincial and national scholarships are based on academic 
standing within each home department. All BME graduate students will be associated with 
home departments, and BME students will be treated as that department’s students for this 
purpose. This is the responsibility of each department’s Associate Chair of Graduate Studies. 
The BME director will monitor this and collect data to protect against inequity. 

 
7. Provide BME graduate fellowships. The Faculty of Engineering has fellowships that help 

financially support its graduate students. Similar graduate fellowships should be made 
available for BME graduate students. 
 
Response 
All graduate students in the Faculty of Engineering are treated the same. Furthermore, 
according to the new funding model (Spring 2024), fellowships have been replaced by a 
guaranteed minimum stipend of $30,000.00 per year for PhD students and $18,000 for 
MASc students. 

 
8. Ensure sufficient field-specific courses are offered annually for each of the 5 fields. The 

field-specific courses are comprised of courses from multiple departments. Without 
appropriate coordination, this may result in an academic year with insufficient field-specific 
courses available in one or more fields. Coordination by the Program Director and Program 
Committee could avoid this. The program may also consider establishing an introductory graduate 
course for each field that is delivered annually; this introductory field-specific course may be an 
existing, modified, or new course. 

 
Response 
The interim BME Grad Program Director thanks the reviewers for this recommendation and 
agrees completely. Both the core courses and field specific courses will be coordinated by 
the Director, members of the Program Committee, and the Graduate Program Coordinator. 

Page 114 of 274



   

May 2024 Program Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 4 of 6 
June 2015     Page 4 of 6 
 

Members of the Program Committee from the three partner departments will be tasked 
with advocating to their home department graduate coordinators to support this. 

 
 

9. Establish a plan and process for TA assignments for BME students. Historically, there has 
been an alignment between a graduate student’s academic program and an undergraduate 
program within the same department, which simplifies TA assignments; however, the 
graduate BME students will be associated with multiple departments, while the 
undergraduate BME program only resides with the Department of Systems Design 
Engineering. A plan and process should be established to help ensure effective and 
equitable TA assignments 

 
Response 
Certainly, it is our intention to establish a plan and process to ensure effective and equitable 
TA assignments. Furthermore, it is the department’s intention to hire BME Graduate 
students to TA for the BME undergraduate program. Currently, graduate students in the 
Faculty of Engineering may apply for TAships within their home department and in other 
departments. The current policy is to hire the best TA(s) for a given course. However, there 
is currently some uncertainty regarding how this will happen as graduate students are 
currently organizing towards unionization, which may complicate these processes.  A new 
software system for applications is expected to assist with achieving best TA assignments. 

 
10. Enhance CIHR research support. The BME program provides greater opportunity for CIHR 

funding; however, acquiring CIHR funding is challenging without appropriate support (e.g., 
CIHR knowledge and expertise within the research offices, funding for pilot data). 
 
Response 
The Dean of Engineering has made a commitment to advance CIHR funding support in 
partnership with the Office of Research and the Engineering Research Office. The need for 
CIHR knowledge and expertise within the Engineering Research Office will be a key 
consideration in the recruitment of the next Associate Dean of Research in the Faculty of 
Engineering. The SYDE department chair and BME Grad Director will advocate for the hiring 
of a grant writer with CIHR expertise and track record. 
 

11. Consider an exception for “Engineering Status” to allow BME faculty outside of 
the Faculty of Engineering to sole-supervise graduate students. The Faculty of 
Engineering requires “Engineering Status” to sole-supervise graduate students 
within its programs, which precludes BME faculty, outside of the Faculty of 
Engineering, who may have an engineering background, including graduate-level 

Page 115 of 274



   

May 2024 Program Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 5 of 6 
June 2015     Page 5 of 6 
 

training in biomedical engineering. While such faculty are able to co-supervise 
students (including having a “nominal” co-supervisor within the Faculty of 
Engineering), the program should consider a pathway to enable sole supervision by such 
faculty members when appropriate 

 
Response 
The BME Grad Director will pursue a mechanism for exemption to this challenging policy for 
those who otherwise qualify as full BME Graduate faculty members. The four criteria for 
BME Graduate Faculty membership are: 1) regular faculty membership status at the 
University of Waterloo, 2) approved to supervise graduate students within their home 
faculty (including Approved Doctoral Dissertation Supervisor status when supervising PhD 
students), 3) demonstrated evidence of expertise in Biomedical Engineering, and 4) 
evidence of conducting Biomedical Engineering research (past or current). 
 
The BME Grad Director will also seek to establish ‘adjunct statuses’ for those faculty 
members within engineering who do not currently qualify for sole supervise, such as 
adjunct faculty and research professors. 

 
 

Recommendations Not Selected for Implementation  
(Provide a rationale as to why a recommendation was not implemented) 
 
3. Increase the term duration for the inaugural BME Program Director. The Program Director 

position is proposed to be a 3-year term. While this is reasonable once the program has 
reached steady-state, we believe that the inaugural BME Program Director should have a 
long-term (at a minimum, long enough to see the first cohort of students through) given the 
dynamics when starting up a new program. 

 
Response 
A three-year term for a director is the norm in the Faculty of Engineering. Please note that 
these terms are renewable. 
 

12. Create a plan for DWE Wet Lab Hub infrastructure upgrades. The DWE Wet Lab Hub is 
located in the Douglas Wright Engineering Building, which is the oldest building on the 
University campus. As a result, there are some concerns with the laboratory environment 
(e.g., temperature control, humidity control, backup power). A plan should be established to 
upgrade the DWE Wet Lab Hub infrastructure so that it is in line with other BME research 
laboratories; this may include moving the laboratories into a newer building. 

 

Page 116 of 274



May 2024 Program Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs 
Page 6 of 6 

June 2015  Page 6 of 6 

Response 
The Department of Systems Design Engineering, the home department of the faculty 
members operating in the DWE Wet Lab Hub, is currently upgrading some research 
laboratory spaces and graduate student office spaces within this space. Given the age of the 
building, it is not possible to adequately upgrade the laboratory environment to standard 
specifications without staggering expense. 

The Faculty of Engineering is in the process of planning a new building, currently referred to 
as Engineering 8. A significant focus of this building will be on health initiatives, and we 
therefore anticipate that Biomedical Engineering research will feature prominently within 
this space. 

Signature of Approval 

Chair/Director Date 
June 17th, 2024Thomas Willett

Interim BME Grad Director

Page 117 of 274



May 2024 Deans Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs 
Page 1 of 6 

June 2015  Page 1 of 6 

Dean’s Response to External Reviewers’ Report

Biomedical Engineering (MASc/PhD) 

May 2024 

General Commentary 
The External Reviewers’ Report on our BME Graduate Program is aligned with our vision and 
future plans of supporting graduate programs of collaborative nature in key areas. We agree 
with most of the 12 recommendations, except for #3 and #12 that are rather operational issues 
and we will take a different approach to address them. 

Dean’s Response to External Reviewers’ Recommendations  

1. Ensure the new BME Graduate Program Coordinator is hired before new students are

recruited. The program intends to hire a new BME Graduate Program Coordinator, which is

necessary as the Graduate Program Coordinators within the Department of Systems Design

Engineering are already at capacity. There is also a concern with workload if the number of

transfers of existing students into the BME graduate program is large. If the new BME

Graduate Program Coordinator is not in place to handle these transfers, the program should

have a contingency plan (e.g., administrative assistance from the other two administrative

departments.

Response 

The earliest academic term the program can launch is winter 2025. The BME program is 

expecting to fill the graduate coordinator position before students enroll. 

2. Hire a 100% FTE Graduate Program Manager who implements the PACE Modules. The

program proposed to hire a 50% FTE Graduate Program Manager; however, we believe that

this should be a 100% FTE given the importance and scope of work for the PACE Modules. In

addition, the program should consider hiring an instructor (or contract instructor) for this

position.

Response 

Page 118 of 274



   

May 2024 Deans Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 2 of 6 
June 2015     Page 2 of 6 
 

This recommendation is consistent with the BME Program’s current plan of hiring a 100% FTE 

program manager with instructor qualifications and the Faculty will support it. 

 

  

 

4. Establish a BME graduate student society with the launch of the program. A BME graduate 

student society will help engage students in contributing to shaping the program and 

building the community of BME students. Active encouragement by the program to 

establish the society, and appropriate supports (e.g., financial support, space), can help 

ensure the society is present for the launch of the program. 

 

Response 

The program is intending to establish a BME graduate student society, which will take shape as 

the student enrollment builds. Financial support for the society has already been budgeted by 

the program for the first fiscal year. 

 

 

5. Embed EDIA, information literacy, and team building into the PACE modules. The PACE 

modules are described as providing “training in the areas of research design and planning, 

academic integrity, professional presentation, and scientific writing. PhD students will 

receive additional training in developing research plans and in writing grant and business 

proposals.” We believe that it is important for the program to include aspects of EDIA, 

information literacy, and team building in the program. The program could leverage existing 

programs and expertise at the University, such as librarians who have experience in 

graduate-level training for information literacy. 

 

Response 

Agreed. As noted in the program’s response, the PACE graduate program manager will ensure 

the inclusion of these topics in the PACE module. 

 

 

6. Ensure funding allocations for BME students. Within the Faculty of Engineering, various 

funding and scholarships are allocated by department (e.g., OGS, IMAE). As BME students 

will be associated with various departments, there is a danger that they may face 

inequitable access to funding and scholarships. The program should ensure an equitable 

allocation process (e.g., a separate allocation to the BME program, similar to a 

departmental allocation). 

Page 119 of 274



   

May 2024 Deans Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 3 of 6 
June 2015     Page 3 of 6 
 

 

Response 

Even though BME graduate program is a stand-alone degree program, the BME students will be 

affiliated with their faculty supervisor’s home department for all practical purposes. As such 

they will enjoy all scholarship and funding support opportunities as do their fellow students in 

the department. The BME Program Director and the Faculty of Engineering will ensure that all 

opportunities are equitably available. 

 

7. Provide BME graduate fellowships. The Faculty of Engineering has fellowships that help 

financially support its graduate students. Similar graduate fellowships should be made 

available for BME graduate students. 

 

Response 

The minimum funding level, $30,000 for PhD and $18,000 for MASc, applies to all students 

regardless of the home department. The Faculty-funded Engineering Excellence Fellowships 

(EEF) are being phased out with the implementation of the new funding model where the 

Faculty contributes to the minimum PhD funding. 

 

 

8. Ensure sufficient field-specific courses are offered annually for each of the 5 fields. The 

field-specific courses are comprised of courses from multiple departments. Without 

appropriate coordination, this may result in an academic year with insufficient field-specific 

courses available in one or more fields. Coordination by the Program Director and Program 

Committee could avoid this. The program may also consider establishing an introductory 

graduate course for each field that is delivered annually; this introductory field-specific 

course may be an existing, modified, or new course. 

 

Response 

Agreed. As noted in the program’s response, steps will be taken to ensure that sufficient field-

specific courses are offered every year. 

 

 

9. Establish a plan and process for TA assignments for BME students. Historically, there has 

been an alignment between a graduate student’s academic program and an undergraduate 

program within the same department, which simplifies TA assignments; however, the 

graduate BME students will be associated with multiple departments, while the 

undergraduate BME program only resides with the Department of Systems Design 

Page 120 of 274



   

May 2024 Deans Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 4 of 6 
June 2015     Page 4 of 6 
 

Engineering. A plan and process should be established to help ensure effective and 

equitable TA assignments 

 

Response 

TA assignment is an equal opportunity process which also works on the principle of hiring the 

best for the job. Departments follow established processes for TA allocation based on these 

principles. While future BME graduate students, regardless of their home department, will 

naturally be the best TA candidates for the BME undergraduate program, they will also have TA 

opportunities in other undergrad programs in engineering. 

 

 

10. Enhance CIHR research support. The BME program provides greater opportunity for CIHR 

funding; however, acquiring CIHR funding is challenging without appropriate support (e.g., 

CIHR knowledge and expertise within the research offices, funding for pilot data). 

 

Response 

The Faculty recognizes that the BME researchers can gain greater recognition and enhanced 

opportunities to receive CIHR support because of new the graduate program. We commit to 

providing the necessary support to our faculty by engaging the Office of Research where 

substantial CIHR support structure exists, and also by adding the CIHR support capability within 

the Engineering Research Office. 

 

11. Consider an exception for “Engineering Status” to allow BME faculty outside of the Faculty 

of Engineering to sole-supervise graduate students. The Faculty of Engineering requires 

“Engineering Status” to sole-supervise graduate students within its programs, which 

precludes BME faculty, outside of the Faculty of Engineering, who may have an engineering 

background, including graduate-level training in biomedical engineering. While such faculty 

are able to co-supervise students (including having a “nominal” co-supervisor within the 

Faculty of Engineering), the program should consider a pathway to enable sole supervision 

by such faculty members when appropriate 

 

Response 

The current practice is that there has to be a co-supervisor from the student’s home unit. 

However, given that BME is an independent and stand-alone degree, the Faculty will explore 

ways to address the issue of any BME-approved faculty member sole-supervising graduate 

students in Engineering. On the other hand, given that the supervisor’s home department will 

be considered as that of the student’s, the chance for such occurrences is expected to be rare. 

Page 121 of 274



   

May 2024 Deans Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 5 of 6 
June 2015     Page 5 of 6 
 

 

Recommendations Not Selected for Implementation  

(Provide a rationale as to why a recommendation was not implemented) 

 

 

3. Increase the term duration for the inaugural BME Program Director. The Program Director 

position is proposed to be a 3-year term. While this is reasonable once the program has 

reached steady-state, we believe that the inaugural BME Program Director should have a 

long-term (at a minimum, long enough to see the first cohort of students through) given the 

dynamics when starting up a new program. 

 

Response 

The typical duration of program directorship is 3 years. Sufficient overlaps and staff support is 

provided to ensure a smooth transition. There have also been instances where the directorship 

is renewed for another term. 

 

 

 

12. Create a plan for DWE Wet Lab Hub infrastructure upgrades. The DWE Wet Lab Hub is 

located in the Douglas Wright Engineering Building, which is the oldest building on the 

University campus. As a result, there are some concerns with the laboratory environment 

(e.g., temperature control, humidity control, backup power). A plan should be established 

to upgrade the DWE Wet Lab Hub infrastructure so that it is in line with other BME research 

laboratories; this may include moving the laboratories into a newer building. 

 

Response 

The Faculty is aware of this issue and is committed to ensuring that the BME researchers have 

the best infrastructure possible. The building upgrades/renovations will be considered in the 

context of long-term Faculty- and University- level infrastructure planning, also taking into 

account the possibility of new buildings in the future, as a potential solution. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 122 of 274



   

May 2024 Deans Response to External Reviewers Report for New Programs  
  Page 6 of 6 
June 2015     Page 6 of 6 
 

Signature of Approval 
 
 

    June 17, 2024 

Faculty Dean         Date 
Note: AFIW programs fall under the Faculty of ARTS; however, the Dean does not have fiscal control nor authority 

over staffing and administration of the program. 

 

 

 

AFIW Administrative Dean/Head (For AFIW programs only)   Date 

 
 

Page 123 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

1 

 
  

Page 124 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

2 

Page 125 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

3 

Executive Summary 
 
The strategic plan of the University of Waterloo states that “Scholars and students who want to 
solve the world’s deepest mysteries will find a home here.” The Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics 
(WCA) provides those studying astrophysics with a study room within that home. We support 
and enable high-profile research in astrophysics and utilise our expertise in interdisciplinary 
directions. We consolidate and support international astrophysics projects, with a critical mass 
of researchers. The WCA organises astronomy-related events within the University and enables 
an ambitious outreach programme.  
 
The WCA key initiatives and research interests maintain strong alignment to research directions 
within the University of Waterloo’s Strategic Plan (2020) and Global Futures initiative: We are 
creating tomorrow’s research leaders by attracting outstanding, diverse postdoctoral scholars to 
Waterloo, and supporting undergraduate and graduate students and members of faculty. We are 
engaged with many international collaborations, enhancing the international reputation of the 
University. We are exploring interdisciplinary directions where we can use our knowledge in 
other fields, and where we can bring in the expertise of others to help with astrophysics.  
 
The research undertaken by WCA members has been of exceptional quality. We have contributed 
to the first direct image of a black hole, an image that has garnered significant attention across 
the world. Astronomers have also released the largest map of the Universe to date generating 
significant press coverage. In total, we have published 506 refereed research papers, a significant 
increase over an equivalent period before the inception of the WCA. The future of research in 
the fields that we lead is strong, with many experiments coming to fruition over the next five 
years. These include the XRISM and Euclid satellites launched in 2023, first light of the Rubin 
telescope in 2024, and continued use of the James-Webb Space Telescope. Exploiting data from 
these experiments, WCA members will continue to lead high-profile international projects 
pushing forwards our understanding of the universe. 
 
Through a postdoctoral program including mentoring, we help future academic leaders to 
develop in the crucial step between graduate study and faculty. Our pool of postdoctoral 
researchers has now reached steady state, with 16 currently in place. We have used the generous 
donation by Mike and Ophelia Lazaridis to great effect to fund these positions directly and to 
leverage and enable further funding. Since July 2022, all postdocs, the director, and administrator 
are co-located in dedicated, refurbished, office space enhancing collaboration and helping us to 
build a sense of team within the WCA. The member survey conducted shows that the sense of 
community is already present, but we are not going to rest - team building will be a priority over 
the next five years. 
 
The WCA has secured a significant philanthropic donation for outreach work that enabled the 

purchase of a mobile planetarium and projector that arrived in late 2022. Together with the 

appointment of an outreach coordinator, a multi-faceted outreach program is underway 

Page 126 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

4 

designed to support the University and to engage with groups from demographics that are 

currently underrepresented within the field of astrophysics and science in general. We are 

focussed on encouraging children within such demographics to consider STEM-based careers. 

 

The WCA is complemented by, and works closely with, the Centre for the Universe at the 

Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics (PI). There are strong synergies between the two: the 

Centre for the Universe has a theoretical focus, creating models that can be tested by the 

observational experiments undertaken by the WCA and several WCA members hold joint 

appointments between the University of Waterloo and PI. Furthermore, the WCA has established 

ties with other regional centres including the Canadian Institute for Astrophysics (CITA). 

 

The WCA achievements to date have been facilitated by the donation from Mike and Ophelia 
Lazaridis. This funding source will continue to support the WCA over the next four years, but new 
avenues for future funding need to be found to continue the momentum that has been built up 
beyond then. A key goal for the WCA is to explore alternate possible sources of income and 
resource-sharing. 
 
In Summer 2023, we submitted a renewal request and were approved as a Faculty Centre for 18 
months beyond the initial 5 years, limited while the University reviewed its policy on Centres. We 
now request renewal for a further 5 years, allowing the Centre to continue beyond the tenure of 
the inaugural director (who has a maximum 10-year term). The WCA has received letters of 
support from the Dean of Science, and from the chair of Physics and Astronomy supporting the 
continuation of the WCA as a Faculty Centre for five more years.  
 
We are grateful to the Senate Graduate and Research Council and University of Waterloo Senate 
for taking the time to review this report, and we look forward to advancing astrophysics research 
for another five years upon the WCA’s successful renewal as a senate-approved research centre.  
 
Sincerely,  

 
 

Dr Will Percival 

Director, Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics  

Mike and Ophelia Lazaridis Distinguished Chair in Astrophysics  

Page 127 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

5 

Table of Contents 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS .............................................................................................................................................. 5 

IMPACT OF THE WCA ON ASTROPHYSICS IN WATERLOO ....................................................................................... 8 

REPUTATION OF ASTROPHYSICS AT WATERLOO .................................................................................................................... 8 
EARLY CAREER TRAINING ................................................................................................................................................. 8 
OUTREACH SUCCESSES .................................................................................................................................................... 9 

ALIGNMENT WITH UNIVERSITY OF WATERLOO AIMS AND GOALS ...................................................................... 10 

GLOBAL FUTURES 2024 ................................................................................................................................................ 10 
Fundamental Research and Scholarship ............................................................................................................ 10 
Technological Futures ........................................................................................................................................ 11 
Societal Futures .................................................................................................................................................. 11 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2020-2025 ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

WATERLOO CENTRE FOR ASTROPHYSICS (WCA) ESTABLISHMENT AND GOALS ................................................... 12 

MISSION STATEMENT ................................................................................................................................................... 12 
HISTORY..................................................................................................................................................................... 12 
KEY AIMS AND GOALS (COPIED FROM THE ORIGINAL PROPOSAL) ............................................................................................ 13 
PROGRESS AGAINST GOALS – YEARS 1-6 ........................................................................................................................... 14 
OBJECTIVES FOR THE NEXT FIVE YEARS .............................................................................................................................. 15 

RESEARCH ACCOMPLISHMENT ............................................................................................................................ 16 

CORE RESEARCH .......................................................................................................................................................... 16 
INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH ........................................................................................................................................ 16 
PROJECTS AND FACILITIES .............................................................................................................................................. 17 

4MOST ................................................................................................................................................................ 17 
CASTOR ............................................................................................................................................................... 17 
Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) .................................................................................................... 18 
Extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey (eBOSS)............................................................................... 18 
Event Horizon Telescope (EHT) ........................................................................................................................... 18 
Euclid .................................................................................................................................................................. 19 
Fred Young Submillimeter Telescope (FYST) ....................................................................................................... 19 
JWST ................................................................................................................................................................... 20 
Nancy Grace Roman Telescope .......................................................................................................................... 21 
ngEHT ................................................................................................................................................................. 21 
Thirty Meter Telescope (TMT) ............................................................................................................................ 22 
UNIONS .............................................................................................................................................................. 22 
Vera C. Rubin Observatory ................................................................................................................................. 23 
XRISM ................................................................................................................................................................. 24 

PUBLICATIONS ............................................................................................................................................................. 24 
Impactful Publications ........................................................................................................................................ 26 

RESEARCH HIGHLIGHTS ................................................................................................................................................. 29 
Results from the EHT: The first ever images of black holes ................................................................................ 29 
First cosmology results from the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) ................................................ 31 
Astrophysicists release largest 3D map of the Universe ever created ................................................................ 31 
Observing the build-up of structure ................................................................................................................... 33 
The GOGREEN survey ......................................................................................................................................... 33 

Page 128 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

6 

Testing Einstein’s theory of gravity .................................................................................................................... 34 
Understanding the early universe ...................................................................................................................... 35 
A novel predictive framework for the novel Coronovirus ................................................................................... 35 
A New Cosmological Test based on the Structure of Galaxy Clusters ................................................................ 36 

RESEARCH GRANTS ...................................................................................................................................................... 36 
WCA SUPPORTED EVENTS ............................................................................................................................................. 37 

WCA Launch Event ............................................................................................................................................. 37 
CFU-WCA Conference ......................................................................................................................................... 37 
CCAT Prime collaboration meeting .................................................................................................................... 37 
GOGREEN ........................................................................................................................................................... 37 
CASCA 2022 ........................................................................................................................................................ 38 
Quantum Spacetime in the Cosmos: From Conception to Reality ...................................................................... 38 
Understanding feedback in galaxies and clusters .............................................................................................. 38 
50 Years of Horndeski Gravity: Exploring Modified Gravity ............................................................................... 38 

OUTREACH ACTIVITIES ......................................................................................................................................... 38 

INVOLVING ADVANCEMENT ........................................................................................................................................... 38 
PLANETARIUM ............................................................................................................................................................. 39 
OUTREACH COORDINATOR ............................................................................................................................................. 39 
REGULAR OUTREACH EVENTS .......................................................................................................................................... 40 

Astrobubble: planetarium tours and visits ......................................................................................................... 40 
Public talks ......................................................................................................................................................... 41 
WCA-Kitchener Public Library seminar series ..................................................................................................... 42 
Astronomy on Tap .............................................................................................................................................. 42 
Perseid meteor shower ....................................................................................................................................... 42 

SOCIAL MEDIA ............................................................................................................................................................ 42 

CREATING A WCA COMMUNITY........................................................................................................................... 43 

ACCOMMODATIONS FOR THE WCA ................................................................................................................................. 43 
REGULAR WCA EVENTS ................................................................................................................................................ 43 

Informal community building ............................................................................................................................. 44 
MENTORING AND PROMOTING EARLY CAREER RESEARCHERS ................................................................................................. 44 

MEMBERSHIP ...................................................................................................................................................... 45 

OVERVIEW AND CONDITIONS FOR MEMBERSHIP ................................................................................................................. 45 
CODE OF CONDUCT ...................................................................................................................................................... 45 
CURRENT MEMBERSHIP ................................................................................................................................................ 46 

Faculty ................................................................................................................................................................ 46 
Postdoctoral Fellows .......................................................................................................................................... 46 
PhD Students ...................................................................................................................................................... 47 
Masters Students ............................................................................................................................................... 47 
Associate Members ............................................................................................................................................ 48 

PAST MEMBERSHIP ...................................................................................................................................................... 48 
Postdoctoral Fellows .......................................................................................................................................... 48 
Graduate Students ............................................................................................................................................. 49 

MEMBERSHIP SURVEY ................................................................................................................................................... 51 
Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics (WCA) 2023 Membership Survey Results Summary ..................................... 52 

REFLECTION ON SURVEY RESULTS .................................................................................................................................... 54 

GOVERNANCE ...................................................................................................................................................... 56 

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART .............................................................................................................................................. 57 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS ................................................................................................................................................. 57 

Page 129 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

7 

WCA EXECUTIVE MONTHLY MEETINGS ........................................................................................................................... 59 
ADMINISTRATION......................................................................................................................................................... 59 

Director .............................................................................................................................................................. 59 
Staff .................................................................................................................................................................... 59 
Standing and Ad Hoc Committees ...................................................................................................................... 59 

FINANCIALS.......................................................................................................................................................... 60 

CONCLUSIONS ..................................................................................................................................................... 62 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ........................................................................................................................................ 63 

APPENDIX A:  LETTERS OF SUPPORT FROM DEAN OF SCIENCE, DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS AND ASTRONOMY CHAIR AND WCA 

GOVERNING BOARD ..................................................................................................................................................... 64 
APPENDIX B:  WCA CONSTITUTION ................................................................................................................................ 70 
APPENDIX C: WCA MEMBERSHIP SURVEY RESPONSES ........................................................................................................ 75 
APPENDIX D: WCA PUBLICATIONS .................................................................................................................................. 82 
 

  

Page 130 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

8 

Impact of the WCA on Astrophysics in Waterloo 
A key aim of the Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics (WCA) is to bring high-quality postdoctoral 
fellows to Waterloo.  The benefits of doing this are numerous and include engendering innovative 
research opportunities, collaboration, a high research output and better mentorship of students.  
The WCA has been successful in this goal and the impact has been strongly felt in terms of the 
reputation of Astrophysics at Waterloo, the quality of our training of early career researchers, 
and in our successes in outreach. 
 

Reputation of Astrophysics at Waterloo 
In 2023, the University of Waterloo was rated #1 in Canada for Physics (Academic ranking of 
World Universities) and the #1 comprehensive research University in Canada (Research 
Infosource), and the WCA has played a part in that success.  The WCA is globally recognised for 
the major contributions it makes to international scientific collaborations. WCA members have 
been instrumental in the publication of high impact results, such as: the first image of a black 
hole; the largest 3d map of the Universe; and the first cosmological results from the Dark Energy 
Spectroscopic Instrument, allowing us to look back at the Universe 11 billion years ago.  WCA 
members have leadership roles in the Euclid satellite, which was launched on July 1, 2023, to 
major press interest and will map the Universe at higher resolution than ever before. 
 
The impact of the WCA postdoctoral fellows on the research output of the WCA is seen in the 
number of refereed publications produced by the WCA.  The publication rate of the group has 
doubled since the formation of the WCA.  In six years, the WCA has produced 506 publications, 
49 of which have been cited more than 100 times (see Publications).  In addition to the increase 
in the total number of publications produced by the group, we also see a steady increase in the 
productivity of the faculty members since the formation of the WCA, even though the number of 
faculty members of the WCA has decreased.    
 
Another indicator that the WCA is successfully raising the profile of Astrophysics at Waterloo is 
that more people want to come to Waterloo to do Astrophysics!  Undergraduate numbers in the 
Astrophysics program have steadily climbed to the extent that it is the most popular program in 
Physics.  Feedback from the latest round of postdoc hiring shows that a postdoctoral fellowship 
at the WCA is now considered a prestigious position and we are now attracting candidates of 
Hubble Fellowship or Harvard quality. 
 

Early career training 
In 2018, prior to the formation of the WCA, the astrophysics group at the University of Waterloo 
consisted of 12 faculty, 2 postdoctoral fellows and some 30 graduate students.  Today, the WCA 
numbers over 60 people, including 16 postdoctoral fellows and 38 graduate students.  This is the 
result of a dedicated effort to grow the group and increase the number of early career 
researchers at Waterloo. 
 

Page 131 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

9 

In addition to the usual academic mentoring provided to both postdoctoral fellows and graduate 
students, we introduced an additional mentor with a “non-academic mentoring scheme” for the 
postdocs (more detail in Mentoring and promoting early career researchers). As numbers in the 
WCA grew, our early-career researchers supported each other and increased their mentoring 
networks.  Several initiatives to support research, quality of research and well-being of 
researchers have grown organically from conversations within the group; these include non-
academic mentoring of graduate students by postdocs and regular journal clubs aimed at 
addressing areas as identified as requiring attention (see, Creating a WCA community).   
 
The supportive, inclusive and proactive atmosphere in the WCA attracts prospective postdoctoral 
fellows and graduate students and is conducive to good outcomes for our early career 
researchers.  Twenty-six postdocs (past and current) have been members of the WCA since its 
inception.  Of the ten postdocs who have already moved on, 3 moved into a faculty position or 
onto a faculty path, 4 went to a further postdoc position, and 2 have gone into data science. Sixty-
four graduate students have earned their MSc or PhD with the WCA.  Twenty-nine of them (45%) 
have continued to the next level of academia, 18 (29%) have moved into industry in the form of 
data science, software engineering, finance or education, we have no data for the final 17 former 
graduate students, some of whom are very recent post-graduates. 
 

Outreach successes 
Outreach, specifically outreach geared towards people who are traditionally under-represented 
in Physics and Astronomy, has always been an aim of the WCA. Our outreach efforts include 
faculty giving public talks in collaboration with Advancement and more informal talks aimed at a 
broader public and organized by our Outreach Coordinator.  One series of talks are held monthly 
at the Kitchener Public Library and the other, Astronomy on Tap, are held bi-monthly at the Crazy 
Kanuck in Kitchener.  Both series are immensely popular; they always fill the room and draw a 
mix of regulars and new people each time.    Over 1,000 people have attended our Kitchener 
Public Library and Astronomy on Tap talks since they began in May 2023. 
 
We have worked hard to enhance our presence on social media and have made use of Instagram 
to reach out to the younger adult audience.  We have gained 572 followers over the past 15 
months.  We use social media to promote WCA outreach and group events and to educate light-
heartedly.  We collaborated with the Faculty of Science communications team to make a reel 
about the total solar eclipse in April 2024, which was viewed over 30,000 times. 
 
However, the centerpiece of our outreach program is our inflatable planetarium, the 
AstroBubble.  We have teamed up with the Ontario Postsecondary Access and Inclusion Program 
(OPAIP) to take the AstroBubble into high schools in communities which historically have not 
accessed postsecondary education (PSE), which include students who identify as Black, 
Indigenous, marginalized or racialized, first-generation, newcomers, low-income, 2SLGBTQIA+, 
and students with disabilities.  In addition, we organise AstroBubble events for girl groups, such 
as the Girl Guides, the Canadian Association of Girls in Science (CAGIS) and PhysiX: Girls Matter.  
The AstroBubble has been a popular addition to campus events such as Science Open House and 

Page 132 of 274

https://www.instagram.com/UWaterlooAstro/
https://www.instagram.com/reel/C5Q7pNKAuXP/
https://collegeboreal.ca/en/future-students/ontario-postsecondary-access-and-inclusion-program-opaip/
https://www.girlguides.ca/web/
https://girlsinscience.ca/


   

 

 

 

 

 

10 

Physics Lab Days.  We began our AstroBubble program in November 2022 and, to date, have held 
200 AstroBubble shows for 4719 children or families.  It is worth noting that we used the first six 
months as a small-scale pilot scheme while we established ourselves.  We ran shows for 744 
children and families during the 2022-2023 school year.  For the 2023-2024 school year that 
number increases to 3975, which equates to 20 children being enthused by the AstroBubble for 
each day of the instructional year! 
 

Alignment with University of Waterloo aims and goals 
The WCA recognizes the importance of aligning with the aims and goals of the University of 
Waterloo and we refer to University planning documents when looking to chart our own future.  
We find a natural concordance between the university’s intents and aspirations and the WCA’s 
and will draw examples from the “Global Futures 2024” and “University of Waterloo Strategic 
Plan 2020-2025” documents to illustrate.  
 

Global Futures 2024 
The Global Futures 2024 document lists six pathways towards the future for the University of 
Waterloo: societal, technological, economic, sustainable, health, and fundamental research and 
scholarship.  The work done at the WCA aligns with the fundamental research and scholarship, 
technological, and societal futures. 
 

Fundamental Research and Scholarship 
The Fundamental Research and Scholarship section of the Global Futures 2024 document begins 
“Our vision for Waterloo’s global futures is fueled by a relentless commitment to fundamental 
research and scholarship.” and then quotes from the “Waterloo at 100” document, “A spirit of 
curiosity and commitment to excellence in fundamental research and scholarship advances our 
understanding of ourselves, our planet and the cosmos and enables the ongoing development of 
technologies, innovations and applications we cannot imagine today.” 
 
The article that immediately followed this describes how the work done in the WCA supports this 
vision and why such fundamental science is important for humanity’s future.  Studying 
unanswered and unknown questions – the fundamental research undertaken at the WCA - is a 
driver of long-term progress for society in terms of health, sustainability, technology, economy 
and more. Fundamental research provides unexpected discoveries and real-world applications.   
 
The work done at the WCA, which aims to understand how the Universe formed and evolved, is 
about as fundamental as it gets!  At a time where there is also an emphasis on interdisciplinary 
work as a route to major breakthroughs and societally significant findings, it is worth noting that 
astrophysics (a merging of the fields of Astronomy and Physics) is inherently interdisciplinary.  
Terms such as “astro-statistics”, “astro-chemistry” and “astro-biology” already abound in the 
field. 
 

Page 133 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/about/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/fp2655-global-futures-2024-final_lr-final-ua_0.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/strategic-plan/sites/ca.strategic-plan/files/uploads/files/c017209-stratplan2019-simple-oct316_accessible-ua_59906.pdf
https://uwaterloo.ca/strategic-plan/sites/ca.strategic-plan/files/uploads/files/c017209-stratplan2019-simple-oct316_accessible-ua_59906.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

 

11 

Technological Futures 
The Technological Futures asks how the University of Waterloo will, “lead the next technological 

transformation to ensure a safe and human-centred digital future?” Astronomical projects and 

instruments generate vast amounts of data, and machine learning, with a focus on data mining, 

is fast becoming an essential aspect of modern astronomy.  WCA astronomers using data from 

modern surveys are at the forefront of the development of machine learning tools and quality 

assurance of the results. 

 
Space technology, whether communications satellites or satellite observatories, is well-known 
for developing technologies that lead to use in everyday life.  Some examples include 
microprocessors, crash helmets, emergency blankets, the dimples in golf balls, and household 
smoke detectors.  The development of space technology is often led by the development of 
scientific missions including satellite observatories, which have exacting and difficult-to-meet 
requirements that push technological progress.  Thus, by driving these missions, WCA members 
drive the technological developments. 
 

Societal Futures 
The Societal Futures section asks, “How do we promote knowledge and research to positively 
advance society’s future and ensure communities and everyone within them thrive?”  and asks if 
there is a crisis in trust [in scientists].  Education is key to re-building trust in science and scientists 
and outreach is an essential part of that education.  Astronomy inspires wonder and curiosity and 
that can ignite an interest in STEM subjects.   
 
The WCA’s outreach program (see, Outreach Activities) reaches thousands of children and their 
families each year.  Our inflatable planetarium awakens children’s interests in Astronomy and we 
use our seminar series with Kitchener Public Library and Astronomy on Tap to inform the public 
in an accessible way about the research done by the WCA.  Our outreach program is available for 
all but targeted towards the portion of the population that has traditionally been under-
represented in the sciences, aligning with the university’s goals towards inclusivity and belonging. 
 

Strategic Plan 2020-2025 
The University of Waterloo’s Strategic plan states that Waterloo is “committed to fundamental 
research as well as collaboration across research disciplines” and that Waterloo will build on 
three themes for impact: Developing talent for a complex future, advancing research for global 
impact, strengthening sustainable and diverse communities.   The WCA supports all three of 
these themes.   We train early career researchers to do fundamental research in astrophysics.  
The interdisciplinary nature of our research means that our early career researchers leave the 
WCA ready to move onto the next step in academia or with the skill set to pivot towards roles in 
industry, especially data science, software engineering, teaching and finance.  Our focus on 
training (mostly international) young scientists necessitates a people-centered approach that is 
inclusive and supportive.  We have developed mentoring schemes to help everyone achieve their 
best.  The WCA’s outreach program is focused on peoples who have traditionally been under-

Page 134 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

12 

represented in Astronomy and the Sciences, and we have worked hard to build connections so 
that everybody can see a place for themselves in STEM roles. The WCA looks forward to moving 
into the future envisioned by the University of Waterloo. 
 

Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics (WCA) establishment and goals 
The Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics (WCA) is a strategic 
investment that synergizes the world-leading research 
and training in astrophysics and related areas. Although 
much progress has been made in the fields of 
astrophysics and cosmology over the past decade, many 
fundamental questions remain: the physics driving the 
current accelerated expansion of the Universe is 
unknown; the physics driving the period of acceleration 
in the early Universe, often termed inflation, is unknown; 
the physics driving galaxy formation and evolution is still 
not fully understood. 
 
The WCA provides an environment for astrophysicists to 
ask and answer such fundamental questions about the 
Universe in which we live. By using the Universe as a 
laboratory, members design and analyse experiments 
testing physical processes that are impossible to replicate 
on Earth. Research into phenomena including black 
holes, distant galaxies, and the energy-density 
components of the universe, push the boundaries of 
human knowledge. Research is an integral and intensive 
area at the University of Waterloo and the international 
reputation of the WCA helps the university to be 
recognized worldwide.  
 

History 
The Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics (WCA) is an initiative conceived by members of the faculty 
specialising in astrophysics to build upon the generous donation by Mike Lazaridis, which enabled 
a Distinguished Research Chair in Astrophysics, held by the inaugural WCA Director, Will Percival.   
The WCA was approved by the University of Waterloo Senate at their November 19th meeting in 
2018. Prior to this, the proposal was reviewed at a dedicated Physics and Astronomy department 
meeting (August 27, 2018), by the Science Faculty Council (September 12, 2018), the Research 
Leaders Council (September 17, 2018), and by the Senate Graduate and Research Council 
(October 1, 2018). 
 
After approval by the Senate, we were able to use the WCA name for the first time. Following 
this, we formed the governing board, worked with Creative Services to design a logo, and created 

Mission Statement 
The Waterloo Centre for 

Astrophysics looks to the 

cosmos to solve the greatest 

mysteries of the universe. 

World-class researchers and 

students come here in an 

atmosphere of curiosity, 

creativity, and collaboration; 

exploring our cosmic origin 

to truly understand the 

physical processes at work in 

the Universe. From black 

holes to cosmology, we aim 

to understand what lies 

beyond the Earth. The 

possibilities for new 

discoveries are limitless. 

 

Page 135 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

13 

a brochure to advertise the new Centre. We also created the web page and started a series of 
short videos describing work by WCA members. To help with the administation of the WCA, 
Donna Hayes joined as the admin assistant (4/2019-9/2021), and we have subsequently been 
supported by Lindsay Sine (10/2021-11/2022) and Carolyn McCoey (11/2022-present). 
 
A major focus of the WCA has been building a critical mass of postdoctoral fellows. When the 
WCA was formed, there were two postdocs in astronomy working in the Physics and Astronomy 
department. In September 2019 we were able to bring in two WCA Fellows, and one more 
followed in October 2020.  In 2020 we also began to see the leverage provided by the new WCA 
in that we were also joined by an AMTD Fellow. We welcomed four new postdocs in 2021, 
supported by the WCA and by additional funding from several research grants. 2022 saw the 
arrival of five postdocs including two WCA LSST Fellows, working on the Rubin observatory (which 
will undertake the Legacy Survey of Space and Time, LSST) supported by the University research 
office and faculty, allowing the WCA to join this project. In 2023, we had a further eight accepted 
postdoc offers, including a Banting Fellow and a CITA National Fellow. 
 
In July 2022 the WCA moved into refurbished office space in the physics and astronomy building, 
with the renovation funded by the Faculty of Science. The new space is described in more detail 
in Accommodations for the WCA, and allows all the postdocs to be co-located, together with the 
Director, admin support, and a small number of our graduate students.  
 
Another milestone happened in October 2022 when the WCA took delivery of our mobile 

planetarium, paid for by a philanthropic donation. Together with the hire of our new outreach 

coordinator, Roan Haggar, this has enabled us to instigate an outreach program aimed at 

children, particularly those from groups that do not traditionally follow a STEM career path. 

Astronomy and astrophysics are particularly well suited to engaging children in science. More 

details about our outreach activity can be found in Outreach Activities. 

 
Throughout the whole history of the WCA we have been doing excellent science, and much of 
this document is dedicated to that. 
 

Key aims and goals (copied from the original proposal) 
The key aims and goals of the WCA were listed in the original proposal and are to facilitate and 
conduct ground-breaking research, training, and outreach in Cosmology and Astrophysics at the 
University of Waterloo. The WCA will foster new and exciting discoveries about the nature of the 
Cosmos and establish the University of Waterloo as a world leader in observational astrophysics 
and cosmology, and the detailed testing of theoretical models of the Universe.  
 

1. Research: The WCA will stimulate fundamental research in Astrophysics and Cosmology, 
catalyze and foster national and international collaborations. 

2. Training: The WCA will add to the graduate and postdoctoral training and mentorship 
undertaken in the Department of Physics and Astronomy, leading to the successful entry 

Page 136 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/astrophysics-centre/
https://youtube.com/playlist?list=PLqGJPNOrTbavI-fNKoqQqX-ybrRSxWVGa&si=1l_NKjVabbf2IVgV


   

 

 

 

 

 

14 

of the trained highly qualified personnel into a career in astrophysics, cosmology and 
industry. 

3. Partnership: The WCA seeks to partner with regional and international centres of 
excellence in astrophysics in order to promote synergies and further WCA missions. 

4. Dissemination: The WCA will facilitate dissemination of astrophysical sciences by hosting 
topical conferences and focused workshops, as well as by developing and maintaining an 
active visitor program.  

5. Outreach: The WCA will engage the broader academic community at UW, as well as the 
general public, via physical and virtual platforms, in order to promote the significance of 
fundamental research and share the excitement of the science done by WCA members. 
In particular, it will strive to engage and recruit women, underrepresented minorities, and 
indigenous communities in its scientific and outreach activities. 

 

Progress against goals – years 1-6 
We revisit these goals and list the ways that we have met them below. While we have made good 
progress for all, there is more we can, and want, to do. 
 

1. Research: The research conducted by WCA members over the last 6 years has been 

spectacular. Members have contributed to the collaboration that made the first direct 

image of a black hole - an image that has garnered significant attention across the world. 

Members have also led the release the largest map of the Universe to date and been 

involved in many cutting-edge experiments. The long list of international experiments 

including WCA members is available in Projects and Facilities. To see the impact that the 

WCA has had on the scientific output in astrophysics coming from the University of 

Waterloo, please see Figure 9 (which we’re very proud of). 

2. Training: We enhance the training of undergraduate and graduate students by providing 

a research atmosphere within the WCA. Our postdoctoral researchers often join the 

supervisory teams for students providing additional practical support. The primary 

change since the instigation of the WCA has been the number of postdoctoral researchers 

working in astrophysics. We provide support and mentoring for these researchers, and 

this has helped three of the cohort secure permanent academic positions, while the 

others have moved to either further postdoctoral positions or positions in industry. The 

list of graduate students and postdoctoral researchers directly or indirectly supported by 

the WCA is given in Membership. 

3. Partnership: We have a strong partnership with the Perimeter Institute for Theoretical 
Physics (PI) with many faculty (Afshordi, Broderick, Percival) jointly appointed. We have 
also hired two joint postdoctoral researchers (Krolewski 2019-22, Ennis 2022-25) and held 
two joint conferences (2/2022, 7/2024). PI has also research initiatives on the Event 
Horizon Telescope and the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, tying in with research 
at the WCA including many of the same scientists. A representative of PI serves on the 
governing board. We also have built a strong relationship with the Canadian Institute for 

Page 137 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

15 

Theoretical Astrophysics (CITA), with Taylor (2016-20, chair 2018-20) and Percival (2022-
25) serving on the CITA governing board. Krolewski recently accepted a CITA National 
Fellowship at the WCA which will further strengthen this link. WCA members work with 
many national and international colleagues on research projects and on several 
experiments. 

4. Dissemination: Despite the impact of Covid and associated lockdowns, we have hosted 
several conferences and meetings over the last 6 years. The largest of these was the 
Canadian Astronomical Society (CASCA) annual general meeting in 2022. More details of 
this and other meetings can be found in WCA Supported events.  To encourage 
collaborations between WCA members and external groups we have recently appointed 
several Associate Members, and we hope to encourage them to be frequent visitors to 
the WCA. 

5. Outreach: We are very pleased with our outreach program. Astronomy is a subject with 
the ability to captivate children and adults as we explain the wonders of the Universe. 
Thanks to a generous donation, in 2022 we were able to purchase an inflatable 
planetarium and digital projector to put on shows and play full dome (360 degree) movies. 
Our outreach program uses this facility to share the science done by WCA members, to 
support advancement, to engage and recruit women into astrophysics. More details 
about our outreach program can be found in Outreach Successes 
 

Objectives for the next five years 
Practically, the main goals of the WCA continue with increased focus. The success of the Centre 
lies in its ability to attract further funding and resources, ensuring its sustainability, and to 
continue its ability to support research. We include putting this in place as an additional objective 
for the next five years. 
 

1. Research: The WCA will stimulate fundamental research in Astrophysics and Cosmology, 

catalyze and foster national and international collaborations. In particular, we will exploit 

surveys and facilities taking data over the next five years including DESI, EHT, Euclid, JWST, 

Rubin, XRISM. We will also prepare for the next generation of facilities including ngEHT, 

MSE & TMT. 

2. Training: The WCA will continue to enhance the training of highly qualified personnel 
seeking a career in astrophysics, cosmology and industry. Our successful postdoctoral 
fellowship program will continue, and we will increasingly leverage existing funding to 
provide further sources of revenue.  

3. Partnership: We will continue to partner with regional and international centres of 
excellence in astrophysics to promote synergies.  

4. Dissemination: The WCA will facilitate dissemination of astrophysical sciences by hosting 
topical conferences and focused workshops, as well as by developing and maintaining an 
active visitor program.   

5. Outreach: The planetarium offers an amazing opportunity to advertise the centre, and to 
engage with the local community. We will exploit this by expanding on our regular 

Page 138 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

16 

program of visits to local schools as well as youth groups. Here we will increase. the focus 
on groups that are underrepresented in physics. Alongside this, we will support initiatives 
based on visits made to campus including those from Advancement.  

6. Sustainability: The funding used to initiate the WCA was from a donation, providing a 
generous research budget for ten years. At the end of this renewal period, we will come 
to the end of that funding, and the sustainability of the WCA will be dependent on finding 
and securing additional sources of funding. 

 
 

Research Accomplishment 
 

Core Research 
Members of the WCA are studying problems amongst the most fundamental in physics: 

• The origin and fate of the Universe 
• The nature of dark matter 
• Black hole dynamics and thermodynamics 
• Gravitational waves and gravitational lenses 
• The properties of stars and interstellar matter 
• The formation of galaxies, stars and solar systems 
• The unification of General Relativity and quantum mechanics 

 

Interdisciplinary Research 
A significant amount of scientific advancement comes from the adoption of methodologies 
developed for other applications, fields or experiments. Thus, it is important to promote dialogue 
between different fields and sub-fields, both within astrophysics and with outside areas. In many 
ways, astronomy is the archetypal Big Data science, with future experiments such as the Large 
Synoptic Survey Telescope predicted to produce 20TB of data per night. Artificial Intelligence 
techniques, specifically machine learning and the sub-class of deep learning algorithms, have the 
potential to transform astronomical data analysis, using the new data sets.  
 
Significant science from the next generation of astronomical experiments will result from the 
cross-correlation of different data. Examples include multi-wavelength studies where sources are 
observed in multiple bands, or the follow-up of one type of object discovered in one survey with 
a different instrument, or the analysis of the same objects in a different data set. In survey 
science, the statistical cross-correlation of populations can highlight physical processes (e.g., 
Integrated Sachs-Wolfe and Sunyaev-Zel’dovich measurements from the cross-correlation of 
Cosmic Microwave Background and intervening large-scales structure). They can also beat down 
systematics effects and remove foreground contamination: if these are different in two 
experiments, then they cancel in cross-correlation measurements.  
 

Page 139 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

17 

Over the last six years, members of the WCA have successfully obtained grants to support 
interdisciplinary research linking the WCA with the department of statistics and actuarial science, 
the department of philosophy and the department of applied maths. 
 

Projects and Facilities 
Much of the experimental research in the WCA results from international collaborations using 
international facilities. Typically, faculty participate in the planning and development of these 
facilities, and subsequently help to lead the collaborations of scientists undertaking the 
experiments. We list here the primary experiments that WCA members are involved in: 
 

4MOST  
The 4MOST Hemisphere Survey of the Nearby Universe (4HS) is an accepted ESO public survey 
to conduct a massive spectroscopic survey of the southern sky, obtaining spectroscopic redshifts 
up to 7.2 million galaxies. This will be achieved with very high (>95%) and unbiased completeness 
over 21,000 square degrees, and with a particular focus on the nearby Universe (z < 0.15). Hudson 
and Percival were co-Is on the 4HS proposal and are members of the scientific collaboration. 
They will use 4MOST to investigate the large-scale structure of the Universe. 
 

CASTOR 
The Cosmological Advanced Survey Telescope for Optical and UV Research is a proposed space 
telescope being developed by the Canadian Space Agency, Canadian industry and international 
partners.  An innovative optical design allows this telescope to deliver images comparable in 
resolution to those of the Hubble Space Telescope, but over a field that is two orders of 
magnitude larger, and simultaneously in three wavelength channels spanning the UV/optical 
(0.15–0.55 μm).  Participation in this mission will allow WCA members to make groundbreaking 
discoveries in a wide range of topics including galaxy formation, black hole growth and 
extrasolar planet atmospheres. 

 
Figure 1:  A simulation of the Hubble Ultra Deep Field (UDF) in filters from CASTOR (U, G) and Roman (F184).  This image 

shows a ~1.5’×1.5’ field, or just ~0.06% of the area that will be covered by the CASTOR Ultra-Deep Survey.  While Roman’s IR 

imaging (red) is sensitive to existing stellar mass, CASTOR picks out regions of ongoing star formation. With comparable spatial 

resolution from the ultraviolet to the near-infrared it will be possible to map stellar populations and other physical parameters 

across galaxies, out to cosmic noon (z=2.5). 

Page 140 of 274

https://4mosthemispheresurvey.github.io/index.html


   

 

 

 

 

 

18 

CASTOR recently completed a Phase 0 study for the CSA.  Balogh was the lead of the “Galaxies 
and Evolution of Cosmic Star Formation” Science Working Group (SWG) for this study, and two 
of his students (Cam Morgan and Cam Lawlor-Forsyth) contributed work to the science case.    
 

Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) 
The Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) allows astronomers to undertake a 
spectroscopic galaxy survey 20 times faster than was previously possible. DESI started survey 
operations on May 17, 2021 and is studying Dark Energy at a level not previously available. The 
start of the survey was accompanied by a press release from the WCA looking ahead to the 
science to come. The first cosmological results were released on April 4, 2024 accompanied by 
another news item. The results show tantalizing hints of deviations from the standard LCDM 
model, and resulted in over 1000 news articles around the world. From September 2024, Will 
Percival will become co-Spokesperson for this project for a period of 2 years, in charge of 
coordinating all science coming from this project, with possible renewal for another 2-year term. 
The WCA-DESI group includes associate member, Dustin Lang, 4 WCA postdocs and 4 graduate 
students, and forms a key institute contributing to this project. 
 

Extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey (eBOSS) 
The eBOSS project used the Sloan telescope to observe galaxies and quasars at a range of 
distances (redshifts) left completely unexplored by other three-dimensional maps of large-scale 
structure in the Universe. In filling this gap, eBOSS created the largest volume survey of the 
Universe to date, publicly released in July 2020. This region corresponds to the epoch when the 
Universe was transitioning from deceleration because of gravity, to the current epoch of 
acceleration due to Dark Energy. Will Percival was Survey Scientist for the project and several 
students and postdocs working in the WCA led science projects using these data. Further details 
about the announcement of the final results and the accompanying press interest can be found 
in Astrophysicists release largest 3D map of the Universe ever created in the Research Highlights 
section of this report. 
 

Event Horizon Telescope (EHT) 
WCA member Avery Broderick is a founding member of the Event Horizon Telescope (EHT) 
Collaboration, which is responsible for constructing, operating, and interpreting observations 
from a global array of high-frequency radio telescopes that together comprise the highest 
resolution telescope in history. The aim of the EHT is to achieve a long-standing goal in 
astrophysics to directly observe the immediate environment of black holes with angular 
resolution comparable to the event horizon.  Broderick now sits of the Board of the EHT and plays 
a central role in the science extraction. 

Page 141 of 274

https://www.desi.lbl.gov/
https://uwaterloo.ca/astrophysics-centre/news/desi-launches-five-year-quest-understand-universe
https://www.sdss4.org/surveys/eboss/


   

 

 

 

 

 

19 

Euclid 
The cosmology-focussed satellite mission 
Euclid successfully launched from Cape 
Canaveral July 1st, 2023. The launch was 
accompanied by a press release with 
significant public interest, with WCA 
members Percival and Hudson called upon 
to undertake several interviews.  Early 
observation data has been released twice 
within the year since launch, with further 
press interest. The latest press release (May 
23, 2024) led to a 2-page spread in the Globe 
and Mail and a CBC science article in which 
both Percival and Hudson were featured.  
 
The scientific work on the 6-year project 
continues, and the 15,000deg2 survey 
including both imaging and spectroscopy to 
be provided by Euclid, will be a game-
changer in many fields of astronomy. Within 
the Euclid consortium, Mike Hudson serves 
as the Canadian Euclid Consortium Board 
representative, and Will Percival serves as a 
co-lead of the Galaxy Clustering science 
working group, and is one of four Science Coordinators for the consortium, with various other 
roles. Together with Euclid Consortium members Michael Balogh, and James Taylor and two 
WCA Euclid Fellows, Marco Bonici and Pierre Burger, they ensure that the WCA remains at the 
heart of the Euclid science.  
 

Fred Young Submillimeter Telescope (FYST) 
The CCAT-prime collaboration is building the Fred Young Submillimeter Telescope (FYST), a 6-
meter aperture submillimeter wavelength telescope designed for very wide field observing. 
Construction is expected to be completed in 2024, following extensive delays due to Covid-19, 
and first light is expected in 2025.  FYST will be used for several large-area surveys with a mapping 
speed unchallenged by any current or near-future facilities in the 150 to 1500 GHz telluric 
window. With FYST, we will be poised to make new discoveries and grow our emerging leadership 
in key areas of observational cosmology and fundamental physics as well as studies of the 
magnetic structure of our Milky Way galaxy. The rapid cadence surveys that were science goals 
since the start of this project will also permit a new, exciting, and unique science goal: a search 
for rapid submillimeter-wave transients. 

Figure 2:  Will Percival at the Euclid launch site. The primed 

launch vehicle is visible in the background. 

Page 142 of 274

https://www.esa.int/Newsroom/Press_Releases/ESA_s_Euclid_lifts_off_on_quest_to_unravel_the_cosmic_mystery_of_dark_matter_and_dark_energy
https://kitchener.ctvnews.ca/video?clipId=2719376
https://www.esa.int/Science_Exploration/Space_Science/Euclid/Euclid_s_first_images_the_dazzling_edge_of_darkness


   

 

 

 

 

 

20 

The Canadian Team for 
CCAT-prime is led by 
WCA associate member 
Mike Fich and includes 
researchers at twelve 
other Canadian 
universities. All of the 
Canadian funding 
proposals have been 
successful: the Canada 
Foundation for 
Innovation (CFI) 
approved an Innovation 
Fund 2020 grant to 
support CCAT-prime and 
the Provinces of Ontario, 
Alberta, and BC have  

provided additional funds to match the CFI funding for a total of  $9.4M. Approximately 2/3 of 
these funds are being used for construction at the site of the observatory including roads, power, 
buildings, and the assembly of FYST itself. Other major expenses include the central camera 
module for the main FYST instrument (Prime-Cam) and software both for the observatory and 
for Prime-Cam data reduction.  

JWST  
The James Webb Space Telescope (JWST), which launched on December 25, 2021, is the long-
anticipated successor to the Hubble Space Telescope. Optimized for near-infrared observations, 
with a dazzling array of instrumentation, JWST will make fundamental new discoveries about the 
very early Universe, the assembly of galaxies, the birth of stars and planets, and the origins of 
life. Through the involvement of the Canadian Space Agency, Canadian astronomers have access 
to 5% of time for PI-driven projects on this extraordinary facility. WCA member Brian McNamara, 
has successfully applied for observing time in every JWST observing cycle, with time awarded for 
“Resolving the Cooling Flow at the Center of the Phoenix Cluster” (2022), “A Galaxy-Scale 
Fountain of Multiphase Gas Pumped by a Black Hole: The power of JWST combined with ALMA, 
MUSE, Chandra, and HST” (2023), “Feeding the Black-Holes : From cooling filaments to H2 
accretion disk” (2024) and, “Mapping a Black Hole Accretion Flow with JWST/NIRSpec (2024).  
The time awarded for the two 2024 projects totals 10% of the allocated Canadian time. 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Computer rendering of FYST 

Page 143 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

21 

Nancy Grace Roman Telescope 
 

The NASA-led Nancy Grace Roman 
telescope is scheduled for launch in 
2026. It consists of a 2.4m 
telescope, wide-field IR instrument 
operating in the 0.48 - 2.0 micron 
range and an exoplanet imaging 
coronagraph instrument operating 
in the 400 - 1000nm range. With a 
wide field of view of 0.28 sq deg, 
Roman will provide unique 
opportunities for cosmology, 
exoplanet studies and a wide range of astrophysics from its near-IR surveys. The instrument also 
allows grism-based spectroscopy, that will enable a galaxy redshift survey over 2000deg2 
covering the redshift range 1<z<3. This is highly complementary to the Euclid survey, covering a 
smaller area with a denser and higher redshift sample. Will Percival is the only non-US member 
of the Roman Galaxy Redshift Survey Project Infrastructure Team, led by Yun Wang (Caltech). 
 

ngEHT 

Building on the success of the original Event Horizon Telescope (EHT) and the first black hole 
picture ever, the next generation EHT (ngEHT) will modernize existing instrumentation and 
expand the geographical footprint of the array with roughly 10 new dishes. The ngEHT will use 
the same technique of very long baseline interferometry (VLBI) adopted by the EHT to unite the 
array of dishes spread across numerous continents into a single virtual telescope. Taking 
advantage of an additional observing frequency and modern high-speed data transfer protocols, 
data from this array will be used to form images and movies through advanced data processing 
algorithms. This cutting-edge technology will enable revolutionary science. The ngEHT will 
capture movies of black holes and better black hole pictures than ever before. It will test 
Einstein’s general theory of relativity at the event horizon, and uncover the nature of the 
magnetic field, the unseen force that shapes the surroundings of black holes. It will also discover 
the origin of black hole jets, the immense beams of particles that defy a black hole’s gravity. Avery 
Broderick is one of the key scientists driving this project forward. 
 

Figure 4: Artist's impression of the Nancy Grace Roman telescope in front of a 

fictional background 

Page 144 of 274



   

 

 

 

 

 

22 

Thirty Meter Telescope (TMT) 

Canada’s Long Range Plan for astronomy identified participation in a 30-m class telescope as the 
top priority for ground-based infrastructure.  With a primary mirror area about ten times larger 
than the largest telescopes that exist today, these facilities will provide the most 
transformational leap in capability that has been seen for decades.  With an advanced adaptive 
optics system (being designed and built in Canada), TMT will provide an improvement in 
sensitivity of up to a factor 100 for some applications.  At the forefront of the many exciting 
science applications is the possibility to detect signs of life on extrasolar planets.  WCA member 
Michael Balogh is one of three Canadian representatives on the Board of Directors, and a 
member of the science team for one of the first-light TMT instruments, the Wide Field Optical 
Spectrograph (WFOS).  The innovative design of this instrument will make it the most sensitive 
spectrograph ever built.   First light for the TMT is now anticipated for the late 2030s.

UNIONS 
The Ultraviolet Near Infrared Northern Survey (UNIONS) is a panchromatic imaging survey of the 
northern sky at declinations greater than +30 degrees (5,000 square degrees). Hudson led a 
successful large “Subaru Intensive” proposal to fill in the missing g-band from Subaru Telescope 
and is PI of a component of UNIONS, the Waterloo Hawaii IfA g-band Survey (WHIGS). 

Figure 5: The 30-m primary mirror is seen through the 

opening in the Calotte dome, a unique design by Empire 

Dynamic Structures Ltd., a Canadian company based in 

Burnaby , BC. 

Figure 5: A view of the segmented primary mirror and the thin, 

lightweight “spider” structure supporting the secondary mirror 

above it.  Two of the first light instruments can be seen on the 

Nasmyth platform. 

Page 145 of 274

https://www.skysurvey.cc/


 

 

 

 

23 

 
Figure 6: Observatories involved in UNIONS. Credit: UNIONS (https://www.skysurvey.cc) 

The survey is roughly halfway to meeting its goal of covering 5000 square degrees. The UNION 
weak gravitational lensing team is led by Hudson and includes his Ph.D. students (Spitzer, 
Robison, Martin, and Srinivasan). The team has recently produced a preliminary 1,700 square 
degree galaxy shape catalogue that is ideal for weak-lensing studies. Some early lensing papers 
have been published (including one led by WCA student, Bailey Robison), but most of the first 
round of weak lensing papers is expected in late 2024, and we expect this to be a research 
highlight in our next renewal proposal! 

Vera C. Rubin Observatory 
The Vera C. Rubin Observatory on Cerro 
Pachon, in Chile, is on track for a start of 
survey operations toward the end of 2025 
(Figure 7 shows the nearly completed 
exterior in July 2021).  This US-led telescope 
will conduct a ten-year Legacy Survey of 
Space and Time (LSST).  Revisiting each 
location on the sky multiple times over the 
course of the survey will provide not only very 
deep multicolour imaging of the entire 
Southern Sky, but also the ability to chart 
changing events on a range of timescales from days to years.  This exploration of time domain 
astronomy opens up many opportunities for new discovery. Thanks in part to support from the 
University of Waterloo, the Faculty of Science, and the WCA, Waterloo is hosting several 
Canadian Rubin fellowships, which will contribute both to the software architecture and science 
of the project.  The first fellows, Liza Sazanova and Jack Elvin-Poole, arrived in Waterloo in Fall, 
2022.  In return for their technical support to the project, several WCA members (Percival, 
Hudson, Balogh) are expected to have full Data Rights at first light. 

Figure 7: Vera C. Rubin Observatory in July 2021 

Page 146 of 274

https://www.lsst.org/


 

 

 

 

24 

XRISM  
The X-Ray Imaging and Spectroscopy Mission (XRISM) is an earth-orbiting X-ray observatory 
developed jointly by JAXA, NASA, ESA, and the Canadian Space Agency. Its prime camera, Resolve, 
provides non-dispersive spectroscopy with approximately 5 eV energy resolution in the 0.3-12 
keV bandpass. XRISM is the successor to Hitomi, which yielded an unprecedented study of the 
dynamics of the X-ray atmosphere of the Perseus cluster. XRISM will study the X-ray atmospheres 
of galaxy clusters, young stars, and the gaseous environments of accreting black holes after it is 
launched in 2023.  
 

WCA member Brian McNamara serves on 
NASA’s Resolve Instrument Team and is 
principal investigator for the agreement 
between NASA and the Canadian Space Agency 
entitled, X-ray Calibration for the NASA Resolve 
Instrument at the Canadian Light Source 
Synchrotron (CLS) Facility. This program 
supported facility upgrades and operation of 
the Canadian Light Source. Led by scientists 
from Goddard Space Flight Center and 
Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, 
McNamara’s team is performing Resolve filter 

transmission studies to calibrate the instrument. McNamara serves on the XRISM Science Team. 
His research team will use Resolve to perform detailed spectroscopic studies of the hot 
atmospheres of galaxies, clusters of galaxies, and accreting black holes. 
 
 

Publications 
The formation of WCA has significantly increased the number of publications from the Astronomy 
group at Waterloo.  To quantify this, we used the Smithsonian/NASA Astrophysics Data System 
(ADS) to search for articles published by WCA astronomers over the time period 2010-2023 (data 
for 2024 is incomplete), to establish a baseline publication rate prior to the establishment of the 
WCA in November 2018 and to measure the activity of researchers within the WCA after 
formation. We limited our search to publications in the astronomy collection and affiliated with 
the University of Waterloo by the faculty and postdoc members (past and present) of the WCA, 
while they were based in Waterloo.  That search was then refined to include only refereed 
articles.  This approach does not include any articles written by WCA graduate students that were 
not co-authored with WCA faculty or postdocs. While we are aware that such articles exist, they 
are limited in number.  

Figure 8: Computer rendering of the XRISM observatory. 

Page 147 of 274

https://heasarc.gsfc.nasa.gov/docs/xrism/index.html
https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/


 

 

 

 

25 

 

 
The total number of refereed publications from WCA Faculty and postdocs, while affiliated with 
the University of Waterloo, over the fourteen-year period of 2010-2023 is 1022.  506 (49.5%) of 
those refereed publications were published in the five years 2019-2023 since the formation of 
the WCA.  A listing of all WCA-affiliated papers is given in Appendix D: WCA Publications. We plot 
the number of refereed publications from WCA members in Figure 9.  The dashed grey line 
indicates the number of publications from WCA faculty members, while the blue line shows the 
number of publications from WCA faculty and Postdoctoral fellows.  The establishment of the 
WCA is marked by the grey vertical line.   The plot shows that the publication rate of the 
astronomy group at the University of Waterloo has increased by a factor of more than 2 and 
continues to rise.  The difference between the blue line and the grey dashed line indicates the 
number of papers written by postdocs that are not co-authored with WCA faculty and this is an 
indication of the extent to which our postdocs are making connections and collaborating with 
researchers outside of the WCA.  The difference between the two lines in 2016 is due to a paper 
written by WCA former postdoc Simovic, as a graduate student, with David Kubizňák (Perimeter 
Institute).  
 
 
 
  

Figure 9:  Number of refereed publications per year co-authored by WCA members. 

Page 148 of 274



 

 

 

 

26 

Impactful Publications 
 

At the time of writing (June, 2024), forty-nine papers published by the WCA within the last 6 years 
have over 100 citations.  The journal reference, title and current number of citations are listed in 
Table 1 below. 
 
What stands out from this list are the series of papers by the Event Horizon Telescope (EHT) team 
since the end of 2018, 38 in total, which have received 10,624 citations to date. Avery Broderick 
and his team have made significant contributions to this body of work. “First M87 Event Horizon 
Telescope Results. I. The Shadow of the Supermassive Black Hole” (2019 ApJ, 875L, 1) co-
authored by WCA members Broderick, Georgiev, Jeter, Ni and Tiede is the most highly cited 
paper published by the WCA.  It has received 2787 citations to date. (The most highly cited paper 
written prior to the establishment of the WCA is “P-V criticality of charged AdS black holes” 
(Kubizňák & Mann, 2012, JHEP, 07, 033), which has received 982 citations to date.). 
 
The list also includes a set of highly cited papers focussed on cosmology, including papers 
presenting data from the Sloan Digital Sky Survey (SDSS). Will Percival and his team have worked 
for many years on this project, with Percival most recently serving as Survey Scientist for the 
fourth SDSS-IV and holding various management positions for prior stages of this project. The 
results from SDSS-IV including cosmological measurements from Baryon Acoustic Oscillation 
(BAO) and Redshift Space Distortion (RSD) were summarised in “The Completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: Cosmological Implications from two Decades 
of Spectroscopic Surveys at the Apache Point observatory” (2021 PRD, 103, 083533) co-authored 
by WCA members Chapman, Mohammad and Percival.  It has received 846 citations to date. 
 
There are several additional highly cited papers by WCA members, including theoretical papers 
on black holes and cosmological simulations. There are also a series of white papers resulting 
from a US based future plan, which review the current state of cosmology and rank the desires 
for the future. Looking ahead, we can also see good traction for a paper summarising the 
cosmological measurements to be made from the Euclid satellite. 

  
Table 1: WCA papers receiving more than 100 citations, as of June 2024. 

Journal reference Title Citations 

2019 ApJL ,875, L1 
First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. I. The Shadow of 
the Supermassive Black Hole  2787 

2019 ApJL ,875, L6 
First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. VI. The Shadow 
and Mass of the Central Black Hole  1089 

2019 ApJL,875,L5 
First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. V. Physical Origin 
of the Asymmetric Ring  1017 

2020 ApJS, 249, 3 

The 16th Data Release of the Sloan Digital Sky Surveys: First 
Release from the APOGEE-2 Southern Survey and Full Release 
of eBOSS Spectra  1012 

2019 ApJL, 875, L4 
First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. IV. Imaging the 
Central Supermassive Black Hole  997 

Page 149 of 274



 

 

 

 

27 

2021 PhRvD, 103h, 
3533A 

Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic 
Survey: Cosmological implications from two decades of 
spectroscopic surveys at the Apache Point Observatory  846 

2022 ApJL, 930, L12 

First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. I. The 
Shadow of the Supermassive Black Hole in the Center of the 
Milky Way  756 

2019 ApJL, 875, L2 
First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. II. Array and 
Instrumentation  729 

2022 JHEAp, 34, 49 

Cosmology intertwined: A review of the particle physics 
astrophysics and cosmology associated with the cosmological 
tensions and anomalies  665 

2019 ApJL, 875, L3 
First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. III. Data Processing 
and Calibration  639 

2022 ApJS, 259, 35 
The Seventeenth Data Release of the Sloan Digital Sky Surveys: 
Complete Release of MaNGA MaStar and APOGEE-2 Data  585 

2021 ApJL, 910, L13 
First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. VIII. Magnetic Field 
Structure near The Event Horizon  395 

2021 APh, 131, 102605 Cosmology Intertwined II: The hubble constant tension  367 

2019 ApJS, 240, 23 

The Fifteenth Data Release of the Sloan Digital Sky Surveys: 
First Release of MaNGA-derived Quantities Data Visualization 
Tools and Stellar Library  334 

2020 ApJS, 250, 8 
The Sloan Digital Sky Survey Quasar Catalog: Sixteenth Data 
Release  317 

2022 ApJL, 930, L17 
First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. VI. 
Testing the Black Hole Metric  313 

2020 A&A, 642, A191 
Euclid preparation. VII. Forecast validation for Euclid 
cosmological probes  294 

2021 APh, 131, 102604 Cosmology Intertwined III: fs8 and S8 279 

2021 ApJL, 910, L12 
First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. VII. Polarization of 
the Ring  277 

2020 ApJ, 901, 153 

The Completed SDSS-IV Extended Baryon Oscillation 
Spectroscopic Survey: Baryon Acoustic Oscillations with Ly-
alpha Forests 264 

2022 ApJL, 930, L16 
First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. V. Testing 
Astrophysical Models of the Galactic Center Black Hole  262 

2022 A&A, 662, A112 Euclid preparation. I. The Euclid Wide Survey  245 
2020 ApJS, 250, 2 The Quijote Simulations  238 

2020 JHEP, 2020, 27 
On taking the D®4 limit of Gauss-Bonnet gravity: theory and 
solutions  224 

2019 ApJS, 243, 26 
The Event Horizon General Relativistic Magnetohydrodynamic 
Code Comparison Project  224 

2021 MNRAS, 500, 736 

The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation 
Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth 
rate of structure of the luminous red galaxy sample from the 
anisotropic correlation function between redshifts 0.6 and 1  222 

2019 A&A, 629, A86 
Baryon acoustic oscillations from the cross-correlation of Ly-
alpha absorption and quasars in eBOSS DR14  220 

Page 150 of 274



 

 

 

 

28 

2021 MNRAS, 500, 1201 

The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation 
Spectroscopic Survey: BAO and RSD measurements from 
anisotropic clustering analysis of the quasar sample in 
configuration space between redshift 0.8 and 2.2  213 

2019 A&A, 629, A85 
Baryon acoustic oscillations at z = 2.34 from the correlations of 
Ly-alpha absorption in eBOSS DR14  209 

2022 ApJL, 930, L14 
First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. III. 
Imaging of the Galactic Center Supermassive Black Hole  208 

2020 MNRAS, 499, 210 

The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation 
Spectroscopic Survey: BAO and RSD measurements from the 
anisotropic power spectrum of the quasar sample between 
redshift 0.8 and 2.2  191 

2020 MNRAS, 498, 2492 

The Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation 
Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth 
rate of structure of the luminous red galaxy sample from the 
anisotropic power spectrum between redshifts 0.6 and 1.0  190 

2022 AJ, 164, 207 
Overview of the Instrumentation for the Dark Energy 
Spectroscopic Instrument  185 

2022 ApJL, 930, L13 
First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. II. EHT 
and Multiwavelength Observations  and Calibration  183 

2021 PhRvD, 103, 
104047 

Constraints on black-hole charges with the 2017 EHT 
observations of M87*  177 

2022 ApJL, 930, L15 
First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. IV. 
Variability  Morphology  and Black Hole Mass  176 

2021 MNRAS, 501, 5616 

The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation 
Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth 
rate of structure of the emission line galaxy sample from the 
anisotropic power spectrum between redshift 0.6 and 1.1  175 

2022 ApJL, 936, L14 The JWST Early Release Observations  166 
2019 PhRvL 123, 
071103 

Repulsive Interactions and Universal Properties of Charged 
Anti-de Sitter Black Hole Microstructures  166 

2020 MNRAS, 498, 2354 

The Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation 
Spectroscopic Survey: Large-scale structure catalogues for 
cosmological analysis  138 

2019 PhRvD, 99, 044015 
Shadow and deflection angle of rotating black holes in perfect 
fluid dark matter with a cosmological constant  133 

2019 JCAP, 2019, 030 Curvature radius and Kerr black hole shadow  133 

2023 AJ, 165, 253 
The DESI Bright Galaxy Survey: Final Target Selection Design 
and Validation  115 

2020 MNRAS, 499, 5527 

The completed SDSS-IV extended baryon oscillation 
spectroscopic survey: growth rate of structure measurement 
from anisotropic clustering analysis in configuration space 
between redshift 0.6 and 1.1 for the emission-line galaxy 
sample  114 

2019 PhRvD, 100, 
124033 

Ruppeiner geometry phase transitions and the microstructure 
of charged AdS black holes  114 

Page 151 of 274



 

 

 

 

29 

2019 ApJ, 878, 18 
The Next Generation Virgo Cluster Survey. XXIII. Fundamentals 
of Nuclear Star Clusters over Seven Decades in Galaxy Mass  107 

2021 MNRAS, 500, 3254 

The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation 
Spectroscopic Survey: large-scale structure catalogues and 
measurement of the isotropic BAO between redshift 0.6 and 
1.1 for the Emission Line Galaxy Sample  103 

2021 A&A, 648, A24 
Water in star-forming regions: physics and chemistry from 
clouds to disks as probed by Herschel spectroscopy  102 

2021 MNRAS, 503, 1149 

The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation 
Spectroscopic Survey: 1000 multi-tracer mock catalogues with 
redshift evolution and systematics for galaxies and quasars of 
the final data release  101 

 

 

Research Highlights 
 

Results from the EHT: The first ever images of black holes 
On April 10th 2019, the (EHT) collaboration reported the first ever image of a black hole. They 
used eight interconnected ground-based radio telescopes spread over four continents, working 
together using a technique called very-long-baseline interferometry (VLBI). VLBI allowed the EHT 
to achieve an astounding resolution of 10 to 20 micro-arcseconds — equivalent to reading a 
newspaper in New York from a sidewalk café in Paris. With these new cluster of powerful 
instruments, they obtained images of the supermassive black hole M87, the first ever image of a 
black hole. WCA member Avery Broderick participated in the creation and interpretation of these 
images. 

 
“This is a landmark in astronomy, an unprecedented scientific feat accomplished by more than 
200 scientists”, said EHT project director Sheperd S. Doeleman of the Center for Astrophysics | 
Harvard & Smithsonian. “This remarkable result has given humanity its first glimpse of the 

Figure 10: The shadow at the centre of M87; the first image of a black hole 

Page 152 of 274



 

 

 

 

30 

shadow of a supermassive black hole.” Broderick was one of the four members of the EHT 
selected to present the first image of a black hole at the EHT press conference in April 2019.  The 
European Southern Observatory estimated that the EHT’s image of M87 has been seen by more 
than half of humanity, emphasizing the profound societal impact that science can have.   
 
Following the release of the first images of M87, the EHT Collaboration has overseen the 
development of ground-breaking advances in imaging techniques, retrospective studies of M87’s 
“wobble”, and observations of the quasar 3C 279. The EHT stations also record the polarization 
of the incident astronomical radio waves, which carry information about magnetic fields in EHT 
sources.  In March 2021, the EHT published the first horizon-resolving polarization maps of M87, 
proving the existence of large-scale ordered magnetic fields wrapped about the black hole.  These 
fields have long been implicated in the launching and acceleration of jets, the lightspeed outflows 
observed to emanate from active galactic nuclei.   
 

 
In May 2022, the EHT reported the first images of the second horizon-science target: the 
supermassive black hole at the centre of the Milky Way, Sagittarius A* (Sgr A*).  Doing so was 
the culmination of many fundamental developments in radio astronomy, the most important of 
which was addressing Sgr A*’s extreme variability; Sgr A* would evolve on timescales of minutes 
while EHT images are synthesized from observations that extend over many hours.  
Characterizing the structural variability in Sgr A* probed a crucial process for driving accretion, 
turbulence, and placed our best theoretical models on a firm empirical foundation. The image 
releases of the black holes in the centre of M87 and SgrA* were reported in the UWaterloo news 
articles, “First image of black hole captured” and “Finding our galactic centre”. 
 

Figure 11: EHT image of time-averaged emission from Sagittarius A* over a single night 

Page 153 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/news/news/first-image-black-hole-captured
https://uwaterloo.ca/news/science/finding-our-galactic-centre


 

 

 

 

31 

 

First cosmology results from the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) 
On April 4 2024, DESI 
released cosmological 
results made using the 
Baryon Acoustic 
Oscillation technique, a 
technique developed by 
Will Percival over the 
last 25 years. The 3D 
map produced by DESI 
can see 11 billion years 
into the past and 
provides information on 
how the universe has 
grown and evolved. This 
map uses galaxies and 
gas clouds, observed by 
DESI during its first year 
of operation, as tracers of cosmic expansion throughout history and provides the most precise 
measurements we've ever seen of how the universe as expanded. Percival and WCA postdocs 
Alex Krolewski, Enrique Paillas and Hanyu Zhang played an integral role in creating this new map 
along with collaborators from over 70 institutions around the world. Over 1000 press articles 
were written about these results world-wide.  DESI is managed by the US Department of Energy’s 
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (Berkeley Lab). The Waterloo team is led by Will Percival, 
who will serve a 2-year term as co-Spokesperson of the project from Sept 1, 2024. 
 

Astrophysicists release largest 3D map of the Universe ever created 
In July 2020, the eBOSS (extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey) team formally 
announced its final measurements. eBOSS was a dedicated galaxy redshift survey produced as 
part of the Sloan Digital Sky Survey (SDSS), and represents the culmination of 20 years of 
development, that has produced a series of galaxy surveys that now span a period of 11 billion 
years of cosmic history. Combining observations from eBOSS with studies of the universe in its 
infancy from the CMB reveals cracks in the standard cosmological model. In particular, the eBOSS 
team’s measurement of the current rate of expansion of the universe (the “Hubble Constant”) is 
about 10 percent lower than the value found from distances to nearby galaxies.  

Page 154 of 274



 

 

 

 

32 

 

Within the eBOSS team, individual groups at universities around the world focused on different 
aspects of the analysis. To create the part of the map dating back six billion years, the team used 
large, red galaxies. Farther out, they used younger, blue galaxies. Finally, to map the universe 
eleven billion years in the past and more, they used quasars, which are bright galaxies lit up by 
material falling onto a central supermassive black hole. Each of these samples required careful 
analysis to remove contaminants and reveal the patterns of the universe. Faizan Mohammad, a 
postdoctoral researcher at the WCA, led one such analysis. “The hardware used to make the 
observations itself leaves an imprint on the map,” said Mohammad. “It has been a lot of hard 
work to understand this imprint and remove it from the data, enabling robust measurements to 
be made about the universe.” eBOSS, and SDSS more generally, leaves the puzzle of dark energy, 
and the mismatch of local and early universe expansion rate, as a legacy to future projects – such 
as the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) and Euclid, a European Space Agency satellite 
mission. 
 
23 papers were published on arXiv together on July 20 2022, and a press release was sent out 
describing the work aimed at news outlets across the world. As Survey Scientist for the latest 
SDSS survey Will Percival played a big part in the coordination of these results, and the press 
interest that followed. In particular, he gave three interviews on primetime Canadian TV 
networks (including the CBC National) describing the research, and a similar number of radio 

Figure 12: The SDSS galaxy surveys (coloured points) located in the observable universe (surrounding sphere) defined by the 

Cosmic Microwave Background. The plots on the rights show the Baryon Acoustic Oscillation measurements in each sub-sample 

at a different redshift. The scale of the “bump” in these plots acts a standard ruler allowing the expansion of the Universe to be 
robustly measured.  [Image credit: Anand Raichoor (EPFL), Ashley Ross (Ohio State University)]  

Page 155 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/news/news/astrophysicists-release-largest-3d-map-universe-ever-created


 

 

 

 

33 

interviews. The press release was picked up by many news outlets (CNN, CBC, …) across the world 
and news articles were written about this work. In addition, four YouTube videos were released 
describing the work and providing a “fly-through” of the Universe, including two produced by the 
Perimeter Institute. Collective views currently stand at over one million for these videos. 
 

Observing the build-up of structure 
The standard model for cosmology predicts that the large structures we see around us in the 
universe - galaxies or groups and clusters of galaxies - should have assembled “hierarchically”, 
from smaller pieces that formed earlier. While local structures such as the Virgo cluster certainly 
seem irregular, direct evidence for their hierarchical assembly from older components was 
lacking. In a recent publication, James Taylor demonstrated that galaxies in the central regions 
of the cluster have higher dark matter densities than those on the edges of the cluster. This is the 
first direct evidence that these objects formed earlier, at a time when the background density of 
the universe was higher, and thus dark matter halos were denser.  
 

In the figure to the left, points represent 
individual galaxies whose mass 
distributions were determined by the 
SHIVir survey (Ouellette et al. 2017). 
The colour scale indicates average dark 
matter density within the optical extent 
of the galaxy. The dashed circles outline 
the main structural components of the 
cluster (note that SHIVir only covers the 
upper left half of the field). Galaxies 
with high dark matter densities (yellow, 
orange and red symbols) tend to reside 
at the centres of the structural 
components, showing that these 
regions formed earlier, whereas lower-
density objects (green and blue 
symbols) are more widely dispersed. 
 

 
 

The GOGREEN survey 
The Gemini Observations of Galaxies in Rich Early ENvironments (GOGREEN) survey is a 
spectroscopic and imaging survey of 21 galaxy clusters in the redshift range 1 < z < 1.5. The 
systems span a wide range of mass, from groups of only a few galaxies up to the most massive 
clusters at those early epochs.  WCA member Michael Balogh is the Project Lead and was 
Principal Investigator on the initial proposal for the inaugural round of Large and Long Programs 
on the Gemini telescopes in 2014.  Ultimately, the Gemini program observed over 500 hours of 
spectroscopy from 2014-2019, in the largest ever allocation of time to a single program at that 

Page 156 of 274



 

 

 

 

34 

observatory.  In addition to the spectroscopy, deep multiwavelength imaging over the full 
optical/near-infrared spectrum was obtained from over 100 hours of integration on 4m- and 
8m-class facilities around the world.   Imaging with the Hubble Space Telescope was also 
obtained on all clusters.   
 
The power of these data are illustrated in Figure 13.  GOGREEN and the earlier GCLASS project 
provide a premier sample of galaxy clusters, reflecting the Universe as it was more than 7 billion 
years ago (top left).  For each cluster, the highly complete spectroscopy allows the 
identification of cluster members over the full extent of the virialized system (right panel).  Each 
galaxy has high precision photometry over the full optical/NIR spectrum as well as medium 
resolution spectroscopy from Gemini (lower left). 

  
Figure 13: The top left panel shows several existing galaxy cluster surveys, as a function of cluster mass and redshift.   

GOGREEN and GCLASS clusters are represented by green and red circles; these are the best studied clusters at this redshift.  

Each cluster has Gemini spectroscopy over its full extent, which allows us to distinguish cluster members from the foreground 

and background (right panel).  For ever cluster member the full spectral energy distribution is available from high precision 

photometry and moderate resolution spectroscopy (bottom left), from which stellar population parameters can be measured. 

At the time of writing, GOGREEN has resulted in 15 refereed publications, that have been 
collectively cited over 200 times, including papers led by MSc students Guillaume Hewitt, Karen 
McNab and PhD students Kristi Webb and Andrew Reeves. 
 

Testing Einstein’s theory of gravity  
Finding competitors to Einstein’s theory of gravity is now quite commonplace. There are many 
ways of generalizing his original idea that gravity is manifest as spacetime curvature. One new 
competitor — known as Einstein Cubic Gravity — has recently been shown to be of particular 
interest. It modifies Einstein’s theory by adding a combination of terms cubic in curvature to the 
usual linear term in such a way that the thermodynamics of black holes is uniquely determined 
and that gravitational waves at large distances have behaviour identical to that in Einstein gravity. 

Cluster member Non-member

Wide wavelength range of photometry

Rest-frame optical spectroscopy

Page 157 of 274



 

 

 

 

35 

These two features make the theory an interesting competitor that can be tested by further 
observation. Last year, Robert Mann and PhD student Mohammad Poshteh, showed that 
gravitational lensing effects due to black holes in Einstein Cubic Gravity differ in a small but 
distinct way from their counterparts in Einstein’s theory of general relativity. This means that 
Einstein Cubic Gravity can be tested by observation (Poshteh & Mann, Phys. Rev. D 99, 024035, 
2019) 
 

Understanding the early universe 
The physics of the early universe is what determines how our cosmos looks like today. In the last 
couple of decades, the inflationary paradigm has gradually become the widely accepted theory 
to describe the initial conditions of the Universe. Ghazal Geshnizjani has been testing the validity 
of the effective field theory and semi-classical gravity assumptions that are used in inflation and 
their consistency with current theoretical candidates to describe quantum gravity (Babic et al. 
2020 as well as past and ongoing project with Hyungjin Kim). She has found a bounce solution 
within a modified theory of gravity called cuscuton that can potentially resolve the Big Bang 
singularity problem. With her student Leo Kim, they showed that in a cuscuton bounce scenario 
scale-invariant entropy modes can be generated (Kim and GG 2020). As far as they are aware this 
is the first time that such a self-consistent mathematical solution has been found.  
 

A novel predictive framework for the novel Coronovirus 
It would be hard to exaggerate the impact that COVID-19 pandemic outbreak, caused by the rapid 
spread of the SARS–CoV-2 coronavirus, has had on human civilization. Cascading effects from the 
impact of the pandemic on national healthcare systems, as well as the shutdown of a large 
fraction of global socioeconomic activity can further impact the health and livelihood of the world 
population and lead to secondary fatalities, as well as shortening and/or deterioration of lives. 
Therefore, it is of paramount importance to understand the true dynamics and efficiency of 
mitigation strategies, so that a proper, transparent, and balanced response can be designed and 
adopted by local governments across the world.  
 
In a truly interdisciplinary effort, Afshordi and his collaborators (Afshordi et al, Mathematics of 
Public Health, 2020) offer a new data-driven way of attacking this problem via a dynamical causal 
model informed by their unusual array of backgrounds in cosmology, quantum mechanics, and 
mathematical modeling. They have developed a physical model for the growth of the disease 
based on the collision of infected and susceptible populations in a community, with a cross-
section+stochastic incubation of the virus. They then calibrate the cross-section and incubation, 
in terms of population demographics of the county, its Google social mobility, search trends, and 
weather, by comparing the model to the actual growth rates of COVID in all US counties. This 
leads to a powerful model that can be used to predict the growth/decay of pandemic in all local 
communities, through their online dashboard: https://wolfr.am/COVID19Dash . They hope this 
framework can be scaled up to more regions/data and be used to inform smart region-specific 
policies to suppress and/or mitigate the pandemic and its adverse effects, and ultimately, save 
lives.  This work was featured in a University of Waterloo news item. 
 

Page 158 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/news/science/modeling-mysteries-universe-closer-home


 

 

 

 

36 

A New Cosmological Test based on the Structure of Galaxy Clusters  
Not all is well in cosmology, and there is tension between measurements of the amplitude of 
fluctuations in the large-scale distribution of matter, made using different data. Fluctuations in 
the distribution of matter can be measured directly in the local universe by counting galaxy 
clusters, which correspond to peaks in the matter distribution. In a paper published in the 
Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, James Taylor and PhD student Yuba Amoura 
(Amoura Y., et al. , 2021, MNRAS, 508, 100), considered the problem of distinguishing between 
models where fluctuations start large and grow slowly, versus models where they start small and 
grow quickly. One key difference is in the age of structures; in the high-growth case, structures 
such as galaxy clusters should have formed more recently, and thus be more diffuse, irregular, 
and disturbed. Using both analytic theory and numerical simulations, Amoura and collaborators 
show that age (or assembly time) varies almost orthogonally to abundance in the space of 
cosmological model parameters, such that separate measurements of age and abundance might 
reduce the uncertainties in these parameters by a factor of 10 or more. They are now developing 
a practical pipeline for this test, in collaboration with members of the Euclid Cluster Science 
Working Group. 
 
 

Research Grants 
WCA faculty members are active in seeking funding to support their research and enjoy success.  
Faculty are regularly awarded grants from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council 
of Canada (NSERC) and Canadian Space Agency (CSA).  We also take advantage of other 
opportunities, including interdisciplinary grants, such as the New Frontiers in Research Fund, and 
grants targeted towards supporting junior researchers, such as the NSERC NOVA grants. In 2022 
and 2023, our income from research grants and awards running over multiple years was 
approximately $1.4M and $1.3M CAD, respectively. While we expect fluctuations in this amount 
per year, we do not see these years as atypical. 
 
We also have also received a number of one-off sources of funding: Avery Broderick has been 
supported by the Dean of Science and Perimeter Institute to set up the Horizon AstroPhysics 
Initiative (HAPI), a joint venture by the University of Waterloo and Perimeter Institute to support 
and accelerate the continued exploitation of EHT/ngEHT observations of the near-horizon region 
of M87* and Sgr A* to inform the nature and astronomical impact of black holes and prepare for 
future space-based experiments. Mike Fich (now Associate WCA member) was PI for the CFI 
award covering the Fred Young Submillimeter Telescope (FYST) in 2022. Ghazal Geshniziani (now 
Associate WCA member) was co-investigator for an award from the Fields Institute for Research 
in Mathematical Sciences to organise a Thematic Program on Nonsmooth Riemannian and 
Lorentzian Geometry. This brought together a diverse group of scientists together to work on this 
topic with a series of visits, conferences and the support of postdoctoral fellows. WCA 
Postdoctoral Fellows are also encouraged to seek funding.  We currently number a Banting Fellow 
and a CITA National fellow among postdoctoral fellows and have previously had a postdoctoral 
fellow funded by an AMTD award. 
 

Page 159 of 274

http://www.fields.utoronto.ca/activities/22-23/nonsmooth
http://www.fields.utoronto.ca/activities/22-23/nonsmooth


 

 

 

 

37 

The WCA continues to obtain significant computing resources through the Digital Research 

Alliance of Canada (formerly Compute Canada in 2024.  For the year 2022, the same organisation 

awarded WCA members Percival, Broderick and Taylor over 4,000 cpu years of computing time 

so that the WCA accounted for 36% of the allocation awarded to PIs based at the University of 

Waterloo. The equivalent value, as calculated by the Digital Alliance is over $600k / year. 

Approximately the same level of support has continued with simpler fast-track proposals in the 

subsequent two years. 

 

 

WCA Supported events 
 

WCA Launch Event 
The launch event for the WCA happened on the same day as our first Governing Board meeting, 
4 October 2019, and consisted of three parts: a scientific meeting during the day and early 
afternoon; a formal inauguration including a speech by the president of the University; and a 
public talk by Christine Jones Forman on “Black Holes, Dark Matter and Dark Energy: Exploring 
the Invisible Universe” in the early evening.   
 

CFU-WCA Conference 
We held a joint meeting between the Perimeter Institute Centre for the Universe (CFU) and the 
Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics on February 21st, 2020. Theory talks were given at the 
University of Waterloo in the morning, with lunch provided, followed by observational talks at 
Perimeter in the afternoon and a joint dinner event. The meeting went well, with a series of 
excellent interesting talks, leading to significant discussion. The interactions led to several 
collaborations between CFU and WCA members. 
 

CCAT Prime collaboration meeting 
The CCAT-prime telescope collaboration was scheduled to hold its first “Collaboration Meeting” 
April 7 and April 8, 2020. The COVID-19 pandemic meant that we switched formats to an on-line 
four-day, five hours/day format: initially there were 41 people planning to attend the in-person 
meeting but by the end 103 people had joined the on-line meeting. The meeting helped to 
optimise the survey strategy for the project. 
 

GOGREEN 
In August 2020, the WCA hosted the annual workshop of the GOGREEN collaboration, led by WCA 
faculty member, Michael Balogh. The workshop coincided with the first major public data release 
from the survey. To announce and celebrate this milestone, the first two days of the conference 
were opened to people outside the collaboration and over 80 people attended. The meeting 
featured many talks from students and postdocs, including WCA members Karen McNab (MSc), 
Andrew Reeves (PhD) and Kristi Webb (PhD). 
 

Page 160 of 274



 

 

 

 

38 

CASCA 2022 
From May 16-20, 2022 we hosted the Canadian Astronomical Society (CASCA) Annual General 

Meeting “Canadian Astronomy in the Roaring 2020’s” / "L'astronomie canadienne dans les 

années 2020". Unfortunately, because of Covid restrictions we had to take the decision to hold 

the meeting online, rather than in-person. We had 468 participants and participants were able 

to use the Whova platform to facilitate session streaming, networking, and access to materials. 

Attached to the conference, we held an in-person outreach talk, with Prof Katie Mack discussing 

how the Universe will end “Physics at the end of the Universe”. 

 

Quantum Spacetime in the Cosmos: From Conception to Reality  
Afshordi’s University of Waterloo Trailblazer Grant was used to host an interdisciplinary 
conference exploring the inconsistencies between Einstein’s theory of relativity and Quantum 
Mechanics.  The WCA was a sponsor for the conference, which was held at the Perimeter Institute 
on May 8-12, 2023.   
 

Understanding feedback in galaxies and clusters 
During the week May 27-30, 2024, we hosted a conference to celebrate WCA member Brian 
McNamara’s 65th birthday. With 24 invited speakers and numerous events, this was a great 
success, with many anecdotes about Brian’s career aired. Dr Helen Russell, a former Waterloo 
postdoc who is now faculty at the University of Nottingham in the UK, gave a public talk: “Black 
Hole Feedback”. 
 

50 Years of Horndeski Gravity: Exploring Modified Gravity 
50 years ago, Gregory Horndeski's undertook pioneering work within the Waterloo Mathematical 
Physics Community considering ways to expand on Einstein’s theory of Gravity. After leaving 
Waterloo to pursue a successful career as an artist, he returned to attend a conference in his 
honor, July 15-19, 2024. On July 16, we collaborated with Advancement to host a public talk “The 
Gravity of Tinkering with Einstein” by Waterloo alumni, Cliff Burgess. 
 

Outreach Activities 
 

From its inception, it has been the intent to use the WCA as a base to engage with the general 
public and the broader academic community, and to share the excitement of the science done 
by WCA members.  Astronomy naturally lends itself to outreach efforts and we will use this to 
enhance our impact.  
 

Involving Advancement 
The need to raise funds to help us deliver exceptional, informative and entertaining events was 
recognised early on. WCA members worked closely with the advancement team.  On November 
22, 2018, WCA members Will Percival and Brian McNamara attended the Canadian Council for 
the Advancement of Education (CCAE) course “Development for Deans with Lorna Somers”.  This 

Page 161 of 274

https://uwaterloo.ca/canadian-astronomical-society/


 

 

 

 

39 

provided insight into the work of Advancement, and Advancement techniques. We also took the 
opportunity of both Percival and Broderick attending a conference on “Testing Gravity” in 
Vancouver in January 2019, to organise a public talk by Broderick “Images from the Edge of 
Spacetime: Resolving Black Holes” for Waterloo Alumni in the California region, and several 
meet-and-greet events for both Broderick and Percival in Vancouver. These efforts have proved 
successful and the WCA is the beneficiary of donations totalling $63,991.75.  This includes two 
philanthropic donations of $50,000 and $6,000, which have been used to purchase our inflatable 
planetarium.   
 

Planetarium 
We took delivery of our inflatable planetarium at the end of October 2022.  An inflatable dome 
means that a specialized building is not required to host planetarium shows and, most 
importantly, we can take our planetarium on tour. Our planetarium has a 6m diameter inflatable 
dome and digital projector from Digitalis, which is large enough to easily fit a class of thirty school 

children, teachers and planetarium presenters but, once deflated, is easily transportable. As well 
as live shows we can also play movies in the appropriate 360degree format, including one 
released in March 2023 covering the DESI project described in Dark Energy Spectroscopic 

Instrument (DESI). We have used the planetarium on campus for school visits and other events 
as well as taking it to schools and youth groups. The dome can be used indoors only.  
  

Outreach coordinator 
Recognising the need to have a specific person in charge of coordinating outreach activities, the 
WCA created the position of Outreach Coordinator in 2022.  The outreach coordinator is 
responsible for creating outreach initiatives and coordinating our group of graduate student and 
postdoctoral outreach volunteers to run outreach events. Currently, the role is filled by 
Postdoctoral Fellow, Roan Haggar, who spends half of his time on research and half on outreach.   

Figure 14: WCA planetarium. The 6m dome inflatable dome (left) deflates to an easily transportable size (right).  Small 

telescopes we can use for outreach can be seen in storage behind the projector and deflated dome. 

Page 162 of 274

https://www.digitaliseducation.com/index


 

 

 

 

40 

Roan is driven to make astronomy accessible to as many people as possible and is keen to reach 
people in the wider Kitchener-Waterloo community. 
 

Regular outreach events 
Over the past 18 months, Roan has set up a popular and effective outreach program.  The 
inflatable planetarium in the star of the show but we also run two different regular seminar series 
and have become regular contributors to annual on-campus efforts. 
 

Astrobubble: planetarium tours and visits 
The planetarium is advertised as the AstroBubble, named to appeal to children and educators. 
The content of the planetarium shows has focused on planets, stars and constellations that can 
be seen in the night sky, to encourage students to develop an interest in looking at the night sky 
themselves.  Additionally, we discuss the cultural significance of the night sky and the history of 
observational astronomy.  The content and length of AstroBubble shows are tailored to the age 
of the group we are seeing.   
 
We have teamed up with Becca Tanouye, who coordinates with the Ontario Postsecondary 
Access and Inclusion Program (OPAIP) for the University of Waterloo.  Becca helps us to 
coordinate taking the AstroBubble into high schools in communities which historically have not 
accessed postsecondary education (PSE), which include students who identify as Black, 
Indigenous, marginalized or racialized, first-generation, newcomers, low-income, 2SLGBTQIA+, 
and students with disabilities.    We also take the AstroBubble into elementary and high schools 
on request. 
 
Although we focus on taking the AstroBubble into schools, we have also undertaken a small 
number of visits to youth groups and classes, but mainly rely on these groups visiting campus for 
planetarium shows. Girl groups we have made presentation to include the Girl Guides and the 
Canadian Association of Girls in Science.   On campus, the AstroBubble has become a highly 
popular addition for Physics Lab Days, PhysiX: Girls Matter, Science Open House and alumni 
weekends.   
 
We began running AstroBubble shows in November 2022. Since then, we have run 200 
AstroBubble shows for a total of 4719 school children and their families. In the school year of 
2022-2023, when we were still establishing the program, we ran 36 shows for 744 children and 
families.  We consider the 2023-2024 school year to be more typical and ran 164 shows for 3975 
children and families.  When one considers that the school year contains a minimum of 194 
instructional days, this means that we have seen an average of 20 school children (a small class) 
per instructional day! 
 
 

Page 163 of 274



 

 

 

 

41 

 

 
 
 

Public talks 
The WCA has given many public talks since its inception. Before 2023, these were one-off events. 

For example, in 2018, Will Percival spoke on “Mapping the Universe”, while in 2019, Mike Hudson 

gave a lecture on “Cosmic Mirages: seeing dark matter with gravitational lenses”. Both were sold 

out. The WCA also hosted a special public talk from Avery Broderick to coincide with the EHT 

image release in 2019.   Katie Mack gave a public presentations and book signing at part of the 

CASCA AGM (see CASCA 2022 above). WCA ATMD Fellow, Alex Krolewski, gave a public talk “An 

evening among the galaxies: gravitational lensing and dark energy" on January 26 2023.  Most 

recently, on April 24th 2024, Avery Broderick gave a public talk “Resolving the lives of black holes: 

experimental strong gravity” to celebrate the release of the first images of polarised light from 

Figure 15: Collage of images from planetarium shows in 2022. 

Page 164 of 274



 

 

 

 

42 

Sgr A*, the black hole at the centre of our galaxy.   This was the first of a planned series of talks 

co-organised with advancement, designed to appeal to Alumni. 

 

WCA-Kitchener Public Library seminar series  
In 2023, to draw in a more diverse audience than usually attends public talks held on the 

University campus, Roan approached the Kitchener Public Library (KPL) and we now jointly hold 

a series of monthly public astronomy talks.  The talks are advertised over existing mailing lists 

maintained by science outreach and the Gustav Bakos Observatory but, to reach out more 

broadly, we also take advantage of the KPL’s event advertising and the event pages of the Cities 

of Kitchener and Waterloo.   The public lecture series at KPL began in May 2023 and to date, we 

have held 11 events at KPL that have been attended by 755 people. 

 

Astronomy on Tap 
“Astronomy on Tap” happens approximately every 2 months at the Crazy Canuck bar in 
Kitchener, where we engage in informal discussions about astronomy with interested patrons. 
This attracts a very different audience than would, for example, come to a public talk held at the 
University.   The venue is smaller than the library and the seven events we have held to date have 
been attended by 348 people. 
 

Perseid meteor shower 
Since August of the International Year of Astronomy (2009), the Astronomy group runs an event, 
jointly with the Kitchener-Waterloo branch of the Royal Astronomical Society of Canada, timed 
to coincide with the Perseids meteor shower.   This annual activity is a popular event in the WCA 
outreach calendar.  Last year, 350 people attended, despite cloudy skies! 
 

Social Media 
We have worked hard to reach more people through social media.  One of our postdoctoral 
fellows, Ana Ennis, volunteered to take on this role.  She created an Instagram account in March 
2023, which now has just under 600 followers.  She worked with the Admin to ensure that 
UWaterloo branding and best social media practices were followed.  Ana and WCA members 
have worked together to create content to advertise WCA events and research, and to educate 
about the background science to the research done at the WCA.  The WCA has collaborated with 
Science Communications and University Relations to coordinate promotions of press releases 
and to generate social media content.   The reels describing the AstroBubble and discussing the 
total eclipse in April 2024 were especially popular, with the eclipse reel being view over 30,000 
times in the first week.     
 
 
 
 

Page 165 of 274



 

 

 

 

43 

Creating a WCA community 
 
Facilitating and conducting ground-breaking research and the training of early career scientists 
are key aims of the WCA.  To achieve these aims, it is important to establish an environment and 
sense of community in which collaborations can be established and thrive and in which WCA 
group members can support each other in their work.   This is especially important for the WCA 
funded postdoctoral fellows, who are not bound to one supervisor but are free to develop ideas 
and projects with any researcher they synergize with, irrespective of their affiliation. 
 

Accommodations for the WCA 
It is natural that the physical footprint of the 
WCA be within the Department of Physics and 
Astronomy on the UW campus. Our long-term 
goal is that the WCA will be accommodated in 
the top floor of the proposed new Physics 
building on the University of Waterloo campus.  
In the meantime, unused lab-space close to 
existing astronomy graduate student and 
faculty offices on the second floor of the Physics 
building has been renovated to provide a space 
for the WCA.  Contractors started the renovations for the new Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics 
space on November 15, 2021 and work was completed in July 2022. 
 

The WCA offices house the Director, the Administrative Assistant, the WCA postdoctoral fellows 
and some graduate students.  We also have a visitor office (soon to be filled by a new faculty 
member) and a small meeting room. Our office space is currently full, and we will be expanding 
into lab space across the hallway. 
 

Regular WCA events 
We have regular series of seminars, journal clubs, discussion groups and daily paper reviews (with 
morning coffee).  Everybody in the group is encouraged to attend these events.  Seminars are 
usually given by external speakers and visitors often lead the discussion in journals clubs.  Faculty 
hold group meetings for just their grad students and postdocs but there are discussion groups 
based on common themes of interest that are more broadly attended. 
 
Several journal clubs arose in response to identified need or interest and it is worth noting that 
these were conceived of and run by the postdocs.  “Retro-journal club” gives an opportunity to 
review classic papers in the field, without faculty present so that graduate students feel 
comfortable admitting they do not understand something.  A statistics book club ran for a while 
so that a number of postdocs and grad students wishing to improve their understanding of 
statistics could work together.  EDI coffee time gives an opportunity to review papers about EDI 
issues and to discuss how we can work in a more inclusive way.  EDI coffee times are also used 

Figure 16: Reception office door showcasing the WCA logo. 

Page 166 of 274



 

 

 

 

44 

to discuss techniques to improve well-being and best work practices.  For example, the WCA 
graduate student-supervisor agreement was discussed and written during EDI coffee. 
 
Once a year, the WCA holds a jamboree in which everybody presents a slide and talks for one or 
two minutes about their research.  This helps everybody in the WCA keep track of what 
everybody is doing and is also good practice for interviews for the students and postdocs. 
 

Informal community building 
While journal clubs and coffee times help set-up a good working relationship, if it also important 
for team-building to meet informally too.  On a day-to-day basis, the WCA kitchenette is an 
informal hub for making and growing connections, and a visit to the Grad House on Friday 
evenings is a long-standing tradition.  However, the faculty are less likely to be involved in these 
get-togethers.  To engage more of the group, we held: a Winter party in December 2023; Pride 
Month Potlucks in June 2023 and 2024; and group BBQs in September 2023 and May 2024.    
 

Mentoring and promoting early career researchers 
Postdoctoral Fellows are assigned a member of the faculty who is not their supervisor to be a 
“non-academic” mentor after they join the WCA.  The mentors meet with their assigned postdoc 
at least once a year to discuss progress, career plans and any issues of concern.   The mentors 
provide a different viewpoint and set of experiences than the postdocs academic supervisor but 
are also a resource in the case that there are any issues between the postdoc and their academic 
supervisor.   The postdocs felt this was valuable enough that the graduate students should have 
access to a similar scheme.  The Grad student non-academic mentoring scheme was established 
and is popular with the students.  Graduate students may also turn to their committee and the 
graduate officer for advice. 
 
In Winter 2022, we organised a graduate-level reading course where lectures and assignments 
were split between four of our postdoctoral fellows. This was well received by the postdocs, 
giving them valuable teaching experience, and by the graduate students. This was repeated in 
2024, with an astro-statistics course (after the Statistics book club felt they had been successful 
in teaching themselves statistics).  We plan to expand upon this by having the postdocs also run 
a short series of seminars for the graduate students on various skills such as: writing CVs, being 
interviewed, writing proposals, conducting literature searches and reviews and writing papers.  
Now that we have a good-sized number of postdocs in the group, advice on applying for faculty 
positions and next steps in their career that has previously been passed on an as-needed basis 
has been formalized into a workshop given by the faculty. 
 
This year, we held the inaugural WCA graduate student paper prize.  Nominations were sought 
for papers submitted by graduate students affiliated with the WCA between July 1, 2022, and 
June 30, 2023.  The nominated papers were considered by a panel of faculty and postdocs and 
evaluated on their importance to their field, originality of conception, difficulty of execution, 
clarity of exposition, and public availability of data/code utilized.  Drs. Mike Chapman and 
Chunchong (Rufus) Xi received their cash prize and their certificates on June 14th for their papers 

Page 167 of 274



 

 

 

 

45 

“Isolating the linear signal when making redshift space distortion measurements" (Chapman) and 
"Probing Accretion Turbulence in the Galactic Center with EHT Polarimetry”, (Ni). 
 
Postdocs and students have a voice in the WCA executive.  Postdoc and graduate student 
representatives meet regularly with their cohorts and bring feedback, questions, concerns, and 
requests to the WCA monthly meetings.   In addition to providing representation independent of 
academic supervisors, this gives our early researchers some insight into how academic groups 
are run and gives the representatives themselves the experience of attending and participating 
in what are traditionally faculty meetings.  Following feedback received from the WCA 
Membership survey, we introduced postdoc and graduate student deputy representatives to 
serve as back-up.   
 
 

Membership
Overview and conditions for membership 
The WCA currently consists of 11 faculty 
members, 16 Postdoctoral Fellows, 38 
Graduate Students (22 PhD, 16 MSc), and 8 
associate members.  Past members include 
64 Graduate Students and 10 Postdocs.   In 
total, 102 Graduate Students have been 
affiliated with the WCA since its inception.

Conditions for membership of the WCA are 
laid out in our constitution and are as 
described below. 

Regular Faculty, Student and Postdoctoral 
Members  
Regular Faculty Members of the WCA are 
faculty members at the University of 
Waterloo whose research interests overlap 
with the mission of the WCA. Membership 
whether granted by the Board, or granted for 
the initial complement of Members when the 
proposal to establish the Centre was 
approved by the University of Waterloo 
Senate, will be for a period of 3 years. 
Reappointment will require application to 
the Director within the 3rd year and approval 
by the Board. Regular Student and 
Postdoctoral membership may be granted by 

Code of conduct 
The Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics (WCA) at 
the University of Waterloo is committed to 
creating and maintaining an environment that 
is free from unlawful harassment, violence 
and/or discrimination.  WCA supports a zero-
tolerance policy with regards to workplace 
harassment, violence and/or discrimination.  
We will not tolerate or condone behaviour that 
is contrary to the Human Rights Code or other 
Canadian provincial or federal legislation 
anywhere in its workplace or any activities on 
or off the Campuses of the University of 
Waterloo which could reasonably be 
associated with the workplace. 
 
Harassment, discrimination, or the abuse of 
supervisory authority will not be allowed for 
any activity connected with the WCA. UW 
policies will be used to define unacceptable 
behavior including the Conflict-of-Interest 
Policy #69, Ethical Behavior policy #33, and 
Prevention and Response to Sexual Violence 
Policy #42.  

Page 168 of 274



 

 

 

 

46 

the Director upon recommendation of the mentor or advisor. Regular student and postdoctoral 
members will be reviewed annually by the Board. Regular Faculty, Student and Postdoctoral 
Members are expected to be primarily “in residence” at the University of Waterloo.   
 
Associate Members  
Scientists with primary appointments outside the University of Waterloo, or who are retired WCA 
Regular Faculty Members, may seek to become Associate Members of the WCA. Membership 
will be subject to the same criteria as Regular Members. Associate Members will have access to 
shared desk space during the time they spend within the WCA.  
 
Membership Privileges and Responsibilities  
Regular Faculty, Student, Postdoctoral and Associate Members will be able to use WCA facilities 
and funds to conduct and disseminate their research, within the framework described in the 
constitution, and established by the Director. In return, all Members will be expected to 
acknowledge their WCA affiliation and/or funding, and to play an active role within the WCA.  
 

Current Membership 
 

Faculty 
Name Position Department 

Niayesh Afshordi Professor Physics and Astronomy, 
Perimeter Institute 

Michael Balogh Professor Physics and Astronomy 
Avery Broderick Associate Professor Physics and Astronomy, 

Perimeter Institute 
Richard Epp Continuing Lecturer Physics and Astronomy 
Mike Hudson Professor Physics and Astronomy 
Achim Kempf Professor; Canada Research Chair in 

the Physics of Information 
Physics and Astronomy 

Robert Mann University Professor Physics and Astronomy 
Eduardo Martin-Martinez Associate Professor Physics and Astronomy, Applied 

Mathematics 
Brian McNamara Professor; Department Chair; 

University Research Chair in 
Astrophysics 

Physics and Astronomy 

Will Percival Professor; Distinguished Research 
Chair in Astrophysics; Director, 
Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics 

Physics and Astronomy 

James Taylor Associate Professor Physics and Astronomy 
Table 2: Current faculty members of WCA 

Postdoctoral Fellows 
Name Years Funding 

Alex Krolewski 
2020-2023 
2023-2026 

AMTD fellow (support from PI)  
CITA National Fellow (support from WCA) 

Page 169 of 274



 

 

 

 

47 

Enrique Paillas 2021-2024 Supported by Percival 
Tom Rose 2021-2024 50% WCA Fellow, 50% supported by McNamara 
Ana Ennis 2022-2025 Joint WCA/PI position (Funding: 33% WCA, 67% PI) 
Liza Sazonova 2022-2025 LSST fellow, supported by UW central funding 
Roan Haggar 2022-2025 50% WCA Fellow, 50% outreach coordinator 
Jack Elvin-Poole 2022-2025 LSST fellow, supported by UW central funding 
Jerome Quintin 2022-2025 Mathematics Prestigious Postdoctoral Fellowship  
Hanyu Zhang 2023-2026 Supported by Percival 
Marco Bonici 2023-2027 Supported by Percival 
Amber Hollinger 2023-2024 Supported by Hudson 
Pierre Burger 2023-2025 50% WCA Fellow, 50% supported by Hudson 
Lammim Ahad 2023-2026 WCA Fellow 
Ian Roberts 2023-2026 Banting Fellow (WCA for final year) 
Ashley Bemis 2024-2026 WCA Fellow (support from office of Dean of Science) 
Shokoufeh Faraji 2024-2026 50% WCA Fellow, 50% supported by Afshordi and Broderick 

Table 3: Current Postdoctoral Fellow members of WCA (arranged in order of arrival). 

 

PhD Students 
Student Supervisor 

Dyuman Bhattcharya Mann 
Alice Chen Afshordi 
Sofia Chiarenza Percival 
Conner Dailey Afshordi 
Amirhosein Dehghanizade Geshnizjani 
Tristan Fraser Percival 
Batia Friedman-Shaw Percival 
Michael Gammon Mann 
Marie-Joelle Gingras  McNamara 
Hans Hopkins Percival, Lang 
Dorsa Sadat Hosseini Geshnizjani 
Brayden Hull  Geshnizjani, Mann 
Cameron Lawlor-Forsyth Balogh 
Muzi Li McNamara 
Adrian Lopez Mann 
Hunter Martin Hudson 
Elly (officially Ali) Moghtaderi Geshnizjani 
Cameron Morgan Balogh 
Everett Patterson Mann 
Maria Rosa Preciado Rivas Mann 
Krishan Saraswat Afshordi 
Cendikiawan Suryaatmadja  Mann 

Table 4: Current PhD student members of WCA 

Masters Students 
Student Supervisor 

Martine Campbell Hudson 
Taylor Cey Mann 

Page 170 of 274



 

 

 

 

48 

Jedri de Luna  Taylor 
Neo Dizdar McNamara 
Jordan Ducatel  Hudson, Balogh 
Katherine Frazer  Taylor 
Guillaume Hewitt  Balogh 
Mengqi Lu Mann 
Justin Marchioni Taylor 
Julian Meunier McNamara 
James Morawetz Percival 
Alan Nguyen Percival 
Kiana Salehi Broderick 
Greg Schreiner  Percival 
Jiayue Yang  Afshordi, Mann 
Zhiren (Joseph) Wang Broderick 

Table 5: Current MSc members of WCA 

Associate Members 
Name Position Department 

Alison Coil Professor; Ingrid and Joseph W. 
Hibben Chair 

Center for Astrophysics and Space 
Sciences, University of California, San 
Diego 

Neal Dalal Research Faculty Perimeter Institute 
Michel Fich Professor Emeritus Physics and Astronomy, University of 

Waterloo 
Ghazal Geshnizjani Teaching Faculty (Research Track) 

Adjunct Associate Professor 
Perimeter Institute 
Applied Mathematics 

Gretchen Harris Professor Emeritus Physics and Astronomy, University of 
Waterloo 

Dustin Lang Computational Scientist Perimeter Institute  
Katherine Mack Hawking Chair in Cosmology and 

Science Communication 
Perimeter Institute 

Zhongxu Zhai Associate Professor Shanghai Jiao Tong University 
Table 6: Associate members of the WCA 

Past Membership 

Postdoctoral Fellows 
Name Dates Went to... 
Simone Paradiso 2023-2024 Postdoc, INAF (Astrophysics national institute), Italy 
Shahab Joudaki 2021-2023 Dennis Sciama Research Fellowship, University of Portsmouth 
Elena Massara 2019-2023 Moving to Data Science 
Alexa Villaume 2020-2023  
Zhongxu Zhai 2021-2022 Faculty, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China, WCA Associate 
Fil Simovic 2021-2022 Research Fellow, Macquarie University, Australia 
Laura Henderson 2021-2022 Research Fellow, University of Queensland, Australia 
Go Ogiya 2019-2021 Faculty, Zhejiang University, China 
Andrej Obuljen 2018-2021 Research Fellow, University of Zurich, Switzerland 
Faizan Mohammed 2018-2021 Senior data scientist, BC Ferries 

Table 7: Former WCA Postdoctoral Fellows 

Page 171 of 274

https://www.linkedin.com/in/simone-paradiso-6a881112a/?locale=en_US
https://scholar.google.com/citations?user=mn1ue7kAAAAJ&hl=sv
https://www.linkedin.com/in/elena-massara/
https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1887-0621
http://astro.sjtu.edu.cn/en/staff/researcher/199-
https://scholar.google.com/citations?user=n5PytnUAAAAJ&hl=en
http://researchers.uq.edu.au/researcher/36469
https://scholar.google.com/citations?user=-yLLY8EAAAAJ&hl=en
https://www.linkedin.com/in/fgmohammad/


 

 

 

 

49 

Graduate Students 
Name Date Degree Supervisor New position 

Chunchong 
(Rufus) Ni 

2020-2024 Ph.D Broderick    

Adit Edward 2021-2024 MSc Balogh    
Siddhardha 
Penmetsa 

2021-2023 Msc Percival NEquest AI  

Suraj Srinivasan 2019-2023 Ph.D  Hudson    

Boris Georgiev 2018-2023 Ph.D Broderick Postdoctoral Fellow, Steward 
Observatory, University of Arizona 

Mike Chapman 2018-2023 Ph.D Percival   

Andrew Reeves 2019-2023 Ph.D Hudson Organizer/Software Developer for 
CUPE 

Manar Naeem 2021-2023 MSc Mann   

Jack Davis 2018-2023 Ph.D Mann Postdoctoral Fellow, India, Paris 

Erickson Tjoa 2019-2023 Ph.D Mann Postdoctoral researcher at the Max 
Planck Institute for Quantum Optics, 
Germany 

Ken Yoshimura  2019-2023 Ph.D Mann Assistant Professor, Kyushu 
University, Japan 

Alex 
Woodfinden 

2019-2023 Ph.D Percival Junior Quant Trader at Akuna Capital 

Yuba Amoura 2019-2023 Ph.D Taylor 
 

Kristi Webb 2017-2023 Ph.D Balogh Environment Canada as part of 
Canada Centre for Climate modelling 
and analysis (CCCma).  

Amit Anand 2021-2023 M.Sc Ghose/Mann Graduate Teaching Assistant, 
University of Waterloo 

Zhiren (Joseph) 
Wang 

2021-2023 M.Sc Broderick 
 

Setareh 
Foroozan 

2020-2023 Ph.D Taylor/Percival Software engineer/Computational 
Scientist for Aurora Solar 

Nick De Marchi 2019-2023 M.Sc Percival Data Scientist at Altas Partners 

Maxence 
Corman 

2019-2023 Ph.D East/Afshordi 
 

Finnian Padraig 
Stott Gray 

2018-2023 Ph.D Kubiznak/Mann Postdoc at University of Vienna 

Prathamesh 
Tamhane 

2017-2022 Ph.D. McNamara Postdoctoral Researcher, Univesrity 
of Alabama in Huntsville 

Ahmed Shalabi 2021-2022 M.Sc Mann 
 

Cemile Senem 
Arabaci 

2020-2022 M.Sc Mann 
 

Chloe Cheng 2020-2022 M.Sc Balogh PhD candidate at Leiden Observatory 

Margie Christ 2020-2022 M.Sc Ghose/Mann 
 

Page 172 of 274

https://www.linkedin.com/search/results/all/?fetchDeterministicClustersOnly=true&heroEntityKey=urn%3Ali%3Afsd_profile%3AACoAABXoX7oBDYQ9m6W90IhGkAfWHNP53sOETCQ&keywords=chunchong%20ni&origin=RICH_QUERY_SUGGESTION&position=0&searchId=4740dfaa-3e1f-4027-9973-f79a8970ee36&sid=cj.&spellCorrectionEnabled=false
https://www.linkedin.com/search/results/all/?fetchDeterministicClustersOnly=true&heroEntityKey=urn%3Ali%3Afsd_profile%3AACoAABXoX7oBDYQ9m6W90IhGkAfWHNP53sOETCQ&keywords=chunchong%20ni&origin=RICH_QUERY_SUGGESTION&position=0&searchId=4740dfaa-3e1f-4027-9973-f79a8970ee36&sid=cj.&spellCorrectionEnabled=false
https://www.linkedin.com/in/adit-harin-edward-51b657212/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/sidpen90/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/sidpen90/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/nequest-global/
https://www.researchgate.net/scientific-contributions/Boris-Georgiev-2156577958
https://www.linkedin.com/in/michael-chapman-2ab515293/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/andrewmmreeves/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/manar-naeem-85116514b/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/jack-davis-a4400291/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/erickson-tjoa/
https://scholar.google.com/citations?user=q-J5kLwAAAAJ&hl=en
https://www.linkedin.com/in/alexwoodfinden/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/alexwoodfinden/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/yuba-amoura/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/kristi-webb/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/amit-anand-452326174/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/zhiren-wang-299544242/?originalSubdomain=ca
https://www.linkedin.com/in/zhiren-wang-299544242/?originalSubdomain=ca
https://www.linkedin.com/in/setareh-foroozan-501778159/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/setareh-foroozan-501778159/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/nickdemarchi/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/maxence-corman-18b2ba11a/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/maxence-corman-18b2ba11a/
https://ufind.univie.ac.at/de/person.html?id=1006295
https://ufind.univie.ac.at/de/person.html?id=1006295
https://www.linkedin.com/in/prathamesh-tamhane-7a300897/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/prathamesh-tamhane-7a300897/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/ahmed-shalabi-a19298127/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/cemilesenem/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/cemilesenem/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/chloe-cheng-b31866203/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/margie-christ-3b4637231/


 

 

 

 

50 

Barbara Soda 2019-2022 Ph.D Kempf/Hardy Postdoctoral Fellow at Perimeter 
Institute 

Soham 
Mukherjee 

2017-2022 Ph.D Schnetter/ 
Broderick 

Data Scientist at Shopify 

Isaac Spitzer 2016-2022 Ph.D Hudson Staff at Space Telescope Science 
Institute 

Chengyu Xi 2014-2022 Ph.D Taylor 
 

Hamidreza 
Ramezani-Gol-
Afshani 

2021- M.Sc Afshordi 
 

Bailey 
Alexander 
Robison 

2019-2021 M.Sc Hudson Royal Bank of Canada 

Leo Kim 2019-2021 MMat
h 

Geshnizjani PhD student at Queens University 

Mayar Tharwat 
Mohamed 

2019-2021 M.Sc Ghose/Mann Electronic Specialist at Yasuke 
Audioworks 

Karen McNab 2018-2021 M.Sc Balogh 
 

Allison Sachs 2018-2021 Ph.D Mann/Kempf Returned to US 

Wan Cong 2018-2021 Ph.D Kubiznak/Mann Postdoc at the University of Vienna 

Fiona McCarthy 2017-2021 Ph.D Kubiznak/Mann Postdoctoral Researcher and Simons 
Foundation 

Matthew 
Robbins 

2017-2021 Ph.D Mann/Afshordi Sessional Instructor, Dept Physics 
and Astronomy, University of 
Waterloo 

Nitica 
Sakharwade 

2017-2021 Ph.D Hardy/Kempf Postdoctoral Fellow at University 
Gdansk, Poland 

Paul Tiede 2017-2021 Ph.D Broderick Postdoctoral Fellow Centre for 
Astrophysics | Havard & Smithsonian 

Abdulrahim Al 
Balushi 

2017-2021 Ph.D Mann 
 

Juan Ignacio 
Cayuso 

2017-2021 Ph.D Johnson/Afshordi SSr Data Scientist, Mercado Libre 

Utkarsh Giri 2016-2021 Ph.D Afshordi Research Associate, University of 
Wisconsin-Madison 

Masoud Rafiei 
Ravandi 

2016-2021 Ph.D Broderick/Smith Postdoctoral Researcher at McGill 
University 

Pablo Bosch 
Gomez 

2015-2021 Ph.D Lehner/McNamara Postdoctoral Researcher, University 
of Amsterdam (GRAPPA & IHEF) 

Hyung Jin 
Kim (Tony) 

2015-2021 MMat
h + 
PhD 

Geshnizjani Software engineer at Comparative 

Marcus 
Edwards 

2018-2020 M.Sc Mann Ph.D in Quantum Science and 
Technology Lab at University of 
British Columbia 

Samantha 
Hergott 

2018-2020 M.Sc Afshordi Ph.D at York University 

Page 173 of 274

https://perimeterinstitute.ca/people/barbara-soda
https://www.linkedin.com/in/smukherjee42/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/smukherjee42/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/isaac-spitzer-35a34434/
https://www.stsci.edu/
https://www.stsci.edu/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/chengyuxi34/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/bailey-robison-778869133/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/bailey-robison-778869133/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/bailey-robison-778869133/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/jungjoon-leo-kim-519926a8/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/mayar-tharwat/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/mayar-tharwat/
https://ufind.univie.ac.at/de/person.html?id=117870
https://www.linkedin.com/in/fiona-mccarthy-phd-a20589168/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/matthew--robbins/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/matthew--robbins/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/nitica/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/nitica/
https://www.cfa.harvard.edu/people/paul-tiede
https://www.linkedin.com/in/juan-ignacio-cayuso-2565a9206/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/juan-ignacio-cayuso-2565a9206/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/utkarshgiri/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/mrafiei/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/mrafiei/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/tonypierrekim/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/tonypierrekim/
https://comparative.ai/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/marcus-edwards-98ab8a220/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/marcus-edwards-98ab8a220/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/samantha-hergott-4b1a161b9/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/samantha-hergott-4b1a161b9/


 

 

 

 

51 

Tianyi Yang 2018-2020 M.Sc Afshordi/Hudson Postdoctoral Fellow at University of 
Arizona 

Daniel Grimmer 2017-2020 Ph.D Mann/Martin-
Martinez 

MSt in Philosophy of Physics at 
Oxford University 

Nayeli Azucena 
Rodriguez 
Briones 

2016-2020 Ph.D Laflamme/Kempf Miller Postdoctoral Fellow at Berkley 

Supranta Sarma 
Boruah 

2016-2020 MMat
h + 
PhD 

Geshnizjani/Hudso
n 

Postdoctoral Fellow at University of 
Arizona 

Qingwen Wang 2016-2020 Ph.D Afshordi Senior Quantitative Analyst 

Britt Jeter 2015-2020 Ph.D Broderick/ 
McNamara 

Postdoctoral Fellow, Academia 
Sinica, Institute for Astronomy and 
Astrophysics 

Marvy Onuma-
Kalu 

2012-2020 M.Sc 
and 
Ph.D 

Mann Business Analyst Trainee at Udacity 

Connor Gordon 
Martz 

2017-2019 M.Sc McNamara In-house STEM Editor at Scribendi 
Inc 

Nicole Drakos 2015-2019 Ph.D Taylor Postdoctoral Scholar at University 
College Santa Cruz 

Meenu Kumari 2014-2019 Ph.D Ghose/Mann Postdoctoral researcher at Perimeter 
Institute 

Saoussen 
Mbarek 

2014-2019 Ph.D Mann Data Scientist at Videns Analytics 

Keith Kai-Chung 
Ng 

2014-2019 Ph.D Mann Research Fellow at Nanyang 
Technological University, Singapore 

Faerlin Pulido 2019-   McNamara   

Alexander 
Roman 

2019- Ph.D Smith/Afshordi   

Haomiao Jiang 2017-2019  M.Sc Mann   PhD candidate, Yunnan University, 
China 

Table 8: Former WCA Graduate students 

 

Membership survey 
 
In February 2023, we surveyed our members to obtain feedback about the WCA. We were also 
asked by our governing board at the last meeting to obtain demographic information about our 
members. We undertook a combined survey. We wished to ensure that the survey was 
appropriate and in accordance with guidelines around collecting demographics.  The survey was 
compiled with assistance from Karen Cummings (Chair of the Physics and Astronomy EDI 
committee) and Savannah Sloat (Manager, Science Indigenous Initiatives, Faculty of Science), 
who both have expertise and experience in conducting such surveys.  The WCA is a relatively 
small group so, to ensure the anonymity of the respondents, the survey responses were collected 
by Savannah, who compiled an executive summary for us, and provided the anonymized survey 

Page 174 of 274

https://www.ph.ed.ac.uk/people/tianyi-yang
http://users.ox.ac.uk/~pemb6003/index.html
https://www.linkedin.com/in/nayeli-a-rodr%C3%ADguez-briones-141555117/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/nayeli-a-rodr%C3%ADguez-briones-141555117/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/nayeli-a-rodr%C3%ADguez-briones-141555117/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/supranta-s-boruah-b3480674/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/supranta-s-boruah-b3480674/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/qingwen-wang-5a64651a4/
https://www.asiaa.sinica.edu.tw/people/cv.php?i=bjeter&pr=1
https://www.linkedin.com/in/marvyonumakalu/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/marvyonumakalu/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/connor-martz-a0583a128/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/connor-martz-a0583a128/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/nicole-drakos-b497a997/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/meenu-kumari-phd-19377177/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/saoussen-mbarek-ph-d-447a2963/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/saoussen-mbarek-ph-d-447a2963/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/kai-chung-72b63874/?originalSubdomain=ca
https://www.linkedin.com/in/kai-chung-72b63874/?originalSubdomain=ca


 

 

 

 

52 

results and qualitative comments.  The survey results are given in Appendix C: WCA Membership 
survey responses we have kept the qualitative results private to maintain anonymity.  

Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics (WCA) 2023 Membership Survey Results Summary  

Overview 
This survey was conducted to gather insights from members of the WCA concerning its operation 
and to provide a demographic review. The survey was conducted online through Microsoft Forms 
for ease of access and integration with Outlook, and members were given 14 days to respond. 
The survey closed with a total of 36 respondents, which represents 47% of the membership of 
the WCA. Respondents who self-identified as students represented 50% of the total submitted 
responses. 34% of respondents stated they had been members of the WCA for 4+ years, and 29% 
of respondents stated they had been members for 1 year or less. 

WCA Engagement  
When asked why they joined the University of Waterloo and the WCA, 58% of respondents 
identified the research reputation of their supervisor/mentor, and 50% identified the research 
reputation in astrophysics and the reputation of the University of Waterloo overall. Regarding 
the WCA Seminar Program, 86% of respondents identified that it was beneficial to them. 
Qualitative feedback suggested seminars always be held in person to garner more engagement, 
and several respondents suggested that the diversity of speakers (both the identity of speakers 
and the research areas) could be expanded. One respondent suggested encouraging supervisors 
and their students to compile lists of potential speakers at the start of each year. Additionally, 
74% of respondents find the Journal Clubs/Topical Meetings beneficial. Suggestions for 
improving these meetings included making them more discussion-focused and determining a 
consistent format for presentations. The Retro Journal Club garnered positive feedback from 
multiple participants. 

When asked what they would like to see for future engagement, numerous respondents 
identified community-building and social events as something they would engage with. It was 
noted that it can be difficult to navigate the WCA administratively due to staff turnover and 
having social opportunities would promote networking. The development of a student 
mentorship program within the WCA was brought up by several respondents who felt it would 
be valuable for engagement and navigating the academic climate. It was noted that a true 
mentorship program is distinct from the student committee which currently exists. Equity, 
diversity, and inclusion training for staff and faculty was also suggested.  

General Climate of the WCA 
Overall, 79.4% of members identified being either somewhat satisfied or very satisfied with their 
personal sense of belonging within the WCA: the remaining 20.6% were neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied. No respondents were dissatisfied. The data demonstrated a clear concern with the 
gender ratio and ethnic diversity ratio among members. 47.1% of respondents were strongly 
dissatisfied with the gender ratio among faculty, and 20.6% were strongly dissatisfied with the 
ethnic diversity among faculty. The chart below shows the responses for all questions related to 
ethnic and gender diversity in the WCA: 

Page 175 of 274



 

 

 

 

53 

 

When asked about perceptions of the membership’s commitment to diversity, equity, and 
inclusion, respondents identified students and postdocs to be the most committed, and the 
perception on faculty commitment to diversity, equity, and inclusion was largely neutral (41.2%). 
In their qualitative responses, several respondents identified inclusion to be a clear concern in 
relation to gender diversity of the membership. A few respondents noted that the climate of 
inclusion and belonging is welcoming between graduate students and postdocs, but this is not 
reflected in relationships with staff and faculty. One respondent felt staff and faculty do not wish 
to engage with feedback from graduate students and postdocs.  

Demographic Information 
Of the 36 respondents, 25 self-identified as men, 9 self-identified as women, 1 person self-
identified as transgender/transitioning, and 1 respondent chose not to identify. 17% of 
respondents self-identified as 2SLGBT+, and 15% of respondents self-identified having a 
disability.  
 
Regarding ethnic diversity, 61% of all respondents self-identified as European. 3 respondents self-
identified as South Asian, 2 respondents self-identified as West Asian 1, respondent self-
identified as Southeast Asian, and 2 respondents identified as Latin American. 3 respondents self-
identified as “Other” but did not state their identity, and 3 respondents chose not to self-identify. 
The survey used the ethnic origin list used for the Canadian Census. The results of the ethnic self-
identification are reflected in the chart below:  
 

Page 176 of 274



 

 

 

 

54 

 
 

Reflection on survey results 
 
Reflection 1: Astroseminars and journal clubs and journal clubs are popular and helpful.  
The majority of our members find our astroseminars and journal clubs to be helpful.  The new 
“Retro Journal Club” organized by Canada Rubin Postdoctoral Fellow, Liza Sazanova, warrants a 
special mention for the number of positive comments it received.  The seminar and journal club 
experiences are important enough to our members that the demand for more in-person seminars 
and ways to further improve journal clubs were a major theme in the qualitative responses. 
 
Action: There was a very clear demand for a return to in-person seminars.  The seminar series 
had to switch to an on-line format during the pandemic, and we are now running a hybrid 
approach with some speakers in person and some remote.  In the 2023 Winter term, just under 
half of the speakers visited and spoke in person and this has increased to over 75% of speakers 
giving an in-person seminar in the last term.  Remote attendance is now limited to personal 
choice of the speaker or due to budgetary constraints for more geographically distant seminar 
invitees. 
 
It is pleasing to see so many detailed qualitative responses about the journal clubs.  They are an 
important way to engage with and train the early researchers within the group.  The qualitative 
feedback on journal clubs from the survey was discussed during the March 2023 WCA executive 
meeting and recommendations were implemented by the Astro Journal Club organizer. 
 
 

Page 177 of 274



 

 

 

 

55 

Reflection 2: Our members enjoy being in the WCA but we are not satisfied that our code of 
conduct is being fully lived up to.  We need to offer more student support. 
The majority of members are happy with the environment in the WCA and almost 80% are 
satisfied with their sense of belonging in the WCA.  However, seven people reported that they 
experienced or witnessed harassing or discriminatory behaviour in the WCA.  This is disappointing 
and distressing and something we take with utmost seriousness.  The director immediately 
sought guidance on how to respond to this and followed up with an email to the group reminding 
everyone of our code of conduct and offering resources. As the survey is anonymous, we cannot 
directly follow up with individuals, but members were encouraged to report any issues and 
offered guidance on how to do this.   One person indicated that they wished to be contacted 
regarding the survey and Savannah contacted them and followed up.  
 
There were several comments from the survey that indicated that improvements could be made 
regarding student-faculty relations and student engagement.  Several comments noted that 
mental health support and resources would be helpful for students and that training for faculty 
in supporting students in crisis would be beneficial.    
 
Action:  This matter was discussed in detail at the March 2023 WCA executive meeting and the 
following actions were taken:  

• We encouraged all members of the group to make formal complaints about inappropriate 
behaviour.   

• We updated our website to include sections for resources for graduate students and 
postdocs, focussing on information about resources they can utilise and actions they can 
take in the case of harassment or discriminatory behaviour. We included links to the GSPA 
Wellness and resource pages and the Human Rights, Equity, and Inclusion Office.  We 
posted a similar paper list on the bulletin board in the WCA welcome area.   

• We formulated and circulated an email containing resources for faculty, including 
information about courses for helping students in crisis.  This information was also posted 
on our website in a resources section called for faculty. The faculty felt this would be a 
good topic for a teaching retreat and have raised this a suggestion with the Physics and 
Astronomy department. 

• These survey comments have been passed on to the Chair of the Department of Physics 
and Astronomy, as it hosts most of the students within the WCA and enrolled in the 
department graduate programme. 

 
Reflection 3:  There was a repeated and clear dissatisfaction with the gender imbalance among 
the faculty.  
Action: The WCA has some control over the demographics of postdoctoral members, and we 
have put in place hiring practices aimed to hire a balanced cohort. There were fewer concerns 
raised by WCA members about gender balance for our postdocs. We have no control over the 
demographic distribution of faculty members in Waterloo with interests in astronomy as this is 
handled by individual departments. Since the inception of the WCA there have been no new 

Page 178 of 274



 

 

 

 

56 

faculty hired by the University with interests in astrophysics. We have provided the Physics and 
Astronomy department with these survey results. 
 
Reflection 4:  WCA members are happy with how the WCA is being managed. 
However, several members selected the “not applicable” option, indicating some lack of 
engagement. 
  
Action:  We will continue with the same management structure and style of the WCA.   
In the qualitative responses to the survey, there was one suggestion to have deputies for the 
graduate and postdoc representatives on the WCA executive.  This idea has the potential to 
further increase engagement of young researchers in the group and was suggested to the 
postdoc and graduate student representatives at the March 2023 WCA executive meeting.  The 
suggestion was discussed privately among the graduate student and postdoc cohorts and 
implemented in April 2023.   From April 2023, we started to circulate the WCA Monthly meeting 
agenda and minutes to all WCA members, rather than only the executive.    
Engaging all members of the WCA will happen more naturally once we are all located in the same 
space in the planned new Physics building and we will continue to advocate for this project. 
 
Reflection 5:  There is a desire for opportunities for social interaction. 
Several of the qualitative responses as to how the WCA could be improved mentioned social 
events. 
 
Action:  Social interactions obviously came to a halt during the pandemic, and we needed to do 
more to revitalise this.  We have had two Pride month potlucks, a Winter party and two group 
BBQs since March 2023 
 

Governance 
The constitution of the WCA outlines the way that the WCA is governed. The oversight and 
financial responsibility of the Centre rests with the University of Waterloo, through the Dean of 
the Faculty of Science as described in UW Policy #44. The operations are to be supervised and 
conducted by the WCA Director, assisted by an administrative assistant, subject to the WCA 
constitution.  
 
There will be a single Governing Board (hereafter referred to as the Board), composed of:  

1. Dean of Science or a delegate (Chair) 
2. Director of the WCA  
3. Chair of Physics and Astronomy or a delegate*  
4. Two representatives from the Regular Membership  
5. Director of Centre for the Universe at PI or a delegate  
6. One member of high standing selected from the Canadian astrophysics community  
7. One member of high standing selected from the international astrophysics community  

 

Page 179 of 274



 

 

 

 

57 

* If the chair of Physics and Astronomy is also a WCA member, they will nominate an additional 
non-WCA member of the Physics and Astronomy Faculty to join the Board for the term of their 
position.  
 
This Governing Board has the authority to execute and monitor the affairs of the WCA, subject 
to all applicable University policies, procedures and guidelines, as described in UW Policy #44.   
The operation of the Governing Board is described in the WCA constitution (see Appendix B:  
WCA Constitution). 
 

Organizational Chart 

 

Figure 17: Organisational diagram for the WCA 

The WCA reports annually to the Board of Governors, which provides feedback and direction to 
the WCA, through the Director.  The faculty direct Postdoctoral fellows on research matters, 
while the Outreach Coordinator organises outreach activities with volunteers from the WCA, 
primarily drawn from the pool of Postdoctoral fellows and graduate students. This organizational 
structure is illustrated in the diagram below. On a day-to-day basis, the WCA enjoys a high level 
of interaction and cooperation between all the members.  Everybody has a voice and the 
potential to suggest and implement new ideas. 

Board of governors 
The board of governors has met annually since the formation of the WCA. The most recent meeting 

was an in-person meeting in November 21-22, 2023. The Board met with various groups of WCA 

members and had several discussions about the WCA with the director. A summary report from 

Page 180 of 274



 

 

 

 

58 

the Board is attached at the end of this document (see Appendix A:  Letters of support from Dean 

of Science, Department of Physics and Astronomy Chair and WCA Governing Board). 

 
WCA Governing Board  Date served 

Sara Ellison Professor, Physics and 
Astronomy, University of Victoria 

Board 
Member 

December 2022 - present 

Christine 
Jones Forman 

Senior Astrophysicist and 
Lecturer, Harvard-Smithsonian 
Center for Astrophysics 

Board 
Member 

November 2018 - present 

Chris Houser Dean of Science, University of 
Waterloo 

Board 
Chair 

July 2023 - present 

Katie Mack Hawking Chair in Cosmology and 
Science Communication 
Perimeter Institute for 
Theoretical Physics 

Board 
Member 

December 2022 - present 

Steve 
MacLean 

Committee Member, Quantum 
Valley Investments, CSA 
Astronaut 

Board 
Member 

November 2018 - present 

Brian 
McNamara 

Professor; Department Chair; 
University Research Chair in 
Astrophysics, University of 
Waterloo 

Board 
Member 

November 2018 - present 

Will Percival Professor; Distinguished Research 
Chair in Astrophysics; Director, 
Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics, 
University of Waterloo 

Board 
Member 

November 2018 - present 

Crystal Senko Assistant Professor; Canada 
Research Chair Institute of 
Quantum Computing, University 
of Waterloo 

Board 
Member 

November 2018 - present 

James Taylor Associate Professor, Physics and 
Astronomy, University of 
Waterloo 

Board 
Member 

December 2022 - present 

Mike Hudson Professor, Physics and 
Astronomy, University of 
Waterloo 

Board 
Member 

November 2018 – December 2022 

Bob Lemieux Dean of Science, University of 
Waterloo 

Board 
Chair 

November 2018 – July 2023 

Neal Turok Perimeter Research Chair 
(visiting) & Director Emeritus 

Board 
Member 

November 2018-December 2022 

Scott 
Tremaine 

Professor Emeritus, Princeton 
University 

Board 
Member 

November 2018 – December 2022 

Table 9: Members of the WCA Board of Governors, from the inception of the WCA 

 

Page 181 of 274



 

 

 

 

59 

WCA Executive Monthly Meetings 
The WCA holds meetings on the third Friday of every month.   The list of members regularly 
invited include the WCA faculty, the Outreach Coordinator, the Postdoc representative, the 
Postdoc deputy, the Graduate Student representative, the Graduate Student deputy, the EDI 
representative and the WCA administrative assistant. Standing agenda items include student, 
postdoc, and outreach reports. We typically have wide ranging discussions on a variety of topics, 
helping to form the policies of the WCA and enact changes. 
 

Administration 

Director 
The director leads the activities within the centre, working towards the goals described in the 
mission statement in Section 2.1 of the constitution. Procedures for the appointment and 
possible pre-emptory removal of the Director of the WCA shall follow that described in UW policy 
#40, except as modified by policy #44, which states that the first term of office for the Director 
will be five years, renewable for up to five years, to a maximum of ten years. 
 

Staff 
The administrative assistant manages the WCA’s finances and operations, provides 
organizational and logistical support, and serves as the initial point of contact between the WCA 
and internal/external individuals and organizations. They help manage the visitors and meetings 
programs, and with the hiring of WCA postdoctoral researchers. 
 

Standing and Ad Hoc Committees  
Standing and Ad Hoc Committees may be established by the Director to provide advice on policy 
and operational matters. A typical example of such a committee is for the WCA Postdoctoral 
Fellow recruitment using Centre funding. 

  

Page 182 of 274



 

 

 

 

60 

Financials 
 

  2018- 
2019 

2019- 
2020 

2020- 
2021 

2021- 
2022 

2022 - 
2023 

2023-
2024 

2024-
2025 

2025-
2026 

2026-
2027 

2027-
2028 

2028-
2029 

2029-
2030 

Expenses             

Admin salary 23.1 77.0 62.9 61.0 36.0 36.9 38.4 39.9 41.5 43.2 45.0 45.0 

Postdoc salary 1.2 146.0 224.4 240.2 214.8 400.3 360.0 388.4 347.2 435.9 263.5 88.7 

Postdoc 
expenses 

1.5 6.0 8.6 14.7 14.5 65.5 59.5 67.7 60.0 75.0 45.0 15.0 

Visitors program 2.8 2.8 1.1 0.0 1.1 30.0 30.0 30.0 30.0 30.0 30.0 30.0 

Operating 6.7 13.0 0.6 4.1 2.8 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 10.0 10.0 

Outreach 0.0 0.0 0.0 51.5 1.8 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 

Total expenses 35.3 244.8 297.6 371.5 271.0 551.7 506.9 545.0 497.7 603.1 397.5 192.7 

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income             

Lazaridis 
donation 

504.2 500.0 500.0 500.0 500.0 350.0 350.0 250.0 250.0 250.0 0.0 0.0 

Dean 0.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 75.0 75.0 75.0 75.0 75.0 0.0 

Advancement 0.0 0.0 0.0 56.5 6.5 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 

Total income 504.2 550.0 550.0 606.5 556.5 410.0 435.0 335.0 335.0 335.0 85.0 10.0 

  
    

  
    

  
  

Cumulative total 468.9 774.1 1026.5 1261.5 1547.0 1405.3 1333.4 1123.4 960.7 692.7 380.2 197.5 

Table 10: WCA budget, actual expenditures up to 2022-2023 and projected values thereafter.  Values are in units of $1,000. 

 
The table above shows the actual income and spend by the WCA each financial year (November 
1 – October 31) up to the financial year 2022-23, with anticipated spending in the years to follow. 
The Dean of the Science faculty provided $50k/year support from faculty funds for the first six 
years of operations and has confirmed $75k/year support from faculty funds over the next five 
years (see Appendix A:  Letters of support from Dean of Science, Department of Physics and 
Astronomy Chair and WCA Governing Board). The WCA has been fortunate to receive some 
generous donations and one particularly large donation in 2021 allowed us to purchase our 
inflatable planetarium.  It is anticipated that Advancement should be able to generate $10k/year 
for the WCA while also attempting to find another multi-million dollar donation to maintain the 
operation of the WCA. The remaining support is allocated from money transferred from research 
funding allocated to Professor Percival as part of the donation that led to him being hired in 
Waterloo.  
 
After the retirement of our initial admin lead in August 2021, we decided to rehire at a part-time 
level of 20 hours/week, explaining the reduction in salary from 2022. Our primary expense is to 
hire and support postdoctoral researchers, and we have been adaptable in how we allocate this 
money to attract the most high-quality researchers into the WCA.  
 
 

Page 183 of 274



 

 

 

 

61 

 
The table above gives the number of postdoctoral fellows hired in a particular year, the cost to 
the WCA of the new hires (in equivalent postdoc costs), the total number of WCA postdocs in 
place, and total cost to the WCA budget of those postdocs.  The same information is illustrated 
graphically in Figure 18 below. 
 

 
 

(Per year) 2018-
2019 

2019-
2020 

2020-
2021 

2021-
2022 

2022-
2023 

2023-
2024 

2024-
2025 

2025-
2026 

2026-
2027 

2027-
2028 

2028-
2029 

2029-
2030 

New PDFs 2 2 3 5 6 8 0 3 3 1 0 0 

New WCA PDFs 0 2 1 1 1.3 3 0 3 2 1 0 0 

Total PDFs 2 4 7 9 12 17 13 8 7 7 4 1 

Total WCA PDFs 0 2 3 3 2.8 4.8 4.3 4.6 4 5 3 1 

Figure 18: WCA postdoc funding timeline from 2018.  Postdocs funded with WCA funds are shown in blue, other funds in yellow. 

Page 184 of 274



 

 

 

 

62 

Two postdoctoral fellows left their positions early to take up faculty positions, and we host 
multiple postdoctoral researchers’ part-supported by the WCA, complicating the picture.   For 
example, in the year 2021-22, two new postdocs started, each 50% funded by the WCA, so the 
total cost was one. They (along two new postdocs supported by faculty grants) joined four 
existing postdocs, two of whom were supported by the WCA so the total cost to the WCA for that 
year was equivalent to three postdocs.  Nine postdocs accepted new positions within the WCA 
in 2023-2024, bringing our numbers up to 17 postdoctoral researchers in total. The cost to the 
WCA is equivalent to 4.8 postdocs, thanks to grants to individual faculty, a Banting Fellowship 
and a CITA National fellowship. 
 

Conclusions 
The first six years of the WCA have been successful and eventful. The research accomplishments 
of core members, as well as our strong reputation attracting national and international attention, 
show we have made substantive, high-impact scientific progress in several sub-fields of 
astrophysics. Our contributions to the imaging of the Black Hole by the Event Horizon Team and 
the largest 3D map of the Universe by the eBOSS team are strong highlights. The trend in the 
numbers of refereed scientific publications coming from WCA members and the exciting new 
projects highlighted in this report suggest that the future will also be strong.  
 
Our postdoc hiring has been incredibly successful, and we now have an excellent team of 

researchers in place. It is particularly nice to see that the WCA funding is being used to leverage 

additional funds both from outside the University – from the Perimeter Institute, CITA and 

Banting, as well as research grants where WCA members are lead investigators. Our ambitious 

meetings, visitor and outreach programmes were delayed by Covid travel restrictions but, 

nevertheless, we have achieved a great deal and there are strong signs of them getting back on 

track, with two major conferences hosted at the University this year. The outreach highlight is 

clearly our new mobile planetarium. Feedback from the events that we have done so far has been 

excellent – we have a long list of interested schools. 

 

Looking forwards, WCA members have raised some points in the membership survey that need 

to be addressed. While some are outside the control of the WCA, there is still clearly work that 

we can do to improve the environment within the WCA. We will work to engage more with our 

student and postdoc communities and strengthen the link to the executive. We will also work to 

ensure that every member of the WCA feels respected and valued. 

 

In its strategic plan, the University of Waterloo has emphasised the importance of disciplinary 

and interdisciplinary strengths, and we align well with both. We will continue to explore ways in 

which we can apply the techniques used in astronomy to other fields, and likewise explore how 

we can use knowledge from those field to help with astrophysical problems. We will apply similar 

principles outside of direct research and will leverage the attraction of astronomy to potential 

new researchers to help to train the next generation of diverse scientists. 

Page 185 of 274



 

 

 

 

63 

 

Acknowledgements 
 

We would like to acknowledge and thank Savannah Sloat (Manager, Science Indigenous 
Initiatives, Faculty of Science) and Karen Cummings (Chair of the Physics and Astronomy EDI 
committee) for their assistance with the WCA membership survey.  
 
We would also like the thank and acknowledge Anja Drygala (Financial Officer, Physics and 
Astronomy), Maya El-Baltaji (Physics Operations Coordinator) and Holly Haig-Brown (Graduate 
Program Manager, Physics and Astronomy), who compiled and provided information on grants 
and graduate student membership, respectively. 
 
This report was written by WCA members and compiled by the Administrative Assistant, 
Carolyn McCoey, and by Director Will Percival.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics … at a glance: credits 

First image of a black hole: Event Horizon Telescope Consortium 

First 3D map of the Universe: A Raichoor (EPFL)/A. Ross (Ohio State University)/SDSS Consortium 

NGC 6744: ESA/Euclid Consortium/NASA 

DESI Slice: Claire Lammam, DESI Collaboration 

 

Page 186 of 274



 

 

 

 

64 

Appendix A:  Letters of support from Dean of Science, Department of Physics and 
Astronomy Chair and WCA Governing Board 

 

Page 187 of 274



 

 

 

 

65  

Page 188 of 274



 

 

 

 

66 

 

 

 

Page 189 of 274



 

 

 

 

67 

Page 190 of 274



 

 

 

 

68 

Page 191 of 274



 

 

 

 

69 

 
 

 

Page 192 of 274



 

 

 

 

70 

 

Appendix B:  WCA Constitution 

 1 Constitution  

1.1 Aims of the WCA  

To facilitate and conduct ground-breaking research, training, and outreach in Cosmology and 
Astrophysics at the University of Waterloo. The WCA will foster new and exciting discoveries about the 
nature of the Cosmos and establish the University of Waterloo as a world leader in observational 
astrophysics and cosmology and the detailed testing of theoretical models of the Universe.  

1. Research: The WCA will stimulate fundamental research in Astrophysics and Cosmology, catalyze 
and foster national and international collaborations.  

2. Innovation: The WCA will support and exploit innovative and ground-breaking methods, 
techniques, and data.  

3. Training: The WCA will add to the graduate and postdoctoral training and mentorship undertaken 
at the University of Waterloo, leading to the successful entry of highly trained qualified personnel 
into a career in astrophysics, cosmology and industry.  

4. Partnership: The WCA seeks to partner with regional and international centres of excellence in 
astrophysics in order to promote synergies and further WCA missions.  

5. Dissemination: The WCA will facilitate dissemination of astrophysical sciences by hosting topical 
conferences and focused workshops, as well as by developing and maintaining an active visitor 
program.  

6. Outreach: The WCA will engage the broader academic community at UW, as well as the general 
public, via physical and virtual platforms, in order to promote the significance of fundamental 
research and share the excitement of the science done by WCA members. In particular, it will 
strive to engage and recruit women, underrepresented minorities, and members of indigenous 
communities in its scientific and outreach activities.  

1.2 Membership  

1.2.1 Regular Faculty, Student and Postdoctoral Members  

Regular Faculty Members of the WCA are faculty members at the University of Waterloo whose research 
interests overlap with the mission of the WCA. Membership whether granted by the Board, or granted for 
the initial complement of Members when the proposal to establish the Centre was approved by the 
University of Waterloo Senate, will be for a period of 3 years. Reappointment will require application to 
the Director within the 3rd year and approval by the Board. Regular Student and Postdoctoral membership 
may be granted by the Director upon recommendation of the mentor or advisor. Regular student and 
postdoctoral members will be reviewed annually by the Board. Regular Faculty, Student and Postdoctoral 
Members are expected to be primarily “in residence” at the University of Waterloo.  

1.2.2 Associate Members  

Scientists with primary appointments outside the University of Waterloo, or who are retired WCA Regular 
Faculty Members, may seek to become Associate Members of the WCA. Membership will be subject to 

Page 193 of 274



 

 

 

 

71 

the same criteria as Regular Members. Associate Members will have access to shared desk space during 
the time they spend within the WCA.  

1.2.3 Membership Privileges and Responsibilities  

Regular Faculty, Student, Postdoctoral and Associate Members will be able to use WCA facilities and funds 
to conduct and disseminate their research, within the framework described in this document, and 
established by the Director. In return, all Members will be expected to acknowledge their WCA affiliation 
and/or funding, and to play an active role within the WCA.  

1.3 Governance  

The oversight and financial responsibility of the Centre will rest with the University of Waterloo, through 
the Dean of the Faculty of Science as described in UW Policy #44. The operations are to be supervised and 
conducted by the WCA Director, assisted by an administrative assistant, subject to this constitution.  

There will be a single Governing Board (hereafter referred to as the Board), composed of:  

1. Dean of Science or a delegate (Chair)  
2. Director of the WCA  
3. Chair of Physics and Astronomy  
4. Non-WCA member of the Physics and Astronomy faculty*  

5. One or two representatives from the Regular Membership+  
6. Director of Centre for the Universe at PI or a delegate  
7. One member of high standing selected from the Canadian astrophysics community  
8. One member of high standing selected from the international astrophysics community  
9. One member of the non-academic Physics community (e.g. physicist working in industry,  

government agency, private research lab, etc.)  

* Only included if the chair of Physics and Astronomy is a WCA member. In this case, he/she will nominate 
an additional non-WCA member of the Physics and Astronomy Faculty to join the Board for the term of 
their position. 
+ One representative will be selected if the chair of Physics and Astronomy is a WCA member, otherwise 
two representatives will be selected.  

This Governing Board has the authority to execute and monitor the affairs of the Research Centre, subject 
to all applicable University policies, procedures and guidelines. As described in UW Policy #44, this 
includes the ability to:  

Enact rules and regulations for membership of the Governing Board and the conduct of its affairs; 
Recommend appointment of the Director and other leaders to the Dean; 
Recommend appointment and removal of staff to the Dean;  

Appoint and remove Members, and establish categories of membership and associated fees; 
Plan and implement the Centre’s development; 
Establish processes to manage and monitor the Research Centre’s financial affairs; Establish and enforce 

Page 194 of 274



 

 

 

 

72 

rules and regulations governing the Research Centre’s activities, provided such rules and regulations are 
consistent with University policies, procedures and guidelines; and  

Establish such committees as it deems necessary to discharge its responsibilities; this may include 
establishing advisory bodies comprised primarily of external Members for the purpose of providing 
strategic or scientific advice to the Governing Board or the Director.  

On the Board, the external members and the representatives of Regular Membership will serve a 3-year 
term, with possible renewal for a single additional term. Renewal and selection of external members will 
be undertaken by the Dean in consultation with the Director. A call will be put out for new representatives 
of the Regular Membership when they are required. If there are more applicants than positions available, 
the Director of the WCA will organize an election, where Regular Members have a single transferable vote 
on their representatives.  

The WCA Director will prepare a progress report including budget and a review of activity, membership 
and the development of the WCA for the Board every two years. After receipt of this report, the Board 
will meet, typically in-person, to review its contents and will meet with the director, faculty, postdocs, 
students, staff and others as deemed necessary. It will produce a brief summary detailing any specific 
issues or concerns. The Board will meet a year after its review, typically online, to hear a progress report. 
The Director and Members on the Board will absent themselves when their appointments are being 
discussed. The Board may meet at other times, in person or remotely, if requested by the Director or the 
Dean of Science. At the discretion of the Chair, the Board may conduct business and vote by e-mail. In 
order to be quorate, 7 or more members of the Board must attend (either in person or remotely) a board 
meeting. Following University of Waterloo policy #44, at least (50%+1) of Board members present at any 
meeting must be Regular Faculty Members of UW.  

Board meetings will be announced to all the WCA members in sufficient time for them to propose agenda 
items. The final agenda will be circulated to all the WCA members, indicating all decision items and 
background material. After each meeting, the minutes will be circulated to all members.  

Only the Board may propose amendments to this Constitution. After proposal by the Board, these changes 
will be put to a vote: a two-thirds majority of the WCA Regular Faculty Membership is required to ratify 
amendments to the constitution.  

1.4 Positions and Committees  

1.4.1 Director  

The director will lead the activities within the Centre, working towards the goals described in the aims 
statement above. Procedures for the appointment and possible preemptory removal of the Director of 
the WCA shall follow that described in UW policy #40, except as modified by policy #44, which states that 
the first term of office for the Director will be five years, renewable for up to five years, to a maximum of 
ten years.  

 

 

Page 195 of 274



 

 

 

 

73 

1.4.2 Administrative Assistant  

An administrative assistant will manage the Institute’s finances and operations, provide organizational 
and logistical support, and serve as the initial point of contact between the WCA and internal/external 
individuals and organizations. They will help manage the visitors and meetings programs, and with the 
hiring of WCA postdoctoral researchers.  

1.4.3 Standing and Ad Hoc Committees  

Standing and Ad Hoc Committees will be established by the Director to provide advice on policy and 
operational matters. A typical example of such a committee is for the WCA Postdoctoral Fellow 
recruitment using Centre funding.  

1.5 Gender balance and support of minorities  

Having a diverse workforce has been shown to provide a more robust, flexible, and successful work 
environment. In particular, given the under-representation of female scientists within the discipline of 
physics, the WCA would take progressive steps to develop a gender balance and become a leader for other 
astrophysics groups, centres and institutes within Canada and around the world. Similarly, the WCA is 
committed to increasing the representation from all equity-seeking groups thereby creating a diverse 
workforce that truly represents the diversity within Canada.  

In order to support these efforts, the WCA will educate its membership through equity-related training 
and information sessions. This is especially important for those members who will be engaged in 
recruiting, selection and hiring new members of the Centre. In addition, these educational initiatives will 
be aimed at creating and maintaining work environments that are welcoming, inclusive and respectful of 
all members and the diversity they bring to the Centre.  

When recruiting and hiring postdoctoral fellows, the WCA will strongly encourage applications from 
candidates that would help to provide equity across all groups. In particular, every member of the Centre 
will encourage and facilitate applications from qualified candidates from all of the equity-seeking groups.  

The WCA will also undertake, through outreach activities, to promote physics and astronomy as both an 
area of study and a career. In doing so, the WCA hopes to increase the participation of women, visible 
minorities and indigenous communities in the field of physics and astronomy in Canada.  

1.6 Statement on conduct and behaviour  

The WCA will be proud to provide an environment where all staff, regardless of gender, race, sexual 
orientation, age, religious belief and disability can work towards the mission statement in Section 2.2.  

Harassment, discrimination, or the abuse of supervisory authority will not be allowed for any activity 
connected with the WCA. UW policies will be used to define unacceptable behavior including the Conflict 
of Interest Policy #69, Ethical Behavior policy #33, and Prevention and Response to Sexual Violence Policy 
#42. Training and open discussion will be used to encourage the welcoming, inclusive and respectful 
workplace desired (See Sec 2.5).  

Page 196 of 274



 

 

 

 

74 

Use of Waterloo computing and network resources by WCA members will follow standard UW guidelines. 
This includes following the Use of Proprietary Software Policy #64.  

Any issues covered by UW policies will be handled using the standard UW procedures, and all WCA 
members will be expected to fully cooperate with any inquiries. If a concern is directed towards a non-
UW member and consequently the formal UW procedure cannot be applied, the Director and Board 
(excluding any members or the Director if conflicted) will investigate, following the UW procedure as 
closely as possible. Possible outcomes include the loss of privileges and/or expulsion from the Centre.  

All external members will be made aware of the UW policies, and this constitution upon joining the WCA.  

2 Criteria for the membership review of potential regular full and associate members  

This section gives the criteria to be used by the Board to decide on WCA membership for regular and 
associate faculty members. This does not include Student or Postdoc members, for whom membership is 
granted by the Director upon recommendation of the mentor or advisor.  

2.1 Excellence of research scientist  

Evidence of research excellence, including recent refereed publications, invited talks and other research 
activity. Strong positive and upstanding reputation within the field of astrophysics as judged from a 
submitted CV and by potential follow-up by Board members.  

2.2 Fit to the research aims of the WCA  

Recent research activity within areas deemed to be important for the future development of the WCA. 
Strong potential for future positive contributions to the research of other members of the WCA. Initial 
priority research directions include undertaking and supporting experimental activity, particularly 
astronomical observations, and survey analysis.  

2.3 Diversity of WCA  

Either directly or indirectly helps with the aim of the WCA to embrace diversity and provide equity 
between all equity-seeking groups. Shows a strong commitment to support the aims of the WCA in this 
regard.  

2.4 Commitment to the WCA  

Shows commitment to the future development and to winning support for the growth of the WCA: in 
particular is likely to spend a significant amount of time at the WCA working with WCA members, or will 
provide equivalent support.  

Page 197 of 274



 

 

 

 

75 

Appendix C: WCA Membership survey responses 

 

WCA Membership Survey

1. What is your current status:

2. For how many years have you been a member of the WCA (students and postdocs working in

astrophysics are all members of the WCA from when they start):

36
Responses

10:48
Average time to complete

Closed
Status

Student 18

Postdoc or staff 11

Faculty 6

Other 0

Less than 1 year 10

1 year 2

2 years 4

3 years 7

4 or more years 12

Page 198 of 274



 

 

 

 

76 

 

3. Why did you decide to come to the University of Waterloo and become a member of the WCA?

Choose all that apply.

4. Do you find the WCA seminar program to be beneficial?

5. Do you have any suggestions for improvement of the WCA seminar program?

15
Responses Latest Responses

6. Do you find the journal clubs/ topical meetings to be beneficial?

Close to my home 8

Research reputation in astrophy… 18

Research reputation in my sub-f… 9

Reputation of my supervisor/me… 21

Teaching reputation at the unive… 4

University reputation overall 17

Yes 31

No 2

Not applicable 2

Yes 26

No 3

Not applicable 6

Page 199 of 274



 

 

 

 

77 

 

7. Do you have any suggestions for improvements to the journal clubs/ topical meetings?

12
Responses Latest Responses

8. The WCA holds monthly management meetings with faculty, and students and postdocs

representatives. There is also a governing board with annual reviews.  Do you feel that your views

are adequately represented at these meetings?

9. Would you like to see any changes to the way the WCA is managed?

11
Responses

Latest Responses

"More active participation from students"

10. Going forward, is there anything that the WCA is not doing that you would like to see happen?

17
Responses

Latest Responses

"More in person seminars"

Yes 17

No 4

Not applicable 11

Page 200 of 274



 

 

 

 

78 

11. Please indicate your level of satisfaction with the WCA in the following regards (very dissatisfied -

very satisfied):

12. Please indicate your level of agreement with each of the following statements at the WCA

(strongly disagree - strongly agree):

Very dissatisfied Somewhat dissatisfied Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied Somewhat satisfied

Very satisfied

Overall environment of inclusion and diversity

The extent to which you experience a sense of

belonging or community

The level of ethnic diversity among students

The gender ratio among students

The level of ethnic diversity among postdocs

The gender ratio among postdocs

The level of ethnic diversity among faculty

The gender ratio among faculty

Strongly disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly agree

The WCA environment is free from tensions relating to

individual or group differences

Faculty in the WCA seem committed to diversity,

equity and inclusion

Postdocs in the WCA seem committed to diversity,

equity and inclusion

Students in the WCA seem committed to diversity,

equity and inclusion

Page 201 of 274



 

 

 

 

79 

13. Which of the following forms of discrimination or harassment have you experienced and/or

observed within the WCA? Please choose all that apply. If you select "other" please describe.

14. Is there anything more you would like to say about the general climate within the WCA? (Leave

blank if no.)

7
Responses Latest Responses

15. If you would like someone to get in touch with you about this part of the survey please leave

your email below. (Leave blank if not.)

1
Responses Latest Responses

Stared at 0

Ignored by others, excluded 1

Pushed to justify my opinions or… 2

Comments about my appearance 0

Derogatory comments about m… 0

Racial/ethic profiling 0

Derogatory verbal comments in… 3

Receiving a bad grade due to a … 0

Intimidation/bullying 0

Derogatory social media post 0

Sexual harassment 0

Sexual assault 0

None of the above 24

Other 1

Page 202 of 274



 

 

 

 

80 

16. What is your current status

17. What is your self-identified gender?

18. Do you self-identify as part of the 2SLGBTQ+ community?  For definitions of these identities

please visit: https:/ /ok2bme.ca/ resources/kids-teens/what-does-lgbtq-mean/

Student 18

Postdoc or staff 11

Faculty 6

Other 0

Woman 9

Man 25

Non-binary/Gender fluid 0

Transgender/Transitioning 1

Prefer not to say 0

Other 0

Yes 6

No 29

Prefer not to say 0

Page 203 of 274



 

 

 

 

81 

 
 

19. Do you self-identify as a person with a disability? “Disability” covers a broad range and degree of

conditions, some visible and some not visible.

20. With which of the following ethnic groups do you self-identify? (select all that apply).   This list is

based on the ethnic origin data of the Canadian Census.

Yes 5

No 30

Prefer not to say 0

Arab 0

Black 0

Chinese 0

European 22

Filipino 0

Indigenous (eg., First Nations, In… 0

Japanese 0

Korean 0

Latin American 2

South Asian (e.g., East Indian, Pa… 3

Southeast Asian (e.g., Cambodia… 1

West Asian (e.g., Afghan, Iranian… 2

Prefer not to say 0

Other 3

Page 204 of 274



 

 

 

 

82 

Appendix D: WCA Publications 
 

Referred publications of WCA faculty and postdocs from start of WCA (11-2018) to June 2024.  
For postdocs and retired faculty, the list is limited to publications while based in Waterloo.   
 
Niayesh Afshordi: 
 
Mylova, Maria & Afshordi, Niayesh 2024 Effective cuscuton theory JHEP 2024 144   
   
Wen, Robin Y., Hergt, Lukas T., Afshordi, Niayesh, & Scott, Douglas 2024 A cosmic glitch in gravity JCAP 2024 045   
   
Dey, Ramit, Micchi, Luís Felipe Longo, Mukherjee, Suvodip, & Afshordi, Niayesh 2024 Spectrogram correlated 
stacking: A novel time-frequency domain analysis of the stochastic gravitational wave background PhRvD 109 
023029   
   
Wu, Di, Gao, Pengyuan, Ren, Jing, & Afshordi, Niayesh 2023 Model-independent search for the quasinormal modes 
of gravitational wave echoes PhRvD 108 124006   
   
Dailey, Conner, Afshordi, Niayesh, & Schnetter, Erik 2023 Reflecting boundary conditions in numerical relativity as 
a model for black hole echoes CQGra 40 195007   
   
Abedi, Jahed, Longo Micchi, Luís Felipe, & Afshordi, Niayesh 2023 GW190521: Search for echoes due to stimulated 
Hawking radiation from black holes PhRvD 108 044047   
   
Oshita, Naritaka & Afshordi, Niayesh 2023 From entropy to echoes: Counting the quasi-normal modes and the 
quantum limit of silence PhLB 841 137901   
   
Chen, Alice Y. & Afshordi, Niayesh 2023 Outskirts of dark matter haloes PhRvD 107 103526   
   
Borissova, Johanna N., Held, Aaron, & Afshordi, Niayesh 2023 Scale-invariance at the core of quantum black holes 
CQGra 40 075011   
   
Robbins, Matthew P. G., Afshordi, Niayesh, Jamison, Alan O., & Mann, Robert B. 2022 Detection of gravitational 
waves using parametric resonance in Bose-Einstein condensates CQGra 39 175009   
   
Mylova, Maria, Moschou, Marianthi, Afshordi, Niayesh, & Magueijo, João 2022 Non-Gaussian signatures of a 
thermal Big Bang JCAP 2022 005   
   
Saraswat, Krishan & Afshordi, Niayesh 2022 Spacing statistics of energy spectra: random matrices, black hole 
thermalization, and echoes JHEP 2022 17   

 
 Afshordi N., Magueijo J., 2022, Lower bound on the cosmological constant from the classicality of the early 
Universe, PhRvD, 106, 123518. 
 
Arun K. G., Belgacem E., Benkel R., Bernard L., Berti E., Bertone G., Besancon M., et al., 2022, New horizons for 
fundamental physics with LISA, LRR, 25, 4. 
 
Yang T., Hudson M. J., Afshordi N., 2022, A universal profile for stacked filaments from cold dark matter 
simulations, MNRAS, 516, 6041. 
 

Page 205 of 274



 

 

 

 

83 

Robbins M. P. G., Afshordi N., Jamison A. O., Mann R. B., 2022, Detection of gravitational waves using parametric 
resonance in Bose-Einstein condensates, CQGra, 39, 175009. 
 
Mylova M., Moschou M., Afshordi N., Magueijo J., 2022, Non-Gaussian signatures of a thermal Big Bang, JCAP, 
2022, 005. 
 
Abolfath R., Baikalov A., Bartzsch S., Afshordi N., Mohan R., 2022, The effect of non-ionizing excitations on the 
diffusion of ion species and inter-track correlations in FLASH ultra-high dose rate radiotherapy, PMB, 67, 105005. 
 
Saraswat K., Afshordi N., 2022, Spacing statistics of energy spectra: random matrices, black hole thermalization, 
and echoes, JHEP, 2022, 17. 
 
Chua W. Z., Afshordi N., 2021, Electromagnetic albedo of Quantum Black Holes, JHEP, 2021, 6. 
 
Oshita N., Afshordi N., Mukohyama S., 2021, Lifshitz scaling, ringing black holes, and superradiance, JCAP, 2021, 
005. 
 
Longo Micchi L. F., Afshordi N., Chirenti C., 2021, How loud are echoes from exotic compact objects?, PhRvD, 103, 
044028. 
 
Saraswat K., Afshordi N., 2021, Extracting Hawking radiation near the horizon of AdS black holes, JHEP, 2021, 77. 
 
Adshead P., Afshordi N., Dimastrogiovanni E., Fasiello M., Lim E. A., Tasinato G., 2021, Multimessenger cosmology: 
Correlating cosmic microwave background and stochastic gravitational wave background measurements, PhRvD, 
103, 023532. 
 
Dey R., Afshordi N., 2020, Echoes in the Kerr/CFT correspondence, PhRvD, 102, 126006. 
 
Yang T., Hudson M. J., Afshordi N., 2020, How dark are filaments in the cosmic web?, MNRAS, 498, 3158. 
 
Barausse E., Berti E., Hertog T., Hughes S. A., Jetzer P., Pani P., Sotiriou T. P., et al., 2020, Prospects for fundamental 
physics with LISA, GReGr, 52, 81. 
 
Oshita N., Tsuna D., Afshordi N., 2020, Quantum black hole seismology. II. Applications to astrophysical black holes, 
PhRvD, 102, 024046. 
 
Oshita N., Tsuna D., Afshordi N., 2020, Quantum black hole seismology. I. Echoes, ergospheres, and spectra, 
PhRvD, 102, 024045. 
 
Dey R., Chakraborty S., Afshordi N., 2020, Echoes from braneworld black holes, PhRvD, 101, 104014. 
 
Chen A. Y., Afshordi N., 2020, Amending the halo model to satisfy cosmological conservation laws, PhRvD, 101, 
103522. 
 
Yang T., Boruah S. S., Afshordi N., 2020, Gravitational potential from small-scale clustering in action space: 
application to Gaia Data Release 2, MNRAS, 493, 3061. 
 
Saraswat K., Afshordi N., 2020, Quantum nature of black holes: fast scrambling versus echoes, JHEP, 2020, 136. 
 
Oshita N., Wang Q., Afshordi N., 2020, On reflectivity of quantum black hole horizons, JCAP, 2020, 016. 
 
Wang Q., Oshita N., Afshordi N., 2020, Echoes from quantum black holes, PhRvD, 101, 024031. 

Page 206 of 274



 

 

 

 

84 

 
Abedi J., Afshordi N., 2019, Echoes from the abyss: a highly spinning black hole remnant for the binary neutron star 
merger GW170817, JCAP, 2019, 010. 
 
Zhoolideh Haghighi M. H., Afshordi N., Khosroshahi H. G., 2019, Cooling+Heating Flows in Galaxy Clusters: 
Turbulent Heating, Spectral Modeling, and Cooling Efficiency, ApJ, 884, 47. 
 
Gould E., Afshordi N., 2019, Does history repeat itself? Periodic Time Cosmology, JCAP, 2019, 058. 
 
Robbins M. P. G., Afshordi N., Mann R. B., 2019, Bose-Einstein condensates as gravitational wave detectors, JCAP, 
2019, 032. 
 
Khosravi N., Baghram S., Afshordi N., Altamirano N., 2019, H0 tension as a hint for a transition in gravitational 
theory, PhRvD, 99, 103526. 
 
Oshita N., Afshordi N., 2019, Probing microstructure of black hole spacetimes with gravitational wave echoes, 
PhRvD, 99, 044002. 
 
Lynch M. H., Afshordi N., 2018, Temperatures of renormalizable quantum field theories in curved spacetime, 
CQGra, 35, 225008. 
 
Zwane N., Afshordi N., Sorkin R. D., 2018, Cosmological tests of Everpresent Λ, CQGra, 35, 194002. 

 
Syeda Lammim Ahad 
 
Ahad S. L., Muzzin A., Bahé Y. M., Hoekstra H., 2024, An environment-dependent halo mass function as a driver for 
the early quenching of z ≥ 1.5 cluster galaxies, MNRAS, 528, 6329. 

 
Michael Balogh: 
 
Xie, Lizhi, De Lucia, Gabriella, Fontanot, Fabio, Hirschmann, Michaela, Bahé, Yannick M., Balogh, Michael L., 
Muzzin, Adam, Vulcani, Benedetta, Baxter, Devontae C., Forrest, Ben, Wilson, Gillian, Rudnick, Gregory H., Cooper, 
M. C., & Rescigno, Umberto 2024 The First Quenched Galaxies: When and How? 966 L2  
 
Cheng, Isaac, Woods, Tyrone E., Côté, Patrick, Glover, Jennifer, Bansal, Dhananjhay, Amenouche, Melissa, 
Marshall, Madeline A., Amen, Laurie, Hutchings, John, Ferrarese, Laura, Venn, Kim A., Balogh, Michael, Blouin, 
Simon, Cloutier, Ryan, Dickson, Nolan, Gallagher, Sarah, Hellmich, Martin, Hénault-Brunet, Vincent, Khatu, Viraja, 
Lawlor-Forsyth, Cameron, Morgan, Cameron, Richer, Harvey, Sawicki, Marcin, & Sorba, Robert 2024 FORECASTOR. 
I. Finding Optics Requirements and Exposure Times for the Cosmological Advanced Survey Telescope for Optical 
and UV Research Mission 167 178  
 
Gully, Harry, Hatch, Nina, Bahé, Yannick, Balogh, Michael, Bolzonella, Micol, Cooper, M. C., Muzzin, Adam, Pozzetti, 
Lucia, Rudnick, Gregory, Vulcani, Benedetta, & Wilson, Gillian 2024 Spitzer-selected z > 1.3 protocluster candidates 
in the LSST Deep Drilling Fields 527 10680  
 
Edward, Adit H., Balogh, Michael L., Bahé, Yannick M., Cooper, M. C., Hatch, Nina A., Marchioni, Justin, Muzzin, 
Adam, Noble, Allison, Rudnick, Gregory H., Vulcani, Benedetta, Wilson, Gillian, De Lucia, Gabriella, Demarco, 
Ricardo, Forrest, Ben, Hirschmann, Michaela, Castignani, Gianluca, Cerulo, Pierluigi, Finn, Rose A., Hewitt, 
Guillaume, Jablonka, Pascale, Kodama, Tadayuki, Maurogordato, Sophie, Nantais, Julie, & Xie, Lizhi 2024 The stellar 
mass function of quiescent galaxies in 2 < z < 2.5 protoclusters 527 8598  
 

Page 207 of 274



 

 

 

 

85 

Cheng, Chloe M., Villaume, Alexa, Balogh, Michael L., Brodie, Jean P., Martín-Navarro, Ignacio, Romanowsky, Aaron 
J., & van Dokkum, Pieter G. 2023 Initial mass function variability from the integrated light of diverse stellar systems 
526 4004  
 
Baxter, Devontae C., Cooper, M. C., Balogh, Michael L., Rudnick, Gregory H., De Lucia, Gabriella, Demarco, Ricardo, 
Finoguenov, Alexis, Forrest, Ben, Muzzin, Adam, Reeves, Andrew M. M., Sarron, Florian, Vulcani, Benedetta, 
Wilson, Gillian, & Zaritsky, Dennis 2023 When the well runs dry: modelling environmental quenching of high-mass 
satellites in massive clusters at z ≳ 1 526 3716  
 
Finn, Rose A., Vulcani, Benedetta, Rudnick, Gregory, Balogh, Michael L., Desai, Vandana, Jablonka, Pascale, & 
Zaritsky, Dennis 2023 The Local Cluster Survey II: disc-dominated cluster galaxies with suppressed star formation 
521 4614  

 
Kukstas, Egidijus, Balogh, Michael L.,   GOGREEN: A critical assessment of environmental trends in cosmological 
hydrodynamical simulations at z ≈ 1 518 4782  

 
Baxter, Devontae C., Cooper, M. C., Balogh, Michael L., Carleton, Timothy, Cerulo, Pierluigi, De Lucia, Gabriella, 
Demarco, Ricardo, McGee, Sean, Muzzin, Adam, Nantais, Julie, Pintos-Castro, Irene, Reeves, Andrew M. M., 
Rudnick, Gregory H., Sarron, Florian, van der Burg, Remco F. J., Vulcani, Benedetta, Wilson, Gillian, & Zaritsky, 
Dennis 2022 The GOGREEN survey: constraining the satellite quenching time-scale in massive clusters at z ≳ 1 515 
5479  

 
 Kukstas E., Balogh M. L., McCarthy I. G., Bahé Y. M., De Lucia G., Jablonka P., Vulcani B., et al., 2023, GOGREEN: A 
critical assessment of environmental trends in cosmological hydrodynamical simulations at z ≈ 1, MNRAS, 518, 
4782. 
 
 Boselli A., Fossati M., Roediger J., Boquien M., Fumagalli M., Balogh M., Boissier S., et al., 2023, A Virgo 
Environmental Survey Tracing Ionised Gas Emission (VESTIGE). XIV. Main-sequence relation in a rich environment 
down to Mstar ≃ 106 M⊙, A&A, 669, A73. 
 
 Webb K. A., Villaume A., Laine S., Romanowsky A. J., Balogh M., van Dokkum P., Forbes D. A., et al., 2022, Still at 
odds with conventional galaxy evolution: the star formation history of ultradiffuse galaxy Dragonfly 44, MNRAS, 
516, 3318. 
 
 Baxter D. C., Cooper M. C., Balogh M. L., Carleton T., Cerulo P., De Lucia G., Demarco R., et al., 2022, The GOGREEN 
survey: constraining the satellite quenching time-scale in massive clusters at z ≳ 1, MNRAS, 515, 5479. 
 
 Pontoppidan K. M., Barrientes J., Blome C., Braun H., Brown M., Carruthers M., Coe D., et al., 2022, The JWST Early 
Release Observations, ApJL, 936, L14. 
 
 Werner S. V., Hatch N. A., Muzzin A., van der Burg R. F. J., Balogh M. L., Rudnick G., Wilson G., 2022, Satellite 
quenching was not important for z ∼ 1 clusters: most quenching occurred during infall, MNRAS, 510, 674. 
 
 Matharu J., Muzzin A., Brammer G. B., Nelson E. J., Auger M. W., Hewett P. C., van der Burg R., et al., 2021, 
HST/WFC3 Grism Observations of z   1 Clusters: Evidence for Rapid Outside-in Environmental Quenching from 
Spatially Resolved Hα Maps, ApJ, 923, 222. 
 
 McNab K., Balogh M. L., van der Burg R. F. J., Forestell A., Webb K., Vulcani B., Rudnick G., et al., 2021, The 
GOGREEN survey: transition galaxies and the evolution of environmental quenching, MNRAS, 508, 157. 
 
 Chan J. C. C., Wilson G., Balogh M., Rudnick G., van der Burg R. F. J., Muzzin A., Webb K. A., et al., 2021, The 
GOGREEN Survey: Evidence of an Excess of Quiescent Disks in Clusters at 1.0, ApJ, 920, 32. 

Page 208 of 274



 

 

 

 

86 

 
 Reeves A. M. M., Balogh M. L., van der Burg R. F. J., Finoguenov A., Kukstas E., McCarthy I. G., Webb K., et al., 
2021, The GOGREEN survey: dependence of galaxy properties on halo mass at z > 1 and implications for 
environmental quenching, MNRAS, 506, 3364. 
 
 Biviano A., van der Burg R. F. J., Balogh M. L., Munari E., Cooper M. C., De Lucia G., Demarco R., et al., 2021, The 
GOGREEN survey: Internal dynamics of clusters of galaxies at redshift 0.9-1.4, A&A, 650, A105. 
 
 Balogh M. L., van der Burg R. F. J., Muzzin A., Rudnick G., Wilson G., Webb K., Biviano A., et al., 2021, The 
GOGREEN and GCLASS surveys: first data release, MNRAS, 500, 358. 
 
 Old L. J., Balogh M. L., van der Burg R. F. J., Biviano A., Yee H. K. C., Pintos-Castro I., Webb K., et al., 2021, Erratum: 
The GOGREEN survey: the environmental dependence of the star-forming galaxy main sequence at 1.0 < z < 1.5, 
MNRAS, 500, 355. 
 
 Nantais J., Wilson G., Muzzin A., Old L. J., Demarco R., Cerulo P., Balogh M., et al., 2020, The H α star formation 
main sequence in cluster and field galaxies at z ∼ 1.6, MNRAS, 499, 3061. 
 
 Webb K., Balogh M. L., Leja J., van der Burg R. F. J., Rudnick G., Muzzin A., Boak K., et al., 2020, The GOGREEN 
survey: post-infall environmental quenching fails to predict the observed age difference between quiescent field 
and cluster galaxies at z > 1, MNRAS, 498, 5317. 
 
 van der Burg R. F. J., Rudnick G., Balogh M. L., Muzzin A., Lidman C., Old L. J., Shipley H., et al., 2020, The GOGREEN 
Survey: A deep stellar mass function of cluster galaxies at 1.0 < z < 1.4 and the complex nature of satellite 
quenching, A&A, 638, A112. 
 
 Old L. J., Balogh M. L., van der Burg R. F. J., Biviano A., Yee H. K. C., Pintos-Castro I., Webb K., et al., 2020, The 
GOGREEN survey: the environmental dependence of the star-forming galaxy main sequence at 1.0 < z < 1.5, 
MNRAS, 493, 5987. 
 
 Sawicki M., Arnouts S., Huang J., Coupon J., Golob A., Gwyn S., Foucaud S., et al., 2019, The CFHT large area U-
band deep survey (CLAUDS), MNRAS, 489, 5202. 
 
 Chan J. C. C., Wilson G., Rudnick G., Muzzin A., Balogh M., Nantais J., van der Burg R. F. J., et al., 2019, The Rest-
frame H-band Luminosity Function of Red-sequence Galaxies in Clusters at 1.0 < z < 1.3, ApJ, 880, 119. 
 
 Matharu J., Muzzin A., Brammer G. B., van der Burg R. F. J., Auger M. W., Hewett P. C., van der Wel A., et al., 2019, 
HST/WFC3 grism observations of z ∼ 1 clusters: the cluster versus field stellar mass-size relation and evidence for 
size growth of quiescent galaxies from minor mergers, MNRAS, 484, 595. 
 
 Gozaliasl G., Finoguenov A., Tanaka M., Dolag K., Montanari F., Kirkpatrick C. C., Vardoulaki E., et al., 2019, 
Chandra centres for COSMOS X-ray galaxy groups: differences in stellar properties between central dominant and 
offset brightest group galaxies, MNRAS, 483, 3545. 
 
 Connor T., Kelson D. D., Mulchaey J., Vikhlinin A., Patel S. G., Balogh M. L., Joshi G., et al., 2018, Wide-field Optical 
Spectroscopy of Abell 133: A Search for Filaments Reported in X-Ray Observations, ApJ, 867, 25. 

 
Pierre Burger 
 
Wright A. H., Kuijken K., Hildebrandt H., Radovich M., Bilicki M., Dvornik A., Getman F., et al., 2024, The fifth data 
release of the Kilo Degree Survey: Multi-epoch optical/NIR imaging covering wide and legacy-calibration fields, 
A&A, 686, A170. 

Page 209 of 274



 

 

 

 

87 

 
 
Avery Broderick: 
 
SaraerToosi A., Broderick A. E., 2024, Autoencoding Labeled Interpolator, Inferring Parameters from Image and 
Image from Parameters, ApJ, 967, 140. 
 
Salehi K., Broderick A. E., Georgiev B., 2024, Photon Rings and Shadow Size for General Axisymmetric and 
Stationary Integrable Spacetimes, ApJ, 966, 143. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2024, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. VIII. Physical Interpretation of the Polarized Ring, ApJL, 
964, L26. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2024, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. VII. Polarization of the Ring, ApJL, 964, L25. 
 
Wang Z., Broderick A. E., 2024, Constraining the Existence of Axion Clouds in M87* with Closure Trace Analyses, 
ApJ, 962, 121. 
 
Paraschos G. F., Kim J.-Y., Wielgus M., Röder J., Krichbaum T. P., Ros E., Agudo I., et al., 2024, Ordered magnetic 
fields around the 3C 84 central black hole, A&A, 682, L3. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2024, The persistent shadow of the supermassive black hole of M 87. I. Observations, calibration, imaging, and 
analysis, A&A, 681, A79. 
 
Torne P., Liu K., Eatough R. P., Wongphechauxsorn J., Cordes J. M., Desvignes G., De Laurentis M., et al., 2023, A 
Search for Pulsars around Sgr A* in the First Event Horizon Telescope Data Set, ApJ, 959, 14. 
 
Broderick A. E., Salehi K., Georgiev B., 2023, Shadow Implications: What Does Measuring the Photon Ring Imply for 
Gravity?, ApJ, 958, 114. 
 
Roelofs F., Johnson M. D., Chael A., Janssen M., Wielgus M., Broderick A. E., Akiyama K., et al., 2023, Polarimetric 
Geometric Modeling for mm-VLBI Observations of Black Holes, ApJL, 957, L21. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2023, First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. IX. Detection of Near-horizon Circular Polarization, ApJL, 957, 
L20. 
 
Doeleman S. S., Barrett J., Blackburn L., Bouman K. L., Broderick A. E., Chaves R., Fish V. L., et al., 2023, Reference 
Array and Design Consideration for the Next-Generation Event Horizon Telescope, Galax, 11, 107. 
 
Emami R., Doeleman S. S., Wielgus M., Chang D., Chatterjee K., Smith R., Liska M., et al., 2023, The EB Correlation 
in Resolved Polarized Images: Connections to the Astrophysics of Black Holes, ApJ, 955, 6. 
 
Johnson M. D., Doeleman S. S., Gómez J. L., Broderick A. E., 2023, From Vision to Instrument: Creating a Next-
Generation Event Horizon Telescope for a New Era of Black Hole Science, Galax, 11, 92. 
 
Conroy N. S., Bauböck M., Dhruv V., Lee D., Broderick A. E., Chan C.-. kwan ., Georgiev B., et al., 2023, Rotation in 
Event Horizon Telescope Movies, ApJ, 951, 46. 

Page 210 of 274



 

 

 

 

88 

 
Emami R., Ricarte A., Wong G. N., Palumbo D., Chang D., Doeleman S. S., Broderick A. E., et al., 2023, Unraveling 
Twisty Linear Polarization Morphologies in Black Hole Images, ApJ, 950, 38. 
 
Prather B. S., Dexter J., Moscibrodzka M., Pu H.-Y., Bronzwaer T., Davelaar J., Younsi Z., et al., 2023, Comparison of 
Polarized Radiative Transfer Codes Used by the EHT Collaboration, ApJ, 950, 35. 
 
Lu R.-S., Asada K., Krichbaum T. P., Park J., Tazaki F., Pu H.-Y., Nakamura M., et al., 2023, A ring-like accretion 
structure in M87 connecting its black hole and jet, Natur, 616, 686. 
 
Johnson M. D., Akiyama K., Blackburn L., Bouman K. L., Broderick A. E., Cardoso V., Fender R. P., et al., 2023, Key 
Science Goals for the Next-Generation Event Horizon Telescope, Galax, 11, 61. 
 
Jorstad S., Wielgus M., Lico R., Issaoun S., Broderick A. E., Pesce D. W., Liu J., et al., 2023, The Event Horizon 
Telescope Image of the Quasar NRAO 530, ApJ, 943, 170. 
 
Emami R., Tiede P., Doeleman S. S., Roelofs F., Wielgus M., Blackburn L., Liska M., et al., 2023, Tracing Hot Spot 
Motion in Sagittarius A* Using the Next-Generation Event Horizon Telescope (ngEHT), Galax, 11, 23. 
 
Emami R., Anantua R., Ricarte A., Doeleman S. S., Broderick A., Wong G., Blackburn L., et al., 2023, Probing Plasma 
Composition with the Next Generation Event Horizon Telescope (ngEHT), Galax, 11, 11. 
 
Anantua R., Dúran J., Ngata N., Oramas L., Röder J., Emami R., Ricarte A., et al., 2023, Emission Modeling in the 
EHT–ngEHT Age, Galax, 11, 4. 
 
Pesce D. W., Palumbo D. C. M., Ricarte A., Broderick A. E., Johnson M. D., Nagar N. M., Natarajan P., Gómez J. L., 
2022, Expectations for Horizon-Scale Supermassive Black Hole Population Studies with the ngEHT, Galax, 10, 109. 
 
Tiede P., Broderick A. E., Palumbo D. C. M., Chael A., 2022, Measuring the Ellipticity of M87* Images, ApJ, 940, 182. 
 
Ni C., Broderick A. E., Gold R., 2022, Probing Accretion Turbulence in the Galactic Center with EHT Polarimetry, ApJ, 
940, 149. 
 
Broderick A. E., Pesce D. W., Gold R., Tiede P., Pu H.-Y., Anantua R., Britzen S., et al., 2022, The Photon Ring in 
M87*, ApJ, 935, 61. 
 
Issaoun S., Wielgus M., Jorstad S., Krichbaum T. P., Blackburn L., Janssen M., Chan C.-. kwan ., et al., 2022, 
Resolving the Inner Parsec of the Blazar J1924-2914 with the Event Horizon Telescope, ApJ, 934, 145. 
 
Lamberts A., Puchwein E., Pfrommer C., Chang P., Shalaby M., Broderick A., Tiede P., Rudie G., 2022, Constraining 
blazar heating with the 2 ≲ z ≲ 3 Lyman-α forest, MNRAS, 512, 3045. 
 
Broderick A. E., Gold R., Georgiev B., Pesce D. W., Tiede P., Ni C., Moriyama K., et al., 2022, Characterizing and 
Mitigating Intraday Variability: Reconstructing Source Structure in Accreting Black Holes with mm-VLBI, ApJL, 930, 
L21. 
 
Georgiev B., Pesce D. W., Broderick A. E., Wong G. N., Dhruv V., Wielgus M., Gammie C. F., et al., 2022, A Universal 
Power-law Prescription for Variability from Synthetic Images of Black Hole Accretion Flows, ApJL, 930, L20. 
 
Wielgus M., Marchili N., Martí-Vidal I., Keating G. K., Ramakrishnan V., Tiede P., Fomalont E., et al., 2022, 
Millimeter Light Curves of Sagittarius A* Observed during the 2017 Event Horizon Telescope Campaign, ApJL, 930, 
L19. 

Page 211 of 274



 

 

 

 

89 

 
Farah J., Galison P., Akiyama K., Bouman K. L., Bower G. C., Chael A., Fuentes A., et al., 2022, Selective Dynamical 
Imaging of Interferometric Data, ApJL, 930, L18. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. VI. Testing the Black Hole Metric, ApJL, 930, L17. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. V. Testing Astrophysical Models of the Galactic Center 
Black Hole, ApJL, 930, L16. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. IV. Variability, Morphology, and Black Hole Mass, ApJL, 
930, L15. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. III. Imaging of the Galactic Center Supermassive Black 
Hole, ApJL, 930, L14. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. II. EHT and Multiwavelength Observations, Data 
Processing, and Calibration, ApJL, 930, L13. 
 
Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. I. The Shadow of the Supermassive Black Hole in the 
Center of the Milky Way, ApJL, 930, L12. 
 
Broderick A. E., Tiede P., Pesce D. W., Gold R., 2022, Measuring Spin from Relative Photon-ring Sizes, ApJ, 927, 6. 
 
Tiede P., Broderick A. E., Palumbo D. C. M., 2022, Variational Image Feature Extraction for the Event Horizon 
Telescope, ApJ, 925, 122. 
 
Satapathy K., Psaltis D., Özel F., Medeiros L., Dougall S. T., Chan C.-K., Wielgus M., et al., 2022, The Variability of the 
Black Hole Image in M87 at the Dynamical Timescale, ApJ, 925, 13 

 
 Jorstad S., Wielgus M., Lico R., Issaoun S., Broderick A. E., Pesce D. W., Liu J., et al., 2023, The Event Horizon 
Telescope Image of the Quasar NRAO 530, ApJ, 943, 170. 
 
 Tiede P., Broderick A. E., Palumbo D. C. M., Chael A., 2022, Measuring the Ellipticity of M87* Images, ApJ, 940, 
182. 
 
 Ni C., Broderick A. E., Gold R., 2022, Probing Accretion Turbulence in the Galactic Center with EHT Polarimetry, 
ApJ, 940, 149. 
 
 Broderick A. E., Pesce D. W., Gold R., Tiede P., Pu H.-Y., Anantua R., Britzen S., et al., 2022, The Photon Ring in 
M87*, ApJ, 935, 61. 
 
 Issaoun S., Wielgus M., Jorstad S., Krichbaum T. P., Blackburn L., Janssen M., Chan C.-. kwan ., et al., 2022, 
Resolving the Inner Parsec of the Blazar J1924-2914 with the Event Horizon Telescope, ApJ, 934, 145. 
 
 Lamberts A., Puchwein E., Pfrommer C., Chang P., Shalaby M., Broderick A., Tiede P., Rudie G., 2022, Constraining 
blazar heating with the 2 ≲ z ≲ 3 Lyman-α forest, MNRAS, 512, 3045. 

Page 212 of 274



 

 

 

 

90 

 
 Broderick A. E., Gold R., Georgiev B., Pesce D. W., Tiede P., Ni C., Moriyama K., et al., 2022, Characterizing and 
Mitigating Intraday Variability: Reconstructing Source Structure in Accreting Black Holes with mm-VLBI, ApJL, 930, 
L21. 
 
 Georgiev B., Pesce D. W., Broderick A. E., Wong G. N., Dhruv V., Wielgus M., Gammie C. F., et al., 2022, A Universal 
Power-law Prescription for Variability from Synthetic Images of Black Hole Accretion Flows, ApJL, 930, L20. 
 
 Wielgus M., Marchili N., Martí-Vidal I., Keating G. K., Ramakrishnan V., Tiede P., Fomalont E., et al., 2022, 
Millimeter Light Curves of Sagittarius A* Observed during the 2017 Event Horizon Telescope Campaign, ApJL, 930, 
L19. 
 
 Farah J., Galison P., Akiyama K., Bouman K. L., Bower G. C., Chael A., Fuentes A., et al., 2022, Selective Dynamical 
Imaging of Interferometric Data, ApJL, 930, L18. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. VI. Testing the Black Hole Metric, ApJL, 930, L17. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. V. Testing Astrophysical Models of the Galactic Center 
Black Hole, ApJL, 930, L16. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. IV. Variability, Morphology, and Black Hole Mass, ApJL, 
930, L15. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. III. Imaging of the Galactic Center Supermassive Black 
Hole, ApJL, 930, L14. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. II. EHT and Multiwavelength Observations, Data 
Processing, and Calibration, ApJL, 930, L13. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Algaba J. C., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2022, First Sagittarius A* Event Horizon Telescope Results. I. The Shadow of the Supermassive Black Hole in the 
Center of the Milky Way, ApJL, 930, L12. 
 
 Broderick A. E., Tiede P., Pesce D. W., Gold R., 2022, Measuring Spin from Relative Photon-ring Sizes, ApJ, 927, 6. 
 
 Tiede P., Broderick A. E., Palumbo D. C. M., 2022, Variational Image Feature Extraction for the Event Horizon 
Telescope, ApJ, 925, 122. 
 
 Satapathy K., Psaltis D., Özel F., Medeiros L., Dougall S. T., Chan C.-K., Wielgus M., et al., 2022, The Variability of 
the Black Hole Image in M87 at the Dynamical Timescale, ApJ, 925, 13. 
 
 Völkel S. H., Barausse E., Franchini N., Broderick A. E., 2021, EHT tests of the strong-field regime of general 
relativity, CQGra, 38, 21LT01. 
 
 Janssen M., Falcke H., Kadler M., Ros E., Wielgus M., Akiyama K., Baloković M., et al., 2021, Event Horizon 
Telescope observations of the jet launching and collimation in Centaurus A, NatAs, 5, 1017. 
 

Page 213 of 274



 

 

 

 

91 

 Issaoun S., Johnson M. D., Blackburn L., Broderick A., Tiede P., Wielgus M., Doeleman S. S., et al., 2021, Persistent 
Non-Gaussian Structure in the Image of Sagittarius A* at 86 GHz, ApJ, 915, 99. 
 
 Kocherlakota P., Rezzolla L., Falcke H., Fromm C. M., Kramer M., Mizuno Y., Nathanail A., et al., 2021, Constraints 
on black-hole charges with the 2017 EHT observations of M87*, PhRvD, 103, 104047. 
 
 Narayan R., Palumbo D. C. M., Johnson M. D., Gelles Z., Himwich E., Chang D. O., Ricarte A., et al., 2021, The 
Polarized Image of a Synchrotron-emitting Ring of Gas Orbiting a Black Hole, ApJ, 912, 35. 
 
 EHT MWL Science Working Group, Algaba J. C., Anczarski J., Asada K., Baloković M., Chandra S., Cui Y.-Z., et al., 
2021, Broadband Multi-wavelength Properties of M87 during the 2017 Event Horizon Telescope Campaign, ApJL, 
911, L11. 
 
 Goddi C., Martí-Vidal I., Messias H., Bower G. C., Broderick A. E., Dexter J., Marrone D. P., et al., 2021, Polarimetric 
Properties of Event Horizon Telescope Targets from ALMA, ApJL, 910, L14. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Algaba J. C., Alberdi A., Alef W., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2021, First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. VIII. Magnetic Field Structure near The Event Horizon, ApJL, 910, 
L13. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Algaba J. C., Alberdi A., Alef W., Anantua R., Asada K., et al., 
2021, First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. VII. Polarization of the Ring, ApJL, 910, L12. 
 
 Jeter B., Broderick A. E., 2021, Reconciling EHT and Gas-dynamics Measurements in M87: Is the Jet Misaligned at 
Parsec Scales?, ApJ, 908, 139. 
 
 Broderick A. E., Pesce D. W., 2020, Closure Traces: Novel Calibration-insensitive Quantities for Radio Astronomy, 
ApJ, 904, 126. 
 
 Wielgus M., Akiyama K., Blackburn L., Chan C.-. kwan ., Dexter J., Doeleman S. S., Fish V. L., et al., 2020, Monitoring 
the Morphology of M87* in 2009-2017 with the Event Horizon Telescope, ApJ, 901, 67. 
 
 Kim J.-Y., Krichbaum T. P., Broderick A. E., Wielgus M., Blackburn L., Gómez J. L., Johnson M. D., et al., 2020, Event 
Horizon Telescope imaging of the archetypal blazar 3C 279 at an extreme 20 microarcsecond resolution, A&A, 640, 
A69. 
 
 Broderick A. E., Pesce D. W., Tiede P., Pu H.-Y., Gold R., 2020, Hybrid Very Long Baseline Interferometry Imaging 
and Modeling with THEMIS, ApJ, 898, 9. 
 
 Gold R., Broderick A. E., Younsi Z., Fromm C. M., Gammie C. F., Mościbrodzka M., Pu H.-Y., et al., 2020, Verification 
of Radiative Transfer Schemes for the EHT, ApJ, 897, 148. 
 
 Broderick A. E., Gold R., Karami M., Preciado-López J. A., Tiede P., Pu H.-Y., Akiyama K., et al., 2020, THEMIS: A 
Parameter Estimation Framework for the Event Horizon Telescope, ApJ, 897, 139. 
 
 Jeter B., Broderick A. E., Gold R., 2020, Differentiating disc and black hole-driven jets with EHT images of variability 
in M87, MNRAS, 493, 5606. 
 
 Shalaby M., Broderick A. E., Chang P., Pfrommer C., Puchwein E., Lamberts A., 2020, The growth of the 
longitudinal beam-plasma instability in the presence of an inhomogeneous background, JPlPh, 86, 535860201. 
 

Page 214 of 274



 

 

 

 

92 

 Tiede P., Pu H.-Y., Broderick A. E., Gold R., Karami M., Preciado-López J. A., 2020, Spacetime Tomography Using 
the Event Horizon Telescope, ApJ, 892, 132. 
 
 Tiede P., Broderick A. E., Shalaby M., Pfrommer C., Puchwein E., Chang P., Lamberts A., 2020, Constraints on the 
Intergalactic Magnetic Field from Bow Ties in the Gamma-Ray Sky, ApJ, 892, 123. 
 
 Roelofs F., Janssen M., Natarajan I., Deane R., Davelaar J., Olivares H., Porth O., et al., 2020, SYMBA: An end-to-
end VLBI synthetic data generation pipeline. Simulating Event Horizon Telescope observations of M 87, A&A, 636, 
A5. 
 
 Jeter B., Broderick A. E., McNamara B. R., 2019, Impact of Accretion Flow Dynamics on Gas-dynamical Black Hole 
Mass Estimates, ApJ, 882, 82. 
 
 Porth O., Chatterjee K., Narayan R., Gammie C. F., Mizuno Y., Anninos P., Baker J. G., et al., 2019, The Event 
Horizon General Relativistic Magnetohydrodynamic Code Comparison Project, ApJS, 243, 26. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Asada K., Azulay R., Baczko A.-K., et al., 
2019, First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. VI. The Shadow and Mass of the Central Black Hole, ApJL, 875, 
L6. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Asada K., Azulay R., Baczko A.-K., et al., 
2019, First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. V. Physical Origin of the Asymmetric Ring, ApJL, 875, L5. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Asada K., Azulay R., Baczko A.-K., et al., 
2019, First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. IV. Imaging the Central Supermassive Black Hole, ApJL, 875, L4. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Asada K., Azulay R., Baczko A.-K., et al., 
2019, First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. III. Data Processing and Calibration, ApJL, 875, L3. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Asada K., Azulay R., Baczko A.-K., et al., 
2019, First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. II. Array and Instrumentation, ApJL, 875, L2. 
 
 Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration, Akiyama K., Alberdi A., Alef W., Asada K., Azulay R., Baczko A.-K., et al., 
2019, First M87 Event Horizon Telescope Results. I. The Shadow of the Supermassive Black Hole, ApJL, 875, L1. 
 
 Issaoun S., Johnson M. D., Blackburn L., Brinkerink C. D., Mościbrodzka M., Chael A., Goddi C., et al., 2019, The 
Size, Shape, and Scattering of Sagittarius A* at 86 GHz: First VLBI with ALMA, ApJ, 871, 30. 
 
 Bower G. C., Broderick A., Dexter J., Doeleman S., Falcke H., Fish V., Johnson M. D., et al., 2018, ALMA Polarimetry 
of Sgr A*: Probing the Accretion Flow from the Event Horizon to the Bondi Radius, ApJ, 868, 101. 
 
 Broderick A. E., Tiede P., Chang P., Lamberts A., Pfrommer C., Puchwein E., Shalaby M., Werhahn M., 2018, 
Missing Gamma-Ray Halos and the Need for New Physics in the Gamma-Ray Sky, ApJ, 868, 87. 

 
Jack Elvin-Poole: 
 
Gatti M., Jeffrey N., Whiteway L., Williamson J., Jain B., Ajani V., Anbajagane D., et al., 2024, Dark Energy Survey 
Year 3 results: Simulation-based cosmological inference with wavelet harmonics, scattering transforms, and 
moments of weak lensing mass maps. Validation on simulations, PhRvD, 109, 063534. 
 
Shaikh S., Harrison I., van Engelen A., Marques G. A., Abbott T. M. C., Aguena M., Alves O., et al., 2024, Cosmology 
from cross-correlation of ACT-DR4 CMB lensing and DES-Y3 cosmic shear, MNRAS, 528, 2112. 

Page 215 of 274



 

 

 

 

93 

 
Gatti M., Jeffrey N., Whiteway L., Ajani V., Kacprzak T., Zürcher D., Chang C., et al., 2024, Detection of the 
significant impact of source clustering on higher order statistics with DES Year 3 weak gravitational lensing data, 
MNRAS, 527, L115. 
 
Anbajagane D., Chang C., Baxter E. J., Charney S., Lokken M., Aguena M., Allam S., et al., 2024, Cosmological shocks 
around galaxy clusters: a coherent investigation with DES, SPT, and ACT, MNRAS, 527, 9378. 
 
Marques G. A., Madhavacheril M. S., Darwish O., Shaikh S., Aguena M., Alves O., Avila S., et al., 2024, Cosmological 
constraints from the tomography of DES-Y3 galaxies with CMB lensing from ACT DR4, JCAP, 2024, 033. 
 
Anbajagane D., Chang C., Banerjee A., Abel T., Gatti M., Ajani V., Alarcon A., et al., 2023, Beyond the 3rd moment: 
a practical study of using lensing convergence CDFs for cosmology with DES Y3, MNRAS, 526, 5530. 
 
Sánchez C., Alarcon A., Bernstein G. M., Sanchez J., Pandey S., Raveri M., Prat J., et al., 2023, The Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 high-redshift sample: selection, characterization, and analysis of galaxy clustering, MNRAS, 525, 
3896. 
 
Samuroff S., Mandelbaum R., Blazek J., Campos A., MacCrann N., Zacharegkas G., Amon A., et al., 2023, The Dark 
Energy Survey Year 3 and eBOSS: constraining galaxy intrinsic alignments across luminosity and colour space, 
MNRAS, 524, 2195. 
 
Elvin-Poole J., MacCrann N., Everett S., Prat J., Rykoff E. S., De Vicente J., Yanny B., et al., 2023, Dark Energy Survey 
Year 3 results: magnification modelling and impact on cosmological constraints from galaxy clustering and galaxy-
galaxy lensing, MNRAS, 523, 3649. 
 
Mallaby-Kay M., Amodeo S., Hill J. C., Aguena M., Allam S., Alves O., Annis J., et al., 2023, Kinematic Sunyaev-
Zel'dovich effect with ACT, DES, and BOSS: A novel hybrid estimator, PhRvD, 108, 023516. 
 
Abbott T. M. C., Aguena M., Alarcon A., Alves O., Amon A., Andrade-Oliveira F., Annis J., et al., 2023, Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 results: Constraints on extensions to Λ CDM with weak lensing and galaxy clustering, PhRvD, 107, 
083504. 
 
Abbott T. M. C., Aguena M., Allam S., Amon A., Andrade-Oliveira F., Asorey J., Avila S., et al., 2022, Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 results: A 2.7% measurement of baryon acoustic oscillation distance scale at redshift 0.835, PhRvD, 
105, 043512. 
 
Gatti M., Giannini G., Bernstein G. M., Alarcon A., Myles J., Amon A., Cawthon R., et al., 2022, Dark Energy Survey 
Year 3 Results: clustering redshifts - calibration of the weak lensing source redshift distributions with redMaGiC 
and BOSS/eBOSS, MNRAS, 510, 1223. 
 
Carnero Rosell A., Rodriguez-Monroy M., Crocce M., Elvin-Poole J., Porredon A., Ferrero I., Mena-Fernández J., et 
al., 2022, Dark Energy Survey Year 3 results: galaxy sample for BAO measurement, MNRAS, 509, 778. 
 
 
Gatti M., Jeffrey N., Whiteway L., Williamson J., Jain B., Ajani V., Anbajagane D., et al., 2024, Dark Energy Survey 
Year 3 results: Simulation-based cosmological inference with wavelet harmonics, scattering transforms, and 
moments of weak lensing mass maps. Validation on simulations, PhRvD, 109, 063534. 
 
Shaikh S., Harrison I., van Engelen A., Marques G. A., Abbott T. M. C., Aguena M., Alves O., et al., 2024, Cosmology 
from cross-correlation of ACT-DR4 CMB lensing and DES-Y3 cosmic shear, MNRAS, 528, 2112. 
 

Page 216 of 274



 

 

 

 

94 

Gatti M., Jeffrey N., Whiteway L., Ajani V., Kacprzak T., Zürcher D., Chang C., et al., 2024, Detection of the 
significant impact of source clustering on higher order statistics with DES Year 3 weak gravitational lensing data, 
MNRAS, 527, L115. 
 
Anbajagane D., Chang C., Baxter E. J., Charney S., Lokken M., Aguena M., Allam S., et al., 2024, Cosmological shocks 
around galaxy clusters: a coherent investigation with DES, SPT, and ACT, MNRAS, 527, 9378. 
 
Marques G. A., Madhavacheril M. S., Darwish O., Shaikh S., Aguena M., Alves O., Avila S., et al., 2024, Cosmological 
constraints from the tomography of DES-Y3 galaxies with CMB lensing from ACT DR4, JCAP, 2024, 033. 
 
Anbajagane D., Chang C., Banerjee A., Abel T., Gatti M., Ajani V., Alarcon A., et al., 2023, Beyond the 3rd moment: 
a practical study of using lensing convergence CDFs for cosmology with DES Y3, MNRAS, 526, 5530. 
 
Sánchez C., Alarcon A., Bernstein G. M., Sanchez J., Pandey S., Raveri M., Prat J., et al., 2023, The Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 high-redshift sample: selection, characterization, and analysis of galaxy clustering, MNRAS, 525, 
3896. 
 
Samuroff S., Mandelbaum R., Blazek J., Campos A., MacCrann N., Zacharegkas G., Amon A., et al., 2023, The Dark 
Energy Survey Year 3 and eBOSS: constraining galaxy intrinsic alignments across luminosity and colour space, 
MNRAS, 524, 2195. 
 
Elvin-Poole J., MacCrann N., Everett S., Prat J., Rykoff E. S., De Vicente J., Yanny B., et al., 2023, Dark Energy Survey 
Year 3 results: magnification modelling and impact on cosmological constraints from galaxy clustering and galaxy-
galaxy lensing, MNRAS, 523, 3649. 
 
Mallaby-Kay M., Amodeo S., Hill J. C., Aguena M., Allam S., Alves O., Annis J., et al., 2023, Kinematic Sunyaev-
Zel'dovich effect with ACT, DES, and BOSS: A novel hybrid estimator, PhRvD, 108, 023516. 
 
Abbott T. M. C., Aguena M., Alarcon A., Alves O., Amon A., Andrade-Oliveira F., Annis J., et al., 2023, Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 results: Constraints on extensions to Λ CDM with weak lensing and galaxy clustering, PhRvD, 107, 
083504. 
 
Abbott T. M. C., Aguena M., Allam S., Amon A., Andrade-Oliveira F., Asorey J., Avila S., et al., 2022, Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 results: A 2.7% measurement of baryon acoustic oscillation distance scale at redshift 0.835, PhRvD, 
105, 043512. 
 
Gatti M., Giannini G., Bernstein G. M., Alarcon A., Myles J., Amon A., Cawthon R., et al., 2022, Dark Energy Survey 
Year 3 Results: clustering redshifts - calibration of the weak lensing source redshift distributions with redMaGiC 
and BOSS/eBOSS, MNRAS, 510, 1223. 
 
Carnero Rosell A., Rodriguez-Monroy M., Crocce M., Elvin-Poole J., Porredon A., Ferrero I., Mena-Fernández J., et 
al., 2022  
 
Chen A., Aricò G., Huterer D., Angulo R. E., Weaverdyck N., Friedrich O., Secco L. F., et al., 2023, Constraining the 
baryonic feedback with cosmic shear using the DES Year-3 small-scale measurements, MNRAS, 518, 5340. 
 
 Abbott T. M. C., Aguena M., Alarcon A., Alves O., Amon A., Andrade-Oliveira F., Annis J., et al., 2023, Joint analysis 
of Dark Energy Survey Year 3 data and CMB lensing from SPT and Planck. III. Combined cosmological constraints, 
PhRvD, 107, 023531. 
 

Page 217 of 274



 

 

 

 

95 

 Chang C., Omori Y., Baxter E. J., Doux C., Choi A., Pandey S., Alarcon A., et al., 2023, Joint analysis of Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 data and CMB lensing from SPT and Planck . II. Cross-correlation measurements and cosmological 
constraints, PhRvD, 107, 023530. 
 
 Omori Y., Baxter E. J., Chang C., Friedrich O., Alarcon A., Alves O., Amon A., et al., 2023, Joint analysis of Dark 
Energy Survey Year 3 data and CMB lensing from SPT and Planck. I. Construction of CMB lensing maps and 
modeling choices, PhRvD, 107, 023529. 
 
 Amon A., Robertson N. C., Miyatake H., Heymans C., White M., DeRose J., Yuan S., et al., 2023, Consistent lensing 
and clustering in a low-S8 Universe with BOSS, DES Year 3, HSC Year 1, and KiDS-1000, MNRAS, 518, 477. 
 
 Gatti M., Jain B., Chang C., Raveri M., Zürcher D., Secco L., Whiteway L., et al., 2022, Dark Energy Survey Year 3 
results: Cosmology with moments of weak lensing mass maps, PhRvD, 106, 083509. 

 
Ana Ennis: 
Caso J. P., Ennis A. I., De Bórtoli B. J., 2024, Scaling relations for globular cluster systems in early-type galaxies - III. 
The inner flattening of the radial distributions, MNRAS, 527, 6993. 
 
Pulsoni C., Gerhard O., Fall S. M., Arnaboldi M., Ennis A. I., Hartke J., Coccato L., Napolitano N. R., 2023, The 
extended Planetary Nebula Spectrograph (ePN.S) early-type galaxy survey: The specific angular momentum of 
ETGs, A&A, 674, A96. 

 
Richard Epp: 
Oltean M., Moghaddam H. B., Epp R. J., 2021, Energy of cosmological spacetimes and perturbations: a quasilocal 
approach, CQGra, 38, 085012. 
 
Oltean M., Epp R. J., Sopuerta C. F., Spallicci A. D. A. M., Mann R. B., 2020, Motion of localized sources in general 
relativity: Gravitational self-force from quasilocal conservation laws, PhRvD, 101, 064060. 
 
Oltean M., Moghaddam H. B., Epp R. J., 2020, Quasilocal conservation laws in cosmology: A first look, IJMPD, 29, 
2043029-649. 
 

Michel Fich: 
 CCAT-Prime Collaboration, Aravena M., Austermann J. E., Basu K., Battaglia N., Beringue B., Bertoldi F., et al., 
2023, CCAT-prime Collaboration: Science Goals and Forecasts with Prime-Cam on the Fred Young Submillimeter 
Telescope, ApJS, 264, 7. 
 
 van Dishoeck E. F., Kristensen L. E., Mottram J. C., Benz A. O., Bergin E. A., Caselli P., Herpin F., et al., 2021, Water 
in star-forming regions: physics and chemistry from clouds to disks as probed by Herschel spectroscopy, A&A, 648, 
A24. 
 
 Eden D. J., Moore T. J. T., Currie M. J., Rigby A. J., Rosolowsky E., Su Y., Kim K.-T., et al., 2020, CHIMPS2: survey 
description and 12CO emission in the Galactic Centre, MNRAS, 498, 5936. 
 
 Conrad M. E., Fich M., 2020, Water in the Star-forming Region NGC 7129 FIRS 2, ApJ, 890, 178. 
 
 Bobotsis G., Fich M., 2019, The Distribution of Dense Cores near H II Regions, ApJ, 884, 77. 
 
 Eden D. J., Liu T., Kim K.-T., Juvela M., Liu S.-Y., Tatematsu K., Francesco J. D., et al., 2019, SCOPE: SCUBA-2 
Continuum Observations of Pre-protostellar Evolution - survey description and compact source catalogue, MNRAS, 
485, 2895. 

Page 218 of 274



 

 

 

 

96 

 

Ghazel Geshnizjani: 
Ashoorioon A., Geshnizjani G., Kim H. J., 2022, Non-Gaussianities in the extended EFT of inflation, JCAP, 2022, 046. 
 
Kim J. L., Geshnizjani G., 2021, Spectrum of Cuscuton bounce, JCAP, 2021, 104. 
 
Babic I., Burgess C. P., Geshnizjani G., 2020, Keeping an eye on DBI: power-counting for small-c<SUB>s</SUB> 
cosmology, JCAP, 2020, 023. 
 

Roan Haggar: 
Contreras-Santos A., Knebe A., Cui W., Alonso Asensio I., Dalla Vecchia C., Cañas R., Haggar R., et al., 2024, 
Characterising the intra-cluster light in The Three Hundred simulations, A&A, 683, A59. 
 
Contreras-Santos A., Knebe A., Cui W., Haggar R., Pearce F., Gray M., De Petris M., Yepes G., 2023, Galaxy pairs in 
THE THREE HUNDRED simulations II: studying bound ones and identifying them via machine learning, MNRAS, 522, 
1270. 
 
 Hough T., Cora S. A., Haggar R., Vega-Martinez C., Kuchner U., Pearce F., Gray M., et al., 2023, The Three Hundred 
Project: Connection between star formation quenching and dynamical evolution in and around simulated galaxy 
clusters, MNRAS, 518, 2398. 
 
 Haggar R., Kuchner U., Gray M. E., Pearce F. R., Knebe A., Yepes G., Cui W., 2023, The Three Hundred project: 
galaxy groups do not survive cluster infall, MNRAS, 518, 1316. 
 

Gretchen Harris: 
 Rejkuba M., Harris W. E., Greggio L., Crnojević D., Harris G. L. H., 2022, The outermost stellar halo of NGC 5128 
(Centaurus A): Radial structure, A&A, 657, A41. 
 
 Harris W. E., Remus R.-S., Harris G. L. H., Babyk I. V., 2020, Measuring Dark Matter in Galaxies: The Mass Fraction 
within Five Effective Radii, ApJ, 905, 28. 
 
 Harris G. L. H., Babyk I. V., Harris W. E., McNamara B. R., 2019, Globular Cluster Systems and X-Ray Atmospheres in 
Galaxies, ApJ, 887, 259. 
 

Laura Henderson: 
 Mendez-Avalos D., Henderson L. J., Gallock-Yoshimura K., Mann R. B., 2022, Entanglement harvesting of three 
Unruh-DeWitt detectors, GReGr, 54, 87. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Ding S. Y., Mann R. B., 2022, Entanglement harvesting with a twist, AVSQS, 4, 014402. 
 
 Robbins M. P. G., Henderson L. J., Mann R. B., 2022, Entanglement amplification from rotating black holes, CQGra, 
39, 02LT01. 
 
 Stritzelberger N., Henderson L. J., Baccetti V., Menicucci N. C., Kempf A., 2021, Entanglement harvesting with 
coherently delocalized matter, PhRvD, 103, 016007. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Menicucci N. C., 2020, Bandlimited entanglement harvesting, PhRvD, 102, 125026. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., Smith A. R. H., Zhang J., 2020, Anti-Hawking phenomena, PhLB, 809, 
135732. 
 

Page 219 of 274



 

 

 

 

97 

 Henderson L. J., Belenchia A., Castro-Ruiz E., Budroni C., Zych M., Brukner Č., Mann R. B., 2020, Quantum 
Temporal Superposition: The Case of Quantum Field Theory, PhRvL, 125, 131602. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., Smith A. R. H., Zhang J., 2019, Entangling detectors in anti-de Sitter 
space, JHEP, 2019, 178. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., Smith A. R. H., Zhang J., 2018, Harvesting entanglement from the black 
hole vacuum, CQGra, 35, 21LT02. 

 
Amber Hollinger 
 
Hollinger A. M., Hudson M. J., 2024, Cosmological parameters estimated from peculiar velocity-density 
comparisons: calibrating 2M++, MNRAS, 531, 788. 
 
Hollinger A. M., Hudson M. J., 2021, Assessing the accuracy of cosmological parameters estimated from velocity - 

density comparisons via simulations, MNRAS, 502, 3723. 
 
 
Mike Hudson: 
 
Hollinger A. M., Hudson M. J., 2024, Cosmological parameters estimated from peculiar velocity-density 
comparisons: calibrating 2M++, MNRAS, 531, 788. 
 
Reeves A. M. M., Hudson M. J., 2024, How many stars form in galaxy mergers?, MNRAS, 527, 2037. 
 
Smith S. E. T., Cerny W., Hayes C. R., Sestito F., Jensen J., McConnachie A. W., Geha M., et al., 2024, The Discovery 
of the Faintest Known Milky Way Satellite Using UNIONS, ApJ, 961, 92. 
 
Robison B., Hudson M. J., Cuillandre J.-C., Erben T., Fabbro S., Gavazzi R., Guinot A., et al., 2023, The shape of dark 
matter haloes: results from weak lensing in the ultraviolet near-infrared optical Northern survey (UNIONS), 
MNRAS, 523, 1614. 
 
Smith S. E. T., Jensen J., Roediger J., Sestito F., Hayes C. R., McConnachie A. W., Cuillandre J.-C., et al., 2023, 
Discovery of a New Local Group Dwarf Galaxy Candidate in UNIONS: Boötes V, AJ, 166, 76. 
 
Reeves A. M. M., Hudson M. J., Oman K. A., 2023, Constraining quenching time-scales in galaxy clusters by 
forward-modelling stellar ages and quiescent fractions in projected phase space, MNRAS, 522, 1779. 
 
Ayçoberry E., Ajani V., Guinot A., Kilbinger M., Pettorino V., Farrens S., Starck J.-L., et al., 2023, UNIONS: The impact 
of systematic errors on weak-lensing peak counts, A&A, 671, A17. 
 
Chan J. H. H., Lemon C., Courbin F., Gavazzi R., Clément B., Millon M., Paic E., et al., 2022, Discovery of strongly 
lensed quasars in the Ultraviolet Near Infrared Optical Northern Survey (UNIONS), A&A, 659, A140. 
 
Roberts I. D., Parker L. C., Gwyn S., Hudson M. J., Carlberg R., McConnachie A., Cuillandre J.-C., et al., 2022, Ram 
pressure candidates in UNIONS, MNRAS, 509, 1342. 
 
Boruah S. S., Lavaux G., Hudson M. J., 2022, Bayesian reconstruction of dark matter distribution from peculiar 
velocities: accounting for inhomogeneous Malmquist bias, MNRAS, 517, 4529. 
 

Page 220 of 274



 

 

 

 

98 

Yang T., Hudson M. J., Afshordi N., 2022, A universal profile for stacked filaments from cold dark matter 
simulations, MNRAS, 516, 6041. 
 
Guinot A., Kilbinger M., Farrens S., Peel A., Pujol A., Schmitz M., Starck J.-L., et al., 2022, ShapePipe: A new shape 
measurement pipeline and weak-lensing application to UNIONS/CFIS data, A&A, 666, A162. 
 
Savary E., Rojas K., Maus M., Clément B., Courbin F., Gavazzi R., Chan J. H. H., et al., 2022, Strong lensing in 
UNIONS: Toward a pipeline from discovery to modeling, A&A, 666, A1. 
 
Bickley R. W., Ellison S. L., Patton D. R., Bottrell C., Gwyn S., Hudson M. J., 2022, Star formation characteristics of 
CNN-identified post-mergers in the Ultraviolet Near Infrared Optical Northern Survey (UNIONS), MNRAS, 514, 
3294. 
 
Rahman W., Trotta R., Boruah S. S., Hudson M. J., van Dyk D. A., 2022, New constraints on anisotropic expansion 
from supernovae Type Ia, MNRAS, 514, 139. 
 
Chan J. H. H., Lemon C., Courbin F., Gavazzi R., Clément B., Millon M., Paic E., et al., 2022, Discovery of strongly 
lensed quasars in the Ultraviolet Near Infrared Optical Northern Survey (UNIONS), A&A, 659, A140. 
 
Roberts I. D., Parker L. C., Gwyn S., Hudson M. J., Carlberg R., McConnachie A., Cuillandre J.-C., et al., 2022, Ram 
pressure candidates in UNIONS, MNRAS, 509, 1342. 
 
Boruah S. S., Hudson M. J., Lavaux G., 2021, Peculiar velocities in the local Universe: comparison of different 
models and the implications for H<SUB>0</SUB> and dark matter, MNRAS, 507, 2697. 
 
Stahl B. E., de Jaeger T., Boruah S. S., Zheng W., Filippenko A. V., Hudson M. J., 2021, Peculiar-velocity cosmology 
with Types Ia and II supernovae, MNRAS, 505, 2349. 
 
Bickley R. W., Bottrell C., Hani M. H., Ellison S. L., Teimoorinia H., Yi K. M., Wilkinson S., et al., 2021, Convolutional 
neural network identification of galaxy post-mergers in UNIONS using IllustrisTNG, MNRAS, 504, 372. 
 
Ogiya G., Taylor J. E., Hudson M. J., 2021, Evolution of subhalo orbits in a smoothly growing host halo potential, 
MNRAS, 503, 1233. 
 
Hollinger A. M., Hudson M. J., 2021, Assessing the accuracy of cosmological parameters estimated from velocity - 
density comparisons via simulations, MNRAS, 502, 3723. 
 
Oman K. A., Bahé Y. M., Healy J., Hess K. M., Hudson M. J., Verheijen M. A. W., 2021, A homogeneous 
measurement of the delay between the onsets of gas stripping and star formation quenching in satellite galaxies of 
groups and clusters, MNRAS, 501, 5073. 
 
Yang T., Hudson M. J., Afshordi N., 2020, How dark are filaments in the cosmic web?, MNRAS, 498, 3158. 
 
Boruah S. S., Hudson M. J., Lavaux G., 2020, Cosmic flows in the nearby Universe: new peculiar velocities from SNe 
and cosmological constraints, MNRAS, 498, 2703. 
 
Said K., Colless M., Magoulas C., Lucey J. R., Hudson M. J., 2020, Joint analysis of 6dFGS and SDSS peculiar velocities 
for the growth rate of cosmic structure and tests of gravity, MNRAS, 497, 1275. 
 
Charnock T., Lavaux G., Wandelt B. D., Sarma Boruah S., Jasche J., Hudson M. J., 2020, Neural physical engines for 
inferring the halo mass distribution function, MNRAS, 494, 50. 
 

Page 221 of 274



 

 

 

 

99 

Thomas H. J. D., Bjorkman A. D., Myers-Smith I. H., Elmendorf S. C., Kattge J., Diaz S., Vellend M., et al., 2020, 
Global plant trait relationships extend to the climatic extremes of the tundra biome, NatCo, 11, 1351. 
 
Wang Y., Robberto M., Dickinson M., Hillenbrand L. A., Fraser W., Behroozi P., Brinchmann J., et al., 2019, ATLAS 
probe: Breakthrough science of galaxy evolution, cosmology, Milky Way, and the Solar System, PASA, 36, e015. 
 
Owers M. S., Hudson M. J., Oman K. A., Bland-Hawthorn J., Brough S., Bryant J. J., Cortese L., et al., 2019, The SAMI 
Galaxy Survey: Quenching of Star Formation in Clusters I. Transition Galaxies, ApJ, 873, 52. 
 

Shahab Joudaki: 
 
Krywonos J., Paradiso S., Krolewski A., Joudaki S., Percival W. J., 2024, Cosmological measurements from the CMB 
and BAO are insensitive to the tail probability in the assumed likelihood, JCAP, 2024, 015. 
 
Wright A. H., Kuijken K., Hildebrandt H., Radovich M., Bilicki M., Dvornik A., Getman F., et al., 2024, The fifth data 
release of the Kilo Degree Survey: Multi-epoch optical/NIR imaging covering wide and legacy-calibration fields, 
A&A, 686, A170. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Jelic-Cizmek G., Sorrenti F., Lepori F., Bonvin C., Camera S., Castander F. J., et al., 2024, Euclid 
preparation. XL. Impact of magnification on spectroscopic galaxy clustering, A&A, 685, A167. 
 
DESI Collaboration, Adame A. G., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Alam S., Aldering G., Alexander D. M., et al., 2024, Validation 
of the Scientific Program for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 167, 62. 
 
Hadzhiyska B., Yuan S., Blake C., Eisenstein D. J., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Brooks D., et al., 2023, Synthetic light-cone 
catalogues of modern redshift and weak lensing surveys waith ABACUSSUMMIT, MNRAS, 525, 4367. 
 
Ruggeri R., Blake C., DeRose J., Garcia-Quintero C., Hadzhiyska B., Ishak M., Jeffrey N., et al., 2023, A data 
compression and optimal galaxy weights scheme for Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument and weak lensing data 
sets, MNRAS, 525, 3865. 
 
van den Busch J. L., Wright A. H., Hildebrandt H., Bilicki M., Asgari M., Joudaki S., Blake C., et al., 2022, KiDS-1000: 
Cosmic shear with enhanced redshift calibration, A&A, 664, A170. 
 
Abdalla E., Abellán G. F., Aboubrahim A., Agnello A., Akarsu Ö., Akrami Y., Alestas G., et al., 2022, Cosmology 
intertwined: A review of the particle physics, astrophysics, and cosmology associated with the cosmological 
tensions and anomalies, JHEAp, 34, 49. 
 
Ingoglia L., Covone G., Sereno M., Giocoli C., Bardelli S., Bellagamba F., Castignani G., et al., 2022, AMICO galaxy 
clusters in KiDS-DR3: measurement of the halo bias and power spectrum normalization from a stacked weak 
lensing analysis, MNRAS, 511, 1484. 
 
Di Valentino E., Anchordoqui L. A., Akarsu Ö., Ali-Haimoud Y., Amendola L., Arendse N., Asgari M., et al., 2021, 
Cosmology Intertwined IV: The age of the universe and its curvature, APh, 131, 102607. 
 
Di Valentino E., Anchordoqui L. A., Akarsu Ö., Ali-Haimoud Y., Amendola L., Arendse N., Asgari M., et al., 2021, 
Cosmology Intertwined I: Perspectives for the next decade, APh, 131, 102606. 
 
Di Valentino E., Anchordoqui L. A., Akarsu Ö., Ali-Haimoud Y., Amendola L., Arendse N., Asgari M., et al., 2021, 
Cosmology Intertwined II: The hubble constant tension, APh, 131, 102605. 
 

Page 222 of 274



 

 

 

 

100 

Di Valentino E., Anchordoqui L. A., Akarsu Ö., Ali-Haimoud Y., Amendola L., Arendse N., Asgari M., et al., 2021, 
Cosmology Intertwined III: fσ8 and S8, APh, 131, 102604. 
 
Robertson N. C., Alonso D., Harnois-Déraps J., Darwish O., Kannawadi A., Amon A., Asgari M., et al., 2021, Strong 
detection of the CMB lensing and galaxy weak lensing cross-correlation from ACT-DR4, Planck Legacy, and KiDS-
1000, A&A, 649, A146. 
 
Johnston H., Wright A. H., Joachimi B., Bilicki M., Elisa Chisari N., Dvornik A., Erben T., et al., 2021, Organised 
randoms: Learning and correcting for systematic galaxy clustering patterns in KiDS using self-organising maps, 
A&A, 648, A98. 
 

Achim Kempf: 
 
Reitz M., Šoda B., Kempf A., 2023, Model for Emergence of Spacetime from Fluctuations, PhRvL, 131, 211501. 
 
Caribé J. G. A., Jonsson R. H., Casals M., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2023, Lensing of vacuum entanglement near 
Schwarzschild black holes, PhRvD, 108, 025016. 
 
Yamaguchi K., Kempf A., 2023, Entanglement is better teleported than transmitted, PhRvD, 108, 025004. 
 
Chatwin-Davies A., Kempf A., Simidzija P., 2023, Covariant predictions for Planck-scale features in primordial power 
spectra, PhRvD, 107, 103527. 

 
Wen R. Y., Kempf A., 2022, The transfer of entanglement negativity at the onset of interactions, JPhA, 55, 495304. 
 
Giacomini F., Kempf A., 2022, Second-quantized Unruh-DeWitt detectors and their quantum reference frame 
transformations, PhRvD, 105, 125001. 
 
Kendall E., Šoda B., Kempf A., 2022, Transmission of coherent information at the onset of interactions, JPhA, 55, 
255301. 
 
Šoda B., Sudhir V., Kempf A., 2022, Acceleration-Induced Effects in Stimulated Light-Matter Interactions, PhRvL, 
128, 163603. 
 
Ahmadzadegan A., Simidzija P., Li M., Kempf A., 2021, Neural networks can learn to utilize correlated auxiliary 
noise, NatSR, 11, 21624. 
 
Sudhir V., Stritzelberger N., Kempf A., 2021, Unruh effect of detectors with quantized center of mass, PhRvD, 103, 
105023. 
 
Simidzija P., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, Gravitational wave emission from the CMB and other thermal 
fields, PhLB, 816, 136208. 
 
Kempf A., 2021, Replacing the notion of spacetime distance by the notion of correlation, FrP, 9, 247. 
 
Stritzelberger N., Henderson L. J., Baccetti V., Menicucci N. C., Kempf A., 2021, Entanglement harvesting with 
coherently delocalized matter, PhRvD, 103, 016007. 
 
Yazdi Y. K., Letizia M., Kempf A., 2021, Lorentzian spectral geometry with causal sets, CQGra, 38, 015011. 
 
Kendall E., Kempf A., 2020, The dynamics of entropies at the onset of interactions, JPhA, 53, 425303. 
 

Page 223 of 274



 

 

 

 

101 

Bornman N., Forbes A., Kempf A., 2020, Random number generation and distribution out of thin (or thick) air, JOpt, 
22, 075705. 
 
Jonsson R. H., Aruquipa D. Q., Casals M., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2020, Communication through quantum 
fields near a black hole, PhRvD, 101, 125005. 
 
Yamaguchi K., Ahmadzadegan A., Simidzija P., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2020, Superadditivity of channel 
capacity through quantum fields, PhRvD, 101, 105009. 
 
Hotta M., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., Tomitsuka T., Yamaguchi K., 2020, Duality in the dynamics of Unruh-
DeWitt detectors in conformally related spacetimes, PhRvD, 101, 085017. 
 
Yargic Y., Sberna L., Kempf A., 2020, Which part of the stress-energy tensor gravitates?, PhRvD, 101, 043513. 
 
Simidzija P., Ahmadzadegan A., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2020, Transmission of quantum information through 
quantum fields, PhRvD, 101, 036014. 
 
Stritzelberger N., Kempf A., 2020, Coherent delocalization in the light-matter interaction, PhRvD, 101, 036007. 
 
Bornman N., Kempf A., Forbes A., 2019, Quantum imaging using relativistic detectors, PhRvD, 100, 125004. 
 
Ahmadzadegan A., Lalegani F., Kempf A., Mann R. B., 2019, Probing geometric information using the Unruh effect 
in the vacuum, PhRvD, 100, 085013. 
 
Grimmer D., Kempf A., Mann R. B., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, Zeno friction and antifriction from quantum collision 
models, PhRvA, 100, 042702. 
 
Berry M., Zheludev N., Aharonov Y., Colombo F., Sabadini I., Struppa D. C., Tollaksen J., et al., 2019, Roadmap on 
superoscillations, JOpt, 21, 053002. 
 
Jonsson R. H., Ried K., Martín-Martínez E., Kempf A., 2018, Transmitting qubits through relativistic fields, JPhA, 51, 
485301. 
 

Alex Krolewski: 
 
Krywonos J., Paradiso S., Krolewski A., Joudaki S., Percival W. J., 2024, Cosmological measurements from the CMB 
and BAO are insensitive to the tail probability in the assumed likelihood, JCAP, 2024, 015. 
 
Rezaie M., Ross A. J., Seo H.-J., Kong H., Porredon A., Samushia L., Chaussidon E., et al., 2024, Local primordial non-
Gaussianity from the large-scale clustering of photometric DESI luminous red galaxies, MNRAS.tmp,. 
 
Farren G. S., Krolewski A., MacCrann N., Ferraro S., Abril-Cabezas I., An R., Atkins Z., et al., 2024, The Atacama 
Cosmology Telescope: Cosmology from Cross-correlations of unWISE Galaxies and ACT DR6 CMB Lensing, ApJ, 966, 
157. 
 
Krolewski A., Percival W. J., Ferraro S., Chaussidon E., Rezaie M., Aguilar J. N., Ahlen S., et al., 2024, Constraining 
primordial non-Gaussianity from DESI quasar targets and Planck CMB lensing, JCAP, 2024, 021. 
 
DESI Collaboration, Adame A. G., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Alam S., Aldering G., Alexander D. M., et al., 2024, Validation 
of the Scientific Program for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 167, 62. 
 

Page 224 of 274



 

 

 

 

102 

Yu J., Zhao C., Gonzalez-Perez V., Chuang C.-H., Brodzeller A., de Mattia A., Kneib J.-P., et al., 2024, The DESI One-
Percent Survey: exploring a generalized SHAM for multiple tracers with the UNIT simulation, MNRAS, 527, 6950. 
 
Hadzhiyska B., Yuan S., Blake C., Eisenstein D. J., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Brooks D., et al., 2023, Synthetic light-cone 
catalogues of modern redshift and weak lensing surveys waith ABACUSSUMMIT, MNRAS, 525, 4367. 
 
Ruggeri R., Blake C., DeRose J., Garcia-Quintero C., Hadzhiyska B., Ishak M., Jeffrey N., et al., 2023, A data 
compression and optimal galaxy weights scheme for Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument and weak lensing data 
sets, MNRAS, 525, 3865. 
 
Zhang B., Lee K.-G., Krolewski A., Shi J., Horowitz B., Kooistra R., 2023, Alignments between Galaxies and the 
Cosmic Web at z 1-2 in the IllustrisTNG Simulations, ApJ, 954, 49. 
 
Bolliet B., Colin Hill J., Ferraro S., Kusiak A., Krolewski A., 2023, Projected-field kinetic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich Cross-
correlations: halo model and forecasts, JCAP, 2023, 039. 
 
Hansen M. T., Krolewski A., Slepian Z., 2023, Accelerating BAO scale fitting using Taylor series, MNRAS, 519, 799. 
 
Kusiak A., Bolliet B., Krolewski A., Hill J. C., 2022, Constraining the galaxy-halo connection of infrared-selected u n 
W I S E galaxies with galaxy clustering and galaxy-CMB lensing power spectra, PhRvD, 106, 123517. 
 
Horowitz B., Lee K.-G., Ata M., Müller T., Krolewski A., Prochaska J. X., Hennawi J. F., et al., 2022, Second Data 
Release of the COSMOS Lyα Mapping and Tomography Observations: The First 3D Maps of the Detailed Cosmic 
Web at 2.05 < z < 2.55, ApJS, 263, 27. 
 
Abareshi B., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Alam S., Alexander D. M., Alfarsy R., Allen L., et al., 2022, Overview of the 
Instrumentation for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 164, 207. 
 
Ding Z., Chuang C.-H., Yu Y., Garrison L. H., Bayer A. E., Feng Y., Modi C., et al., 2022, The DESI N-body Simulation 
Project - II. Suppressing sample variance with fast simulations, MNRAS, 514, 3308. 
 
Krolewski A., Ferraro S., 2022, The Integrated Sachs Wolfe effect: unWISE and Planck constraints on dynamical 
dark energy, JCAP, 2022, 033. 
 
Krolewski A., Ferraro S., White M., 2021, Cosmological constraints from unWISE and Planck CMB lensing 
tomography, JCAP, 2021, 028. 
 
Foroozan S., Krolewski A., Percival W. J., 2021, Testing large-scale structure measurements against Fisher matrix 
predictions, JCAP, 2021, 044. 
 
Kusiak A., Bolliet B., Ferraro S., Hill J. C., Krolewski A., 2021, Constraining the baryon abundance with the kinematic 
Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect: Projected-field detection using Planck , WMAP , and unW I S E, PhRvD, 104, 043518. 
 

Robert Mann: 
  
Lu M., Yang J., Mann R. B., 2024, Gravitational Wormholes, Univ, 10, 257. 
 
Gammon M., Rourke S., Mann R. B., 2024, Quark stars with a unified interacting equation of state in regularized 4D 
Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet gravity, PhRvD, 109, 024026. 
 
Zanoletti C. M. A., Hull B. R., Leonard C. D., Mann R. B., 2024, Cosmological constraints on 4-dimensional Einstein-
Gauss-Bonnet gravity, JCAP, 2024, 043. 

Page 225 of 274



 

 

 

 

103 

 
Lima C., Patterson E., Tjoa E., Mann R. B., 2023, Unruh phenomena and thermalization for qudit detectors, PhRvD, 
108, 105020. 
 
Bozanic L., Naeem M., Gallock-Yoshimura K., Mann R. B., 2023, Correlation harvesting between particle detectors 
in uniform motion, PhRvD, 108, 105017. 
 
Astefanesei D., Cabrera P., Mann R. B., Rojas R., 2023, Extended phase space thermodynamics for hairy black 
holes, PhRvD, 108, 104047. 
 
Cisterna A., Diaz F., Mann R. B., Oliva J., 2023, Exploring accelerating hairy black holes in 2+1 dimensions: the 
asymptotically locally anti-de Sitter class and its holography, JHEP, 2023, 73. 
 
Foo J., Mann R. B., Zych M., 2023, Signatures of discretization in quantum black hole spectra, IJMPD, 32, 2342015-
428. 
 
Ahmed M. B., Cong W., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., Visser M. R., 2023, Holographic CFT phase transitions and 
criticality for rotating AdS black holes, JHEP, 2023, 142. 
 
Yang J., Mann R. B., 2023, Dynamic behaviours of black hole phase transitions near quadruple points, JHEP, 2023, 
28. 
 
Patterson E., Mann R. B., 2023, Fisher information of a black hole spacetime, JHEP, 2023, 214. 
 
Wu J., Mann R. B., 2023, Thermodynamically stable phases of asymptotically flat Lovelock black holes, CQGra, 40, 
145009. 
 
Bhattacharya D., Gallock-Yoshimura K., Henderson L. J., Mann R. B., 2023, Extraction of entanglement from 
quantum fields with entangled particle detectors, PhRvD, 107, 105008. 
 
Wu J., Mann R. B., 2023, Multicritical phase transitions in Lovelock AdS black holes, PhRvD, 107, 084035. 
 
Khodabakhshi H., Lü H., Mann R. B., 2023, On the Lagrangian holographic relation at D → 2 and 4 limits of gravity, 
PhLB, 838, 137673. 
 
Durgut T., Hennigar R. A., Kunduri H. K., Mann R. B., 2023, Phase transitions and stability of Eguchi-Hanson-AdS 
solitons, JHEP, 2023, 114. 
 
Wu J., Mann R. B., 2023, Multicritical phase transitions in multiply rotating black holes, CQGra, 40, 06LT01. 
 
Belhaj Ahmed M., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., 2023, Vortex-antivortex pair creation in black hole thermodynamics, 
PhRvD, 107, 046013. 
 
Foo J., Arabaci C. S., Zych M., Mann R. B., 2023, Quantum superpositions of Minkowski spacetime, PhRvD, 107, 
045014. 
 
Shalabi A., Henderson L. J., Mann R. B., 2023, Locally detecting UV cutoffs on a sphere with particle detectors, 
PhRvD, 107, 045006. 
 
DiMarco M. C., Jess S. L., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., 2023, Universality for black hole heat engines near critical 
points, PhRvD, 107, 044001. 
 

Page 226 of 274



 

 

 

 

104 

Tavakoli M., Wu J., Mann R. B., 2022, Multi-critical points in black hole phase transitions, JHEP, 2022, 117. 
 
Wei S.-W., Liu Y.-X., Mann R. B., 2022, Black Hole Solutions as Topological Thermodynamic Defects, PhRvL, 129, 
191101. 
 
Foo J., Arabaci C. S., Zych M., Mann R. B., 2022, Quantum Signatures of Black Hole Mass Superpositions, PhRvL, 
129, 181301. 
 
Suryaatmadja C., Mann R. B., Cong W., 2022, Entanglement harvesting of inertially moving Unruh-DeWitt detectors 
in Minkowski spacetime, PhRvD, 106, 076002. 
 
Ng K. K., Zhang C., Louko J., Mann R. B., 2022, A little excitement across the horizon, NJPh, 24, 103018. 
 
Foo J., Mann R. B., Zych M., 2022, Schrödinger’s black hole cat, IJMPD, 31, 2242016-135. 
 
Robbins M. P. G., Afshordi N., Jamison A. O., Mann R. B., 2022, Detection of gravitational waves using parametric 
resonance in Bose-Einstein condensates, CQGra, 39, 175009. 
 
Robbins M. P. G., Mann R. B., 2022, Anti-Hawking phenomena around a rotating BTZ black hole, PhRvD, 106, 
045018. 
 
Cong W., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., Visser M. R., 2022, Holographic CFT phase transitions and criticality for charged 
AdS black holes, JHEP, 2022, 174. 
 
Mendez-Avalos D., Henderson L. J., Gallock-Yoshimura K., Mann R. B., 2022, Entanglement harvesting of three 
Unruh-DeWitt detectors, GReGr, 54, 87. 
 
Bueley K., Huang L., Gallock-Yoshimura K., Mann R. B., 2022, Harvesting mutual information from BTZ black hole 
spacetime, PhRvD, 106, 025010. 
 
Mann R. B., Murk S., Terno D. R., 2022, Black holes and their horizons in semiclassical and modified theories of 
gravity, IJMPD, 31, 2230015-276. 
 
Mann R. B., Murk S., Terno D. R., 2022, Surface gravity and the information loss problem, PhRvD, 105, 124032. 
 
Liu Z., Zhang J., Mann R. B., Yu H., 2022, Does acceleration assist entanglement harvesting?, PhRvD, 105, 085012. 
 
Gray F., Hennigar R. A., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., Srivastava M., 2022, Generalized Lense-Thirring metrics: higher-
curvature corrections and solutions with matter, JHEP, 2022, 70. 
 
Tjoa E., Mann R. B., 2022, Unruh-DeWitt detector in dimensionally-reduced static spherically symmetric 
spacetimes, JHEP, 2022, 14. 
 
Henderson L. J., Ding S. Y., Mann R. B., 2022, Entanglement harvesting with a twist, AVSQS, 4, 014402. 
 
Rafiee M., Hosseini Mansoori S. A., Wei S.-W., Mann R. B., 2022, Universal criticality of thermodynamic geometry 
for boundary conformal field theories in gauge/gravity duality, PhRvD, 105, 024058. 
 
Khodabakhshi H., Lü H., Mann R. B., 2023, On the Lagrangian holographic relation at D → 2 and 4 limits of gravity, 
PhLB, 838, 137673. 
 
 Wu J., Mann R. B., 2023, Multicritical phase transitions in multiply rotating black holes, CQGra, 40, 06LT01. 

Page 227 of 274



 

 

 

 

105 

 
 Belhaj Ahmed M., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., 2023, Vortex-antivortex pair creation in black hole thermodynamics, 
PhRvD, 107, 046013. 
 
 Foo J., Arabaci C. S., Zych M., Mann R. B., 2023, Quantum superpositions of Minkowski spacetime, PhRvD, 107, 
045014. 
 
 Shalabi A., Henderson L. J., Mann R. B., 2023, Locally detecting UV cutoffs on a sphere with particle detectors, 
PhRvD, 107, 045006. 
 
 Ashoorioon A., Poshteh M. B. J., Mann R. B., 2023, Lensing signatures of a slowly accelerated black hole, PhRvD, 
107, 044031. 
 
 DiMarco M. C., Jess S. L., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., 2023, Universality for black hole heat engines near critical 
points, PhRvD, 107, 044001. 
 
 Tavakoli M., Wu J., Mann R. B., 2022, Multi-critical points in black hole phase transitions, JHEP, 2022, 117. 
 
 Wei S.-W., Liu Y.-X., Mann R. B., 2022, Black Hole Solutions as Topological Thermodynamic Defects, PhRvL, 129, 
191101. 
 
 Foo J., Arabaci C. S., Zych M., Mann R. B., 2022, Quantum Signatures of Black Hole Mass Superpositions, PhRvL, 
129, 181301. 
 
 Suryaatmadja C., Mann R. B., Cong W., 2022, Entanglement harvesting of inertially moving Unruh-DeWitt 
detectors in Minkowski spacetime, PhRvD, 106, 076002. 
 
 Ng K. K., Zhang C., Louko J., Mann R. B., 2022, A little excitement across the horizon, NJPh, 24, 103018. 
 
 Foo J., Mann R. B., Zych M., 2022, Schrödinger’s black hole cat, IJMPD, 31, 2242016-135. 
 
 Robbins M. P. G., Afshordi N., Jamison A. O., Mann R. B., 2022, Detection of gravitational waves using parametric 
resonance in Bose-Einstein condensates, CQGra, 39, 175009. 
 
 Robbins M. P. G., Mann R. B., 2022, Anti-Hawking phenomena around a rotating BTZ black hole, PhRvD, 106, 
045018. 
 
 Cong W., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., Visser M. R., 2022, Holographic CFT phase transitions and criticality for charged 
AdS black holes, JHEP, 2022, 174. 
 
 Mendez-Avalos D., Henderson L. J., Gallock-Yoshimura K., Mann R. B., 2022, Entanglement harvesting of three 
Unruh-DeWitt detectors, GReGr, 54, 87. 
 
 Ashoorioon A., Poshteh M. B. J., Mann R. B., 2022, Distinguishing a Slowly Accelerating Black Hole by Differential 
Time Delays of Images, PhRvL, 129, 031102. 
 
 Bueley K., Huang L., Gallock-Yoshimura K., Mann R. B., 2022, Harvesting mutual information from BTZ black hole 
spacetime, PhRvD, 106, 025010. 
 
 Mann R. B., Murk S., Terno D. R., 2022, Black holes and their horizons in semiclassical and modified theories of 
gravity, IJMPD, 31, 2230015-276. 
 

Page 228 of 274



 

 

 

 

106 

 Mann R. B., Murk S., Terno D. R., 2022, Surface gravity and the information loss problem, PhRvD, 105, 124032. 
 
 Liu Z., Zhang J., Mann R. B., Yu H., 2022, Does acceleration assist entanglement harvesting?, PhRvD, 105, 085012. 
 
 Gray F., Hennigar R. A., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., Srivastava M., 2022, Generalized Lense-Thirring metrics: higher-
curvature corrections and solutions with matter, JHEP, 2022, 70. 
 
 Tjoa E., Mann R. B., 2022, Unruh-DeWitt detector in dimensionally-reduced static spherically symmetric 
spacetimes, JHEP, 2022, 14. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Ding S. Y., Mann R. B., 2022, Entanglement harvesting with a twist, AVSQS, 4, 014402. 
 
 Astefanesei D., Cabrera P., Mann R. B., Rojas R., 2022, Reentrant phase transitions in Einstein-Maxwell-scalar black 
holes, PhRvD, 105, 046021. 
 
 Rafiee M., Hosseini Mansoori S. A., Wei S.-W., Mann R. B., 2022, Universal criticality of thermodynamic geometry 
for boundary conformal field theories in gauge/gravity duality, PhRvD, 105, 024058. 
 
 Robbins M. P. G., Henderson L. J., Mann R. B., 2022, Entanglement amplification from rotating black holes, CQGra, 
39, 02LT01. 
 
 Gallock-Yoshimura K., Mann R. B., 2021, Entangled detectors nonperturbatively harvest mutual information, 
PhRvD, 104, 125017. 
 
 Zhang C., Gammon M., Mann R. B., 2021, Stellar structure and stability of charged interacting quark stars and their 
scaling behavior, PhRvD, 104, 123007. 
 
 Marks G. A., Simovic F., Mann R. B., 2021, Phase transitions in 4D Gauss-Bonnet-de Sitter black holes, PhRvD, 104, 
104056. 
 
 Foo J., Onoe S., Mann R. B., Zych M., 2021, Thermality, causality, and the quantum-controlled Unruh-deWitt 
detector, PhRvR, 3, 043056. 
 
 Hull B., Mann R. B., 2021, Thermodynamics of exotic black holes in Lovelock gravity, PhRvD, 104, 084032. 
 
 Dhumuntarao A., Mann R., 2021, Criticality of lower dimensional AdS<SUB>d</SUB> black holes, PhRvD, 104, 
064006. 
 
 Cong W., Bičák J., Kubizňák D., Mann R. B., 2021, Quantum detection of conicity, PhLB, 820, 136482. 
 
 Davis J., Kumari M., Mann R. B., Ghose S., 2021, Wigner negativity in spin-j systems, PhRvR, 3, 033134. 
 
 Cong W., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., 2021, Thermodynamics of AdS Black Holes: Critical Behavior of the Central 
Charge, PhRvL, 127, 091301. 
 
 Abbasvandi N., Tavakoli M., Mann R. B., 2021, Thermodynamics of Dyonic NUT Charged Black Holes with entropy 
as Noether charge, JHEP, 2021, 152. 
 
 Wei S.-W., Wang Y.-Q., Liu Y.-X., Mann R. B., 2021, Observing dynamic oscillatory behavior of triple points among 
black hole thermodynamic phase transitions, SCPMA, 64, 270411. 
 

Page 229 of 274



 

 

 

 

107 

 Gallock-Yoshimura K., Tjoa E., Mann R. B., 2021, Harvesting entanglement with detectors freely falling into a black 
hole, PhRvD, 104, 025001. 
 
 Holdom B., Mann R. B., Zhang C., 2021, Unruh-DeWitt detector differentiation of black holes and exotic compact 
objects, PhRvD, 103, 124046. 
 
 Anastasiou G., Araya I. J., Mann R. B., Olea R., 2021, Renormalized holographic entanglement entropy in Lovelock 
gravity, JHEP, 2021, 73. 
 
 Foo J., Mann R. B., Zych M., 2021, Schrödinger's cat for de Sitter spacetime, CQGra, 38, 115010. 
 
 Jahani Poshteh M. B., Mann R. B., 2021, Thermodynamics of z =4 Hořava-Lifshitz black holes, PhRvD, 103, 104024. 
 
 Al Balushi A., Hennigar R. A., Kunduri H. K., Mann R. B., 2021, Holographic complexity of rotating black holes, JHEP, 
2021, 226. 
 
 Du H., Mann R. B., 2021, Fisher information as a probe of spacetime structure: relativistic quantum metrology in 
(A)dS, JHEP, 2021, 112. 
 
 Al Balushi A., Hennigar R. A., Kunduri H. K., Mann R. B., 2021, Holographic Complexity and Thermodynamic 
Volume, PhRvL, 126, 101601. 
 
 Mann R. B., Pourhassan B., Rudra P., 2021, Note on the thermodynamic stability of a black ring at quantum scales, 
PhRvD, 103, 066015. 
 
 Foo J., Mann R. B., Zych M., 2021, Entanglement amplification between superposed detectors in flat and curved 
spacetimes, PhRvD, 103, 065013. 
 
 Zhang C., Mann R. B., 2021, Unified interacting quark matter and its astrophysical implications, PhRvD, 103, 
063018. 
 
 Mann R. B., Pando Zayas L. A., Park M., 2021, Complement to thermodynamics of dyonic Taub-NUT-AdS 
spacetime, JHEP, 2021, 39. 
 
 Simovic F., Fusco D., Mann R. B., 2021, Thermodynamics of de Sitter black holes with conformally coupled scalar 
fields, JHEP, 2021, 219. 
 
 Imseis M. T. N., Al Balushi A., Mann R. B., 2021, Null hypersurfaces in Kerr-Newman-AdS black hole and super-
entropic black hole spacetimes, CQGra, 38, 045018. 
 
 Hennigar R. A., Kubizňák D., Mann R. B., 2021, Rotating and charged Gauss-Bonnet BTZ black holes, CQGra, 38, 
03LT01. 
 
 Cong W., Bičák J., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., 2021, Quantum detection of inertial frame dragging, PhRvD, 103, 
024027. 
 
 Khodabakhshi H., Mann R. B., 2021, Gravitational lensing by black holes in Einstein quartic gravity, PhRvD, 103, 
024017. 
 
 Mann R. B., Husin I., Patel H., Faizal M., Sulaksono A., Suroso A., 2021, Testing short distance anisotropy in space, 
NatSR, 11, 7474. 
 

Page 230 of 274



 

 

 

 

108 

 Edelstein J. D., Mann R. B., Rodríguez D. V., López A. V., 2021, Small free field inflation in higher curvature gravity, 
JHEP, 2021, 29. 
 
 Sajadi S. N., Mann R. B., Riazi N., Fakhry S., 2020, Analytically approximate solutions to higher derivative gravity, 
PhRvD, 102, 124026. 
 
 Wei S.-W., Liu Y.-X., Mann R. B., 2020, Novel dual relation and constant in Hawking-Page phase transitions, PhRvD, 
102, 104011. 
 
 Adair C., Bueno P., Cano P. A., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., 2020, Slowly rotating black holes in Einsteinian cubic 
gravity, PhRvD, 102, 084001. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., Smith A. R. H., Zhang J., 2020, Anti-Hawking phenomena, PhLB, 809, 
135732. 
 
 Cong W., Qian C., Good M. R. R., Mann R. B., 2020, Effects of horizons on entanglement harvesting, JHEP, 2020, 
67. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Belenchia A., Castro-Ruiz E., Budroni C., Zych M., Brukner Č., Mann R. B., 2020, Quantum 
Temporal Superposition: The Case of Quantum Field Theory, PhRvL, 125, 131602. 
 
 Hennigar R. A., Kubizňák D., Mann R. B., Pollack C., 2020, Lower-dimensional Gauss-Bonnet gravity and BTZ black 
holes, PhLB, 808, 135657. 
 
 Khodabakhshi H., Giaimo A., Mann R. B., 2020, Einstein quartic gravity: Shadows, signals, and stability, PhRvD, 102, 
044038. 
 
 Tjoa E., Mann R. B., 2020, Harvesting correlations in Schwarzschild and collapsing shell spacetimes, JHEP, 2020, 
155. 
 
 Hennigar R. A., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., Pollack C., 2020, On taking the D → 4 limit of Gauss-Bonnet gravity: 
theory and solutions, JHEP, 2020, 27. 
 
 Khodabakhshi H., Shirzad A., Shojai F., Mann R. B., 2020, Black hole entropy and boundary conditions, PhRvD, 101, 
124007. 
 
 Cong W., Bičák J., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., 2020, Quantum distinction of inertial frames: Local versus global, 
PhRvD, 101, 104060. 
 
 Abdolrahimi S., Mann R. B., Tzounis C., 2020, Distorted black ring, PhRvD, 101, 104002. 
 
 Haroon S., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., Simovic F., 2020, Thermodynamics of Gauss-Bonnet-de Sitter black holes, 
PhRvD, 101, 084051. 
 
 Dehghani A., Hendi S. H., Mann R. B., 2020, Range of novel black hole phase transitions via massive gravity: Triple 
points and N -fold reentrant phase transitions, PhRvD, 101, 084026. 
 
 Oltean M., Epp R. J., Sopuerta C. F., Spallicci A. D. A. M., Mann R. B., 2020, Motion of localized sources in general 
relativity: Gravitational self-force from quasilocal conservation laws, PhRvD, 101, 064060. 
 
 Wei S.-W., Liu Y.-X., Mann R. B., 2019, Ruppeiner geometry, phase transitions, and the microstructure of charged 
AdS black holes, PhRvD, 100, 124033. 

Page 231 of 274



 

 

 

 

109 

 
 Farahi A., Chen X., Evrard A. E., Hollowood D. L., Wilkinson R., Bhargava S., Giles P., et al., 2019, Mass variance 
from archival X-ray properties of Dark Energy Survey Year-1 galaxy clusters, MNRAS, 490, 3341. 
 
 Al Balushi A., Mann R. B., 2019, Null hypersurfaces in Kerr-(A)dS spacetimes, CQGra, 36, 245017. 
 
 Frassino A. M., Mann R. B., Mureika J. R., 2019, Extended thermodynamics and complexity in gravitational Chern-
Simons theory, JHEP, 2019, 112. 
 
 Astefanesei D., Mann R. B., Rojas R., 2019, Hairy black hole chemistry, JHEP, 2019, 43. 
 
 Cong W., Mann R. B., 2019, Thermodynamic instabilities of generalized exotic BTZ black holes, JHEP, 2019, 4. 
 
 Ahmadzadegan A., Lalegani F., Kempf A., Mann R. B., 2019, Probing geometric information using the Unruh effect 
in the vacuum, PhRvD, 100, 085013. 
 
 Zhang M., Mann R. B., 2019, Charged accelerating black hole in f (R) gravity, PhRvD, 100, 084061. 
 
 Grimmer D., Kempf A., Mann R. B., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, Zeno friction and antifriction from quantum collision 
models, PhRvA, 100, 042702. 
 
 Onuma-Kalu M., Grimmer D., Mann R. B., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, A classification of Markovian fermionic 
Gaussian master equations, JPhA, 52, 435302. 
 
 Hennigar R. A., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., 2019, Thermodynamics of Lorentzian Taub-NUT spacetimes, PhRvD, 100, 
064055. 
 
 Arenas-Henriquez G., Mann R. B., Miskovic O., Olea R., 2019, Mass in Lovelock unique vacuum gravity theories, 
PhRvD, 100, 064038. 
 
 Abbasvandi N., Ahmed W., Cong W., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., 2019, Finely split phase transitions of rotating and 
accelerating black holes, PhRvD, 100, 064027. 
 
 Grimmer D., Mann R. B., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, Thermal contact: mischief and time scales, JPhA, 52, 395305. 
 
 Wei S.-W., Liu Y.-X., Mann R. B., 2019, Repulsive Interactions and Universal Properties of Charged Anti-de Sitter 
Black Hole Microstructures, PhRvL, 123, 071103. 
 
 Mir M., Hennigar R. A., Ahmed J., Mann R. B., 2019, Black hole chemistry and holography in generalized quasi-
topological gravity, JHEP, 2019, 68. 
 
 Wei S.-W., Zou Y.-C., Liu Y.-X., Mann R. B., 2019, Curvature radius and Kerr black hole shadow, JCAP, 2019, 030. 
 
 Cong W., Tjoa E., Mann R. B., 2019, Erratum: Erratum to: Entanglement harvesting with moving mirrors, JHEP, 
2019, 51. 
 
 Mir M., Mann R. B., 2019, On generalized quasi-topological cubic-quartic gravity: thermodynamics and 
holography, JHEP, 2019, 12. 
 
 Robbins M. P. G., Afshordi N., Mann R. B., 2019, Bose-Einstein condensates as gravitational wave detectors, JCAP, 
2019, 032. 
 

Page 232 of 274



 

 

 

 

110 

 Baccetti V., Mann R. B., Murk S., Terno D. R., 2019, Energy-momentum tensor and metric near the Schwarzschild 
sphere, PhRvD, 99, 124014. 
 
 Wang Z.-W., Al Balushi A., Mann R., Jiang H.-M., 2019, Safe trinification, PhRvD, 99, 115017. 
 
 Cong W., Tjoa E., Mann R. B., 2019, Entanglement harvesting with moving mirrors, JHEP, 2019, 21. 
 
 Sinamuli M., Mann R. B., 2019, Holographic complexity and charged scalar fields, PhRvD, 99, 106013. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., Smith A. R. H., Zhang J., 2019, Entangling detectors in anti-de Sitter 
space, JHEP, 2019, 178. 
 
 Simovic F., Mann R. B., 2019, Critical phenomena of Born-Infeld-de Sitter black holes in cavities, JHEP, 2019, 136. 
 
 Mann R. B., Oliva J., Sajadi S. N., 2019, Energy of asymptotically AdS black holes in Exotic Massive Gravity and its 
log-extension, JHEP, 2019, 131. 
 
 Abbasvandi N., Cong W., Kubizňák D., Mann R. B., 2019, Snapping swallowtails in accelerating black hole 
thermodynamics, CQGra, 36, 104001. 
 
 Anabalón A., Gray F., Gregory R., Kubizňák D., Mann R. B., 2019, Thermodynamics of charged, rotating, and 
accelerating black holes, JHEP, 2019, 96. 
 
 Bueno P., Cano P. A., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., 2019, Universality of Squashed-Sphere Partition Functions, 
PhRvL, 122, 071602. 
 
 Haroon S., Jamil M., Jusufi K., Lin K., Mann R. B., 2019, Shadow and deflection angle of rotating black holes in 
perfect fluid dark matter with a cosmological constant, PhRvD, 99, 044015. 
 
 Wei S.-W., Liu Y.-X., Mann R. B., 2019, Intrinsic curvature and topology of shadows in Kerr spacetime, PhRvD, 99, 
041303. 
 
 Mbarek S., Mann R. B., 2019, Reverse Hawking-Page phase transition in de Sitter black holes, JHEP, 2019, 103. 
 
 Poshteh M. B. J., Mann R. B., 2019, Gravitational lensing by black holes in Einsteinian cubic gravity, PhRvD, 99, 
024035. 
 
 Simovic F., Mann R. B., 2019, Critical phenomena of charged de Sitter black holes in cavities, CQGra, 36, 014002. 
 
 Ng K. K., Mann R. B., Martín-Martínez E., 2018, Unruh-DeWitt detectors and entanglement: The anti-de Sitter 
space, PhRvD, 98, 125005. 
 
 Anabalón A., Appels M., Gregory R., KubizÅák D., Mann R. B., Övgün A., 2018, Holographic thermodynamics of 
accelerating black holes, PhRvD, 98, 104038. 
 
 Mann R. B., Nagle I., Terno D. R., 2018, Transition to light-like trajectories in thin shell dynamics, NuPhB, 936, 19. 
 
 Gray F., Mann R. B., 2018, Scalar and fermionic Unruh Otto engines, JHEP, 2018, 174. 
 
 Henderson L. J., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., Smith A. R. H., Zhang J., 2018, Harvesting entanglement from the black 
hole vacuum, CQGra, 35, 21LT02. 
 

Page 233 of 274



 

 

 

 

111 

Eduardo Martin-Martinez: 
 
Perche T. R., Polo-Gómez J., Torres B. de S. L., Martín-Martínez E., 2024, Fully relativistic entanglement harvesting, 
PhRvD, 109, 045018. 
 
Polo-Gómez J., Martín-Martínez E., 2024, Nonperturbative method for particle detectors with continuous 
interactions, PhRvD, 109, 045014. 
 
Perche T. R., Polo-Gómez J., Torres B. de S. L., Martín-Martínez E., 2024, Particle detectors from localized quantum 
field theories, PhRvD, 109, 045013. 
 
Ahmed S., Lima C., Martín-Martínez E., 2024, Semiclassical gravity beyond coherent states, JHEP, 2024, 1. 
 
Martín-Martínez E., Perche T. R., 2023, What gravity mediated entanglement can really tell us about quantum 
gravity, PhRvD, 108, L101702. 
 
Perche T. R., Ragula B., Martín-Martínez E., 2023, Harvesting entanglement from the gravitational vacuum, PhRvD, 
108, 085025. 
 
de Ramón J., Papageorgiou M., Martín-Martínez E., 2023, Causality and signalling in noncompact detector-field 
interactions, PhRvD, 108, 045015. 
 
Grimmer D., Melgarejo-Lermas I., Polo-Gómez J., Martín-Martínez E., 2023, Decoding quantum field theory with 
machine learning, JHEP, 2023, 31. 
 
Caribé J. G. A., Jonsson R. H., Casals M., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2023, Lensing of vacuum entanglement near 
Schwarzschild black holes, PhRvD, 108, 025016. 
 
 Maeso-García H., Polo-Gómez J., Martín-Martínez E., 2023, How measuring a quantum field affects entanglement 
harvesting, PhRvD, 107, 045011. 
 
 Maeso-García H., Polo-Gómez J., Martín-Martínez E., 2022, Entanglement harvesting: State dependence and 
covariance, PhRvD, 106, 105001. 
 
 Maeso-García H., Perche T. R., Martín-Martínez E., 2022, Entanglement harvesting: Detector gap and field mass 
optimization, PhRvD, 106, 045014. 
 
 Barceló C., Boyanov V., Garay L. J., Martín-Martínez E., Sánchez Velázquez J. M., 2022, Warp drive aerodynamics, 
JHEP, 2022, 288. 
 
 Perche T. R., Martín-Martínez E., 2022, Geometry of spacetime from quantum measurements, PhRvD, 105, 
066011. 
 
 Perche T. R., Lima C., Martín-Martínez E., 2022, Harvesting entanglement from complex scalar and fermionic fields 
with linearly coupled particle detectors, PhRvD, 105, 065016. 
 
 Sahu A., Melgarejo-Lermas I., Martín-Martínez E., 2022, Sabotaging the harvesting of correlations from quantum 
fields, PhRvD, 105, 065011. 
 
 Polo-Gómez J., Garay L. J., Martín-Martínez E., 2022, A detector-based measurement theory for quantum field 
theory, PhRvD, 105, 065003. 
 

Page 234 of 274



 

 

 

 

112 

 Tjoa E., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, When entanglement harvesting is not really harvesting, PhRvD, 104, 125005. 
 
 Alonso-Serrano A., Tjoa E., Garay L. J., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, The time traveler's guide to the quantization of 
zero modes, JHEP, 2021, 170. 
 
 Perche T. R., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, Antiparticle detector models in QFT, PhRvD, 104, 105021. 
 
 Grimmer D., Torres B. de S. L., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, Measurements in QFT: Weakly coupled local particle 
detectors and entanglement harvesting, PhRvD, 104, 085014. 
 
 Grimmer D., Lopp R., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, Dimensional reduction of cavities with axial symmetry: A complete 
analysis of when an optical fiber is approximately one dimensional, PhRvA, 104, 013723. 
 
 Tjoa E., López-Gutiérrez I., Sachs A., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, What makes a particle detector click, PhRvD, 103, 
125021. 
 
 Simidzija P., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, Gravitational wave emission from the CMB and other thermal 
fields, PhLB, 816, 136208. 
 
 de Ramón J., Papageorgiou M., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, Relativistic causality in particle detector models: Faster-
than-light signaling and impossible measurements, PhRvD, 103, 085002. 
 
 Martín-Martínez E., Perche T. R., Torres B. de S. L., 2021, Broken covariance of particle detector models in 
relativistic quantum information, PhRvD, 103, 025007. 
 
 Lopp R., Martín-Martínez E., 2021, Quantum delocalization, gauge, and quantum optics: Light-matter interaction 
in relativistic quantum information, PhRvA, 103, 013703. 
 
 Teixidó-Bonfill A., Ortega A., Martín-Martínez E., 2020, First law of quantum field thermodynamics, PhRvA, 102, 
052219. 
 
 Tjoa E., Martín-Martínez E., 2020, Vacuum entanglement harvesting with a zero mode, PhRvD, 101, 125020. 
 
 Jonsson R. H., Aruquipa D. Q., Casals M., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2020, Communication through quantum 
fields near a black hole, PhRvD, 101, 125005. 
 
 Yamaguchi K., Ahmadzadegan A., Simidzija P., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2020, Superadditivity of channel 
capacity through quantum fields, PhRvD, 101, 105009. 
 
 Hotta M., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., Tomitsuka T., Yamaguchi K., 2020, Duality in the dynamics of Unruh-
DeWitt detectors in conformally related spacetimes, PhRvD, 101, 085017. 
 
 Martín-Martínez E., Perche T. R., de S. L. Torres B., 2020, General relativistic quantum optics: Finite-size particle 
detector models in curved spacetimes, PhRvD, 101, 045017. 
 
 Simidzija P., Ahmadzadegan A., Kempf A., Martín-Martínez E., 2020, Transmission of quantum information 
through quantum fields, PhRvD, 101, 036014. 
 
 Alhambra Á. M., Styliaris G., Rodríguez-Briones N. A., Sikora J., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, Fundamental Limitations 
to Local Energy Extraction in Quantum Systems, PhRvL, 123, 190601. 
 

Page 235 of 274



 

 

 

 

113 

 Grimmer D., Kempf A., Mann R. B., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, Zeno friction and antifriction from quantum collision 
models, PhRvA, 100, 042702. 
 
 Onuma-Kalu M., Grimmer D., Mann R. B., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, A classification of Markovian fermionic 
Gaussian master equations, JPhA, 52, 435302. 
 
 Funai N., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, Faster-than-light signaling in the rotating-wave approximation, PhRvD, 100, 
065021. 
 
 Grimmer D., Mann R. B., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, Thermal contact: mischief and time scales, JPhA, 52, 395305. 
 
 Carballo-Rubio R., Garay L. J., Martín-Martínez E., de Ramón J., 2019, Unruh Effect without Thermality, PhRvL, 123, 
041601. 
 
 Ortega A., McKay E., Alhambra Á. M., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, Work Distributions on Quantum Fields, PhRvL, 
122, 240604. 
 
 Funai N., Louko J., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, p ^ .A ^ vs x ^.E ^: Gauge invariance in quantum optics and quantum 
field theory, PhRvD, 99, 065014. 
 
 Tjoa E., Martín-Martínez E., 2019, Zero mode suppression of superluminal signals in light-matter interactions, 
PhRvD, 99, 065005. 
 
 Ng K. K., Mann R. B., Martín-Martínez E., 2018, Unruh-DeWitt detectors and entanglement: The anti-de Sitter 
space, PhRvD, 98, 125005. 
 
 de Ramón J., Garay L. J., Martín-Martínez E., 2018, Direct measurement of the two-point function in quantum 
fields, PhRvD, 98, 105011. 
 
 Jonsson R. H., Ried K., Martín-Martínez E., Kempf A., 2018, Transmitting qubits through relativistic fields, JPhA, 51, 
485301. 
 
 Lopp R., Martín-Martínez E., Page D. N., 2018, Relativity and quantum optics: accelerated atoms in optical cavities, 
CQGra, 35, 224001. 

 

Elena Massara: 
 
Régaldo-Saint Blancard B., Hahn C., Ho S., Hou J., Lemos P., Massara E., Modi C., et al., 2024, Galaxy clustering 
analysis with SimBIG and the wavelet scattering transform, PhRvD, 109, 083535. 
 
Hahn C., Eickenberg M., Ho S., Hou J., Lemos P., Massara E., Modi C., et al., 2024, Cosmological constraints from 
the nonlinear galaxy bispectrum, PhRvD, 109, 083534. 
 
Nguyen A. B. H., Massara E., Percival W. J., 2024, Self-calibrating BAO measurements in the presence of small 
displacement interlopers, JCAP, 2024, 008. 
 
Massara E., Villaescusa-Navarro F., Percival W. J., 2023, Predicting interloper fraction with graph neural networks, 
JCAP, 2023, 012. 
 
Hahn C., Eickenberg M., Ho S., Hou J., Lemos P., Massara E., Modi C., et al., 2023, A forward modeling approach to 
analyzing galaxy clustering with SIMBIG, PNAS, 120, e2218810120. 
 

Page 236 of 274



 

 

 

 

114 

Radinović S., Nadathur S., Winther H.-A., Percival W. J., Woodfinden A., Massara E., Paillas E., et al., 2023, Euclid: 
Cosmology forecasts from the void-galaxy cross-correlation function with reconstruction, A&A, 677, A78. 
 
Woodfinden A., Percival W. J., Nadathur S., Winther H. A., Fraser T. S., Massara E., Paillas E., Radinović S., 2023, 
Cosmological measurements from void-galaxy and galaxy-galaxy clustering in the Sloan Digital Sky Survey, MNRAS, 
523, 6360. 
 
Massara E., Villaescusa-Navarro F., Hahn C., Abidi M. M., Eickenberg M., Ho S., Lemos P., et al., 2023, Cosmological 
Information in the Marked Power Spectrum of the Galaxy Field, ApJ, 951, 70. 
 
Hahn C., Eickenberg M., Ho S., Hou J., Lemos P., Massara E., Modi C., et al., 2023, SIMBIG: mock challenge for a 
forward modeling approach to galaxy clustering, JCAP, 2023, 010. 
 
Lemos P., Cranmer M., Abidi M., Hahn C., Eickenberg M., Massara E., Yallup D., Ho S., 2023, Robust simulation-
based inference in cosmology with Bayesian neural networks, MLS&T, 4, 01LT01. 
 
Hou J., Moradinezhad Dizgah A., Hahn C., Massara E., 2023, Cosmological information in skew spectra of biased 
tracers in redshift space, JCAP, 2023, 045. 
 
Massara E., Percival W. J., Dalal N., Nadathur S., Radinović S., Winther H. A., Woodfinden A., 2022, Velocity profiles 
of matter and biased tracers around voids, MNRAS, 517, 4458. 
 
Woodfinden A., Nadathur S., Percival W. J., Radinovic S., Massara E., Winther H. A., 2022, Measurements of cosmic 
expansion and growth rate of structure from voids in the Sloan Digital Sky Survey between redshift 0.07 and 1.0, 
MNRAS, 516, 4307. 
 
Contarini S., Verza G., Pisani A., Hamaus N., Sahlén M., Carbone C., Dusini S., et al., 2022, Euclid: Cosmological 
forecasts from the void size function, A&A, 667, A162. 
 
Foroozan S., Massara E., Percival W. J., 2022, Correcting for small-displacement interlopers in BAO analyses, JCAP, 
2022, 072. 
 
Naidoo K., Massara E., Lahav O., 2022, Cosmology and neutrino mass with the minimum spanning tree, MNRAS, 
513, 3596. 
 
Wang Y., Zhai Z., Alavi A., Massara E., Pisani A., Benson A., Hirata C. M., et al., 2022, The High Latitude 
Spectroscopic Survey on the Nancy Grace Roman Space Telescope, ApJ, 928, 1. 
 
Hamaus N., Aubert M., Pisani A., Contarini S., Verza G., Cousinou M.-C., Escoffier S., et al., 2022, Euclid: Forecasts 
from redshift-space distortions and the Alcock-Paczynski test with cosmic voids, A&A, 658, A20. 
 
Massara E., Ho S., Hirata C. M., DeRose J., Wechsler R. H., Fang X., 2021, Line confusion in spectroscopic surveys 
and its possible effects: shifts in Baryon Acoustic Oscillations position, MNRAS, 508, 4193. 
 
Bayer A. E., Villaescusa-Navarro F., Massara E., Liu J., Spergel D. N., Verde L., Wandelt B. D., et al., 2021, Detecting 
Neutrino Mass by Combining Matter Clustering, Halos, and Voids, ApJ, 919, 24. 
 
Philcox O. H. E., Aviles A., Massara E., 2021, Modeling the marked spectrum of matter and biased tracers in real- 
and redshift-space, JCAP, 2021, 038. 
 
Massara E., Villaescusa-Navarro F., Ho S., Dalal N., Spergel D. N., 2021, Using the Marked Power Spectrum to 
Detect the Signature of Neutrinos in Large-Scale Structure, PhRvL, 126, 011301. 

Page 237 of 274



 

 

 

 

115 

 
Villaescusa-Navarro F., Hahn C., Massara E., Banerjee A., Delgado A. M., Ramanah D. K., Charnock T., et al., 2020, 
The Quijote Simulations, ApJS, 250, 2. 
 
Philcox O. H. E., Massara E., Spergel D. N., 2020, What does the marked power spectrum measure? Insights from 
perturbation theory, PhRvD, 102, 043516. 

 

 
Brian McNamara: 
 
Fabian A. C., Sanders J. S., Ferland G. J., McNamara B. R., Pinto C., Walker S. A., 2024, Consequences of a low-mass 
high-pressure star formation mode in early galaxies, MNRAS, 531, 267. 
 
Rose T., McNamara B. R., Combes F., Edge A. C., Russell H., Salomé P., Tamhane P., et al., 2024, A massive 
multiphase plume of gas in Abell 2390's brightest cluster galaxy, MNRAS, 528, 3441. 
 
Vigneron B., Hlavacek-Larrondo J., Rhea C. L., Gendron-Marsolais M.-L., Lim J., Reinheimer J., Li Y., et al., 2024, 
High-spectral-resolution Observations of the Optical Filamentary Nebula Surrounding NGC 1275, ApJ, 962, 96. 
 
Richard-Laferrière A., Russell H. R., Fabian A. C., Chadayammuri U., Reynolds C. S., Canning R. E. A., Edge A. C., et 
al., 2023, Constraints on thermal conductivity in the merging cluster Abell 2146, MNRAS, 526, 6205. 
 
Fabian A. C., Sanders J. S., Ferland G. J., McNamara B. R., Pinto C., Walker S. A., 2023, Hidden cooling flows in 
clusters of galaxies - III. Accretion on to the central black hole, MNRAS, 524, 716. 
 
Bambic C. J., Russell H. R., Reynolds C. S., Fabian A. C., McNamara B. R., Nulsen P. E. J., 2023, AGN feeding and 
feedback in M84: from kiloparsec scales to the Bondi radius, MNRAS, 522, 4374. 
 
Fabian A. C., Sanders J. S., Ferland G. J., McNamara B. R., Pinto C., Walker S. A., 2023, Hidden Cooling Flows in 
clusters of Galaxies II: a wider sample, MNRAS, 521, 1794. 
 
Babyk I. V., McNamara B. R., 2023, The Halo Mass-Temperature Relation for Clusters, Groups, and Galaxies, ApJ, 
946, 54. 
 
Tamhane P. D., McNamara B. R., Russell H. R., Combes F., Qiu Y., Edge A. C., Maiolino R., et al., 2023, Radio jet-ISM 
interaction and positive radio-mechanical feedback in Abell 1795, MNRAS, 519, 3338. 
 
Bégin T., Hlavacek-Larrondo J., Rhea C. L., Gendron-Marsolais M., McNamara B., van Weeren R. J., Richard-
Laferrière A., et al., 2023, Extended radio emission in the galaxy cluster MS 0735.6+7421 detected with the Karl G. 
Jansky Very Large Array, MNRAS, 519, 767. 
 
Babyk I. V., McNamara B. R., Nulsen P. E. J., Russell H. R., Edge A. C., Blitz L., 2023, Atmospheric Pressure and 
Molecular Cloud Formation in Early-type Galaxies, ApJ, 944, 69. 
 
Rose T., McNamara B. R., Combes F., Edge A. C., Fabian A. C., Gaspari M., Russell H., et al., 2023, Does absorption 
against AGN reveal supermassive black hole accretion?, MNRAS, 518, 878. 
 
Calzadilla M. S., McDonald M., Donahue M., McNamara B. R., Fogarty K., Gaspari M., Gitti M., et al., 2022, Testing 
the Limits of AGN Feedback and the Onset of Thermal Instability in the Most Rapidly Star-forming Brightest Cluster 
Galaxies, ApJ, 940, 140. 
 

Page 238 of 274



 

 

 

 

116 

Timmerman R., van Weeren R. J., Botteon A., Röttgering H. J. A., McNamara B. R., Sweijen F., Bîrzan L., Morabito L. 
K., 2022, Measuring cavity powers of active galactic nuclei in clusters using a hybrid X-ray-radio method. A new 
window on feedback opened by subarcsecond LOFAR-VLBI observations, A&A, 668, A65. 
 
Tamhane P. D., McNamara B. R., Russell H. R., Edge A. C., Fabian A. C., Nulsen P. E. J., Babyk I. V., 2022, Molecular 
flows in contemporary active galaxies and the efficacy of radio-mechanical feedback, MNRAS, 516, 861. 
 
Fabian A. C., Ferland G. J., Sanders J. S., McNamara B. R., Pinto C., Walker S. A., 2022, Hidden cooling flows in 
clusters of galaxies, MNRAS, 515, 3336. 
 
Russell H. R., Nulsen P. E. J., Caprioli D., Chadayammuri U., Fabian A. C., Kunz M. W., McNamara B. R., et al., 2022, 
The structure of cluster merger shocks: turbulent width and the electron heating time-scale, MNRAS, 514, 1477. 
 
Hu H., Qiu Y., Gendron-Marsolais M.-L., Bogdanović T., Hlavacek-Larrondo J., Ho L. C., Inayoshi K., McNamara B. R., 
2022, Signature of Supersonic Turbulence in Galaxy Clusters Revealed by AGN-driven Hα Filaments, ApJL, 929, L30. 
 
Ubertosi F., Gitti M., Brighenti F., Brunetti G., McDonald M., Nulsen P., McNamara B., et al., 2021, The Deepest 
Chandra View of RBS 797: Evidence for Two Pairs of Equidistant X-ray Cavities, ApJL, 923, L25. 
 
Qiu Y., McNamara B. R., Bogdanović T., Inayoshi K., Ho L. C., 2021, On the Mass Loading of AGN-driven Outflows in 
Elliptical Galaxies and Clusters, ApJ, 923, 256. 
 
Liu H., Fabian A. C., Pinto C., Russell H. R., Sanders J. S., McNamara B. R., 2021, Suppressed cooling and turbulent 
heating in the core of X-ray luminous clusters RXCJ1504.1-0248 and Abell 1664, MNRAS, 505, 1589. 
 
Qiu Y., Hu H., Inayoshi K., Ho L. C., Bogdanović T., McNamara B. R., 2021, Dynamics and Morphology of Cold Gas in 
Fast, Radiatively Cooling Outflows: Constraining AGN Energetics with Horseshoes, ApJL, 917, L7. 
 
Vantyghem A. N., McNamara B. R., O'Dea C. P., Baum S. A., Combes F., Edge A. C., Fabian A. C., et al., 2021, A 
Massive, Clumpy Molecular Gas Distribution and Displaced AGN in Zw 3146, ApJ, 910, 53. 
 
McDonald M., McNamara B. R., Calzadilla M. S., Chen C.-T., Gaspari M., Hickox R. C., Kara E., Korchagin I., 2021, 
Observational Evidence for Enhanced Black Hole Accretion in Giant Elliptical Galaxies, ApJ, 908, 85. 
 
Timmerman R., van Weeren R. J., McDonald M., Ignesti A., McNamara B. R., Hlavacek-Larrondo J., Röttgering H. J. 
A., 2021, Very Large Array observations of the mini-halo and AGN feedback in the Phoenix cluster, A&A, 646, A38. 
 
Rose T., Edge A. C., Combes F., Hamer S., McNamara B. R., Russell H., Gaspari M., et al., 2020, A molecular 
absorption line survey towards the AGN of Hydra-A, MNRAS, 496, 364. 
 
Martz C. G., McNamara B. R., Nulsen P. E. J., Vantyghem A. N., Gingras M.-J., Babyk I. V., Russell H. R., et al., 2020, 
Thermally Unstable Cooling Stimulated by Uplift: The Spoiler Clusters, ApJ, 897, 57. 
 
Qiu Y., Bogdanović T., Li Y., McDonald M., McNamara B. R., 2020, The formation of dusty cold gas filaments from 
galaxy cluster simulations, NatAs, 4, 900. 
 
Russell H. R., McNamara B. R., Fabian A. C., Nulsen P. E. J., Combes F., Edge A. C., Madar M., et al., 2019, Driving 
massive molecular gas flows in central cluster galaxies with AGN feedback, MNRAS, 490, 3025. 
 
Calzadilla M. S., McDonald M., Bayliss M., Benson B. A., Bleem L. E., Brodwin M., Edge A. C., et al., 2019, Discovery 
of a Powerful >1061 erg AGN Outburst in the Distant Galaxy Cluster SPT-CLJ0528-5300, ApJL, 887, L17. 
 

Page 239 of 274



 

 

 

 

117 

Harris G. L. H., Babyk I. V., Harris W. E., McNamara B. R., 2019, Globular Cluster Systems and X-Ray Atmospheres in 
Galaxies, ApJ, 887, 259. 
 
Babyk I. V., McNamara B. R., Tamhane P. D., Nulsen P. E. J., Russell H. R., Edge A. C., 2019, Origins of Molecular 
Clouds in Early-type Galaxies, ApJ, 887, 149. 
 
McDonald M., McNamara B. R., Voit G. M., Bayliss M., Benson B. A., Brodwin M., Canning R. E. A., et al., 2019, 
Anatomy of a Cooling Flow: The Feedback Response to Pure Cooling in the Core of the Phoenix Cluster, ApJ, 885, 
63. 
 
Rose T., Edge A. C., Combes F., Gaspari M., Hamer S., Nesvadba N., Peck A. B., et al., 2019, Constraining cold 
accretion on to supermassive black holes: molecular gas in the cores of eight brightest cluster galaxies revealed by 
joint CO and CN absorption, MNRAS, 489, 349. 
 
Jeter B., Broderick A. E., McNamara B. R., 2019, Impact of Accretion Flow Dynamics on Gas-dynamical Black Hole 
Mass Estimates, ApJ, 882, 82. 
 
Rose T., Edge A. C., Combes F., Gaspari M., Hamer S., Nesvadba N., Russell H., et al., 2019, Deep and narrow CO 
absorption revealing molecular clouds in the Hydra-A brightest cluster galaxy, MNRAS, 485, 229. 
 
Calzadilla M. S., Russell H. R., McDonald M. A., Fabian A. C., Baum S. A., Combes F., Donahue M., et al., 2019, 
Revealing a Highly Dynamic Cluster Core in Abell 1664 with Chandra, ApJ, 875, 65. 
 
Werner N., McNamara B. R., Churazov E., Scannapieco E., 2019, Hot Atmospheres, Cold Gas, AGN Feedback and 
the Evolution of Early Type Galaxies: A Topical Perspective, SSRv, 215, 5. 
 
Vantyghem A. N., McNamara B. R., Russell H. R., Edge A. C., Nulsen P. E. J., Combes F., Fabian A. C., et al., 2019, An 
Enormous Molecular Gas Flow in the RX J0821+0752 Galaxy Cluster, ApJ, 870, 57. 
 
Hitomi Collaboration, Aharonian F., Akamatsu H., Akimoto F., Allen S. W., Angelini L., Audard M., et al., 2018, 
Detection of polarized gamma-ray emission from the Crab nebula with the Hitomi Soft Gamma-ray Detector, PASJ, 
70, 113. 
 

Faizan Mohammad: 
Mohammad F. G., Villaescusa-Navarro F., Genel S., Anglés-Alcázar D., Vogelsberger M., 2022, Inpainting 
Hydrodynamical Maps with Deep Learning, ApJ, 941, 132. 
 
Chapman M. J., Mohammad F. G., Zhai Z., Percival W. J., Tinker J. L., Bautista J. E., Brownstein J. R., et al., 2022, The 
completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the growth rate of 
structure from the small-scale clustering of the luminous red galaxy sample, MNRAS, 516, 617. 
 
Yu J., Zhao C., Chuang C.-H., Bautista J. E., Favole G., Kneib J.-P., Mohammad F. G., et al., 2022, Model BOSS and 
eBOSS luminous red galaxies at 0.2 < z < 1.0 using SubHalo Abundance Matching with three parameters, MNRAS, 
516, 57. 
 
Mohammad F. G., Percival W. J., 2022, Creating jackknife and bootstrap estimates of the covariance matrix for the 
two-point correlation function, MNRAS, 514, 1289. 
 
Villaescusa-Navarro F., Genel S., Anglés-Alcázar D., Thiele L., Dave R., Narayanan D., Nicola A., et al., 2022, The 
CAMELS Multifield Data Set: Learning the Universe's Fundamental Parameters with Artificial Intelligence, ApJS, 
259, 61. 
 

Page 240 of 274



 

 

 

 

118 

Alam S., de Mattia A., Tamone A., Ávila S., Peacock J. A., Gonzalez-Perez V., Smith A., et al., 2021, The completed 
SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: N-body mock challenge for the eBOSS emission line 
galaxy sample, MNRAS, 504, 4667. 
 
Alam S., Aubert M., Avila S., Balland C., Bautista J. E., Bershady M. A., Bizyaev D., et al., 2021, Completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: Cosmological implications from two decades of spectroscopic 
surveys at the Apache Point Observatory, PhRvD, 103, 083533. 
 
Hou J., Sánchez A. G., Ross A. J., Smith A., Neveux R., Bautista J., Burtin E., et al., 2021, The completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: BAO and RSD measurements from anisotropic clustering 
analysis of the quasar sample in configuration space between redshift 0.8 and 2.2, MNRAS, 500, 1201. 
 
Bautista J. E., Paviot R., Vargas Magaña M., de la Torre S., Fromenteau S., Gil-Marín H., Ross A. J., et al., 2021, The 
completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth rate 
of structure of the luminous red galaxy sample from the anisotropic correlation function between redshifts 0.6 and 
1, MNRAS, 500, 736. 
 
Tamone A., Raichoor A., Zhao C., de Mattia A., Gorgoni C., Burtin E., Ruhlmann-Kleider V., et al., 2020, The 
completed SDSS-IV extended baryon oscillation spectroscopic survey: growth rate of structure measurement from 
anisotropic clustering analysis in configuration space between redshift 0.6 and 1.1 for the emission-line galaxy 
sample, MNRAS, 499, 5527. 
 
Avila S., Gonzalez-Perez V., Mohammad F. G., de Mattia A., Zhao C., Raichoor A., Tamone A., et al., 2020, The 
Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: exploring the halo occupation distribution 
model for emission line galaxies, MNRAS, 499, 5486. 
 
Neveux R., Burtin E., de Mattia A., Smith A., Ross A. J., Hou J., Bautista J., et al., 2020, The completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: BAO and RSD measurements from the anisotropic power 
spectrum of the quasar sample between redshift 0.8 and 2.2, MNRAS, 499, 210. 
 
Gil-Marín H., Bautista J. E., Paviot R., Vargas-Magaña M., de la Torre S., Fromenteau S., Alam S., et al., 2020, The 
Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth rate 
of structure of the luminous red galaxy sample from the anisotropic power spectrum between redshifts 0.6 and 
1.0, MNRAS, 498, 2492. 
 
Ross A. J., Bautista J., Tojeiro R., Alam S., Bailey S., Burtin E., Comparat J., et al., 2020, The Completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: Large-scale structure catalogues for cosmological analysis, 
MNRAS, 498, 2354. 
 
Mohammad F. G., Percival W. J., Seo H.-J., Chapman M. J., Bianchi D., Ross A. J., Zhao C., et al., 2020, The 
completed SDSS-IV extended baryon oscillation spectroscopic survey: pairwise-inverse probability and angular 
correction for fibre collisions in clustering measurements, MNRAS, 498, 128. 
 
Ahumada R., Allende Prieto C., Almeida A., Anders F., Anderson S. F., Andrews B. H., Anguiano B., et al., 2020, The 
16th Data Release of the Sloan Digital Sky Surveys: First Release from the APOGEE-2 Southern Survey and Full 
Release of eBOSS Spectra, ApJS, 249, 3. 
 
Mohammad F. G., Bianchi D., Percival W. J., de la Torre S., Guzzo L., Granett B. R., Branchini E., et al., 2018, The 
VIMOS Public Extragalactic Redshift Survey (VIPERS). Unbiased clustering estimate with VIPERS slit assignment, 
A&A, 619, A17. 
 

Andrej Obuljen: 

Page 241 of 274



 

 

 

 

119 

Abareshi B., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Alam S., Alexander D. M., Alfarsy R., Allen L., et al., 2022, Overview of the 
Instrumentation for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 164, 207. 
 
Obuljen A., Percival W. J., 2021, Anisotropic effective redshift and evolving clustering amplitude, JCAP, 2021, 006. 
 
Obuljen A., Percival W. J., Dalal N., 2020, Detection of anisotropic galaxy assembly bias in BOSS DR12, JCAP, 2020, 
058. 
 
Villaescusa-Navarro F., Hahn C., Massara E., Banerjee A., Delgado A. M., Ramanah D. K., Charnock T., et al., 2020, 
The Quijote Simulations, ApJS, 250, 2. 
 
Obuljen A., Dalal N., Percival W. J., 2019, Anisotropic halo assembly bias and redshift-space distortions, JCAP, 2019, 
020. 
 

Go Ogiya: 
 Ogiya G., Taylor J. E., Hudson M. J., 2021, Evolution of subhalo orbits in a smoothly growing host halo potential, 
MNRAS, 503, 1233. 
 
 Miller T. B., van den Bosch F. C., Green S. B., Ogiya G., 2020, Dynamical self-friction: how mass loss slows you 
down, MNRAS, 495, 4496. 
 
 Ogiya G., Hahn O., Mingarelli C. M. F., Volonteri M., 2020, Accelerated orbital decay of supermassive black hole 
binaries in merging nuclear star clusters, MNRAS, 493, 3676. 
 
 

Enrique Paillas: 
 
Cuesta-Lazaro C., Paillas E., Yuan S., Cai Y.-C., Nadathur S., Percival W. J., Beutler F., et al., 2024, SUNBIRD: a 
simulation-based model for full-shape density-split clustering, MNRAS, 531, 3336. 
 
Paillas E., Cuesta-Lazaro C., Percival W. J., Nadathur S., Cai Y.-C., Yuan S., Beutler F., et al., 2024, Cosmological 
constraints from density-split clustering in the BOSS CMASS galaxy sample, MNRAS, 531, 898. 
 
DESI Collaboration, Adame A. G., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Alam S., Aldering G., Alexander D. M., et al., 2024, Validation 
of the Scientific Program for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 167, 62. 
 
Radinović S., Nadathur S., Winther H.-A., Percival W. J., Woodfinden A., Massara E., Paillas E., et al., 2023, Euclid: 
Cosmology forecasts from the void-galaxy cross-correlation function with reconstruction, A&A, 677, A78. 
 
Woodfinden A., Percival W. J., Nadathur S., Winther H. A., Fraser T. S., Massara E., Paillas E., Radinović S., 2023, 
Cosmological measurements from void-galaxy and galaxy-galaxy clustering in the Sloan Digital Sky Survey, MNRAS, 
523, 6360. 
 
Paillas E., Cuesta-Lazaro C., Zarrouk P., Cai Y.-C., Percival W. J., Nadathur S., Pinon M., et al., 2023, Constraining 
νΛCDM with density-split clustering, MNRAS, 522, 606. 

 

 Rosas-Guevara Y., Tissera P., Lagos C. del P., Paillas E., Padilla N., 2022, Revealing the properties of void galaxies 
and their assembly using the EAGLE simulation, MNRAS, 517, 712. 

 

 

 

Page 242 of 274



 

 

 

 

120 

Will Percival: 
 
Cuesta-Lazaro C., Paillas E., Yuan S., Cai Y.-C., Nadathur S., Percival W. J., Beutler F., et al., 2024, SUNBIRD: a 
simulation-based model for full-shape density-split clustering, MNRAS, 531, 3336. 
 
Smith A., Grove C., Cole S., Norberg P., Zarrouk P., Yuan S., Aguilar J., et al., 2024, Generating mock galaxy 
catalogues for flux-limited samples like the DESI Bright Galaxy Survey, MNRAS.tmp,. 
 
McCullough J., Gruen D., Amon A., Roodman A., Masters D., Raichoor A., Schlegel D., et al., 2024, DESI complete 
calibration of the colour-redshift relation (DC3R2): results from early DESI data, MNRAS, 531, 2582. 
 
Paillas E., Cuesta-Lazaro C., Percival W. J., Nadathur S., Cai Y.-C., Yuan S., Beutler F., et al., 2024, Cosmological 
constraints from density-split clustering in the BOSS CMASS galaxy sample, MNRAS, 531, 898. 
 
Krywonos J., Paradiso S., Krolewski A., Joudaki S., Percival W. J., 2024, Cosmological measurements from the CMB 
and BAO are insensitive to the tail probability in the assumed likelihood, JCAP, 2024, 015. 
 
Rezaie M., Ross A. J., Seo H.-J., Kong H., Porredon A., Samushia L., Chaussidon E., et al., 2024, Local primordial non-
Gaussianity from the large-scale clustering of photometric DESI luminous red galaxies, MNRAS.tmp,. 
 
Yuan S., Zhang H., Ross A. J., Donald-McCann J., Hadzhiyska B., Wechsler R. H., Zheng Z., et al., 2024, The DESI one-
per cent survey: exploring the halo occupation distribution of luminous red galaxies and quasi-stellar objects with 
ABACUSSUMMIT, MNRAS, 530, 947. 
 
Wang Y., Zhao R., Zhai Z., Koyama K., Percival W. J., Guo H., Li Y., et al., 2024, Emulating Power Spectra for 
Prereconstructed and Postreconstructed Galaxy Samples, ApJ, 966, 35. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Jelic-Cizmek G., Sorrenti F., Lepori F., Bonvin C., Camera S., Castander F. J., et al., 2024, Euclid 
preparation. XL. Impact of magnification on spectroscopic galaxy clustering, A&A, 685, A167. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Lusso E., Fotopoulou S., Selwood M., Allevato V., Calderone G., Mancini C., et al., 2024, Euclid 
preparation. XXXVIII. Spectroscopy of active galactic nuclei with NISP, A&A, 685, A108. 
 
Nguyen A. B. H., Massara E., Percival W. J., 2024, Self-calibrating BAO measurements in the presence of small 
displacement interlopers, JCAP, 2024, 008. 
 
Wang Y., Zhao G.-B., Koyama K., Percival W. J., Takahashi R., Hikage C., Gil-Marín H., et al., 2024, Extracting high-
order cosmological information in galaxy surveys with power spectra, CmPhy, 7, 130. 
 
Zhai Z., Percival W. J., Ding Z., 2024, Effective volume of supernovae samples and sample variance, PhRvD, 109, 
063519. 
 
Ramírez-Pérez C., Pérez-Ràfols I., Font-Ribera A., Karim M. A., Armengaud E., Bautista J., Beltran S. F., et al., 2024, 
The Lyman-α forest catalogue from the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument Early Data Release, MNRAS, 528, 
6666. 
 
Karaçaylı N. G., Martini P., Guy J., Ravoux C., Abdul Karim M. L., Armengaud E., Walther M., et al., 2024, Optimal 1D 
Ly α forest power spectrum estimation - III. DESI early data, MNRAS, 528, 3941. 
 
Krolewski A., Percival W. J., Ferraro S., Chaussidon E., Rezaie M., Aguilar J. N., Ahlen S., et al., 2024, Constraining 
primordial non-Gaussianity from DESI quasar targets and Planck CMB lensing, JCAP, 2024, 021. 
 

Page 243 of 274



 

 

 

 

121 

Pearl A. N., Zentner A. R., Newman J. A., Bezanson R., Wang K., Moustakas J., Aguilar J. N., et al., 2024, The DESI 
One-percent Survey: Evidence for Assembly Bias from Low-redshift Counts-in-cylinders Measurements, ApJ, 963, 
116. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Fumagalli A., Saro A., Borgani S., Castro T., Costanzi M., Monaco P., et al., 2024, Euclid 
preparation. XXXV. Covariance model validation for the two-point correlation function of galaxy clusters, A&A, 683, 
A253. 
 
Ballardini M., Akrami Y., Finelli F., Karagiannis D., Li B., Li Y., Sakr Z., et al., 2024, Euclid: The search for primordial 
features, A&A, 683, A220. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Tanidis K., Cardone V. F., Martinelli M., Tutusaus I., Camera S., Aghanim N., et al., 2024, Euclid 
preparation. XXXIV. The effect of linear redshift-space distortions in photometric galaxy clustering and its cross-
correlation with cosmic shear, A&A, 683, A17. 
 
Paradiso S., DiMarco M., Chen M., McGee G., Percival W. J., 2024, A convenient approach to characterizing model 
uncertainty with application to early dark energy solutions of the Hubble tension, MNRAS, 528, 1531. 
 
Variu A., Alam S., Zhao C., Chuang C.-H., Yu Y., Forero-Sánchez D., Ding Z., et al., 2024, DESI mock challenge: 
constructing DESI galaxy catalogues based on FASTPM simulations, MNRAS, 527, 11539. 
 
DESI Collaboration, Adame A. G., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Alam S., Aldering G., Alexander D. M., et al., 2024, Validation 
of the Scientific Program for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 167, 62. 
 
Casas S., Lesgourgues J., Schöneberg N., Sabarish V. M., Rathmann L., Doerenkamp M., Archidiacono M., et al., 
2024, Euclid: Validation of the MontePython forecasting tools, A&A, 682, A90. 
 
Yu J., Zhao C., Gonzalez-Perez V., Chuang C.-H., Brodzeller A., de Mattia A., Kneib J.-P., et al., 2024, The DESI One-
Percent Survey: exploring a generalized SHAM for multiple tracers with the UNIT simulation, MNRAS, 527, 6950. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Paltani S., Coupon J., Hartley W. G., Alvarez-Ayllon A., Dubath F., Mohr J. J., et al., 2024, Euclid 
preparation. XXXI. The effect of the variations in photometric passbands on photometric-redshift accuracy, A&A, 
681, A66. 
 
Ravoux C., Abdul Karim M. L., Armengaud E., Walther M., Karaçaylı N. G., Martini P., Guy J., et al., 2023, The Dark 
Energy Spectroscopic Instrument: one-dimensional power spectrum from first Ly α forest samples with Fast 
Fourier Transform, MNRAS, 526, 5118. 
 
Massara E., Villaescusa-Navarro F., Percival W. J., 2023, Predicting interloper fraction with graph neural networks, 
JCAP, 2023, 012. 
 
Schlafly E. F., Kirkby D., Schlegel D. J., Myers A. D., Raichoor A., Dawson K., Aguilar J., et al., 2023, Survey 
Operations for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 166, 259. 
 
Fawcett V. A., Alexander D. M., Brodzeller A., Edge A. C., Rosario D. J., Myers A. D., Aguilar J., et al., 2023, A striking 
relationship between dust extinction and radio detection in DESI QSOs: evidence for a dusty blow-out phase in red 
QSOs, MNRAS, 525, 5575. 
 
Moon J., Valcin D., Rashkovetskyi M., Saulder C., Aguilar J. N., Ahlen S., Alam S., et al., 2023, First detection of the 
BAO signal from early DESI data, MNRAS, 525, 5406. 
 

Page 244 of 274



 

 

 

 

122 

Zhou R., Ferraro S., White M., DeRose J., Sailer N., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., et al., 2023, DESI luminous red galaxy 
samples for cross-correlations, JCAP, 2023, 097. 
 
Gordon C., Cuceu A., Chaves-Montero J., Font-Ribera A., González-Morales A. X., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., et al., 2023, 
3D correlations in the Lyman-α forest from early DESI data, JCAP, 2023, 045. 
 
Yang J., Fan X., Gupta A., Myers A. D., Palanque-Delabrouille N., Wang F., Yèche C., et al., 2023, DESI z ≳ 5 Quasar 
Survey. I. A First Sample of 400 New Quasars at z 4.7-6.6, ApJS, 269, 27. 
 
Chapman M. J., Zhai Z., Percival W. J., 2023, Isolating the linear signal when making redshift space distortion 
measurements, MNRAS, 525, 2135. 
 
Saulder C., Howlett C., Douglass K. A., Said K., BenZvi S., Ahlen S., Aldering G., et al., 2023, Target selection for the 
DESI Peculiar Velocity Survey, MNRAS, 525, 1106. 
 
Rocher A., Ruhlmann-Kleider V., Burtin E., Yuan S., de Mattia A., Ross A. J., Aguilar J., et al., 2023, The DESI One-
Percent survey: exploring the Halo Occupation Distribution of Emission Line Galaxies with ABACUSSUMMIT 
simulations, JCAP, 2023, 016. 
 
Kent S., Neilsen E., Honscheid K., Rabinowitz D., Schlafly E. F., Guy J., Schlegel D., et al., 2023, Astrometric 
Calibration and Performance of the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument Focal Plane, AJ, 166, 177. 
 
Hadzhiyska B., Font-Ribera A., Cuceu A., Chabanier S., Aguilar J., Brooks D., de la Macorra A., et al., 2023, Planting a 
Lyman alpha forest on ABACUSSUMMIT, MNRAS, 524, 1008. 
 
Gao H., Jing Y. P., Gui S., Xu K., Zheng Y., Zhao D., Aguilar J. N., et al., 2023, The DESI One-Percent Survey: 
Constructing Galaxy-Halo Connections for ELGs and LRGs Using Auto and Cross Correlations, ApJ, 954, 207. 
 
Darragh-Ford E., Wu J. F., Mao Y.-Y., Wechsler R. H., Geha M., Forero-Romero J. E., Hahn C., et al., 2023, Target 
Selection and Sample Characterization for the DESI LOW-Z Secondary Target Program, ApJ, 954, 149. 
 
Napolitano L., Pandey A., Myers A. D., Lan T.-W., Anand A., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., et al., 2023, Detecting and 
Characterizing Mg II Absorption in DESI Survey Validation Quasar Spectra, AJ, 166, 99. 
 
Radinović S., Nadathur S., Winther H.-A., Percival W. J., Woodfinden A., Massara E., Paillas E., et al., 2023, Euclid: 
Cosmology forecasts from the void-galaxy cross-correlation function with reconstruction, A&A, 677, A78. 
 
Woodfinden A., Percival W. J., Nadathur S., Winther H. A., Fraser T. S., Massara E., Paillas E., Radinović S., 2023, 
Cosmological measurements from void-galaxy and galaxy-galaxy clustering in the Sloan Digital Sky Survey, MNRAS, 
523, 6360. 
 
Zhai Z., Percival W. J., Guo H., 2023, Small-scale clustering of BOSS galaxies: dependence on luminosity, colour, age, 
stellar mass, specific star formation rate, and other properties, MNRAS, 523, 5538. 
 
Brodzeller A., Dawson K., Bailey S., Yu J., Ross A. J., Bault A., Filbert S., et al., 2023, Performance of the Quasar 
Spectral Templates for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 166, 66. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Gabarra L., Mancini C., Rodriguez Muñoz L., Rodighiero G., Sirignano C., Scodeggio M., et al., 
2023, Euclid preparation. XXX. Performance assessment of the NISP red grism through spectroscopic simulations 
for the wide and deep surveys, A&A, 676, A34. 
 

Page 245 of 274



 

 

 

 

123 

Paillas E., Cuesta-Lazaro C., Zarrouk P., Cai Y.-C., Percival W. J., Nadathur S., Pinon M., et al., 2023, Constraining 
νΛCDM with density-split clustering, MNRAS, 522, 606. 
 
Hahn C., Wilson M. J., Ruiz-Macias O., Cole S., Weinberg D. H., Moustakas J., Kremin A., et al., 2023, The DESI Bright 
Galaxy Survey: Final Target Selection, Design, and Validation, AJ, 165, 253. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Paterson K., Schirmer M., Copin Y., Cuillandre J.-C., Gillard W., Gutiérrez Soto L. A., et al., 
2023, Euclid preparation. XXVII. A UV-NIR spectral atlas of compact planetary nebulae for wavelength calibration, 
A&A, 674, A172. 
 
Abbott T. M. C., Aguena M., Alarcon A., Alves O., Amon A., Andrade-Oliveira F., Annis J., et al., 2023, Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 results: Constraints on extensions to Λ CDM with weak lensing and galaxy clustering, PhRvD, 107, 
083504. 
 
Cooper A. P., Koposov S. E., Allende Prieto C., Manser C. J., Kizhuprakkat N., Myers A. D., Dey A., et al., 2023, 
Overview of the DESI Milky Way Survey, ApJ, 947, 37. 
 
Guy J., Bailey S., Kremin A., Alam S., Alexander D. M., Allende Prieto C., BenZvi S., et al., 2023, The Spectroscopic 
Data Processing Pipeline for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 165, 144. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Bretonnière H., Kuchner U., Huertas-Company M., Merlin E., Castellano M., Tuccillo D., et al., 
2023, Euclid preparation. XXVI. The Euclid Morphology Challenge: Towards structural parameters for billions of 
galaxies, A&A, 671, A102. 
 
Euclid Collaboration, Merlin E., Castellano M., Bretonnière H., Huertas-Company M., Kuchner U., Tuccillo D., et al., 
2023, Euclid preparation. XXV. The Euclid Morphology Challenge: Towards model-fitting photometry for billions of 
galaxies, A&A, 671, A101. 
 
Chaussidon E., Yèche C., Palanque-Delabrouille N., Alexander D. M., Yang J., Ahlen S., Bailey S., et al., 2023, Target 
Selection and Validation of DESI Quasars, ApJ, 944, 107. 
 
 
 Raichoor A., Moustakas J., Newman J. A., Karim T., Ahlen S., Alam S., Bailey S., et al., 2023, Target Selection and 
Validation of DESI Emission Line Galaxies, AJ, 165, 126. 
 
 Alexander D. M., Davis T. M., Chaussidon E., Fawcett V. A., X. Gonzalez-Morales A., Lan T.-W., Yèche C., et al., 
2023, The DESI Survey Validation: Results from Visual Inspection of the Quasar Survey Spectra, AJ, 165, 124. 
 
 Zhou R., Dey B., Newman J. A., Eisenstein D. J., Dawson K., Bailey S., Berti A., et al., 2023, Target Selection and 
Validation of DESI Luminous Red Galaxies, AJ, 165, 58. 
 
 Myers A. D., Moustakas J., Bailey S., Weaver B. A., Cooper A. P., Forero-Romero J. E., Abolfathi B., et al., 2023, The 
Target-selection Pipeline for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 165, 50. 
 
 Naidoo K., Johnston H., Joachimi B., van den Busch J. L., Hildebrandt H., Ilbert O., Lahav O., et al., 2023, Euclid: 
Calibrating photometric redshifts with spectroscopic cross-correlations, A&A, 670, A149. 
 
 Bonici M., Carbone C., Davini S., Vielzeuf P., Paganin L., Cardone V., Hamaus N., et al., 2023, Euclid: Forecasts from 
the void-lensing cross-correlation, A&A, 670, A47. 
 

Page 246 of 274



 

 

 

 

124 

 Lan T.-W., Tojeiro R., Armengaud E., Prochaska J. X., Davis T. M., Alexander D. M., Raichoor A., et al., 2023, The 
DESI Survey Validation: Results from Visual Inspection of Bright Galaxies, Luminous Red Galaxies, and Emission-line 
Galaxies, ApJ, 943, 68. 
 
 Silber J. H., Fagrelius P., Fanning K., Schubnell M., Aguilar J. N., Ahlen S., Ameel J., et al., 2023, The Robotic 
Multiobject Focal Plane System of the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI), AJ, 165, 9. 
 
 Massara E., Percival W. J., Dalal N., Nadathur S., Radinović S., Winther H. A., Woodfinden A., 2022, Velocity 
profiles of matter and biased tracers around voids, MNRAS, 517, 4458. 
 
 Zhai Z., Percival W. J., 2022, Sample variance for supernovae distance measurements and the Hubble tension, 
PhRvD, 106, 103527. 
 
 Woodfinden A., Nadathur S., Percival W. J., Radinovic S., Massara E., Winther H. A., 2022, Measurements of 
cosmic expansion and growth rate of structure from voids in the Sloan Digital Sky Survey between redshift 0.07 
and 1.0, MNRAS, 516, 4307. 
 
 Abareshi B., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Alam S., Alexander D. M., Alfarsy R., Allen L., et al., 2022, Overview of the 
Instrumentation for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 164, 207. 
 
 Contarini S., Verza G., Pisani A., Hamaus N., Sahlén M., Carbone C., Dusini S., et al., 2022, Euclid: Cosmological 
forecasts from the void size function, A&A, 667, A162. 
 
 Nadathur S., Woodfinden A., Percival W. J., Aubert M., Bautista J., Dawson K., Escoffier S., et al., 2022, Erratum: 
The completed SDSS-IV extended baryon oscillation spectroscopic survey: geometry and growth from the 
anisotropic void-galaxy correlation function in the luminous red galaxy sample, MNRAS, 516, 2936. 
 
 Neveux R., Burtin E., Ruhlmann-Kleider V., de Mattia A., Semenaite A., Dawson K. S., de la Macorra A., et al., 2022, 
Combined full shape analysis of BOSS galaxies and eBOSS quasars using an iterative emulator, MNRAS, 516, 1910. 
 
 Chapman M. J., Mohammad F. G., Zhai Z., Percival W. J., Tinker J. L., Bautista J. E., Brownstein J. R., et al., 2022, 
The completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the growth rate of 
structure from the small-scale clustering of the luminous red galaxy sample, MNRAS, 516, 617. 
 
 Foroozan S., Massara E., Percival W. J., 2022, Correcting for small-displacement interlopers in BAO analyses, JCAP, 
2022, 072. 
 
 Mueller E.-M., Rezaie M., Percival W. J., Ross A. J., Ruggeri R., Seo H.-J., Gil-Marín H., et al., 2022, Primordial non-
Gaussianity from the completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey II: measurements in 
Fourier space with optimal weights, MNRAS, 514, 3396. 
 
 Euclid Collaboration, Saglia R., De Nicola S., Fabricius M., Guglielmo V., Snigula J., Zöller R., et al., 2022, Euclid 
preparation. XX. The Complete Calibration of the Color-Redshift Relation survey: LBT observations and data 
release, A&A, 664, A196. 
 
 Mohammad F. G., Percival W. J., 2022, Creating jackknife and bootstrap estimates of the covariance matrix for the 
two-point correlation function, MNRAS, 514, 1289. 
 
 Cawthon R., Elvin-Poole J., Porredon A., Crocce M., Giannini G., Gatti M., Ross A. J., et al., 2022, Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 results: calibration of lens sample redshift distributions using clustering redshifts with BOSS/eBOSS, 
MNRAS, 513, 5517. 
 

Page 247 of 274



 

 

 

 

125 

 Euclid Collaboration, Scaramella R., Amiaux J., Mellier Y., Burigana C., Carvalho C. S., Cuillandre J.-C., et al., 2022, 
Euclid preparation. I. The Euclid Wide Survey, A&A, 662, A112. 
 
 Euclid Collaboration, Lepori F., Tutusaus I., Viglione C., Bonvin C., Camera S., Castander F. J., et al., 2022, Euclid 
preparation. XIX. Impact of magnification on photometric galaxy clustering, A&A, 662, A93. 
 
 Euclid Collaboration, Schirmer M., Jahnke K., Seidel G., Aussel H., Bodendorf C., Grupp F., et al., 2022, Euclid 
preparation. XVIII. The NISP photometric system, A&A, 662, A92. 
 
 Zhao C., Variu A., He M., Forero-Sánchez D., Tamone A., Chuang C.-H., Kitaura F.-S., et al., 2022, The completed 
SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: cosmological implications from multitracer BAO 
analysis with galaxies and voids, MNRAS, 511, 5492. 
 
 Abdurro'uf, Accetta K., Aerts C., Silva Aguirre V., Ahumada R., Ajgaonkar N., Filiz Ak N., et al., 2022, The 
Seventeenth Data Release of the Sloan Digital Sky Surveys: Complete Release of MaNGA, MaStar, and APOGEE-2 
Data, ApJS, 259, 35. 
 
 Nesseris S., Sapone D., Martinelli M., Camarena D., Marra V., Sakr Z., Garcia-Bellido J., et al., 2022, Euclid: Forecast 
constraints on consistency tests of the ΛCDM model, A&A, 660, A67. 
 
 Cagliari M. S., Granett B. R., Guzzo L., Bolzonella M., Pozzetti L., Tutusaus I., Camera S., et al., 2022, Euclid: 
Constraining ensemble photometric redshift distributions with stacked spectroscopy, A&A, 660, A9. 
 
 Wolz L., Pourtsidou A., Masui K. W., Chang T.-C., Bautista J. E., Müller E.-M., Avila S., et al., 2022, H I constraints 
from the cross-correlation of eBOSS galaxies and Green Bank Telescope intensity maps, MNRAS, 510, 3495. 
 
 Percival W. J., Friedrich O., Sellentin E., Heavens A., 2022, Matching Bayesian and frequentist coverage 
probabilities when using an approximate data covariance matrix, MNRAS, 510, 3207. 
 
 Abbott T. M. C., Aguena M., Allam S., Amon A., Andrade-Oliveira F., Asorey J., Avila S., et al., 2022, Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 results: A 2.7% measurement of baryon acoustic oscillation distance scale at redshift 0.835, PhRvD, 
105, 043512. 
 
 Gatti M., Giannini G., Bernstein G. M., Alarcon A., Myles J., Amon A., Cawthon R., et al., 2022, Dark Energy Survey 
Year 3 Results: clustering redshifts - calibration of the weak lensing source redshift distributions with redMaGiC 
and BOSS/eBOSS, MNRAS, 510, 1223. 
 
 Hamaus N., Aubert M., Pisani A., Contarini S., Verza G., Cousinou M.-C., Escoffier S., et al., 2022, Euclid: Forecasts 
from redshift-space distortions and the Alcock-Paczynski test with cosmic voids, A&A, 658, A20. 
 
 Carnero Rosell A., Rodriguez-Monroy M., Crocce M., Elvin-Poole J., Porredon A., Ferrero I., Mena-Fernández J., et 
al., 2022, Dark Energy Survey Year 3 results: galaxy sample for BAO measurement, MNRAS, 509, 778. 
 
 Euclid Collaboration, Borlaff A. S., Gómez-Alvarez P., Altieri B., Marcum P. M., Vavrek R., Laureijs R., et al., 2022, 
Euclid preparation. XVI. Exploring the ultra-low surface brightness Universe with Euclid/VIS, A&A, 657, A92. 
 
 Euclid Collaboration, Ilić S., Aghanim N., Baccigalupi C., Bermejo-Climent J. R., Fabbian G., Legrand L., et al., 2022, 
Euclid preparation. XV. Forecasting cosmological constraints for the Euclid and CMB joint analysis, A&A, 657, A91. 
 
 Ferrero I., Crocce M., Tutusaus I., Porredon A., Blot L., Fosalba P., Carnero Rosell A., et al., 2021, Dark Energy 
Survey Year 3 Results: Galaxy mock catalogs for BAO analysis, A&A, 656, A106. 
 

Page 248 of 274



 

 

 

 

126 

 Obuljen A., Percival W. J., 2021, Anisotropic effective redshift and evolving clustering amplitude, JCAP, 2021, 006. 
 
 Euclid Collaboration, Pocino A., Tutusaus I., Castander F. J., Fosalba P., Crocce M., Porredon A., et al., 2021, Euclid 
preparation. XII. Optimizing the photometric sample of the Euclid survey for galaxy clustering and galaxy-galaxy 
lensing analyses, A&A, 655, A44. 
 
 Foroozan S., Krolewski A., Percival W. J., 2021, Testing large-scale structure measurements against Fisher matrix 
predictions, JCAP, 2021, 044. 
 
 Jiménez Muñoz A., Macías-Pérez J., Secroun A., Gillard W., Kubik B., Auricchio N., Balestra A., et al., 2021, Euclid: 
Estimation of the Impact of Correlated Readout Noise for Flux Measurements with the Euclid NISP Instrument, 
PASP, 133, 094502. 
 
 Rezaie M., Ross A. J., Seo H.-J., Mueller E.-M., Percival W. J., Merz G., Katebi R., et al., 2021, Primordial non-
Gaussianity from the completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey - I: Catalogue 
preparation and systematic mitigation, MNRAS, 506, 3439. 
 
 Merz G., Rezaie M., Seo H.-J., Neveux R., Ross A. J., Beutler F., Percival W. J., et al., 2021, The clustering of the 
SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey quasar sample: testing observational systematics on the 
Baryon Acoustic Oscillation measurement, MNRAS, 506, 2503. 
 
 Rossi G., Choi P. D., Moon J., Bautista J. E., Gil-Marín H., Paviot R., Vargas-Magaña M., et al., 2021, The completed 
SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: N-body mock challenge for galaxy clustering 
measurements, MNRAS, 505, 377. 
 
 Alam S., de Mattia A., Tamone A., Ávila S., Peacock J. A., Gonzalez-Perez V., Smith A., et al., 2021, The completed 
SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: N-body mock challenge for the eBOSS emission line 
galaxy sample, MNRAS, 504, 4667. 
 
 Zhao G.-B., Wang Y., Taruya A., Zhang W., Gil-Marín H., de Mattia A., Ross A. J., et al., 2021, The completed SDSS-
IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: a multitracer analysis in Fourier space for measuring the 
cosmic structure growth and expansion rate, MNRAS, 504, 33. 
 
 Zarrouk P., Rezaie M., Raichoor A., Ross A. J., Alam S., Blum R., Brookes D., et al., 2021, Baryon acoustic oscillations 
in the projected cross-correlation function between the eBOSS DR16 quasars and photometric galaxies from the 
DESI Legacy Imaging Surveys, MNRAS, 503, 2562. 
 
 Zhao C., Chuang C.-H., Bautista J., de Mattia A., Raichoor A., Ross A. J., Hou J., et al., 2021, The completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: 1000 multi-tracer mock catalogues with redshift evolution and 
systematics for galaxies and quasars of the final data release, MNRAS, 503, 1149. 
 
 Alam S., Aubert M., Avila S., Balland C., Bautista J. E., Bershady M. A., Bizyaev D., et al., 2021, Completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: Cosmological implications from two decades of spectroscopic 
surveys at the Apache Point Observatory, PhRvD, 103, 083533. 
 
 de Mattia A., Ruhlmann-Kleider V., Raichoor A., Ross A. J., Tamone A., Zhao C., Alam S., et al., 2021, The completed 
SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth rate of structure 
of the emission line galaxy sample from the anisotropic power spectrum between redshift 0.6 and 1.1, MNRAS, 
501, 5616. 
 

Page 249 of 274



 

 

 

 

127 

 Raichoor A., de Mattia A., Ross A. J., Zhao C., Alam S., Avila S., Bautista J., et al., 2021, The completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: large-scale structure catalogues and measurement of the 
isotropic BAO between redshift 0.6 and 1.1 for the Emission Line Galaxy Sample, MNRAS, 500, 3254. 
 
 Hou J., Sánchez A. G., Ross A. J., Smith A., Neveux R., Bautista J., Burtin E., et al., 2021, The completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: BAO and RSD measurements from anisotropic clustering 
analysis of the quasar sample in configuration space between redshift 0.8 and 2.2, MNRAS, 500, 1201. 
 
 Bautista J. E., Paviot R., Vargas Magaña M., de la Torre S., Fromenteau S., Gil-Marín H., Ross A. J., et al., 2021, The 
completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth rate 
of structure of the luminous red galaxy sample from the anisotropic correlation function between redshifts 0.6 and 
1, MNRAS, 500, 736. 
 
 Tamone A., Raichoor A., Zhao C., de Mattia A., Gorgoni C., Burtin E., Ruhlmann-Kleider V., et al., 2020, The 
completed SDSS-IV extended baryon oscillation spectroscopic survey: growth rate of structure measurement from 
anisotropic clustering analysis in configuration space between redshift 0.6 and 1.1 for the emission-line galaxy 
sample, MNRAS, 499, 5527. 
 
 Avila S., Gonzalez-Perez V., Mohammad F. G., de Mattia A., Zhao C., Raichoor A., Tamone A., et al., 2020, The 
Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: exploring the halo occupation distribution 
model for emission line galaxies, MNRAS, 499, 5486. 
 
 Nadathur S., Woodfinden A., Percival W. J., Aubert M., Bautista J., Dawson K., Escoffier S., et al., 2020, The 
completed SDSS-IV extended baryon oscillation spectroscopic survey: geometry and growth from the anisotropic 
void-galaxy correlation function in the luminous red galaxy sample, MNRAS, 499, 4140. 
 
 Smith A., Burtin E., Hou J., Neveux R., Ross A. J., Alam S., Brinkmann J., et al., 2020, The completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: N-body mock challenge for the quasar sample, MNRAS, 499, 
269. 
 
 Neveux R., Burtin E., de Mattia A., Smith A., Ross A. J., Hou J., Bautista J., et al., 2020, The completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: BAO and RSD measurements from the anisotropic power 
spectrum of the quasar sample between redshift 0.8 and 2.2, MNRAS, 499, 210. 
 
 Lin S., Tinker J. L., Klypin A., Prada F., Blanton M. R., Comparat J., Dawson K. S., et al., 2020, The completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: GLAM-QPM mock galaxy catalogues for the emission line galaxy 
sample, MNRAS, 498, 5251. 
 
 Wang Y., Zhao G.-B., Zhao C., Philcox O. H. E., Alam S., Tamone A., de Mattia A., et al., 2020, The clustering of the 
SDSS-IV extended baryon oscillation spectroscopic survey DR16 luminous red galaxy and emission-line galaxy 
samples: cosmic distance and structure growth measurements using multiple tracers in configuration space, 
MNRAS, 498, 3470. 
 
 Tutusaus I., Martinelli M., Cardone V. F., Camera S., Yahia-Cherif S., Casas S., Blanchard A., et al., 2020, Euclid: The 
importance of galaxy clustering and weak lensing cross-correlations within the photometric Euclid survey, A&A, 
643, A70. 
 
 Gil-Marín H., Bautista J. E., Paviot R., Vargas-Magaña M., de la Torre S., Fromenteau S., Alam S., et al., 2020, The 
Completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the BAO and growth rate 
of structure of the luminous red galaxy sample from the anisotropic power spectrum between redshifts 0.6 and 
1.0, MNRAS, 498, 2492. 
 

Page 250 of 274



 

 

 

 

128 

 Ross A. J., Bautista J., Tojeiro R., Alam S., Bailey S., Burtin E., Comparat J., et al., 2020, The Completed SDSS-IV 
extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: Large-scale structure catalogues for cosmological analysis, 
MNRAS, 498, 2354. 
 
 Mohammad F. G., Percival W. J., Seo H.-J., Chapman M. J., Bianchi D., Ross A. J., Zhao C., et al., 2020, The 
completed SDSS-IV extended baryon oscillation spectroscopic survey: pairwise-inverse probability and angular 
correction for fibre collisions in clustering measurements, MNRAS, 498, 128. 
 
 Obuljen A., Percival W. J., Dalal N., 2020, Detection of anisotropic galaxy assembly bias in BOSS DR12, JCAP, 2020, 
058. 
 
 Wang M. S., Avila S., Bianchi D., Crittenden R., Percival W. J., 2020, Hybrid-basis inference for large-scale galaxy 
clustering: combining spherical and Cartesian Fourier analyses, JCAP, 2020, 022. 
 
 du Mas des Bourboux H., Rich J., Font-Ribera A., de Sainte Agathe V., Farr J., Etourneau T., Le Goff J.-M., et al., 
2020, The Completed SDSS-IV Extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: Baryon Acoustic Oscillations with 
Lyα Forests, ApJ, 901, 153. 
 
 Euclid Collaboration, Blanchard A., Camera S., Carbone C., Cardone V. F., Casas S., Clesse S., et al., 2020, Euclid 
preparation. VII. Forecast validation for Euclid cosmological probes, A&A, 642, A191. 
 
 Lyke B. W., Higley A. N., McLane J. N., Schurhammer D. P., Myers A. D., Ross A. J., Dawson K., et al., 2020, The 
Sloan Digital Sky Survey Quasar Catalog: Sixteenth Data Release, ApJS, 250, 8. 
 
 Ahumada R., Allende Prieto C., Almeida A., Anders F., Anderson S. F., Andrews B. H., Anguiano B., et al., 2020, The 
16th Data Release of the Sloan Digital Sky Surveys: First Release from the APOGEE-2 Southern Survey and Full 
Release of eBOSS Spectra, ApJS, 249, 3. 
 
 Leclercq F., Faure B., Lavaux G., Wandelt B. D., Jaffe A. H., Heavens A. F., Percival W. J., 2020, Perfectly parallel 
cosmological simulations using spatial comoving Lagrangian acceleration, A&A, 639, A91. 
 
 Nadathur S., Percival W. J., Beutler F., Winther H. A., 2020, Testing Low-Redshift Cosmic Acceleration with Large-
Scale Structure, PhRvL, 124, 221301. 
 
 Carter P., Beutler F., Percival W. J., DeRose J., Wechsler R. H., Zhao C., 2020, The impact of the fiducial cosmology 
assumption on BAO distance scale measurements, MNRAS, 494, 2076. 
 
 Euclid Collaboration, Barnett R., Warren S. J., Mortlock D. J., Cuby J.-G., Conselice C., Hewett P. C., et al., 2019, 
Euclid preparation. V. Predicted yield of redshift 7 < z < 9 quasars from the wide survey, A&A, 631, A85. 
 
 Obuljen A., Dalal N., Percival W. J., 2019, Anisotropic halo assembly bias and redshift-space distortions, JCAP, 
2019, 020. 
 
 Castorina E., Hand N., Seljak U., Beutler F., Chuang C.-H., Zhao C., Gil-Marín H., et al., 2019, Redshift-weighted 
constraints on primordial non-Gaussianity from the clustering of the eBOSS DR14 quasars in Fourier space, JCAP, 
2019, 010. 
 
 Blomqvist M., du Mas des Bourboux H., Busca N. G., de Sainte Agathe V., Rich J., Balland C., Bautista J. E., et al., 
2019, Baryon acoustic oscillations from the cross-correlation of Lyα absorption and quasars in eBOSS DR14, A&A, 
629, A86. 
 

Page 251 of 274



 

 

 

 

129 

 de Sainte Agathe V., Balland C., du Mas des Bourboux H., Busca N. G., Blomqvist M., Guy J., Rich J., et al., 2019, 
Baryon acoustic oscillations at z = 2.34 from the correlations of Lyα absorption in eBOSS DR14, A&A, 629, A85. 
 
 Camacho H., Kokron N., Andrade-Oliveira F., Rosenfeld R., Lima M., Lacasa F., Sobreira F., et al., 2019, Dark Energy 
Survey Year 1 results: measurement of the galaxy angular power spectrum, MNRAS, 487, 3870. 
 
 Nadathur S., Carter P. M., Percival W. J., Winther H. A., Bautista J. E., 2019, Beyond BAO: Improving cosmological 
constraints from BOSS data with measurement of the void-galaxy cross-correlation, PhRvD, 100, 023504. 
 
 Wang M. S., Percival W. J., Avila S., Crittenden R., Bianchi D., 2019, Cosmological inference from galaxy-clustering 
power spectrum: Gaussianization and covariance decomposition, MNRAS, 486, 951. 
 
 Abbott T. M. C., Alarcon A., Allam S., Andersen P., Andrade-Oliveira F., Annis J., Asorey J., et al., 2019, 
Cosmological Constraints from Multiple Probes in the Dark Energy Survey, PhRvL, 122, 171301. 
 
 Mueller E.-M., Percival W. J., Ruggeri R., 2019, Optimizing primordial non-Gaussianity measurements from galaxy 
surveys, MNRAS, 485, 4160. 
 
 Smith A., He J.-. hua ., Cole S., Stothert L., Norberg P., Baugh C., Bianchi D., et al., 2019, Correcting for fibre 
assignment incompleteness in the DESI Bright Galaxy Survey, MNRAS, 484, 1285. 
 
 Nadathur S., Percival W. J., 2019, An accurate linear model for redshift space distortions in the void-galaxy 
correlation function, MNRAS, 483, 3472. 
 
 Aguado D. S., Ahumada R., Almeida A., Anderson S. F., Andrews B. H., Anguiano B., Aquino Ortíz E., et al., 2019, 
The Fifteenth Data Release of the Sloan Digital Sky Surveys: First Release of MaNGA-derived Quantities, Data 
Visualization Tools, and Stellar Library, ApJS, 240, 23. 
 
 Nadathur S., Carter P., Percival W. J., 2019, A Zeldovich reconstruction method for measuring redshift space 
distortions using cosmic voids, MNRAS, 482, 2459. 
 
 Kalus B., Percival W. J., Bacon D. J., Mueller E.-M., Samushia L., Verde L., Ross A. J., Bernal J. L., 2019, A map-based 
method for eliminating systematic modes from galaxy clustering power spectra with application to BOSS, MNRAS, 
482, 453. 
 
 Carter P., Beutler F., Percival W. J., Blake C., Koda J., Ross A. J., 2018, Low redshift baryon acoustic oscillation 
measurement from the reconstructed 6-degree field galaxy survey, MNRAS, 481, 2371. 
 
 Bianchi D., Burden A., Percival W. J., Brooks D., Cahn R. N., Forero-Romero J. E., Levi M., et al., 2018, Unbiased 
clustering estimates with the DESI fibre assignment, MNRAS, 481, 2338. 
 
 Mohammad F. G., Bianchi D., Percival W. J., de la Torre S., Guzzo L., Granett B. R., Branchini E., et al., 2018, The 
VIMOS Public Extragalactic Redshift Survey (VIPERS). Unbiased clustering estimate with VIPERS slit assignment, 
A&A, 619, A17. 

 
Tom Rose: 
 
Rose T., McNamara B. R., Combes F., Edge A. C., Russell H., Salomé P., Tamhane P., et al., 2024, A massive 
multiphase plume of gas in Abell 2390's brightest cluster galaxy, MNRAS, 528, 3441. 
 

Page 252 of 274



 

 

 

 

130 

Singha M., Winkel N., Vaddi S., Perez Torres M., Gaspari M., Smirnova-Pinchukova I., O'Dea C. P., et al., 2023, The 
Close AGN Reference Survey (CARS): An Interplay between Radio Jets and AGN Radiation in the Radio-quiet AGN 
HE0040-1105, ApJ, 959, 107. 
 
Rose T., McNamara B. R., Combes F., Edge A. C., Fabian A. C., Gaspari M., Russell H., et al., 2023, Does absorption 
against AGN reveal supermassive black hole accretion?, MNRAS, 518, 878. 
 
Olivares V., Salomé P., Hamer S. L., Combes F., Gaspari M., Kolokythas K., O'Sullivan E., et al., 2022, Gas 
condensation in brightest group galaxies unveiled with MUSE. Morphology and kinematics of the ionized gas, A&A, 
666, A94. 
 
Baek J., Chung A., Edge A., Rose T., Kim J.-W., Jung T., 2022, Circumnuclear Medium around the Central AGN in a 
Cool-core Cluster, Abell 1644-South, ApJ, 932, 64. 
 
Rose T., Edge A., Kiehlmann S., Baek J., Chung A., Jung T.-H., Kim J.-W., et al., 2022, The variability of brightest 
cluster galaxies at high radio frequencies, MNRAS, 509, 2869. 
 

Liza Sazonova: 
 
Abdurro'uf, Accetta K., Aerts C., Silva Aguirre V., Ahumada R., Ajgaonkar N., Filiz Ak N., et al., 2022, The 
Seventeenth Data Release of the Sloan Digital Sky Surveys: Complete Release of MaNGA, MaStar, and APOGEE-2 
Data, ApJS, 259, 35. 
 
Otter J. A., Rowlands K., Alatalo K., Leung H.-H., Wild V., Luo Y., Petric A. O., et al., 2022, Resolved Molecular Gas 
Observations of MaNGA Post-starbursts Reveal a Tumultuous Past, ApJ, 941, 93. 
 

Fil Simovic: 
Marks G. A., Simovic F., Mann R. B., 2021, Phase transitions in 4D Gauss-Bonnet-de Sitter black holes, PhRvD, 104, 
104056. 
 
Simovic F., Fusco D., Mann R. B., 2021, Thermodynamics of de Sitter black holes with conformally coupled scalar 
fields, JHEP, 2021, 219. 
 
Haroon S., Hennigar R. A., Mann R. B., Simovic F., 2020, Thermodynamics of Gauss-Bonnet-de Sitter black holes, 
PhRvD, 101, 084051. 
 
Simovic F., Mann R. B., 2019, Critical phenomena of Born-Infeld-de Sitter black holes in cavities, JHEP, 2019, 136. 
 
Simovic F., Mann R. B., 2019, Critical phenomena of charged de Sitter black holes in cavities, CQGra, 36, 014002. 
 

James Taylor: 
 
Amoura Y., Drakos N. E., Berrouet A., Taylor J. E., 2024, Halo growth and merger rates as a cosmological test, 
MNRAS, 527, 3459. 
 
Foster L. M., Taylor J. E., Blakeslee J. P., 2024, Testing the surface brightness fluctuation method on dwarf galaxies 
in the COSMOS field, MNRAS, 527, 1656. 
 
Xi C., Taylor J. E., 2023, The hierarchical clustering method: abundance and properties of local satellite populations, 
MNRAS, 521, 6019. 
 

Page 253 of 274



 

 

 

 

131 

Drakos N. E., Taylor J. E., Benson A. J., 2022, A universal model for the evolution of tidally stripped systems, 
MNRAS, 516, 106. 
 
Amoura Y., Drakos N. E., Berrouet A., Taylor J. E., 2021, Cluster assembly times as a cosmological test, MNRAS, 508, 
100. 
 
Xi C., Taylor J. E., 2021, A hierarchical clustering method for quantifying satellite abundance, MNRAS, 503, 4976. 
 
Ogiya G., Taylor J. E., Hudson M. J., 2021, Evolution of subhalo orbits in a smoothly growing host halo potential, 
MNRAS, 503, 1233. 
 
Drakos N. E., Taylor J. E., Benson A. J., 2020, Mass-loss in tidally stripped systems: the energy-based truncation 
method, MNRAS, 494, 378. 
 
Ferrarese L., Côté P., MacArthur L. A., Durrell P. R., Gwyn S. D. J., Duc P.-A., Sánchez-Janssen R., et al., 2020, The 
Next Generation Virgo Cluster Survey (NGVS). XIV. The Discovery of Low-mass Galaxies and a New Galaxy Catalog 
in the Core of the Virgo Cluster, ApJ, 890, 128. 
 
Taylor J. E., Shin J., Ouellette N. N.-Q., Courteau S., 2019, The assembly of the Virgo cluster, traced by its galaxy 
haloes, MNRAS, 488, 1111. 
 
Drakos N. E., Taylor J. E., Berrouet A., Robotham A. S. G., Power C., 2019, Major mergers between dark matter 
haloes - II. Profile and concentration changes, MNRAS, 487, 1008. 
 
Drakos N. E., Taylor J. E., Berrouet A., Robotham A. S. G., Power C., 2019, Major mergers between dark matter 
haloes - I. Predictions for size, shape, and spin, MNRAS, 487, 993. 
 
Sánchez-Janssen R., Côté P., Ferrarese L., Peng E. W., Roediger J., Blakeslee J. P., Emsellem E., et al., 2019, The Next 
Generation Virgo Cluster Survey. XXIII. Fundamentals of Nuclear Star Clusters over Seven Decades in Galaxy Mass, 
ApJ, 878, 18. 

 
Alexa Villaume: 
Romanowsky A. J., Larsen S. S., Villaume A., Carlin J. L., Janz J., Sand D. J., Strader J., et al., 2023, Low-density star 
cluster formation: discovery of a young faint fuzzy on the outskirts of the low-mass spiral galaxy NGC 247, MNRAS, 
518, 3164. 
 
Webb K. A., Villaume A., Laine S., Romanowsky A. J., Balogh M., van Dokkum P., Forbes D. A., et al., 2022, Still at 
odds with conventional galaxy evolution: the star formation history of ultradiffuse galaxy Dragonfly 44, MNRAS, 
516, 3318. 
 
Villaume A., Romanowsky A. J., Brodie J., van Dokkum P., Conroy C., Forbes D. A., Danieli S., et al., 2022, Spatially 
Resolved Stellar Spectroscopy of the Ultra-diffuse Galaxy Dragonfly 44. III. Evidence for an Unexpected Star 
Formation History under Conventional Galaxy Evolution Processes, ApJ, 924, 32. 
 

Steve Weinstein: 
Abbott R., Abe H., Acernese F., Ackley K., Adhicary S., Adhikari N., Adhikari R. X., et al., 2022, Model-based Cross-
correlation Search for Gravitational Waves from the Low-mass X-Ray Binary Scorpius X-1 in LIGO O3 Data, ApJL, 
941, L30. 
 
Abbott R., Abe H., Acernese F., Ackley K., Adhikari N., Adhikari R. X., Adkins V. K., et al., 2022, All-sky search for 
continuous gravitational waves from isolated neutron stars using Advanced LIGO and Advanced Virgo O3 data, 
PhRvD, 106, 102008. 

Page 254 of 274



 

 

 

 

132 

 
Abbott R., Abe H., Acernese F., Ackley K., Adhikari N., Adhikari R. X., Adkins V. K., et al., 2022, Search for 
gravitational waves from Scorpius X-1 with a hidden Markov model in O3 LIGO data, PhRvD, 106, 062002. 
 
Abbott R., Abe H., Acernese F., Ackley K., Adhikari N., Adhikari R. X., Adkins V. K., et al., 2022, Search for continuous 
gravitational wave emission from the Milky Way center in O3 LIGO-Virgo data, PhRvD, 106, 042003. 
 
Abbott R., Abe H., Acernese F., Ackley K., Adhikari N., Adhikari R. X., Adkins V. K., et al., 2022, Searches for 
Gravitational Waves from Known Pulsars at Two Harmonics in the Second and Third LIGO-Virgo Observing Runs, 
ApJ, 935, 1. 
 
Abbott R., Abe H., Acernese F., Ackley K., Adhikari N., Adhikari R. X., Adkins V. K., et al., 2022, First joint observation 
by the underground gravitational-wave detector KAGRA with GEO 600, PTEP, 2022, 063F01. 
 
Abbott R., Abe H., Acernese F., Ackley K., Adhikari N., Adhikari R. X., Adkins V. K., et al., 2022, All-sky search for 
gravitational wave emission from scalar boson clouds around spinning black holes in LIGO O3 data, PhRvD, 105, 
102001. 
 
EHT MWL Science Working Group, Algaba J. C., Anczarski J., Asada K., Baloković M., Chandra S., Cui Y.-Z., et al., 
2021, Broadband Multi-wavelength Properties of M87 during the 2017 Event Horizon Telescope Campaign, ApJL, 
911, L11. 
 

Zhonxu Zhai: 
Zhai Z., Percival W. J., 2022, Sample variance for supernovae distance measurements and the Hubble tension, 
PhRvD, 106, 103527. 
 
Chapman M. J., Mohammad F. G., Zhai Z., Percival W. J., Tinker J. L., Bautista J. E., Brownstein J. R., et al., 2022, The 
completed SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: measurement of the growth rate of 
structure from the small-scale clustering of the luminous red galaxy sample, MNRAS, 516, 617. 
 
Wang Y., Zhai Z., Alavi A., Massara E., Pisani A., Benson A., Hirata C. M., et al., 2022, The High Latitude 
Spectroscopic Survey on the Nancy Grace Roman Space Telescope, ApJ, 928, 1. 
 

Hanyu Zhang: 
 
Yuan S., Zhang H., Ross A. J., Donald-McCann J., Hadzhiyska B., Wechsler R. H., Zheng Z., et al., 2024, The DESI one-
per cent survey: exploring the halo occupation distribution of luminous red galaxies and quasi-stellar objects with 
ABACUSSUMMIT, MNRAS, 530, 947. 
 
Wang Y., Zhao R., Zhai Z., Koyama K., Percival W. J., Guo H., Li Y., et al., 2024, Emulating Power Spectra for 
Prereconstructed and Postreconstructed Galaxy Samples, ApJ, 966, 35. 
 
DESI Collaboration, Adame A. G., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Alam S., Aldering G., Alexander D. M., et al., 2024, Validation 
of the Scientific Program for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 167, 62. 
 
Yu J., Zhao C., Gonzalez-Perez V., Chuang C.-H., Brodzeller A., de Mattia A., Kneib J.-P., et al., 2024, The DESI One-
Percent Survey: exploring a generalized SHAM for multiple tracers with the UNIT simulation, MNRAS, 527, 6950. 
 
Rocher A., Ruhlmann-Kleider V., Burtin E., Yuan S., de Mattia A., Ross A. J., Aguilar J., et al., 2023, The DESI One-
Percent survey: exploring the Halo Occupation Distribution of Emission Line Galaxies with ABACUSSUMMIT 
simulations, JCAP, 2023, 016. 
 

Page 255 of 274



 

 

 

 

133 

Abbott R., Abbott T. D., Acernese F., Ackley K., Adams C., Adhikari N., Adhikari R. X., et al., 2023, Search for 
Gravitational Waves Associated with Fast Radio Bursts Detected by CHIME/FRB during the LIGO–Virgo Observing 
Run O3a, ApJ, 955, 155. 
 
DESI Collaboration, Abareshi B., Aguilar J., Ahlen S., Alam S., Alexander D. M., Alfarsy R., et al., 2022, Overview of 
the Instrumentation for the Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument, AJ, 164, 207. 
 
Ding Z., Chuang C.-H., Yu Y., Garrison L. H., Bayer A. E., Feng Y., Modi C., et al., 2022, The DESI N-body Simulation 
Project - II. Suppressing sample variance with fast simulations, MNRAS, 514, 3308. 
 
 

 

Page 256 of 274



PROGRESS AND 
RENEWAL REPORT
2018-2024

WATERLOO CENTRE 
FOR ASTROPHYSICS

Presentation to the
Senate Graduate and Research Council

September 16, 2024 

Page 257 of 274



• Enhanced the reputation of astronomy in Waterloo,
• Built a community spirit within the group of 

astronomers,
• Enhanced connections within and outside of the 

University.
• Trained 128 early career researchers,
• Developed an ambitious and successful outreach 

program,

Within the last six years, the WCA has:

Page 258 of 274



Physics & 
Astronomy

Applied 
Math  

Perimeter 
Institute      

CITA

WCA

Involvement in prominent, 
ambitious international 

collaborations 

We have created a thriving 
community of Astrophysicists 
doing world-class research

Advancing Astronomy at Waterloo

Publication rate
x2 Increased uptake in 

Physics & Astronomy 
courses 

Page 259 of 274



WCA has brought 
26 postdocs and 

over 100 grad 
students to 
Waterloo

16 postdocs 
currently

60% go on to 
the next stage 
in academia

1/3 of postdocs 
have gone directly 

into faculty 
positions

Training Early Career Researchers

We have established 
mentorship programs 

(beyond academic 
supervision) for WCA Grad 

students and Postdocs

Inclusion, 
belonging, support, 

peer-to-peer 
mentoring

Page 260 of 274



Astronomy
Series

Outreach Program

Managed by 
Outreach 
Coordinator, 
Roan Haggar.

Outreach is done by graduate students, postdocs and faculty.

Social Media handled 
by Ana Ennis. 

A generous donation allowed us to purchase an 
inflatable planetarium, the AstroBubble, in 2022.

We have joined in the Ontario Postsecondary 
Accessand Inclusion Program (OPAIP) to take the 
AstroBubble into schools.

20 children per 
school day in 

2023-2024 200 
AstroBubble 

shows

18 Public talks
and 2 Perseid  

events

Outreach to 
> 6,000 
people

Page 261 of 274



Future Directions for WCA

• The WCA will continue to do world-class 
astrophysical research,

• We will continue to bring high-quality early career 
researchers to Waterloo,

• We will expand the WCA’s outreach program to 
encourage more under-represented minorities find 
their place in STEM fields,

• We will work to secure future funding. 

 

Page 262 of 274



The Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics
... at a glance

102 Grad students
26 Postdocs

11 Faculty
1/3 of 

postdocs go 
into faculty 

positions

Largest 3d map 
of the Universe

First image of a 
black hole:

2787 citations 
Mapping the 
Universe with 

Euclid

506
publications

Outreach 
to over 
6,000 
people200 

AstroBubble 
shows

Looking back 
11 billion years 

with DESI
Page 263 of 274



TIMES HIGHER 
EDUCATION
Digital Health Summit
April 10 & 11, 2025

Page 264 of 274



Event overview
• Delegates (estimate) 200-250 registrants 

- 40-50% from outside of North America

• Event Structure: 2 days with keynotes, panels, and programming 
that will include a pitch competition, reception, and tours

• Venue: we are expecting to showcase our best campus spaces, 
including Engineering 7, the Mike & Ophelia Lazaridis Quantum-Nano 
Center, and the Innovation Arena .

• Community engagement: We are engaging regional partners to 
participate as sponsors, presenters, and tour hosts

• Associated Programming: This is an opportunity for associated 
events to engage those visiting for the summit

Page 265 of 274



Digital Health 2023: Shaping a 
healthier future through innovation, 
entrepreneurship and partnerships

Themes:

 Ethics and health care equity

 Collaboration and commercialization

 AI and health technologies

Speakers to include UWaterloo faculty and alumni, Velocity startups, and 
academic and corporate leaders from across North America. The World 
Health Organization is expected to participate.

Page 266 of 274



• The summit is an opportunity for us to showcase thought leadership and Waterloo’s 
distinct point of view on Health Tech issues, including…

• We will leverage event models used for Waterloo Innovation Summit (Oct 2019) and 
the Royal Society of Canada (Nov 2023) both featuring Health Tech

• Alignment to Global Futures and Waterloo at 100

Focus on the intersection of health, technology and society (i.e. not just ‘tech’)

Demonstrate our impact our community and Waterloo region (i.e. a local focus)

Set the stage for collaboration between Academia, Industry and Policy-Makers

Showcase a wide-range of topics including Health Policy (social issues relating to 
tobacco, aging, etc.), Health Technologies (e.g. health devices, new tech, AI, 
robotics), Health Interventions, Health Data, Public health, and much more

The opportunity for Waterloo

Page 267 of 274



Objectives

Hosting the 2025 Times Higher Education Digital Health Summit 

will yield the following benefits:

- Reaching a global audience

- Targeted engagement with academic leaders, 
researchers, innovators in health tech

- Expanding Waterloo brand exposure

- Possible rankings ”halo” effect

- Waterloo/THE relationship development

Page 268 of 274



Context

• The Times Higher Education World University Rankings

is one of the most highly regarded university rankings worldwide 

(alongside the QS Rankings and the Shanghai Ranking)

• These rankings shape and influence university perceptions among 

international audiences (prospective students, university leaders, etc.)

• University of Waterloo’s current THE rankings are…

- 201-250th World University Rankings 2023

- 55th Impact Rankings 2023

- Top 10 research on ending poverty & world hunger (Impact Rankings 2023)

- Top 50 sustainable cities & communities (Impact Rankings 2023)

• Waterloo’s 2022 Reputation Research (conducted by Leger and University 

Relations) reveals that University Rankings are the top influential 

source on perceptions of Canadian universities (across all key audiences)

Page 269 of 274



Reputational enhancement

Reaching Global Audiences
• Reputation Enhancement on a global stage via THE’s global network (175K members, 3.5K institutions)

International Brand Exposure / Media Coverage
• THE will lead an extensive marketing campaign 12 months leading to the event, valued at $135,000

- Print adverts in the THE Magazine, targeted emails to higher education contacts and editorial content 

commissioned by THE’s editors (in partnership with Waterloo), plus a strong digital footprint and global reach 

(30M unique web users per year)

Potential Rankings “Halo” Effect
• While THE rankings are not a primary motivator for this event; the potential for reputational

“boost” from the above activities presents a potential opportunity to rise in rankings

Waterloo-Region Community-Building & Showcase

Page 270 of 274



Inaugural event at Stanford

• In February 2024, THE hosted its first Digital 
Health Summit in partnership with the Stanford 
Healthcare Innovation Lab

• UWaterloo representatives attended this event, 
and Catherine Burns moderated a panel. 

• At the conclusion of the Summit, Nenone 
Donaldson announced the UWaterloo event and a 
teaser video was launched.

Page 271 of 274

https://stanfordhealthcareinnovationlab.stanford.edu/


PRELIMINARY MARKETING & TIMELINES

• The public-facing website for the Digital 
Health 2025 event has been developed and was 
launched on February 26

https://uwaterloo.ca/digital-health

• Program to be confirmed by late 2024

• Tickets for the April 2025 event are expected 
to go live in early 2025

PAGE  9

Page 272 of 274



INTERDEPARTMENTAL PLANNING TEAM

Membership
o Kelly McManus & Michael Dorr (co-chairs)
o Event program and logistics: Alyssa Doyle 
o Content: 

 Catherine Burns, AVP Health Initiatives
 Adrien Cote, Velocity
 Amy Carroll-Dee, Office of Research

o Marketing: Bryan Coren
o Communications: Stephanie Longeway
o Sponsorship: Bridget McMahon
o Government relations and community partner engagement: Kerri Behling

The expectation is that leads will be engaged with their home units to share 
updates and solicit feedback from their colleagues.

Page 273 of 274



Page 274 of 274


	Cover Page
	2024 09 16 SGRC Meeting Book 
	Governance Resources
	Open Session
	1. Conflict of Interest
	1.1 Conflict of Interest

	Consent Agenda 
	2. Minutes of June 16, 2024 Meeting  
	2.1 2024-06-17 SGRC Minutes

	3. Research Ethics
	3.1 CREB & HREB Membership Update [Julie Joza]

	4. Graduate Awards
	4.1 Graduate Awards [Marianne Simm]
	4.1.1 Dean of Engineering Master’s Excellence Award (DEMEA) [operating] 
	4.1.2 Haitham Kamil Graduate Award [trust] 
	4.1.3 Professor Sofyan Taya Memorial Graduate Scholarship [trust]
	4.1.4 Faculty of Engineering Discretionary Graduate Award [operating]
	4.1.5 Maks Wulkan Graduate Scholarship [trust]
	4.1.6 Perimeter Scholars International Award [trust] 
	4.1.7 Women in Mathematics Directed Reading Program Mentorship Award [operating] 

	5. Curricular Submissions
	5.1 ENV Curricular Report [Phil Bigelow]

	6. RCR Integrity Administrative Guidelines
	6.1 Research Integrity Guidelines Memo [Ian Milligan]

	Regular Agenda
	7. Business Arising from the Minutes 
	7.1 Results of the June 25-28, 2024 E-Vote 

	8. Co-Chairs Remarks
	9. New Programs
	9.1 MASc and PhD in Biomedical Engineering [Siva Sivoththaman] 

	10. Research Centres and Institutes
	10.1 Waterloo Centre for Astrophysics (WCA) Renewal [Will Percival]
	10.1.1 WCA Progress Report 2024
	10.1.2 WCA Renewal Presentation 2024 


	11. 2025 THE Digital Health Conference
	11.1 THE Health Summit Presentation [Catherine Burns]

	12. Waterloo Values [Melanie Will]
	13. Other Business
	14. Adjournment

